

#### Nelson Rodrigo Carvalho Monteiro

### Toward the Explainability of Drug-Target Interactions: End-to-End Deep Learning Architectures for Binding Affinity Prediction

PhD Thesis in Informatics Engineering, Intelligent Systems, supervised by Professor Joel P. Arrais and Professor José L. Oliveira and presented to the Department of Informatics Engineering of the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra.

November 2023



#### FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS E TECNOLOGIA UNIVERSIDADE Đ COIMBRA

#### Toward the Explainability of Drug–Target Interactions: End-to-End Deep Learning Architectures for Binding Affinity Prediction

Nelson Rodrigo Carvalho Monteiro

Supervisor: Prof. Joel P. Arrais, Ph.D.

Co-supervisor: Prof. José L. Oliveira, Ph.D.

Dissertation presented to obtain a Ph.D. degree in Informatics Engineering, Intelligent Systems, at the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra

Dissertação de Doutoramento apresentada à Faculdade de Ciências e Tecnologia da Universidade de Coimbra, para prestação de provas de Doutoramento em Engenharia Informática, Sistemas Inteligentes

November, 2023

Esta cópia da tese é fornecida na condição de que quem a consulta reconhece que os direitos de autor são pertença do autor da tese e da Universidade de Coimbra e que nenhuma citação ou informação obtida a partir dela pode ser publicada sem a referência apropriada.

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on the condition that anyone who consults it, is understood to recognize that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgment.

The studies presented in this thesis were carried out at the Centre for Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra (CISUC), Department of Informatics Engineering (DEI), Faculty of Science and Technology of the University of Coimbra (FCTUC), Portugal.

This work was conducted with financial support from the following institutions/programs:

- Ph.D. grant 2020.04741.BD from the FCT Foundation for Science and Technology, I.P..
- Project CISUC (UIDB/00326/2020) financed by national funds (PIDDAC) through FCT Foundation for Science and Technology, I.P./MCTES.
- Project D4 Deep Drug Discovery and Deployment (CENTRO-01-0145-FEDER-029266) financed by national funds (PIDDAC) through FCT - Foundation for Science and Technology, I.P./MCTES.



"You can, you should, and if you're brave enough to start, you will." STEPHEN KING

#### Acknowledgments

Quero começar por agradecer ao meu orientador, Joel P. Arrais, por ter-me dado a oportunidade deste longo percurso que aqui termina, por ter sempre acreditado e confiado naquilo que são as minhas capacidades e as minhas ideias, e por todo o apoio dado. Se me perguntassem no dia 10 de Dezembro de 2018, quando enviei um email sobre o meu interesse na área de bioinformática, motivado pela cadeira de Introdução à Bioinformática, que estaria hoje a escrever uma tese de doutoramento, provavelmente diria que isso não iria acontecer. Obrigado por esta jornada não só científica, mas também de enriquecimento pessoal.

Um agradecimento ao meu co-orientador, José L. Oliveira, pela disponibilidade e ajuda demonstrada, por todos os comentários construtivos, e pelas revisões detalhadas e essenciais para todo o progresso desta investigação. Este obrigado também se estende para as várias pessoas do IEETA que tive a oportunidade de conhecer e de partilhar conhecimento.

Agradeço ao Carlos Simões da BSIM Therapeutics por toda a partilha de conhecimento, pela disponibilidade prestada, e por ter sempre apoiado o meu trabalho e o meu progresso.

Agradeço ao laboratório LARN (ou Transformer), em especial ao Tiago, Luís, Daniel, Anuschka, e Maryam, por me terem acompanhado neste percurso e por ter feito também parte do vosso, por todo o espírito de ajuda e de trabalho que sempre existiu, pelas discussões de ideias, pelos convívios, e por todas as histórias que ficam. Fico à espera do próximo almoço/jantar!

Quero também agradecer a amigos e família que Coimbra me deu, Alberto, Rita, Luís Silva, Rodrigo, Mafalda, Vitor, Pipa, Tiago, Luís, Ana, Inês, Chico, Albuquerque, Oshley e Mariana. Um grande e profundo obrigado por serem vocês, por estarem lá de uma forma ou de outra, e por acompanharem este meu longo percurso. Guardo eternamente todos os momentos, todas as histórias, todas as memórias, todas as conversas e todas as partilhas. Um obrigado aos meus amigos, Fábio, Diogo, e Júlio, que acompanharam tanto engenharia biomédica como agora o doutoramento em engenharia informática ao mesmo tempo que eu. A partilha de todos os memes e das frustrações foram importantes para chegar hoje ao fim!

Ao Hélio, Raquel, João e Violeta. Um grande obrigado a vocês que, apesar de acompanharem este percurso há menos tempo, são imprescindíveis e tiveram uma enorme importância para aquele que foi o meu último ano de doutoramento. Agradeço imenso o vosso apoio e a confiança que sempre me transmitem. São muitas as coisas que já poderia aqui escrever, mas ficam para as nossas conversas no S. José!

À minha família. Acho que é complicado escrever sobres aqueles que desde sempre se sacrificaram, que abdicaram de tanta coisa, e que tudo fizeram para que eu pudesse hoje chegar aqui. Apenas posso agradecer por acreditarem sempre em mim, por todo o apoio, por toda a força, por nunca me terem deixado desistir, pelo orgulho que sempre vi nos vossos olhos e nas vossas palavras, e por terem sempre estado ao meu lado neste percurso como se fosse o vosso. Sem vocês não teria sido possível nem teria feito sentido. Acknowledgments

### Abstract

he identification of compounds that exhibit selective binding to druggable proteins continues to pose challenges within the realm of pharmaceutical exploration and drug discovery. On that account, the proper assessment of target-specific compound selectivity and the accurate prediction of an unbiased Drug–Target Affinity (DTA) metric are pivotal to promoting the identification of novel Drug–Target Interactions (DTIs), the discovery of potential leads, and the understanding of the binding process. Although significant efforts have been made to increase the effectiveness of traditional *in vitro* and *in vivo* experimental approaches, these methods remain impractical for the vast array of compounds and proteins currently known. Hence, the establishment of effective computational strategies capable of using all available proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological data becomes decisive in the pursuit of new findings in the field of drug discovery.

Despite the plethora of *in silico* solutions to overcome the challenges of traditional *in vitro* and *in vivo* experiments, most of these studies still focus on binary classification, overlooking the importance of characterizing DTIs with unbiased binding strength values to properly distinguish primary interactions from those with offtargets. Moreover, several of these methods usually simplify the entire interaction mechanism, neglecting the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces, and have yet to consider including explainability into the inner structure of the architectures or providing potential explanations to the predictions, thus, limiting the validity and understanding of the results. Furthermore, the majority of DTA or DTI prediction computational studies have not yet given any special characterization or attention to binding positions or actively integrated information regarding binding pockets during the learning process, leading to the estimation of potential DTIs based on redundant sites or substructures and compromising the reliability of the predictions.

This research endeavors to tackle the challenge of DTA prediction by proposing and

investigating novel Deep Learning (DL) architectures that leverage raw sequential and structural data and focus on modeling the multi-domain representation space of DTIs. Furthermore, it aims to offer potential insights regarding DTIs and enhance prediction understanding by exploring the explainability field of black-box models. This thesis comprises three main contributions.

The first contribution consisted of exploring the reliability of Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) in the identification of relevant sequential and structural regions for binding, specifically binding sites and evolutionarily conserved motifs, and the robustness of the deep representations extracted by providing explanations to the model's decisions based on the identification of the input regions that contributed the most to the prediction. This study makes use of an end-to-end DL architecture to predict binding affinity, where CNNs are exploited in their capacity to automatically identify and extract discriminating deep representations from 1D sequential and structural data. The results demonstrated the effectiveness of the deep representations extracted from CNNs in the prediction of binding affinity. CNNs were found to identify and extract features from regions relevant to the interaction without any a priori information, where the weight associated with these spots was in the range of those with the highest positive influence given by the CNNs in the prediction. The end-to-end DL model achieved the highest performance both in the prediction of the binding affinity and in the ability to correctly distinguish the interaction strength rank order when compared to baseline approaches. This research study validated the potential applicability of an end-to-end DL architecture in the context of drug discovery beyond the confined space of proteins and ligands with determined 3D structures. Furthermore, it showed the reliability of the deep representations extracted from the CNNs by providing explainability to the decision-making process.

The second contribution is a novel end-to-end Transformer-based architecture, Drug–Target Interaction TRansformer (DTITR), for predicting DTA using 1D raw sequential and structural data to represent the proteins and compounds. This architecture exploits self-attention layers to capture the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and cross-attention layers to exchange information and learn the pharmacological context associated with the interaction space. The results showed that DTITR is effective in predicting DTA, achieving superior performance in both correctly predicting the value of interaction strength and being able to correctly discriminate the rank order of binding strength compared to state-of-the-art baselines. The combination of multiple Transformer-Encoders was found to result in robust and discriminative aggregate representations of the proteins and compounds for binding affinity prediction, in which the addition of a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder was identified to be important for improving the discriminative power of these representations. This research study validated the applicability of an end-to-end Transformer-based architecture in the context of drug discovery, capable of self-providing different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks.

The last contribution is a novel end-to-end binding-region-guided Transformer-based architecture, TAG-DTA, that simultaneously predicts the 1D binding pocket and the binding affinity of DTI pairs, where the prediction of the 1D binding pocket guides and conditions the prediction of DTA. This architecture uses 1D raw sequential and structural data to represent the proteins and compounds, respectively, and combines multiple Transformer-Encoder blocks to capture and learn the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts. The predicted 1D binding pocket conditions the attention mechanism of the Transformer-Encoder used to learn the pharmacological space in order to model the inter-dependency amongst binding-related positions. The obtained results outline the predictive performance of TAG-DTA compared to state-of-the-art benchmarks, including in unknown subsets of the proteomics and chemical representation spaces. Moreover, it was found that the 1D binding pocket prediction increases the discriminative power and robustness of the aggregate representation of the pharmacological space and improves the DTA prediction performance. This study demonstrated that combining computationally different yet contextually related tasks is critical to new findings in the DTI domain. Additionally, it showed that TAG-DTA is capable of providing increased DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks and prediction of the 1D binding pocket.

*Keywords:* Drug–Target Interaction, Drug–Target Affinity, Binding Pocket, Explainability, Deep Learning

#### Resumo

A identificação de compostos que exibem ligação seletiva para proteínas farmacologicamente viáveis continua a colocar desafios no âmbito da exploração farmacêutica e da descoberta de fármacos. Nesse sentido, a avaliação adequada da seletividade de compostos específicos de um alvo biológico e a previsão precisa de uma métrica de afinidade fármaco-alvo (DTA) imparcial são cruciais para promover a identificação de novas interações fármaco-alvo (DTI), a descoberta de potenciais fármacos ativos, e a compreensão do processo de ligação. Apesar dos esforços significativos para aumentar a eficácia das abordagens experimentais *in vitro* e *in vivo* tradicionais, estes métodos continuam inexequíveis para a vasta gama de compostos e proteínas atualmente conhecidos. Portanto, estabelecer estratégias computacionais eficazes, que sejam capazes de usar todos os dados proteômicos, químicos e farmacológicos disponíveis, torna-se decisivo na procura de novas descobertas no ramo da descoberta de fármacos.

Apesar das inúmeras soluções *in silico* para superar os desafios das experiências *in vitro* e *in vivo* tradicionais, a maioria destes estudos ainda se foca na classificação binária, subvalorizando a importância de caracterizar DTIs com valores de força de ligação imparciais para distinguir adequadamente as interações primárias das interações com alvos não específicos. Para além disso, muitos destes métodos geralmente simplificam o mecanismo de interação, negligenciado a interdependência multi-domínio associada aos espaços proteômico, químico e farmacológico, e ainda não consideraram incluir explicabilidade na estrutura interna das arquiteturas ou o fornecimento de potenciais explicações para as previsões, limitando, assim, a validade e a compreensão dos resultados. Além disso, a maioria dos estudos computacionais de previsão de DTA ou DTI ainda não deu nenhuma caracterização especial ou atenção às posições de ligação, ou integrou ativamente informação sobre zonas de ligação durante o processo de aprendizagem, levando à previsão de potenciais DTIs com base em locais ou subestruturas redundantes, e comprometendo a confiabilidade das previsões. Esta investigação visa abordar o desafio da previsão de DTA ao propor e investigar novas arquiteturas de aprendizagem profunda (DL) que aproveitem dados sequenciais e estruturais brutos, e que se foquem na modelação do espaço de representação multi-domínio das DTIs. Para além disso, ela procura oferecer potenciais perceções sobre DTIs e melhorar a compreensão da previsão ao explorar o campo da explicabilidade de modelos caixa preta. Esta tese compreende três contribuições principais.

A primeira contribuição consistiu em explorar a confiabilidade das redes neuronais convolucionais (CNNs) na identificação de regiões sequenciais e estruturais relevantes para a ligação, especificamente sítios de ligação e padrões evolucionariamente conservados, e na robustez das representações profundas extraídas através do fornecimento de explicações para as decisões do modelo com base na identificação das regiões de entrada que mais contribuíram para a previsão. Este estudo faz uso de uma arquitetura de DL de ponta a ponta para prever a afinidade de ligação, onde as CNNs são exploradas na sua capacidade de identificar e extrair automaticamente representações profundas discriminantes de dados sequenciais e estruturais 1D. Os resultados demonstraram a eficácia das representações profundas extraídas pelas CNNs na previsão da afinidade de ligação. As CNNs foram capazes de identificar e extrair características de regiões relevantes para a interação sem qualquer informação *a priori*, onde o peso associado a esses locais estava na gama daqueles com a maior influência positiva dada pelas CNNs na previsão. O modelo de DL de ponta a ponta alcançou o melhor desempenho tanto na previsão da afinidade de ligação como na capacidade de distinguir corretamente a ordem de grandeza da força de interação em comparação com as abordagens de referência. Este estudo validou a potencial aplicabilidade de uma arquitetura de DL de ponta a ponta no contexto da descoberta de fármacos para além do espaço confinado de proteínas e ligantes com estruturas 3D determinadas. Além disso, ele mostrou a confiabilidade das representações profundas extraídas das CNNs ao fornecer explicabilidade ao processo de tomada de decisão.

A segunda contribuição é uma nova arquitetura baseada em *Transformers* de ponta a ponta, *Drug-Target Interaction TRansformer (DTITR)*, para prever DTA usando dados sequenciais e estruturais brutos de 1D para representar as proteínas e os compostos. Esta arquitetura explora camadas de *self-attention* para capturar as dependências do contexto proteómico e químico de curto e longa distância entre as unidades sequenciais e estruturais das proteínas e dos compostos, respetivamente, e camadas de *cross-attention* para trocar informação e aprender o contexto farmacológico associado ao espaço de interação. Os resultados mostraram que a DTITR é eficaz na previsão de DTA, alcançando um desempenho superior tanto na previsão correta do valor da força de interação como na capacidade de distinguir corretamente a ordem de grandeza da força de ligação em comparação com as abordagens de estado de arte. A combinação de vários *Transformer-Encoders* demonstrou resultar em representações agregadas robustas e discriminativas das proteínas e dos compostos para previsão de afinidade de ligação, em que a adição de um *Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder* foi identificada como sendo importante para melhorar o poder discriminativo destas representações. Este estudo validou a aplicabilidade de uma arquitetura de ponta a ponta baseada em *Transformers* no contexto da descoberta de fármacos, capaz de fornecer diferentes níveis de potencial compreensão de DTI e previsão devido à natureza das camadas de atenção.

A última contribuição é uma nova arquitetura baseada em Transformers de ponta a ponta e guiada pela região de ligação, TAG-DTA, que prevê simultaneamente a cavidade de ligação 1D e a afinidade de ligação de pares DTI, em que a previsão da cavidade de ligação 1D guia e condiciona a previsão de DTA. Esta arquitetura utiliza dados sequenciais e estruturais brutos de 1D para representar as proteínas e os compostos, respetivamente, e combina vários blocos Transformer-Encoder para capturar e aprender os contextos proteómico, químico e farmacológico. A previsão da cavidade de ligação 1D condiciona o mecanismo de atenção do Transformer-Encoder utilizado para aprender o espaço farmacológico, com o objetivo de modelar a interdependência entre as posições envolvidas na ligação. Os resultados obtidos destacam o desempenho preditivo da TAG-DTA em comparação com o estado de arte, incluindo em subconjuntos desconhecidos dos espaços de representação proteómica e química. Além disso, verificou-se que a previsão da cavidade de ligação 1D aumenta o poder discriminativo e a robustez da representação agregada do espaço farmacológico e melhora o desempenho na previsão de DTA. Este estudo demonstrou que a combinação de tarefas computacionalmente diferentes, contudo, contextualmente relacionadas, é fundamental para novas descobertas no domínio de DTI. Adicionalmente, demonstrou que a TAG-DTA é capaz de fornecer uma maior compreensão de DTI e previsão devido à natureza das camadas de atenção e à previsão da cavidade de ligação 1D.

*Keywords:* Interação Fármaco-Alvo, Afinidade Fármaco-Alvo, Cavidade de Ligação, Explicabilidade, Aprendizagem Profunda

## Contents

A	Acknowledgments vii			
A	bstra	$\operatorname{ct}$		xi
R	esum	0		xv
Li	st of	Acron	iyms xx	vii
Li	st of	Figure	es xxx	ciii
Li	st of	Table	s xl	liii
1	Intr	oducti	ion	1
	1.1	Motiv	ation	1
		1.1.1	Limitations of Binary DTI Classification	2
		1.1.2	DTI Understanding and Model Explainability	3
		1.1.3	DTI Representation and Domain Inter-dependency	4
		1.1.4	Binding Pockets in the Learning Process	4
	1.2	Goals	and Contributions	5
		1.2.1	Explainable Deep Drug–Target Representations	6
		1.2.2	Intrinsic Explainability and Drug–Target Multi-Domain Inter- Dependency	6
		1.2.3	Binding Region-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug–Target Affinity	7

	1.3	Thesis Outline/Structure	7
	1.4	Scientific Contributions	8
		1.4.1 Peer-Reviewed Scientific Articles	9
		1.4.2 Scientific Articles under Preparation	10
		1.4.3 Participation in Conferences	10
		1.4.4 Master's Degree Theses Co-Supervision	10
		1.4.5 Science Communication to the General Public	11
<b>2</b>	Pro	teomics, Chemical, and Pharmacological Contexts	13
	2.1	Proteins Overview	13
		2.1.1 Protein Synthesis	14
		2.1.2 Protein Structure	16
	2.2	Drug Discovery	19
	2.3	Pharmacological Activity and Drug–Target Interactions	24
	2.4	Binding Affinity	26
	2.5	Protein-Ligand Binding Models and Binding Pockets	28
3	In ,	Silico Drug Discovery	33
	3.1	Computational Drug Discovery Workflow	33
	3.2	Structure-based	34
	3.3	Ligand-based	37
	3.4	Chemogenomic/Proteochemometric	39
		3.4.1 Similarity-Based	39
		3.4.2 Feature-Based	42
	3.5	Binding Affinity Prediction	48
4	Exp	lainable Artificial Intelligence	59
	4.1	Explaining Models' Decisions	59

	4.2	Expla	inability a	and XAI Terminology	61
	4.3	XAI N	Aethods		62
<b>5</b>	Met	thods,	Models,	and Architectures	67
	5.1	Machi	ne Learni	ng Models	67
		5.1.1	Random	Forest	67
		5.1.2	Support	Vector Machine	68
		5.1.3	Gradien	t Boosting Regression	69
		5.1.4	Kernel I	Ridge Regression	70
	5.2	Deep	Learning	Architectures	70
		5.2.1	Fully-Co	onnected Feed-Forward Neural Network	70
		5.2.2	Convolu	tional Neural Network	71
		5.2.3	Transfor	mer-Encoder	73
			5.2.3.1	Multi-Head Self-Attention	74
			5.2.3.2	Dropout Layer	75
			5.2.3.3	Layer Normalization	76
			5.2.3.4	Position-Wise Feed-Forward Network	78
	5.3	Simila	rity Meth	nods	78
		5.3.1	Smith-W	Vaterman Algorithm	78
		5.3.2	Tanimot	co Coefficient	79
	5.4	Evalua	ation Met	rics	80
		5.4.1	Binding	Affinity Prediction (Regression) $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	80
		5.4.2	Binding	Pocket Prediction (Binary Classification) $\ldots \ldots$	81
6	Exp	lainab	le Deep	Drug–Target Representations	85
	6.1	Study	Context		85
	6.2	Mater	ials and N	Methods	86
		6.2.1	Binding	Affinity Prediction	86

			6.2.1.1	Drug–Target Interaction Pairs
			6.2.1.2	Data Representation and Encoding
			6.2.1.3	Binding Affinity Prediction Model
			6.2.1.4	Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold
		6.2.2	Explaina	able Binding Affinity Prediction
			6.2.2.1	Binding Sites
			6.2.2.2	Protein Evolutionary Conserved Motifs 93
			6.2.2.3	Gradient-Weighted Regression Activation Mapping . 94
	6.3	Result	s and Dis	scussion
		6.3.1	Predicti	on efficiency of the deep representations $\ldots \ldots $ 97
		6.3.2	Reliabili gions for	ty of the CNNs in the identification of important re- binding
			6.3.2.1	3D Interaction Space Analysis (Docking) 102
		6.3.3	Robustn	less of the deep representations $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	6.4	Conclu	usions .	
		6.4.1	Final Re	emarks
		6.4.2	Study L	imitations and Future Work
7	Intr	incie	Fynlain	bility and Drug-Target Multi Demain Inter
1	Dep	oenden	cy	113
	7.1	Study	Context	
	7.2	Mater	ial and M	ethods $\dots \dots \dots$
		7.2.1	Binding	Affinity Dataset
		7.2.2	Input R	epresentation
		7.2.3	DTITR	Framework
			7.2.3.1	Embedding Block
			7.2.3.2	Transformer-Encoder
			7.2.3.3	Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder

			7.2.3.4 Fully-Connected Feed-Forward
		7.2.4	Hyperparameter Optimization Approach
	7.3	Result	s and Discussion
		7.3.1	Predictive Performance Evaluation
		7.3.2	Ablation study
		7.3.3	Attention Maps
	7.4	Conclu	usions $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $129$
		7.4.1	Final Remarks
		7.4.2	Study Limitations and Future Work
8	Bin	ding-R	egion-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug–Target Affinity135
	8.1	Study	Context
	8.2	Mater	ials and Methods
		8.2.1	Binding Affinity Dataset
		8.2.2	1D Binding Pocket Dataset
		8.2.3	SMILES Pre-Train MLM Dataset
		8.2.4	TAG-DTA Framework
			8.2.4.1 Embedding Block
			8.2.4.2 Transformer-Encoder
			8.2.4.3 Condition-Based Concatenation Block
			8.2.4.4 1D Binding Pocket Classifier
			8.2.4.5 Binding Affinity Regressor
			8.2.4.6 SMILES Pre-Train Masked Language Modeling 147
		8.2.5	TAG-DTA Training Strategy
	8.3	Result	s and Discussion $\ldots \ldots 150$
		8.3.1	TAG-DTA Ablation Study
		8.3.2	DTI and Model Understanding

	8.4	Conclu	nsion	. 162
		8.4.1	Final Remarks	. 162
		8.4.2	Study Limitations and Future Work	. 164
9	Con	clusio	ns	167
	9.1	Overvi	iew of the Main Contributions	. 167
	9.2	Future	e Research Directions	. 168
Bi	bliog	graphy		173
Aj	ppen	dices		221
$\mathbf{A}$	App	oendix	Background	223
	A.1	Protei	ns	. 223
в	App	oendix	Explainable Deep Drug–Target Representations	229
	B.1	Supple	ementary Materials	. 229
		B.1.1	Davis Kinase Binding Affinity Dataset Distributions	. 229
	B.2	Supple	ementary Experimental Setup	. 230
		B.2.1	Binding Affinity Prediction	. 230
		B.2.2	Explainable Binding Affinity Prediction	. 233
			B.2.2.1 $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching	. 234
			B.2.2.2 $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance	. 235
	B.3	Supple	ementary Results	. 236
		B.3.1	Binding Affinity Prediction	. 236
		B.3.2	$L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching	. 237
			B.3.2.1 PSSM Motifs	. 237
			B.3.2.2 3D Interaction Space Analysis (Docking)	. 240
		B.3.3	$L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance	. 247

			B.3.3.1	Binding Sites	. 247
			B.3.3.2	PSSM Motifs	. 248
С	App	oendix	Intrinsio	c Explainability and Drug–Target Multi-Domai	n
	Inte	er-Dep	endency		257
	C.1	Supple	ementary	Materials	. 257
		C.1.1	Davis Ki	inase Binding Affinity Dataset Distributions	. 257
	C.2	Supple	ementary	Methods	. 257
		C.2.1	Sinusoid	al Positional Encoding	. 257
	C.3	Supple	ementary	Experimental Setup	. 258
D	Bin	ding-R	egion-G	uided Strategy to Predict Drug–Target Affinity	y 263
	D.1	Supple	ementary	Materials	. 263
		D.1.1	Binding	Pocket Datasets Distributions	. 264
	D.2	Supple	ementary	Experimental Setup	. 265
		D.2.1	SMILES	Pre-Train MLM Optimization	. 265
		D.2.2	TAG-D7	TA Optimization	. 266
	D.3	Supple	ementary	Results	. 270
		D.3.1	SMILES	Pre-Train MLM	. 270

# List of Acronyms

$r^2$	Coefficient of Determination. 80, 97, 98, 123–
	126, 157, 162
Adam	Adaptive Moment Estimation. 232, 233, 259.
	265
ADME	Absorption Distribution Metabolism and
	Excretion 22 24 38
	Absorption Distribution Matabalism Evera
	tion and Tracinity armin 22, 22
4 <b>T</b>	tion, and Toxicity. XXXIV, 22, 23
Al	Artificial Intelligence. 59, 60
ANN	Artificial Neural Network. 70
$\mathbf{CF}$	Collaborative Filtering. 41
CI	Concordance Index. 80, 97, 98, 123–126, 129,
	151 - 157, 162, 236
CNN	Convolutional Neural Network. xii, xvi,
	xxxiv, xxxv, 6, 8, 45–48, 51, 52, 54–56, 71,
	73 85 86 88 90 93 94 97–103 105–110
	167
CTD	Composition Transition and Distribution 42
CID	Composition, Transition and Distribution. 45
DI	
DL	Deep Learning. xii, xvi, 3–6, 8, 38, 39, 42–46,
	48, 51, 54, 55, 59-61, 67, 85, 86, 88, 89, 95,
	97, 98, 107, 109, 110, 114, 130, 132, 167, 168,
	170, 258

DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid. xxxiii, 14, 15
DTA	Drug–Target Affinity. xi–xiii, xv–xvii, 2, 3, 5– 8, 33, 48, 52, 54, 56, 85, 86, 98, 107, 114, 124, 132, 135, 136, 140, 151, 152, 162–164, 167, 168
DTI	Drug-Target Interaction. xi-xiii, xv-xvii, xxxvi, xxxviii, xliii, 1–8, 13, 22, 25, 31, 33, 35, 39–48, 53–56, 60, 85, 86, 88, 89, 91–93, 97, 98, 100–102, 107, 109, 110, 113–119, 121, 123, 126–132, 135–138, 140–142, 144, 146, 147, 150–152, 156–160, 162, 163, 165, 167, 168, 268, 269
ECFP	Extended-Connectivity Fingerprint. 39, 55, 231
EMEA	European Medicines Evaluation Agency. xxxiv, 22, 23
FCNN	Fully-Connected Feed-Forward Neural Network. xxxiv, xxxv, xxxviii, 45–48, 51, 52, 54–56, 70, 71, 76–78, 88–90, 114, 117, 121, 124–126, 129, 130, 136, 141, 142, 146, 150, 259–261, 267, 269
FDA	Food and Drug Administration. xxxiv, 22, 23, 40
FFN	Feed-Forward Neural Network. 38, 44, 48–50
GAT	Graph Attention Neural Network. 55
GAT-GCN	Graph Attention - Graph Convolutional Neu- ral Network. 55
$\operatorname{GBM}$	Gradient Boosting Machine. 39, 69
GBR	Gradient Boosting Regression. xliv, 53, 69, 233, 234
GCN	Graph Convolutional Neural Network. 47, 53, 55
GELU	Gaussian Error Linear Unit. 259, 260, 265–267, 269

GIN	Graph Isomorphism Neural Network. 55
GNN	Graph Neural Network. 45, 55
GPCR	G-Protein-Coupled Receptor. 40, 42, 43, 53
HCS	High Content Screening. 39
HTS	High-Throughput Screening. 21
$IC_{50}$	half maximal inhibition concentration. 3, 26,
	27
$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{d}}$	dissociation constant. xl, 3, 5, 26, 48–50, 52,
	53, 86, 87, 93, 110, 114, 115, 132, 136-138, 230
$\mathbf{K_{i}}$	inhibition constant. 3, 26, 27, 48, 50–53
KNN	K-Nearest Neighbor. 38
KRR	Kernel Ridge Regression. xliv, 70, 97, 98, 233,
	234
$\operatorname{LLM}$	Large Language Model. 131, 132, 164
LN	Layer Normalization. 74, 76, 119–121
LSTM	Long Short-Term Memory. 45, 55
MACCO	Malagular Assars Contany 20, 42, 42
MACCS	Molecular Access System. 39, 42, 43
MCC	Matthew's Correlation Coefficient. 82, 154,
NGD	150, 268
	Matrix Factorization. 41
MHCA	Multi-Head Cross-Attention. 119, 120
MHSA	Multi-Head Self-Attention. xxxv, 73–76, 118–
2.67	
ML	Machine Learning. 3, 8, 31, 38, 39, 42, 43, 48,
	49, 51–53, 59–61, 67, 86, 97, 98, 114, 168, 170
MLM	Masked Language Modeling. xxv, xxxix, xliv,
	xlvi, 140, 141, 143, 144, 147–149, 154, 156,
	163, 164, 265, 266, 270
mRNA	messenger RNA. xxxiii, xxxix, 14–17, 223,
	224

MSE	Mean Squared Error. 80, 97, 98, 123–126, 129,
	151-157, 162, 232, 233, 236, 259, 267-269
NUD	
NLP	Natural Language Processing. 47
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance. 22, 23
PCM	Proteochemometric. 33, 39, 42, 45, 48, 52, 60
$\mathrm{pIC}_{50}$	Numerical Log-Based Transformation of Half
	Maximal Inhibitory Concentration. 49
$\mathrm{pK}_{\mathrm{d}}$	Numerical Log-Based Transformation of Dis-
	sociation Constant. xxxv–xxxviii, xl, 49, 51,
	$87-93,\ 107,\ 116,\ 118,\ 121-123,\ 129,\ 138,\ 141,$
	142, 146, 162, 230
$\mathrm{pK}_{\mathrm{i}}$	Numerical Log-Based Transformation of Inhi-
	bition Constant. 49, 51
$\mathbf{PSSM}$	Position Specific Scoring Matrix. xxxvi,
	xxxvii, 45, 94, 101, 102, 106–108
PWFFN	Position-Wise Feed-Forward Neural Network.
	xxxv, 73, 74, 78, 118–121, 141, 143, 259, 265–
	267, 269
OSAR	Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship
ų~	21, 37, 38, 60
RAdam	Rectified Adaptive Moment Estimation. 259,
	260, 265–267, 269
RBF	Radial Basis Function. 68
RBM	Restricted Boltzmann Machine. 44
ReLU	Rectified Linear Unit. 95, 96, 231, 259, 265
RF	Random Forest. 38, 39, 42, 43, 48, 50, 53, 67
RFR	Random Forest Regression. xliv, 68, 233, 234
RMSE	Root Mean Squared Error. 80, 97, 98, 123–
	126, 129, 151–157, 162, 232
KNA	Ribonucleic Acid. xxxiii, 14, 16
RNN	Recurrent Neural Network. 45, 143, 258
rRNA	ribosomal RNA. 15

SAR	Structure-Activity Relationship. 21
SMILES	Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry Sys-
	tem. xxv, xxxv–xxxix, xli, xliv, xlvi, 45–
	$48,\ 54{-}56,\ 87{-}93,\ 95,\ 107,\ 109,\ 114{-}124,\ 126,$
	127, 129 - 131, 136 - 144, 146 - 149, 154, 156, 158,
	163-165,229-231,236,240,257-261,265-267,
	269, 270
Spearman	Spearman Rank Correlation. 81, 97, 98, 123–
	126, 151, 152, 154, 156, 157, 162
SVM	Support Vector Machine. xxxiv, 38–40, 42–44,
	48, 53, 68-70
SVR	Support Vector Regression. xliv, 49, 69, 98,
	233, 234
tRNA	transfer RNA. xxxiii, xxxix, 15, 17, 224
VS	Virtual Screening. 39, 48, 49
X A I	Evplainable Artificial Intelligence 50, 61, 62
ΛΑΙ	64

#### List of Figures

- 2.1 Protein synthesis: transcription step. The protein-coding genetic information present in the DNA is transferred to the mRNA. Figure adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry*, 5th Edition [46].
  15
- 2.2 Pos-transcriptional modifications of the pre-mRNA: 5' capping, RNA splicing, RNA editing, and polyadenylation. Exon coding region, Intro non-coding region, Pol II RNA polymerase II. Figure adapted from Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition [46]. . . . . 16
- 2.3 Protein synthesis: translation phase. In the initiation step, the small subunit binds to the mature mRNA, the anticodon of the tRNA binds to the initiation codon of the mRNA, and the larger subunit of the ribosome combines with the small subunit. In the elongation step, different amino acids are brought by tRNA molecules according to complementary base pairing between the codons on the mRNA and the anticodons on the tRNA, and peptide bonds are formed between the amino acids. The termination step occurs in response to a termination codon present in the mRNA, resulting in the release of the peptide chain and dissociation of the two subunits of the ribosome. Figure adapted from Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition [46].
- 2.4 Amino acids. a) Amino acid structure:  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group (orange),  $\alpha$ -amino group (red), R group (pink), and a hydrogen atom attached to a central  $\alpha$ -carbon (blue). b) Peptide bond (yellow) between the  $\alpha$ -amino group of one amino acid and the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group of another amino acid, resulting in the release of a molecule of water ( $H_2O$ ). Figures adapted from Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition [46].
  - xxxiii

18

2.5	Four levels of protein structure. a) Primary structure. b) Secondary structure: $\alpha$ helix. c) Secondary structure: $\beta$ sheet. c) Tertiary Structure: Myoglobin [63]. d) Quaternary structure: Hemoglobin [64]. Figures a), b), and c) adapted from <i>Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition</i> [46]	20
2.6	Overview of the drug development process. (I) Target and lead dis- covery focus on identifying which targets interact with a certain drug and which drugs bind to a certain target, respectively. (II) Lead optimization is associated with the improvement of the discovered active compound's chemical properties, including potency, selectiv- ity, and pharmacokinetic attributes. The pre-clinical stage, known as ADMET assessment, enforces that several conditions for consump- tion are met. (III) The clinical trials comprise several stages (human trials) to meticulously evaluate the effectiveness and viability. The regulatory approval entails the registration and approval by a drug administration department, e.g., FDA or EMEA	23
3.1	Computational Drug Discovery Workflow.	34
5.1	Random Forest, where the majority voting approach is applied for classification problems and the average for regression tasks	68
5.2	Support Vector Machine applied to a binary classification problem. Figure adapted from "Support vector machines for drug discovery" [168]	69
5.3	Fully-Connected Feed-Forward Neural Network architecture, wherein the information flows in one direction and all neurons are interlinked across the multiple hidden layers	71
5.4	Convolution operation: element-by-element multiplication between local patches of the input and the filter, followed by the sum of the results and to which is applied an activation function	72
5.5	Convolutional Neural Network architecture, which comprises convo- lutional and pooling layers to extract deep representations from the input data.	73
5.6	Transformer-Encoder architecture, where each block is composed of	
-----	--	----
	an MHSA layer and a PWFFN. The MHSA layer computes self-	
	attention across $h$ heads of attention, where each $head_i$ computes	
	a weighted sum of $V_{proj}^{i}$ . The attention weights are determined by	
	applying a softmax $(\sigma)$ to the scaled dot-product between $Q_{proj}^i$ and	
	$K_{proj}^{i}$ , in which <i>PAD</i> tokens are masked. The PWFFN is applied to	
	the last dimension of the MHSA outputs in order to give them an	
	individually more robust representation	74
5.7	MHSA architecture, where each head of attention maps a query and	
	set of key-value pairs to an output, which is computed as a weighted	
	sum of the values. $h$ is the number of heads of attention and $mask$	
	corresponds to the masking of the $PAD$ tokens	76

5.8	Dropout applied to a standard FCNN with 2 hidden layers. Figure	
	adapted from "Dropout: A Simple Way to Prevent Neural Networks	
	from Overfitting" $[174]$	77

- 6.1 Dictionary-based encoding followed by one-hot encoding applied to the kinase AKK1, where L is the length of the protein sequence. . . . 89
- 6.2 CNN-FCNN binding affinity prediction model. Two parallel series of 1D CNNs uncover deep patterns and extract deep representations from protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. The resulting deep representations, comprising the most relevant and significant sequential and structural motifs, are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which predicts the binding affinity measured in terms of  $pK_d$ .

90

6.3	Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold, where DTI pairs are dis- tributed based on the $pK_d$ value, protein sequence similarity, and SMILES string similarity. The DTI pairs with a $pK_d > 5$ are ini- tially assigned to the K set with the lowest similarity score followed by the DTI pairs with a $pK_d = 5$ . The similarity score corresponds to the weighted mean between the median value across all the pro- tein sequences' similarity scores and the median value across all the SMILES strings' similarity scores, which are computed between the sample and each entry in the corresponding set
6.4	CNN-FCNN model predictions against the true values for the Davis kinase binding affinity testing set, where the diagonal line is the ref- erence line ( <i>predicted = true value</i> ). $\dots \dots 99$
6.5	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ matching results (Equation B.4) across different window lengths and PSSM thresholds, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher $L_{Grad-RAM}$ matching values, respectively. a) Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs; b) Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs (filtered*); c) sc-PDB pairs; d) sc-PDB pairs (filtered*). *Motifs inside the binding region filtered out
6.6	$L_{Grad-RAM}$ maps for some of the protein sequences of the Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs and sc-PDB pairs, where the binding sites are represented by the red and blue circles, respectively. The height of the vertical lines corresponds to the importance (weight) of the feature extracted from the corresponding position (amino acid).*NP: non-phosphorylated103
6.7	SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated. a) Anno- tated 3D complex obtained from docking, where the potential bind- ing sites ( $\leq 5$ Å), the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits, and the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ positions are represented by the green, blue and red col- ors, respectively. b) 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits are shown delimited by red circles 104
6.8	Foretinib in complex with DDR1. a) Annotated 3D complex ob- tained from docking, where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$ Å), the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits, and the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ positions are represented by the green, blue and red colors, respectively. b) 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits are shown delimited by red circles

6.9	Binding sites - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ feature relevance (Equation B.5) results across different feature relevance thresholds and window lengths, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher $L_{Grad-RAM}$ feature relevance values, respectively. a) Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs; b) sc-PDB pairs
6.10	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ feature relevance (Equation B.2.2.2) re- sults <sup>*</sup> across different PSSM thresholds and feature significance thresholds, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher $L_{Grad-RAM}$ matching values, respectively. a) Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs; b) Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs (filtered <sup>**</sup> ); c) sc-PDB pairs; d) sc-PDB pairs (filtered <sup>**</sup> ). * Each value corresponds to the mean value across the different window lengths. **Motifs inside the binding region filtered out
7.1	Integer-based encoding applied to the Dasatinib SMILES string, where each character is encoded into the corresponding integer. S is the length of the SMILES string and P is the number of padding tokens (zeros)
7.2	FCS and BPE encoding applied to the AAK1 kinase amino acid sequence, where the sequence is decomposed into an order of discovered frequent subsequences followed by integer encoding. L is the length of the amino acid sequence, $L_S$ is the length of the sequence decomposed into subsequences, and P is the number of padding tokens (zeros) 117
7.3	DTITR: End-to-End Transformer-based architecture. Two paral- lel Transformer-Encoders compute a contextual embedding of the protein sequences and SMILES strings, and a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder models the interaction space and learns the pharmacological context of the interaction. The resulting aggregate representations of the proteins $(R_P)$ and compounds $(R_S)$ are concate- nated and used as input for a FCNN. The final dense layer outputs the binding affinity measured in terms of $pK_d$

7.4 DTITR predictions against the true values for the Davis testing set, where the diagonal line is the reference line ( $predicted = true \ value$ ). 125

- TAG-DTA: Binding-Region-Guided Transformer-based architecture. 8.2 Two parallel Transformer-Encoders capture the proteomics and chemical context present in the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. A condition-based concatenation block concatenates the projected  $T_S$  (green) token from the SMILES Transformer-Encoder with the resulting protein tokens from the protein Transformer-Encoder to represent the pharmacological space. The resulting concatenated DTI representation is used as input to the 1D binding pocket classifier for binary token labeling, determining the binding nature of each protein subword. The predicted binary binding vector conditions the attention mechanism of the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder, resulting in the learning of the interaction context based on binding-related positions. The resulting aggregate representations of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder (blue  $T_S$ ), protein Transformer-Encoder  $(T_P)$ , and SMILES Transformer-Encoder (green  $T_S$ ) are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN,
- 8.3 Binding region-guided attention masking matrix, where the *PAD* tokens masking matrix is combined with the predicted 1D binding pocket.148

8.4	Pre-training of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder using an MLM approach, where the model learns to predict the $[MASK]$ tokens based on the unaltered input units
8.5	TAG-DTA binding affinity predictions against the true values for the Davis affinity testing set, where the black diagonal line corresponds to the reference line ( <i>predicted = true value</i> ). $\dots \dots \dots$
8.6	SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated. (a) Anno- tated 3D complex obtained from docking [341]. (b) TAG-DTA 1D binding pocket. The docking binding sites ( $\leq 5$ ), TAG-DTA bind- ing positions, TAG-DTA non-binding positions, and matched binding positions are represented by the blue, red, gray, and orange colors, respectively
8.7	Attention maps associated with the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder for the SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)- phosphorylated. a) TAG-DTA. b) TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block. The attention weights were normalized across all the positions for each head of attention and the maximum value was selected for visualization
A.1	Genetic code: mapping of triplets of nucleotides (codons) in the mRNA to specific amino acids. The initiation and termination codons are highlighted in green and pink, respectively. Figure adapted from <i>Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition</i> [46]
A.2	Transfer RNA. a) General cloverleaf secondary structure of tRNA: D arm, anticodon arm, extra arm, $T\psi C$ arm, and amino acid arm. b) Pairing relationship of codon and anticodon: complementary base pairing between the codon on the mRNA and the anticodon on the tRNA. Figures adapted from <i>Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry</i> , 5th Edition [46]
B.1	Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions associated with the input vectors. a) Protein sequences length distribution; b) SMILES

B.2	Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions associated with the output (target) vector. a) $K_d$ values distribution; b) $pK_d$ values distribution; c) $pK_d > 5$ values distribution
B.3	Overlapped blind and guided docking best poses. a) SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K) - phosphorylated ligand); b) Foretinib (DDR1 lig- and). Blind Docking - Blue, Guided Docking - Orange
B.4	Annotated 3D structure for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated recep- tor in complex with the cognate ligand and docked ligand (SKI-606), where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$ Å), the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits, the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ positions, and the pocket surface are represented by the green, blue, red and orange colors, respectively. a) Full representation of the 3D complex; b) Pocket surface in detail. Cognate Ligand - Dark Blue, Docked Ligand - Cyan
B.5	Annotated 3D structure for the DDR1 receptor in complex with the cognate ligand and docked ligand (Foretinib), where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$ Å), the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ hits, the matched binding - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ positions, and the pocket surface are represented by the green, blue, red and orange colors, respectively. a) Full representation of the 3D complex; b) Pocket surface in detail. Cognate Ligand - Dark Blue, Docked Ligand - Cyan
B.6	ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the binding residues interacting with both the cognate and docked ligands are shown delimited by black circles. a) Cognate Ligand; b) Docked Ligand (SKI-606)
B.7	DDR1 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the binding residues inter- acting with both the cognate and docked ligands are shown delimited by black circles. a) Cognate Ligand; b) Docked Ligand (Foretinib). 245
B.8	DDR1 kinase domain interactome. a) Interaction map of DDR1.DDR1-pY interactome based on phosphotyrosine peptide pull- downs performed in human placenta tissue [370]; b) Network map of DDR1 interactions, where the interacting residues and the interactors are represented by the yellow and green colors, respectively 246

C.1	Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions. a) Protein
	sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding;
	SMILES string length distribution based on the FCS/BPE Encod-
	ing
D.1	Binding pocket datasets distributions. a) scPDB $\cup$ PDBBind $\cup$ Bi-
	oLiP protein sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE
	encoding; scPDB $\cup$ PDBBind $\cup$ BioLiP SMILES strings length dis-
	tribution. c) scPDB $\cup$ PDBBind $\cup$ BioLiP binding residues distribu-
	tion based on the FCS/BPE encoding and neighborhood. d) COACH
	protein sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE encod-
	ing. e) COACH SMILES strings length distribution. f) COACH
	binding residues distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding and

### 

## List of Tables

6.1	Original and pre-processed Davis dataset [276]: unique proteins, com- pounds, and DTIs	88
6.2	Statistics of collected binding sites datasets from the sc-PDB database [345]	93
6.3	Average number of conserved motifs across different thresholds for the Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs	94
6.4	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis testing set	98
6.5	Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB Binding Sites - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ matching (Equation B.4) results across different window lengths and for the different formu- lations of the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ . Lower and higher percentage values are associated with lower and higher numbers of window-based binding pockets, in which information is extracted from at least one position, across all the DTI pairs	100
6.6	sc-PDB Binding Sites - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ matching (Equation B.4) results across different window lengths and for the different formulations of the $L_{Grad-RAM}$ . Lower and higher percentage values are associated with lower and higher numbers of window-based binding pockets, in which information is extracted from at least one position, across all the DTI pairs	100
7.1	Original and pre-processed Davis dataset: unique proteins, com- pounds, and DTIs	116
7.2	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set	124

7.3	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set for the different alternatives of the DTITR model
8.1	Statistics of collected binding affinity, 1D binding pocket, and SMILES pre-train MLM datasets
8.2	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent test set. 151
8.3	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis dataset using the original split methodology, where the standard deviations are given in parentheses
8.4	Binding affinity prediction results over a 5-fold random split of the Davis affinity dataset for three different experimental settings: novel compounds, novel proteins, and novel protein-compound pairs 155
8.5	Binding affinity and 1D binding pocket prediction results over the Davis and COACH test set, respectively, for the different alternatives of the TAG-DTA model: (I) TAG-DTA without pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder related block; (II) TAG-DTA without the binding affinity regression block; (III) TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block
A.1	Standard amino acids
A.2	Uncommon amino acids and placeholders
A.3	Amino acids categories according to polarity and charge of the side chains at pH 7 [46]
A.4	Amino acids categories according to dipoles and volume of the side chains [55, 56]
A.5	Amino acids categories according to physicochemical/structural prop- erties of the side chains [57]
B.1	Number of DTIs for the different Davis train/validation folds and independent test fold
B.2	CNN-FCNN parameter settings
B.3	Parameters settings for the deep representations evaluation baseline models. a) RFR; b) KRR; c) SVR; d) GBR

B.4	Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis dataset using the original split methodology
B.5	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching (Equation B.4) for the Davis ∩ sc-PDB pairs across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 5; b) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 6; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 7; d) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 8; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 9; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq$ 10 237
B.6	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching (Equation B.4) for the Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs with the motifs inside the entire binding region filtered out across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq 10. \dots 238$
B.7	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching (Equation B.4) for the sc-PDB pairs across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq 10. \dots 239$
B.8	PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching (Equation B.4) for the sc-PDB pairs with the motifs inside the entire binding region filtered out across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq 10. \dots 240$
B.9	Blind and guided docking scores, measured in terms of kcal/mol, for the best three poses of the ligands associated with each recep- tor, specifically SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated ligand) and Foretinib (DDR1 ligand)
B.10	<ul> <li>Binding Sites - L<sub>Grad-RAM</sub> Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the Davis - sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds.</li> <li>a) Feature Relevance 10%; b) Feature Relevance 20%; c) Feature Relevance 30%; d) Feature Relevance 40%; e) Feature Relevance 50%;</li> <li>f) Feature Relevance 60%; g) Feature Relevance 70%</li></ul>
B.11	Binding Sites - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds: a) Feature Relevance 10%; b) Feature Relevance 20%; c) Feature Relevance 30%; d) Feature Relevance 40%; e) Feature Relevance 50%; f) Feature Relevance 60%; g) Feature Relevance 70%

B.12 PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the
Davis $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds,
window lengths, and PSSM Thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold $\geq 5$ ; b)
PSSM Threshold $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold
$\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq 10. \dots 249$

- B.14 PSSM Motifs  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds, window lengths, and PSSM Thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 10. \dots 253$

#### 

# Chapter 1

## Introduction

he contributions in the bioinformatics and cheminformatics domains have been pivotal in the pursuit and development of Drug–Target Interaction (DTI) prediction algorithms, promoting and accelerating the drug discovery process. Even though many efforts have been devoted to these prediction methodologies, many challenges remain to address, including providing strategies to explain the models' decisions, which is crucial in critical contexts such as drug discovery, and recognizing the inherent complexity and multi-domain inter-independency of the binding process associated with DTIs. This chapter introduces such limitations and traces this thesis's main research goals.

## 1.1 Motivation

The discovery and development of new drugs remain one of the greatest challenges in the biomedical and pharmaceutical areas. In that regard, the identification of potential DTIs is decisive in drug discovery and drug repositioning processes, especially when considering that the therapeutic effects of active compounds are determined through the observation of DTIs [1]. Despite the efforts on the traditional *in vivo* and in vitro drug discovery experiments, conducting low or high-throughput bioassays for the screening of potential leads is time-consuming, labor-intensive, and unfeasible for the vast compound and protein spaces, compromising the effectiveness of these approaches [2]. Moreover, the wide range of unexpected clinical side effects and the lack of knowledge regarding potential off-targets highly influence the success rate of these more conventional experimental methods [3]. Thus, in silico (computational) strategies have attracted increasing attention due to their ability to exploit comprehensive chemical and proteomic libraries, improve the efficacy of the early stages of drug discovery, and promote the overall understanding of the biological, chemical, and pharmacological processes involved in DTIs [4]. Furthermore, most of these computational methods learn from already approved drugs, which allows them to bypass several steps of the traditional *de novo* drug discovery pipeline, given that a considerable amount of the drug candidates have already been through the validation phases [5].

In spite of the major advances and interesting findings obtained by *in silico* approaches, the amount of approved drugs remains a low percentage of all known bioactive compounds [6, 7]. Moreover, the number of new drugs discovered every year is declining, conversely to the number of new variants of already existing infections and diseases [8]. The emergence of multi-resistant pathological conditions caused by new mutations of certain viruses or bacteria is a rising health concern, especially when considering the ineffectiveness of the currently available medicine against the symptoms triggered by these new stripes, leading to potentially life-threatening situations [9, 10, 11]. Additionally, there is an increasingly irrational and injudicious misuse of the currently available medicine, causing a resistance effect to these kinds of agents or, on the other hand, accelerating directly or indirectly the evolution and potential mutations of those bacteria and viruses [12, 13]. On that account, the proposal of novel and efficient methodologies capable of accurately identifying DTIs, and providing potential explanations for the inferring process remains an ongoing challenge in the drug discovery field.

#### 1.1.1 Limitations of Binary DTI Classification

The majority of the computational studies proposed to solve the DTI prediction challenge rely on shallow binary associations to characterize the interaction and conduct the experiments, indicating only if a certain active compound interacts or not with the corresponding biological target [14]. On that account, the importance of Drug–Target Affinity (DTA), which considers all the comprehensive processes involved in the interaction, i.e., reflects the magnitude and rank order of the pair association, is usually overlooked, especially given that predicting DTA is substantially more challenging. Hence, the quality of the predictions is compromised or at least limited, particularly in the identification of primary interactions, leading to a lack of target selectivity, which is crucial in the drug discovery context due to the polypharmacological nature of most existing drug molecules [15]. Furthermore, negative interactions (lack of interaction) are mostly based on the absence of information or possible hypotheses, resulting in the prediction of potential unknown false negatives [16, 17].

Nevertheless, the increase in interactions with known bioactivity measurements and the expansion of binding-related databases, such as ChEMBL [6], BindingDB [18], or PDBBind [19], have been instrumental in the pursuit of more realistic and informative studies, shifting computational drug discovery toward methodologies focused on the prediction of real-valued interaction strengths [20]. However, several of these studies center their experiments on sources of unreliable binding affinity metrics, e.g., inhibition constant (K<sub>i</sub>) [21, 22] or half maximal inhibition concentration (IC<sub>50</sub>) [23], due to the number of available data points compared to other sources of bioactivity. Even though computational frameworks may perform significantly better with larger datasets, the use of biased bioactivity metrics limits the validity of the results.

Thus, the use of direct and independent binding affinity or bioactivity measurements, such as the dissociation constant  $(K_d)$  [24, 25], is essential to accurately and realistically predict DTIs and properly distinguish primary interactions from those with off-targets (secondary interactions).

#### 1.1.2 DTI Understanding and Model Explainability

On account of the progressive advances in computing and the growth of available data to train complex models, Deep Learning (DL) algorithms have been successfully employed in several fields of interest, including critical contexts such as bioinformatics, cheminformatics, health informatics, and pharmaceutical informatics [26]. Hence, most recent studies dealing with DTI or DTA prediction have explored DL strategies, achieving better results than traditional Machine Learning (ML) solutions [27]. The higher modular capability of these architectures to estimate non-linear mapping between data input and output, discover appropriate representations from structured or unstructured raw data, and learn sequential and/or structural motifs, has led to interesting findings in the DTI domain. However, these methods progressively transform the input to increase the representations' selectivity and invariance, resulting in abstract learned features, which are essentially not interpretable by humans. Furthermore, these representations do not provide a tractable path to the input domain, leading to inadequate explanations about the context that is responsible for a specific decision [28]. Thus, DL architectures are often considered highly complex black-box models, especially regarding the explainability of their results and understanding of the underlying aspects around the inner decisions [29].

Considering the context of the problem, where the results presented may have a great impact on the drug discovery process chain, it is vital to understand and provide possible explanations for the reasoning behind the decisions of these complex architectures [30, 31]. Moreover, focusing on explaining these models' decisions may present an important opportunity to validate the results and lead to novel findings

regarding key regions within each binding component and/or related to bindingspecific substructures, i.e., provide potential DTI understanding. Additionally, exploring the explainability of DL architectures can provide ways of understanding how to improve methodologies and select adequate input representations of the involving interacting components [32].

#### 1.1.3 DTI Representation and Domain Inter-dependency

The interaction between small molecules and proteins results from the recognition and complementarity of certain active groups (binding regions) and it is supported by the joint action of other individual substructures scattered across the protein and compound [33, 34]. Hence, the protein amino acid sequence, including the binding pocket within the protein sequence, and the compound's chemical structure are determinants for the interaction. However, several computational approaches characterize proteins and compounds using different combinations of conventional and global descriptors, e.g., physicochemical descriptors, which are mostly not robust or discriminating for predicting a real interaction [35]. Even though these descriptors may capture some intricate information regarding the proteomics and chemical domains, they are significantly limiting to DTI understanding and model explainability.

Additionally, most DTI prediction models simplify the interaction mechanism and do not take simultaneously into consideration the magnitude of certain local regions of each binding component and the interacting substructures involved [36]. Thus, the inter-dependency of the sequential and structural units of each binding component (and their intra-associations) or the inter-associations that revolve around the binding substructures (context of the interaction) are usually neglected, leading to predictions based on local and independent (without context) scattered motifs [37]. Consequently, when striving for valid and accurate DTI predictions, it is paramount to consider the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological (interaction) spaces during the learning process of these complex architectures.

#### 1.1.4 Binding Pockets in the Learning Process

The identification of protein-ligand binding pockets is crucial for understanding the biological functions of proteins and the mechanisms involved in DTIs, especially considering that these active regions are responsible to form bonds [38, 39, 40, 41]. Additionally, having a priori knowledge regarding potential binding pockets is essential for the rational design of new therapeutic compounds to modulate protein

functions [42, 43, 44]. However, the majority of DTA or DTI prediction computational studies have not yet given any special characterization or attention to these binding positions or actively integrated information regarding binding pockets during the learning/training process. Moreover, considering the range of different regions across the whole structure of the proteins and compounds, the relevance given to certain spots might introduce bias in the predictions, leading to the estimation of potential DTIs based on redundant sites (or substructures) and limiting the reliability of the results [45].

Furthermore, in order to realistically model DTIs and understand the interaction process, it is critical to properly integrate information related to binding sites during the learning process of these complex architectures, especially given the importance to learn the inter-associations that revolve around the binding substructures, i.e., the context of the interaction. Moreover, optimizing the DTI/DTA prediction frameworks by actively incorporating context related to the binding sites can increase the binding accuracy to the desired target and elucidate the design of ligands with increased selectivity and affinity for the corresponding target.

## **1.2** Goals and Contributions

This research aims to present innovative computational solutions to bolster drug discovery efforts, effectively addressing some of the primary challenges that persist in this domain. Consequently, it seeks to achieve informative and explainable modeling and prediction of DTIs. To this end, this thesis focused on the establishment of DL architectures specifically tailored for predicting an unbiased DTA metric, particularly  $K_d$ . These architectures rely on 1D raw sequential and structural representations of the proteins and compounds for the inferring process.

Moreover, this work delves into the realm of explainability of black-box models. It strives to provide explanations for the decision-making processes employed by the models and endeavors to incorporate explainability into the inner structure of the architectures during the model construction phase. Thus, the computational solutions presented seek to enhance the comprehensibility of the models' predictions, shed light on the reasoning behind the complex mechanisms involved in the inference step, and expand the current understanding of the intricate processes underlying DTIs.

Furthermore, this investigation methodically addressed the multi-domain representation space of DTIs, duly considering the inter-dependencies revolving around the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological domains. Alongside the multi-domain inter-dependency, the analysis and integration of information concerning binding pockets into the learning process were of paramount importance to proficiently modeling the pharmacological space and providing explicit evidence of potential key binding-related regions within proteins.

In sum, the reported findings in this thesis might prove helpful in designing future prospective DTI or DTA prediction applications capable of offering potential evidence to support the rationale behind the predictions and the intricate mechanisms and processes involved in the interaction between active compounds and biologically relevant targets.

This work can be subdivided into three main contributions, described in the following subsections.

## 1.2.1 Explainable Deep Drug–Target Representations

The first part of this thesis revolves around an investigation into the reliability of employing CNNs within the context of DTA prediction. Specifically, this examination focuses on their ability to identify and attribute significance to relevant sequential and structural regions associated with the binding process, all without relying on any *a priori* information. This study employs an end-to-end DL architecture to predict binding affinity, wherein CNNs are utilized to automatically recognize and extract discriminating deep representations from 1D sequential and structural data. Additionally, a post-hoc explainability algorithm is explored and proposed to provide potential explanations for the decision-making process of CNNs, as well as to identify the input regions that contributed positively to the inferential process. The input regions that were identified to positively influence the predictions underwent comprehensive analysis to evaluate their association with relevant regions in the DTI domain, specifically binding pockets and evolutionarily conserved motifs, and assess their respective significance (weight) to the overall prediction.

## 1.2.2 Intrinsic Explainability and Drug–Target Multi-Domain Inter-Dependency

The second part of this thesis presents a novel end-to-end Transformer-based architecture, designed to model the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces. The architecture introduces self-attention layers to capture the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and cross-attention layers to exchange information and learn the pharmacological context associated with the interaction space. Moreover, this study places emphasis on integrating explainability into the model construction process. This integration allows for the provision of various levels of potential understanding regarding DTIs as well as the reasoning behind the predictions. Furthermore, the resulting attention matrices were subjected to visualization to specifically evaluate the attention (weight) that the compound representation assigns to binding-related regions within the proteins.

## 1.2.3 Binding Region-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug– Target Affinity

The third part of this thesis is dedicated to actively incorporating binding-related information during the learning process of the architectures. To achieve this, an innovative binding-region-guided strategy is presented, aimed at modeling the pharmacological space of the interaction and learning the inter-dependency amongst binding-related positions for the prediction of binding affinity. This study explores a novel end-to-end binding-region-guided Transformer-based architecture that simultaneously predicts the 1D binding pocket and the binding affinity of DTI pairs, where the prediction of the 1D binding pocket guides and conditions the prediction of DTA. The architecture effectively combines multiple Transformer-Encoder blocks to capture and learn the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts. Moreover, the predicted 1D binding pocket conditions the attention mechanism of the Transformer-Encoder used to learn the pharmacological space in order to model the inter-dependency amongst binding-related positions. The dual focus of this study on two contextually related yet computationally distinct tasks, specifically binding pocket classification and binding affinity regression, leads to an enhanced understanding of DTIs and predictions, attributable to the nature of the attention blocks and the involvement of binding pocket prediction.

## 1.3 Thesis Outline/Structure

The remainder of this thesis proposal is structured as follows:

- Chapter 2 provides background information related to the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts associated with DTIs.
- Chapter 3 provides a showdown of the principal computational approaches used

for the prediction of DTIs and DTA. Several research works across different branches within the *in silico* drug discovery domain are detailed in this chapter.

- Chapter 4 details the importance of explainability in the ML and DL fields, along with some of the major strategies designed to provide explainability for the inferring process and/or predictions of the models.
- Chapter 5 introduces the major and recurring methodology employed throughout the research works associated with this thesis.
- Chapter 6 refers to the post-hoc explainability strategy employed to provide potential explanations for the decision-making process of CNNs in the context of DTA prediction. The reliability of the CNNs was evaluated by comparing input regions that had a positive influence on the prediction and relevant sequential regions in the DTI domain.
- Chapter 7 presents the development of an intrinsically explainable end-to-end DL architecture that models the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces for the prediction of DTA.
- Chapter 8 describes the binding-region-guided strategy employed to model the pharmacological space of the interaction and learn the inter-dependency amongst binding-related positions for the prediction of binding affinity. It also presents the contributions of using two computational yet contextually related tasks for DTI domain representation and DTA prediction performance.
- Chapter 9 concludes this thesis by providing an overview of the main findings resulting from this research and the overall contribution of this work to the field of drug discovery. It also presents future research directions.

## 1.4 Scientific Contributions

Apart from contributing to the drug discovery process, one of the main goals of this research is to add value to science through the publishing and divulging of new results and methodologies in scientific journals and international and national conferences. During this thesis, several contributions to the field of DTA prediction and drug discovery were made. These include publishing main authored and coauthored articles in international peer-reviewed journals, participating in national conferences, and co-supervising master's degree theses. Educational and scientific contributions in other research fields were also made. These comprise science communication activities to the general public.

All scientific contributions are enumerated in the following subsections.

### 1.4.1 Peer-Reviewed Scientific Articles

- J1 Monteiro, N.R.C., Ribeiro, B., Arrais, J.P.. "Deep Neural Network Architecture for Drug–Target Interaction Prediction", Artificial Neural Networks and Machine Learning - ICANN 2019: Workshop and Special Sessions Springer International Publishing, 804-809, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-30493-5\_76 (2019).
- J2 Monteiro, N.R.C., Ribeiro, B., Arrais, J.P.. "Drug–Target Interaction Prediction: End-to-End Deep Learning Approach", *IEEE/ACM Transac*tions on Computational Biology and Bioinformatics, 18, 2364-2374, doi: 10.1109/TCBB.2020.2977335 (2020). IF: 3.702
- J3 Torres, L., Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P., Ribeiro, B.. "Exploring a Siamese Neural Network Architecture for One-Shot Drug Discovery", 2020 IEEE 20th International Conference on Bioinformatics and Bioengineering (BIBE), 168-175, doi: 10.1109/BIBE50027.2020.00035 (2020).
- J4 Monteiro, N.R.C., Simões, C.J.V., Àvila, H.V., Abbasi, M., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P.. "Explainable deep drug-target representations for binding affinity prediction", *BMC Bioinformatics*, 23, 237, doi: 10.1186/s12859-022-04767-y (2022). IF: 3.327
- J5 Abbasi, M., Santos, B. P., Pereira, T. C., Sofia, R., Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, Simões, C.J.V., Britos, R. M. M., Ribeiro, B., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P.. "Designing optimized drug candidates with Generative Adversarial Network", *Journal of cheminformatics*, 14, 40, doi: 10.1186/s13321-022-00623-6 (2022). IF: 8.489
- J6 Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P.. "DTITR: End-to-end drugtarget binding affinity prediction with transformers", *Computers in Biology* and Medicine, 147, 105772, doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2022.105772 (2022). IF: 6.698
- J7 Monteiro, N.R.C., Pereira, T. O., Machado, A. C. D., Oliveira, J. L., Abbasi, M., Arrais, J.P.. "FSM-DDTR: End-to-End Feedback Strategy for Multi-Objective *De Novo* Drug Design using Transformers", *Computers in Biology*

and Medicine, 164, 107285, doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2023.107285 (2023). IF: 6.698

J8 Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P.. "TAG-DTA: Binding-Region-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug–Target Affinity Using Transformers", *Expert Systems with Applications*, 238, 122334, doi: 10.1016/j.eswa.2023.122334 (2023). IF: 8.665

#### 1.4.2 Scientific Articles under Preparation

J9 Almeida, B. C., Monteiro, N.R.C., Motresku, U., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P., Carvalho, A. "Zinc Ion Binding Site Prediction in Regulatory Proteins with Transformers". *Manuscript under preparation to be submitted to a scientific journal.* (2023).

#### **1.4.3** Participation in Conferences

- C1 Poster presentation in national conference: Torres, L., Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P., Ribeiro, B., 'Siamese Neural Networks for One-Shot Drug Discovery", *Bioinformatics Open Days*, 2020 (BOD 2020).
- C2 Oral presentation in national conference: Monteiro, N.R.C., Machado, A. C. D., Abbasi, M., Arrais, J.P. "Multi-Optimized Drug Design Using Transformers", Portuguese Conference on Pattern Recognition, 2022 (RECPAD 2022).
- C3 Poster presentation in national conference: Monteiro, N.R.C., Oliveira, J. L., Arrais, J.P.. "Intrinsic Explainability and Multi-Domain Inter-Dependency: End-to-End Drug–Target Binding Affinity Prediction with Transformers", Encontro com a Ciência e a Tecnologia em Portugal, 2023 (Ciência 2023).

#### 1.4.4 Master's Degree Theses Co-Supervision

- M1 Machado, A. C. D. "End-to-End Transformer-based Approach for Optimized De Novo Drug Design", Master Thesis dissertation, Faculty of Science and Technology of the University of Coimbra, Biomedical Engineering - Bioinformatics and Clinical Informatics (2022).
- M2 Coelho, G. S. "Deep Generative Models for Protein Repositioning", Master Thesis dissertation, Faculty of Science and Technology of the University of

Coimbra, Data Science and Engineering (2023).

## 1.4.5 Science Communication to the General Public

- G1 Invited Speaker: "Artificial Intelligence in Portugal", Mind Your Data, 2020 (MYD 2020).
- G2 Invited Speaker: "Alumni: Career Path & Academic Journey", Alumni: Physics Department of the University of Coimbra, 2023 (Alumni-DF-UC 2023).

# Chapter 2

# Proteomics, Chemical, and Pharmacological Contexts

his chapter introduces the main background concepts related to the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts associated with DTIs. Section 2.1 presents a brief overview of the role of proteins within every organism, the steps involved in protein synthesis, and the different levels of protein structure/complexity. Section 2.2 details the drug development process and the overall importance of compounds in the prevention and treatment of clinical conditions. Section 2.3 describes the most relevant processes involved in the interaction between active compounds and biological targets, including the various stages of the drug's action. Section 2.4 expounds upon the notion of binding affinity and introduces some of the most frequently employed affinity metrics. Section 2.5 presents certain principles pertaining to protein-ligand binding models, as well as the role of binding pockets in dictating interaction specificity.

## 2.1 Proteins Overview

The biological, chemical, and physiological balance within every organism is regulated and maintained by key working molecules known as proteins. These vital components reside in every organism cell and are responsible for several unique functions, including signaling, substance transport, biochemical reactions, immune responses, cell adhesion, cell cycle, and cell shape [46]. On that account, their biological activity is determined by their unique amino acid sequence, which is organized in one or more polypeptide chains, and by the interactions that occur within the chains, which determine the folding and, consequently, the structure [47]. Most proteins carry out their roles by interacting with other proteins or molecules, modifying their activity depending on the type of binding that occurs. Thus, the function rate of these complex biomolecules can easily be altered based on the interaction with potential invasive ligands that dominate over the natural ligands at the binding regions, leading to the rise or decline of their natural function. Moreover, proteins are affected by chemical, biological, and environmental factors, which can lead to the loss of shape or functionality or even abnormal oscillations in their function rate [48, 49, 50].

#### 2.1.1 Protein Synthesis

Protein synthesis is carried out inside the cell and it is divided into two main steps, namely transcription and translation. In the transcription phase, the proteincoding genetic information present in the DNA is transferred to the messenger RNA (mRNA), in which a strand of mRNA is created to complement a strand of DNA [46]. The transcription phase begins when the enzyme RNA polymerase and the necessary transcription factors bind to the promoter sequence, which defines the direction of transcription and indicates which DNA strand will be used for transcription (DNA template strand). Nevertheless, for the transcription step to take place, it is necessary to partially unwind the DNA double helix at the promoter region, i.e., break hydrogen linkages between annealed nucleotide bases. The RNA polymerase moves along the DNA template strand and adds RNA nucleotides to the mRNA strand based on complementary base pairing (hydrogen bonds), where the ribonucleotides (RNA nucleotides) are bonded together via phosphodiester linkages. Figure 2.1 depicts the transcription step of protein synthesis, in which a strand of RNA, specifically pre-mRNA, is synthesized to complement the template strand of duplex DNA.

The resulting mRNA (pre-mRNA) usually undergoes post-transcriptional modifications, which include 5' capping (methylated cap), RNA splicing, RNA editing, and polyadenylation (3' tail of adenine bases) [51, 52]. Moreover, the mature mRNA contains two untranslated regions at the 5' and 3' sides, which are associated with several functions, including translation efficiency, subcellular localization, and stability [53]. Figure 2.2 illustrates the post-transcriptional modifications applied to the pre-mRNA.

In the translation step, the genetic information of the mature mRNA is converted into a protein, i.e., the mRNA is used as a template to assemble a chain of amino acids in a specific order according to the genetic code. Each group of three nucleotides (triplets) in the mature mRNA constitutes a codon, and each codon specifies a particular amino acid (see Figure A.1 in Appendix A for more details). The translation phase occurs at the ribosomes (located in the cytoplasm), which are re-



**Figure 2.1:** Protein synthesis: transcription step. The protein-coding genetic information present in the DNA is transferred to the mRNA. Figure adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition* [46].

sponsible to read the sequence of codons in the mature mRNA [46]. The ribosomal complex is constituted of an ribosomal RNA (rRNA) and proteins, and it is divided into two subunits. The small subunit is responsible to initiate the translation process, where the ribosome binding site of the mRNA binds to the small subunit, and holds the mRNA in place during translation. On the other hand, the larger subunit manages the elongation phase of the translation stage, which corresponds to the assembly of the chain of amino acids (linked by peptide bonds). The amino acids are brought by molecules of transfer RNA (tRNA) to the ribosomal complex according to complementary base pairing between the codons on the mRNA and the anticodons on the tRNA (see Figure A.2 in Appendix A for more details). The initiation and termination phases are based on specific initiation and termination codons of the mature mRNA, respectively, and different initiation, elongation, and termination factors are involved during the translation stage. Figure 2.3 illustrates the different stages of the translation phase of protein synthesis, specifically initiation, elongation, and termination, in which a polypeptide chain is synthesized according to the genetic information (codons) present in the mature mRNA.

Following protein synthesis, the resulting polypeptide chain may undergo additional post-translation events, e.g., proteolysis or protein folding, based on the biological



Figure 2.2: Pos-transcriptional modifications of the pre-mRNA: 5' capping, RNA splicing, RNA editing, and polyadenylation. Exon - coding region, Intro - non-coding region, Pol II - RNA polymerase II. Figure adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition* [46].

function to be carried out [54]. On that account, proteins can be free metabolites or constituents that have had common amino acid residues modified after protein synthesis.

#### 2.1.2 Protein Structure

Proteins are composed of amino acids, where each amino acid contains an  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group (-*COOH*), an  $\alpha$ -amino group (-*NH*<sub>2</sub>), a specific R group (side-chain), and a hydrogen atom attached to a central carbon atom ( $\alpha$ -carbon). The amino acids are linked by peptide bonds, which are amide covalent chemical bonds between the  $\alpha$ -amino group of one amino acid and the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group of another amino acid, resulting in the release of a molecule of water ( $H_2O$ ) [46]. There are usually 20 amino acids commonly found as residues in proteins, however, other less common amino acids might also occur, including the use of placeholders when it is not possible to conclusively identify the residue (See Tables A.1 and A.2 in Appendix A for more



Figure 2.3: Protein synthesis: translation phase. In the initiation step, the small subunit binds to the mature mRNA, the anticodon of the tRNA binds to the initiation codon of the mRNA, and the larger subunit of the ribosome combines with the small subunit. In the elongation step, different amino acids are brought by tRNA molecules according to complementary base pairing between the codons on the mRNA and the anticodons on the tRNA, and peptide bonds are formed between the amino acids. The termination step occurs in response to a termination codon present in the mRNA, resulting in the release of the peptide chain and dissociation of the two subunits of the ribosome. Figure adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition* [46].

details). Moreover, amino acids can be grouped according to the characteristics of the side chains, e.g., polarity and charge at pH 7 [46], dipoles and volume of the side chains [55, 56], or other physicochemical/structural properties [57] (See Tables A.3, A.4, and A.5, respectively, in Appendix A for more details). Figure 2.4 depicts the structure of amino acids and the peptide bond that occurs between the  $\alpha$ -amino group of one amino acid and the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group of another amino acid.

The protein structure is usually classified into four different levels of complexity, specifically primary, secondary, tertiary, and quaternary, in which the resulting protein shape or conformation is directly associated with its biological function/activity [46].

The primary structure corresponds to the linear sequence of amino acids in a



Figure 2.4: Amino acids. a) Amino acid structure:  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group (orange),  $\alpha$ -amino group (red), R group (pink), and a hydrogen atom attached to a central  $\alpha$ -carbon (blue). b) Peptide bond (yellow) between the  $\alpha$ -amino group of one amino acid and the  $\alpha$ -carboxyl group of another amino acid, resulting in the release of a molecule of water ( $H_2O$ ). Figures adapted from Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition [46].

polypeptide chain linked by peptide bonds (1D information), where each chain has its own set of amino acids and is assembled in a particular order. On that account, the primary structure is critical for the overall conformation of a protein, considering that the order of the side-chain structures and resulting interactions play a critical role in the folding of the protein into more complex structures, especially due to the different chemical properties associated with the R group of each amino acid. Moreover, the order in which the amino acids are connected defines a set of interactions between amino acids, which is crucial for the biological activity and properties of the protein.

The secondary structure is essentially determined by backbone interactions and hydrogen bonds, where the linear sequence of amino acids folds upon itself. On that account, local folded structures occur within the polypeptide chain due to hydrogen bonds between the partially negative oxygen atom and the partially positive nitrogen atom associated with backbone amino acid atoms, thus, amino acid side chains are not involved in these hydrogen bonds. Additionally, the hydrogen bonds can coil or fold the polypeptide chain, resulting in different patterns that contribute to the protein shape. The most common types of secondary structures are the  $\alpha$  helix and  $\beta$  sheet, however, other patterns have been identified and categorized, such as  $\beta$ loops or  $\beta$  turns [58, 59, 60].

The tertiary structure is the overall 3D shape of a polypeptide and it is determined

primarily by the interactions that occur between the R groups of the amino acids. Hence, the properties of the R groups highly influence the protein's tertiary structure and global shape, e.g., polar hydrophilic and non-polar hydrophobic amino acids lead to hydrophobic interactions, in which non-polar hydrophobic R groups cluster together at the core of the protein, avoiding contact with the surrounding water. Moreover, several non-covalent interactions are involved in the tertiary structure, including hydrogen bonding, ionic bonding, dipole-dipole interactions, Van der Waals interactions, and London dispersion forces. On that account, the resulting 3D conformation depends on the global energy minimum and stability across all possible interactions between the amino acid residues.

The quaternary structure results from the combination of multiple polypeptide chains (subunits) into a single functional protein, in which mostly weak interactions, e.g., hydrogen bonding, are involved to maintain the structure. Even though this structure is relatively uncommon compared to single polypeptide chain proteins, it can lead to proteins capable of more complex functions, e.g., transporting oxygen throughout the blood (hemoglobin) or cell signaling (G-proteins), and increased stability [61, 62].

Figure 2.5 illustrates the four levels of protein structure, specifically primary, secondary, tertiary, and quaternary.

## 2.2 Drug Discovery

Drugs have been playing an important role in the overall health and survival of the human race, in which their use has been crucial for the treatment, prevention, and control of a broad range of diseases, illnesses, and other clinical conditions [65]. These substances were initially discovered by evaluating the mechanisms and effects of natural products, e.g., plants and mineral sources, or by mere serendipity [66]. Despite the medical properties of most of these natural compounds, the levels of toxicity were usually considerably high, resulting in harmful effects. In that regard, recognizing that the beneficial and toxic properties of a drug were important, especially that effective drugs should have a higher selectivity for the target microorganism instead of its host [67], was crucial to shifting drug discovery into finding active components within natural substances that account for their pharmacological properties, i.e., isolated products of higher purity [68, 69]. Additionally, microbial natural products or products derived from microbial compounds, i.e., antibiotics, have been vital for the human race's survival by rendering life-threatening bacte-



**Figure 2.5:** Four levels of protein structure. a) Primary structure. b) Secondary structure:  $\alpha$  helix. c) Secondary structure:  $\beta$  sheet. c) Tertiary Structure: Myoglobin [63]. d) Quaternary structure: Hemoglobin [64]. Figures a), b), and c) adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition* [46].

rial infections efficiently curable. These compounds, starting with Penicillin, which was discovered by Sir Alexander Fleming in 1928 [70] and used to treat bacterial infections during World War II, were the pinnacle of modern medicine development, leading to major advances in surgery, transplants, and chemotherapy [10, 13].

Most drugs are now derived from combinatory chemistry, chemical synthesis, molecular modification of known drugs, rational design, or related to substances produced by certain microorganisms. Nevertheless, natural compounds isolated from natural sources still represent a major class of molecular drugs that are involved in the treatment of several categorized human diseases and are usually considered a starting point in the discovery of certain agents, e.g., immunosuppressive agents [69].

The drug discovery challenge includes the identification and development of molecules that elicit a certain desired effect in a living organism, the study of proteins involved in key biological pathways or related to certain diseases, and the evaluation and optimization of the organic functional groups and the pharmacophore of potential leads [71]. On that account, the development of High-Throughput Screening (HTS) methods in combination with combinatorial chemistry has led to major findings in the drug discovery field [72, 73, 74]. In the HTS step, compounds from large chemical libraries or collections of synthetic compounds are screened (assayed) against a variety of well-characterized targets in order to identify specific mechanisms of action, including inhibition, activation, modulation, or interference [75]. The compounds that show activity and selectivity in pharmacological and biochemically relevant screening are modified using parallel chemistry approaches (combinatorial chemistry) in an iterative process of synthesis, characterization, and screening to optimize their efficacy and drug-like properties (lead optimization), considering that hit compounds rarely cover the needs in affinity, selectivity, efficacy, and safety [76]. Thus, at each stage of the lead optimization process, Structure-Activity Relationship (SAR) or Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship (QSAR) studies are usually conducted in order to ascertain physicochemical properties, molecular properties, and the interactions of the drug [77, 78, 79, 80].

The current drug development process is usually divided into six different steps: target discovery, lead discovery, lead optimization, pre-clinical, clinical trials, and regulatory approval [71]. Target discovery comprises studies to identify key molecules in a specific metabolic or cell signaling pathway related to a particular clinical state. Considering that drugs predominantly target proteins, including enzymes, receptors, or transporters, it is essential to accurately identify and evaluate the therapeutic effect and regulation of the discovered targets for the pharmacological action of a

certain drug. Lead discovery includes the identification of chemical compounds or molecules that interact with a certain target with high affinity, efficacy, and selectivity. These molecules should have properties that are likely to be therapeutically useful and are usually the starting point for drug design and development. Lead optimization aims to improve efficacy, selectivity, and pharmacokinetic features, i.e., Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Excretion (ADME) properties of lead compounds. This stage comprises systematic modifications and refinements of the structure of lead compounds in order to evaluate the physicochemical and molecular properties and the relative contribution of each organic functional group. On that account, several analogs of the lead compounds are typically generated through various forms of alterations, wherein the impact of these modifications on the biological activity is assessed. These refinements are usually linked to the size and shape of the carbon skeleton, the spatial arrangement of the lead compound, and the type and extent of substitution. In the pre-clinical stage, in vitro and in vivo experiments are conducted prior to human consumption in order to determine and evaluate Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, Excretion, and Toxicity (ADMET) properties, dosage, and efficacy. Clinical trials are conducted on humans and are usually divided into three phases. In phase I, the drug's safety, dosage, and toleration are evaluated in a group of healthy humans. In phase II, the drug is administered to patients that have the condition in order to assess its efficacy. In phase III, a larger sample of patients is selected to conduct a more reliable statistical analysis of the drug's effectiveness and potential side effects. Moreover, reproductive effects, teratogenicity, and immunologic and behavioral toxicities are also evaluated at this stage. Regulatory approval entails the registration and approval by a drug administration department, such as Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States or European Medicines Evaluation Agency (EMEA) in Europe. Figure 2.6 illustrates the drug discovery pipeline.

The contributions in genomics, proteomics, and bioinformatics have been crucial to further development and findings in drug discovery given the rapid and precise discovery of genes/proteins involved in the etiology of certain diseases [81]. On that account, the use of certain proteomics technologies, such as mass spectroscopy, in combination with affinity chromatography or micro-array methods has been important for probing DTIs [82, 83]. Furthermore, X-ray crystallography and Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) methods have been essential for determining the 3D structure of proteins and/or drug-target complexes, revealing a high level of detail about potential active sites within the protein and providing important insights regarding the interaction between active small molecules and biologically relevant


**Figure 2.6:** Overview of the drug development process. (I) Target and lead discovery focus on identifying which targets interact with a certain drug and which drugs bind to a certain target, respectively. (II) Lead optimization is associated with the improvement of the discovered active compound's chemical properties, including potency, selectivity, and pharmacokinetic attributes. The pre-clinical stage, known as ADMET assessment, enforces that several conditions for consumption are met. (III) The clinical trials comprise several stages (human trials) to meticulously evaluate the effectiveness and viability. The regulatory approval entails the registration and approval by a drug administration department, e.g., FDA or EMEA.

protein targets [84, 85]. NMR spectroscopy has also been effective for the generation of multivariate metabolites in order to improve lead compound selection in drug toxicity screening.

In spite of the interesting findings of screening methods, these traditional drug discovery approaches have a low rate of success. Hence, modern sources focus on computer-aided drug design given the advances in computational methods and increasing knowledge of disease etiology and biological systems associated with it [86]. Computer-aided drug design includes a variety of computational approaches, e.g., structure-based, ligand-based, or *de novo* design, and improves the identification of new leads and design of compounds with increased selectivity, efficacy, and safety [87]. Furthermore, these *in silico* methodologies are usually combined with drug repositioning strategies, making use of well-established chemical substances with known bioactivity as lead or prototype [88, 89, 90]. On that account, it greatly reduces the cost of lead screening and the time required for a drug to reach the market, considering that the search space is around structural congeners, homologs, or analogs of known and approved drugs.

# 2.3 Pharmacological Activity and Drug–Target Interactions

Drugs are identified as any substance that is used to explore, modify, or control physiological systems or pathological states for the benefit of its host. On that account, these chemical compounds can be applied to a broad range of different conditions, including the provision of certain elements, prevention of a disease or infection, treatment against a bacterial or virus infection, temporary blocking of a normal function, correction of a derange function, or even as diagnostic auxiliary agents [91].

The structure of a drug usually comprises a carbon skeleton and different organic functional groups, where the former is responsible for the size and shape of the molecule and the latter for the overall molecular reactivity [92]. On that account, the structure is usually divided into two main components: pharmacophore and secondary substructures. The pharmacophore is involved in the binding process and is thus responsible for the biological/pharmacological response of the drug. On the other hand, the secondary substructures are associated with transport, storage, bioavailability, chemical and metabolic stability, excretion, and interactions with secondary receptors, which are essential to regulate the effects of the drug molecule in the body [93, 94].

The pharmacological action of a drug is a complex pattern of processes in which several factors are involved, thus, it is not only related to the intrinsic properties of the compounds but also to the interaction with the complementary chemical groups of a specific cellular component (receptor), which initiates various biological and physiological modifications, altering the function rate of that receptor. The drug's action is usually divided into three main phases: pharmaceutical, pharmacokinetic, and pharmacodynamic [76]. In the pharmaceutical phase, the drug's administered form is disintegrated and the compound is pharmaceutical available, i.e., available for absorption. The pharmacokinetic stage is associated with the ADME steps/properties of the compound, in which the drug is available for action (biological availability). Moreover, compounds are usually either stored within the host (drug's metabolism), wherein they can remain intact or undergo further chemical modifications, or eliminated after a certain period of time (drug's excretion). The pharmacodynamic step is associated with the interaction of the active small molecule with its receptor, leading to a series of chemical and biochemical phenomena in order to produce a specific biological/pharmacological effect.

The interaction between a protein and a drug is the consequence of several bond types, including ionic, hydrogen, hydrophobic, Van der Waals, and/or covalent, in which the complementarity of certain active and functional groups in the 3D space is essential to form bonds, i.e., the effectiveness of the drug depends on the complementarity between the molecular shape and stereoelectronic structure (electronic distribution) of the chemical compound and the stereoelectronic structure of the receptor [33]. On that account, the 3D orientation and arrangement of the organic functional groups are determinants for the interaction, e.g., enantiomers and diastereomers of a certain chemical compound usually result in significant differences in the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic behavior and physical and chemical properties, respectively [95, 96]. Nevertheless, several other factors affect the interaction, including physical, chemical, and physiological. The interaction process is usually divided into two types of binding, specifically primary and secondary, where the former is responsible for a firm binding, e.g., ionic bonds, and the latter for supplementary bonds to hold the compound within the interaction complex. Additionally, DTIs can be reversible or irreversible depending on the dynamic equilibrium of the complex, the type of binding bonds that occurs, and the binding region within the protein [97, 98].

Proteins contain pockets, cavities, surface depressions, and other geometric regions where small molecule compounds can easily bind. Thus, not all regions within the protein are responsible to form bonds, only specific spots, denominated of active or binding sites, interact with the drug [99]. However, certain chemical compounds can bind to other areas within the protein surface (allosteric sites), leading to changes in the conformation of the protein binding sites [100]. Moreover, most proteins undergo conformational changes when binding to a substrate, e.g., adjust their shape, in order to promote the interaction [101, 102].

Overall, drugs are potential modulators of the functions performed by several proteins, in which their ability to bind (affinity) and capacity to execute their pharmacological activity (intrinsic activity) determine the role enforced by these chemical molecules. Thus, drugs can be classified as agonists, antagonists, or partial antagonists [103]. Agonists are associated with molecules that induce a biological response upon binding to a receptor, whereas antagonists inhibit or decrease the physiological reactions of the receptor. Nevertheless, some drugs are capable of producing their effects without interacting with a specific receptor (lack of affinity and intrinsic activity).

## 2.4 Binding Affinity

The interaction between active small compounds and biologically relevant targets is determined by comprehensive processes and factors, including intermolecular interactions and energies, concentrations, and conformations, that are heavily reflected in the binding affinity or bioactivity of the ligand. However, these aspects are not adequately captured in binary relationships, which indicate only the presence or absence of interaction. Hence, it is crucial to consider the binding affinity in order to quantify the strength of the association between compounds and targets and assess the magnitude and rank order of the interaction. On that account, the ligand's binding affinity is vital to differentiate primary interactions from those with secondary targets (known as off-targets). This distinction helps in understanding the specific target of interest and avoids potential confusion by interactions with unintended targets.

The measure of the binding affinity in *in silico* studies is usually calculated using three different metrics:  $K_d$ ,  $K_i$ , and  $IC_{50}$  [104].  $K_d$  is a direct measurement of the equilibrium between the receptor-ligand complex and the dissociation components, where lower values indicate higher binding affinity [24, 25]. Considering a protein P, a ligand L, and a protein-ligand complex PL,  $K_d$  can be expressed as:

$$P + L \underbrace{\overleftarrow{k_{off}}}_{k_{on}} PL$$

$$K_d = \frac{[P][L]}{[PL]} = \frac{k_{off}}{k_{on}} = \frac{1}{K_a}$$
(2.1)

, where [P] is the equilibrium concentration of a protein molecule P, [L] is the equilibrium concentration of a ligand molecule L, [PL] is the equilibrium concentration of a protein-ligand molecule PL,  $k_{off}$  is the dissociation rate constant,  $k_{on}$  is the association rate constant, and  $K_a$  is the binding/affinity constant. Moreover,  $K_d$  is usually given in terms of molar concentration (M).

 $K_i$  is also seen as a dissociation constant but measured in inhibition studies and, therefore, depends on the kinetic mechanisms of inhibition, such as competitive inhibition, uncompetitive inhibition, non-competitive inhibition, or mixed inhibition [21, 22]. In this regard, only when the kinetic mechanism is accurately identified, can  $K_i$  values provide an accurate representation of the binding constant. This metric is usually associated with ligands that reduce the catalytic activity of enzymes and, thus, it is calculated by determining rates of enzyme-catalyzed reactions while independently varying the concentration of substrate and inhibitor. Low values of  $K_i$  indicate a strong binding association. On the other hand, IC<sub>50</sub> is the concentration of inhibitor required to reduce the biological activity to half of the uninhibited value, and it is affected by the measurement conditions, mechanisms of inhibition, and concentrations [23]. Contrarily to  $K_i$ , IC<sub>50</sub> is determined at only one concentration of substrate over a range of inhibitor concentrations. Low values of IC<sub>50</sub> are associated with higher binding affinity.

 $IC_{50}$  can be converted to  $K_i$  (and vice-versa) using the Cheng–Prusoff equation [105] when the mechanism of inhibition and the concentration of the substrate are known [21]:

• Competitive inhibition: inhibitor binds only to free enzyme.

$$IC_{50} = K_i (1 + \frac{[S]}{K_M})$$
(2.2)

, where [S] is the concentration of the substrate and  $K_M$  is the Michaelis constant.

• Uncompetitive inhibition: inhibitor binds only to the enzyme-substrate complex.

$$IC_{50} = K_i (1 + \frac{K_M}{[S]})$$
(2.3)

, where [S] is the concentration of the substrate and  $K_M$  is the Michaelis constant.

• Mixed inhibition: inhibitor binds to both free enzyme and enzyme-substrate complex with different inhibition constants.

$$IC_{50} = \frac{[S] + K_M}{\left(\frac{[S]}{K_{ies}} + \frac{K_M}{K_{ie}}\right)}$$
(2.4)

where [S] is the concentration of the substrate,  $K_M$  is the Michaelis constant,  $K_{ies}$  is the inhibition constant to the enzyme-substrate complex, and  $K_{ie}$  is the inhibition constant to the free enzyme.

• Non-competitive inhibition: a special case of mixed inhibition where substrate binding does not affect inhibitor binding.

$$IC_{50} = K_i \tag{2.5}$$

The equations above are obtained by using derivations of Michaelis–Menten kinetics [106] in order to relate the rate of reaction to the concentration of inhibitor. Consid-

ering an enzyme E, a substrate S, an enzyme-substrate complex ES, and a product P, the standard Michaelis–Menten equation (without any competitive inhibitor) can be expressed as:

$$E + S \xrightarrow[k_{on}]{k_{on}} ES \xrightarrow[k_{cat}]{k} E + P$$

$$V_0 = \frac{V_{max}[S]}{K_M + [S]}$$
(2.6)

, where  $V_0$  is the initial reaction rate, [S] is the concentration of the substrate,  $K_M$  is the Michaelis constant,  $V_{max}$  is the maximum reaction rate,  $k_{off}$  is the dissociation rate constant,  $k_{on}$  is the association rate constant, and  $k_{cat}$  is the catalytic rate constant. The Michaelis constant can be expressed as:

$$K_M = \frac{k_{off} + k_{cat}}{k_{of}} \tag{2.7}$$

, where  $k_{off}$  is the dissociation rate constant,  $k_{on}$  is the association rate constant, and  $k_{cat}$  is the catalytic rate constant. Given the similarities between  $K_d$  and  $K_M$ , lower  $K_M$  values are usually associated with a higher affinity of the enzymes for the substrates.

# 2.5 Protein-Ligand Binding Models and Binding Pockets

Apart from the complementary of certain active and functional groups in the 3D space, there are several factors involved in the interaction between proteins and compounds, including physicochemical mechanisms, binding kinetics, thermodynamic profiles, binding driving forces, enthalpy-entropy compensations, and interactions with the adjacent molecules of the surrounding environment, that affect the overall stability of the encounter protein-ligand complex [107, 108]. In that regard, the driving forces leading the association between proteins and ligands are intricately derived from a culmination of diverse interactions and energy exchanges involving the protein, ligand, and adjacent molecules (surrounding environment) [24]. The stability of the resulting protein-ligand complex is usually measured by the magnitude of the negative change in Gibbs free energy ( $\Delta G$ ), i.e., lower values of free energy upon binding are associated with a higher stability of the complex [109, 110]. This measure, corresponding to the difference of energy between bound and unbound

states, can be expressed using enthalpic and entropic contributions:

$$\Delta G = \Delta H - T \Delta S \tag{2.8}$$

, where  $\Delta H$  is the binding enthalpy,  $\Delta S$  is the binding entropy, and T in the temperature in Kelvin.

The binding enthalpy is closely associated with the energy changes that arise from the establishment of noncovalent interactions, namely Van der Waals interactions, hydrogen bonds, ionic bonds, and polar or apolar interactions, occurring between the protein and ligand at the binding interface [111]. The disruption of individual noncovalent bonds between the protein and/or ligand with neighboring molecules can also influence the binding enthalpy favorably or unfavorably [112, 113]. Conversely, the binding entropy encompasses the overall increase or decrease in the degrees of freedom exhibited by the proteins, ligands, and adjacent molecules within the surrounding environment [114]. Changes in binding entropy are commonly characterized by various entropic terms, including alterations in the entropy of the surrounding environment, changes in conformational entropy associated with the modification of conformational freedom in both the protein and ligand upon binding, and translational and rotational entropy changes reflecting the loss of translational and rotational degrees of freedom of the protein and ligand upon formation of the complex [115, 116, 117]. Similar to the binding enthalpy, the binding entropy change can have either favorable or unfavorable contributions to the binding free energy. Nonetheless, the overall stability of the resulting binding complex is also influenced by factors such as the structural and thermodynamic properties of the surrounding environment and neighboring molecules, the flexibility of the binding pocket and adjacent regions, the molecular structure and conformation of the ligand, and fluctuations in intermolecular forces throughout the binding process [118, 119, 120]

Given the profound impact of binding thermodynamics and kinetics, and protein dynamics on the binding pockets, various models and mechanics for protein-ligand binding have been proposed and extensively explored, namely the *lock and key* [121, 122], *induced fit* [123, 122], and *conformational selection* [124, 125, 126] models. In the *lock and key* model, both the protein and ligand are regarded as rigid entities, and the binding surfaces exhibit perfect complementarity. Consequently, only ligands that possess precise size and shape can bind to the protein at the binding pocket. This model predominantly relies on entropy-driven processes, as the interaction is primarily dictated by factors such as size, shape, and surface characteristics [127, 128, 129]. Moreover, the most significant contribution to the negative

change in binding free energy of the resulting complex stems from alterations in the entropy of the surrounding environment [130]. In the *induced fit* approach, the receptor's flexibility is taken into consideration, in which the binding pocket within the protein is capable of undergoing conformational changes upon ligand binding to promote the interaction [131]. Contrarily to the lock and key model, induced fit is predominantly driven by enthalpy factors due to the formation of strong bonds during the restructuring process of the receptor to create a compatible binding site, resulting in a negative change in enthalpy [132, 133, 134]. The conformational selection model acknowledges that most proteins inherently exhibit dynamic behavior and significant conformational flexibility [135, 136]. Accordingly, proteins continuously transition between different conformational states or substates that possess similar energies (multiple free energy minima) [137, 138]. To facilitate the interaction, the protein undergoes conformational changes, and the ligand selectively binds to the most suitable conformational state or substate [139]. This proteinligand binding model encompasses contributions from both entropy and enthalpy factors, which collectively enhance the stability of the protein-ligand complex. Nevertheless, these binding mechanisms may coexist concurrently or occur sequentially, depending on the molecular interaction involved or the context of the interaction [140, 141, 142, 143].

Binding pockets are identified as specific regions (cavities) within the surface or on the interior of a protein that exhibit favorable characteristics for accommodating a ligand. The properties of a binding pocket, including its physicochemical attributes, shape, and positioning within the protein, collectively dictate its functional role [144]. The composition of amino acids within the binding pocket plays a crucial role in determining its properties and, consequently, its ability to effectively bind a ligand [145, 146]. Nevertheless, residues in the neighborhood of the binding pockets can also have long-range effects on the properties of the binding sites, influencing their ligandability [147]. Even though the overall complementarity, geometry, and properties of the binding pockets are important for ligand binding, the intrinsic protein flexibility and conformational adjustments greatly affect receptor-drug binding thermodynamics and kinetics [101, 102, 148, 149].

The mobility of proteins can induce the opening, closing, and adaptation of the binding pocket to regulate the binding process and specific protein functions. Furthermore, the inherent flexibility of proteins can result in subtle modifications to preexisting pockets or even the creation of entirely new pockets [150]. On that account, various categories of binding pockets associated with different protein dynamics properties have been identified: subpocket, adjacent pocket, breathing motion,

channel/tunnel, and allosteric site. Subpockets and adjacents pockets are associated with the appearance/disappearance of pockets in an already existing pocket or the neighborhood of an already existing pocket, respectively. Breathing motion is related to protein motions that lead to the enlargement or contraction of the original binding site. Channels or tunnels correspond to the opening or closing of certain structural gates within the protein structure, i.e., connecting the binding pocket inside the protein with the surrounding environment, that allows or blocks the entrance of the ligand. The allosteric pocket is usually located at another site of the protein, leading to conformational changes of the original pocket or competing with the original pocket at different rates.

Considering the dynamics of several proteins and the distribution of possible conformations with similar energies, some of the aforementioned classes of binding pockets related to small ligands are usually associated with transient states due to the stabilization of energy contributions [43, 151]. On that account, it is challenging to identify and properly characterize these binding pockets, and discover and/or design potential leads that selectively bind to these regions with high affinity [152, 153]. Thus, the identification of protein-ligand binding pockets is crucial for elucidating the biological functions of proteins and the mechanisms involved in DTIs [154, 155, 156, 157]. In that regard, several *in silico* solutions for predicting binding pockets have been proposed and are usually characterized by the strategy of the algorithm, e.g., geometric, template, or learning-based (ML), or by the level of structure data, i.e., sequence or 3D structure-based [158, 159, 160, 161, 162, 163, 164].

# Chapter 3 In Silico Drug Discovery

his chapter provides an overview of the state-of-the-art in DTI and DTA prediction, presenting several research works across different branches within the computational drug discovery domain. Section 3.1 briefly describes the standard workflow associated with *in silico* DTI or DTA prediction. Section 3.2 presents various studies centered on the use of 3D structures and complexes for the inferring process. Section 3.3 introduces a range of research works stemming from property-activity similarity concepts. Section 3.4 presents multiple studies that leverage the vast amount of properties available/known to characterize proteins and compounds. Section 3.5 features a selection of studies exclusively related to DTA prediction.

## 3.1 Computational Drug Discovery Workflow

In silico methods have greatly influenced the drug development pipeline, accelerating the identification of potential DTIs and the discovery of new leads. Considering that several internal and external factors are involved during the binding process of active small molecules and biologically relevant targets, different perspectives and approaches have been proposed over the past years to solve the challenge of identifying new DTIs. Computational methods model this interaction using structural, biological, topological, and/or physicochemical properties as well as an experimentally validated characterization of that interaction, which can either be a binary association or a bioactivity metric. Depending on the type of information used to define and characterize the compounds and/or proteins, these methods can be broadly classified into three dominant categories: Structure-based, Ligand-based, and Chemogenomic/Proteochemometric (PCM) approaches. Figure 3.1 depicts the computational drug discovery workflow.



Figure 3.1: Computational Drug Discovery Workflow.

### 3.2 Structure-based

Structure-based approaches, commonly known as docking simulation, are primarily used to predict the 3D structure of receptor-ligand complexes. These methods simulate the interaction between the receptor and the ligand and score it based on the intermolecular energy and individual contributions from each binding component [176, 177]. The coordinates of the receptor and ligand are used to predict the resulting complex's coordinates based on known potential binding sites, e.g., derived from X-ray crystallography cognate structures, in which the docking search box is centered on these regions (guided docking), or, on the other hand, blindly docking onto the receptor structure, when there is no knowledge available regarding potential binding locations or 3D structures of a complex of the receptor (blind docking) [178]. Docking methods differ in terms of the molecular flexibility considered, the direction of docking (forward or reverse), and the scoring function used.

When predicting the resulting receptor-ligand complex, different degrees of molecular flexibility can be considered: receptor and ligand both rigid, receptor and ligand both flexible, or receptor rigid and ligand flexible [179]. Proteins are in constant motion between different conformation states with similar energies and change their conformation to promote the interaction, thus, it is important to account for receptor flexibility. However, this presents a challenge in most docking simulation approaches due to the number of degrees of freedom associated with all the different possible conformations. Furthermore, the lack of knowledge regarding the 3D structure of proteins and the number and complexity of possible conformations pose challenges to this methodology. Nevertheless, some approaches can overcome the lack of information associated with the receptor's 3D structure, e.g., homology modeling [180] or AlphaFold [181]. Homology modeling predicts the 3D structure of the receptor based on proteins with high sequence similarity and known 3D structure, however, most of the resulting structures are unreliable given the protein folding complexity [182]. On the other hand, AlphaFold directly predicts the 3D coordinates of all heavy atoms for a given protein using the primary amino acid sequence as input, in which a confidence score is assigned for each residue. Despite the high average confidence score obtained in several structures predicted by AlphaFold, various proteins still present low confidence scores across most 3D predicted substructures.

Moreover, the score functions used in docking simulations often apply various assumptions and simplifications, in which certain energetic or geometric terms are usually not considered due to the computational cost of employing a highly accurate scoring function. Hence, this compromise in the scoring function's accuracy can impact the reliability and validity of the predictions [183].

In spite of the aforementioned limitations, structure-based approaches remain a valuable tool for modeling and predicting DTIs, offering a realistic approach to tackle DTIs. Additionally, they are still widely employed in structure-based drug design due to their ability to provide detailed information about potential active sites and the overall binding process.

Li et al. (2006) [184] developed a valuable tool called Target Fishing Dock (TarFis-Dock) for target identification. This approach combines a database of potential drug targets with a reverse ligand-protein docking approach to seek and identify potential protein targets for a given small molecule. TarFisDock generates a list of protein targets and then performs docking of the small molecule into the potential binding sites of these proteins. It calculates the interaction energy of the resulting complex using Van der Waals and electrostatic interaction terms in order to assign a score. The database used in TarFisDock consists of proteins that have known 3D structures and have been previously identified as targets in several therapeutic areas. This method takes into account only the flexibility of the ligand and not the flexibility of the receptor. Moreover, TarFisDock has successfully identified targets for vitamin E, and 4H-tamoxifen, which is commonly used in the treatment of breast cancer.

Wang et al. (2012) [185] introduced a web-based tool called idTarget, which uses

reverse docking to screen a vast number of protein structures available in the PDB [186]. This approach employs a divide-and-conquer docking strategy, where the entire receptor surface is explored using overlapping grid maps to identify multiple potential binding sites. For each binding site, an affinity profile is generated to assess the prediction confidence of the target screening results. The scoring function, based on robust versions of the AutoDock scoring function [187], incorporates atomic charges obtained from quantum chemical calculations and employs robust regression analysis to minimize the impact of outliers. To validate the performance of idTarget, the tool was evaluated with an HIV-1 protease inhibitor (DRV), an inhibitor of various protein kinases (6BIO), and an inhibitor of histone deacetylase 2 (LLX).

Gowthaman et al. (2016) [188] discovered inhibitors, validated through biochemical assays, for the human antiapoptotic protein Mcl-1. This protein plays a crucial role in treating various cancers, either as a single agent or in combination with other inhibitors. The proposed method, Docking Approach using Ray-Casting (DARC), involves matching the topography of a surface pocket in the protein with that of a potential ligand using a set of rays originating from a specific point within the protein (binding pocket topography mapping). This method evaluates the intersection of the ray set (from the same origin point within the protein) with both the pocket and the ligand, in which the shape complementary is evaluated based on distance parameters. The origin point is determined by considering the pocket's position within the protein and it is placed directly below the pocket on the protein side. Additionally, the optimal position and orientation of the ligand are determined through derivative-free minimization using the particle-swarm optimizer from Rosetta [189], along with a set of pre-built ligand conformers, i.e., the internal degrees of freedom of the ligand are fixed.

Wang et al. (2019) [190] proposed a consensus inverse docking strategy known as ACID for drug repurposing. This approach combines multiple docking methods, namely AutoDock Vina [191], LEDOCK [192], PLANTS [193], and PSOVina [194], to generate and explore several potential binding poses. Considering that each docking method uses distinct conformation search algorithms and scoring functions, the integration of their results can lead to overall improved performance. The docking results from each method are clustered and merged using an iterative conformational cluster-vote strategy. This strategy identifies the conformational cluster with the highest number of votes, which is then used for binding affinity (binding free energy) calculations based on Molecular Mechanics/Poisson–Boltzmann Surface Area (MM/PBSA) and X-SCORE methods [195, 196].

Zhang et al. (2020) [197] developed a blind protein-ligand docking approach called EDock, which relies on Replica-Exchange Monte Carlo (REMC) simulations [198]. EDock leverages the 3D structure of a given protein or a protein model (gener-ated/predicted) to predict potential binding sites and initial ligand poses using sequence profiling and structure-based comparison searches, in which an initial conformation is generated through graph matching. The final pose is determined by conducting REMC simulations over the initial conformation, involving extensive docking conformation searching and structure refinement. To enhance the reliability of low-resolution docking with predicted protein structures, Van der Waals weightings and binding site distance constraints are incorporated.

#### 3.3 Ligand-based

Ligand-based approaches extrapolate potential interactions by comparing a new ligand with known protein ligands. These methods are based on the premise that similar compounds possess similar properties and, thus, should exhibit similar bioactivity and bind to the same group of proteins [199]. However, they are heavily dependent on the amount of known and available ligands, performing poorly when this number is scarce or there is a lack of knowledge regarding known interactions.

These methods rely on a similarity measure and usually follow QSAR principles, which state that variations in the biological activity associated with a group of ligands are related to variations in their structural, physical, and/or chemical properties. QSAR approaches focus on finding a model, e.g., a statistical-based model, capable of determining the correlation between chemical structures and biological activity [200]. The quality of these models greatly depends on the selection of relevant and discriminating descriptors, which can be related to either molecular (2D QSAR) or 3D geometric (3D QSAR) properties. Furthermore, the choice of a suitable linear or non-linear mapping model is crucial to address the specific problem at hand [79].

Afantitis et al. (2006) [201] developed a linear QSAR model to predict the induction of apoptosis (programmed cell death) by 4-aryl-4H-chromenes, which are identified as promising apoptosis inducers. The study used a set of 43 4-aryl-4H-chromenes with known biological activity, and each compound was characterized using physicochemical, structural, and topological descriptors. These features were reduced to the seven most significant descriptors according to the elimination selection-stepwise regression variable selection method. Multiple linear regression was employed to derive the QSAR model, resulting in a linear equation capable of predicting apoptosis-inducing activity. The model underwent rigorous validation, including cross-validation, external set validation, and Y-randomization. The results highlighted the utility of QSAR models as alternatives to traditional labor-intensive and expensive experimental procedures.

Keiser et al. (2007) [202] introduced a similarity ensemble approach, SEA, which quantitatively related receptors (proteins) based on the chemical similarity amongst their ligands. The similarity was calculated using ligand topology and expressed as a Tanimoto coefficient, which is considered a distance measure commonly applied to fingerprint representations. A statistical model derived from BLAST [203] was employed to rank the significance of the similarity scores. This approach facilitated the discovery of novel and unexpected associations, as well as the identification of potentially related proteins.

Luo et al. (2014) [204] proposed several binary classification non-linear QSAR models, including K-Nearest Neighbor (KNN), RF, and SVM, to identify novel hit compounds targeting the 5-hydroxytryptamine 1A (5-HT1A) serotonin receptor, which is an important target for potential mood and anxiety disorder treatments. These QSAR models were built using bioactivity data of receptor ligands, where each compound was characterized using 2D molecular descriptors (topological) obtained from the DRAGON software [205]. A threshold of 10  $\mu$ M was applied to define active and inactive ligands. Furthermore, these models were employed in a consensus fashion for three major types of chemical screening libraries, in which fifteen compounds were selected for experimental testing. On that account, one of the nine confirmed active compounds, Lysergol, was found to have a remarkably high binding activity, which further validated the use of QSAR models.

Ma et al. (2015) [206] explored the use of single-task and multi-task Feed-Forward Neural Networks (FFNs) to predict on-target and/or ADME activities based on QSAR relationships. In this study, molecules were characterized using descriptors associated with the atom type, such as the element and the number of non-hydrogen neighbors, as well as the donor-acceptor pair, e.g., neutral donor or polar. The findings demonstrated that employing DL architectures, specifically FFNs, resulted in superior performance compared to traditional ML methods like RF. Additionally, the multi-task FFN outperformed the single-task FFNs, highlighting the ability of DL architectures to simultaneously model multiple QSAR tasks and leverage larger datasets (increased chemical and molecular information) during the learning process.

Neves et al. (2016) [207] proposed a QSAR-based consensus binary classification

framework to identify potential inhibitors of schistosomiasis, an acute and chronic tropical disease. The approach involved combining multiple ML models, including RF, SVM, and GBM, with various molecular fingerprint representations and descriptors. The fingerprint representations and descriptors used in this study included Morgan or Extended-Connectivity Fingerprints (ECFPs) [208, 209], Atom-Pair fingerprints [210], Molecular Access System (MACCS) structural keys [211], CDK descriptors [212], and DRAGON molecular features [205]. The top predicted inhibitors were further evaluated using Virtual Screening (VS) and High Content Screening (HCS), leading to the discovery of two promising compounds with potential antischistosomal activity.

#### 3.4 Chemogenomic/Proteochemometric

The abundance of useful biological and chemical data and the growth of available computational power have sparked the development of new predictive solutions in the field of DTIs, leading to the PCM approaches [213]. These methods leverage various properties and representations to characterize proteins and compounds, which are usually combined and used as input to ML models and DL architectures due to their improved performance and ability to effectively learn from the available data [27]. Contrarily to structure-based or ligand-based approaches that primarily rely on genomic/proteomics or chemical data, respectively, PCM strategies aim to integrate information from proteomics, chemical, and/or pharmacological spaces during the inference process [214]. Numerous studies in the PCM domain have focused on predicting DTIs, and they are predominantly categorized into two main types: similarity-based and feature-based.

#### 3.4.1 Similarity-Based

Similarity-based methods in the field of DTIs propose that compounds with similar biological, topological, and chemical properties tend to exhibit similar functions and bioactivities and should therefore interact and bind to similar targets [215]. Based on this principle, these methods leverage the shared associations of similar compounds and targets to make new assumptions about their interactions. The compounds and targets are represented using similarity matrices, which are usually derived from similarities between chemical structures or substructures and sequential similarity, respectively. The binding association is represented by an interaction matrix, containing information related to the presence or absence of association for each compound-target pair.

Yamanishi et al. (2008) [216] introduced three supervised statistical methods to infer unknown interactions for four classes of DTI networks in humans: enzymes, ion channels, G-Protein-Coupled Receptors (GPCRs), and nuclear receptors. Their approach involved representing the chemical space using a similarity matrix based on similarity scores between chemical structures and representing the proteomic space using a similarity matrix derived from the Smith-Waterman local alignment algorithm normalized scores. The first method proposed, Nearest Profile, employed the concept of nearest neighbors, in which predictions of a new drug or target were based on the most similar drugs or targets, respectively, and high-scoring drugtarget pairs were predicted to interact with each other. In contrast, the second method, Weighted Profile, used the similarity to all other drugs and targets instead of relying solely on the most similar drug or target. The third method, Bipartite Graph Learning, achieved the highest performance by integrating the genomic and chemical spaces into a unified space referred to as the pharmacological space. This space was represented as a bipartite graph projected into a Euclidean space, capturing the interactions between proteins and drugs. This method employed a kernel regression approach to learn the similarity between the chemical/genomic space and the interaction space, enabling the inference of new interactions. The four DTI datasets used in this study have served as benchmarks for numerous studies. Bleakley and Yamanishi (2009) [217] further explored the original methodology proposed by Yamanishi et al. (2008) [216], replacing the kernel regression method with two SVMs: one for the target proteins of a given drug and the other for the target drugs of a given protein. The results obtained from the two SVMs were combined to generate a final prediction for each compound-target pair association.

Cheng et al. (2012) [218] introduced three inference approaches for predicting new DTIs: Drug-based Similarity Inference, Target-based Similarity Inference, and Network-based Inference. The first two methods operate under the assumption that if a drug interacts with a particular target, other drugs with similar properties are likely to interact with that target, and vice versa. The network-based inference method, which exhibited the highest performance among the three approaches, disregards the drug and target similarities and focuses solely on the known bipartite network topology of DTIs. It calculates predictive scores for each drug and unlinked target based on the similarity in network topology. This similarity is represented as a weighted matrix that influences information propagation within the drug-target network. Moreover, this approach exclusively used FDA-approved drug-target binary links to infer new predictions, limiting the predictive capability for new drugs lacking any target information. Experimental validation of some predictions was conducted through in vitro assays.

Zheng et al. (2013) [219] employed Multiple Similarities Collaborative Matrix Factorization (MSCMF) for predicting new DTIs. This approach uses Matrix Factorization (MF) to decompose the connectivity matrix associated with the DTI network (interaction matrix) into two matrices of latent variables representing each drug and target in order to determine the missing interactions that are likely to exist. Additionally, this study extends the MF concept by incorporating Collaborative Filtering (CF) for prediction and multiple similarities for both drugs and targets. CF introduces regularization terms that ensure that unknown drug-target pairs do not contribute to the estimation of the latent variable matrices and that these matrices are factorized representations of the drug and target similarities. Furthermore, instead of relying solely on chemical structure and protein sequence similarities, the method selects the most consistent similarities for the given DTI.

Peng et al. (2017) [220] proposed a semi-supervised framework called NormMulInf, which is based on CF theory. This framework incorporates similarities among the samples and local correlations among the labels into a Robust Principal Component Analysis (RPCA) model. NormMulInf consists of two models: NormDrug and NormTarget. NormDrug treats drugs as samples and targets as labels, and represents the chemical space by combining the similarity matrix based on the chemical structure of drugs and the local associations between drug labels in the DTI network (indicating the likelihood of interaction with targets). NormTarget, on the other hand, treats targets as samples and drugs as labels, and represents the proteomics space by combining the sequence similarity of target proteins and the local correlations of labels among samples in the DTI network. Moreover, the proposed approach masks a portion of interactions for each sample and aims to recover the low-rank DTI matrix using the RPCA model, which is solved using augmented Lagrange multipliers [221].

Ezzat et al. (2017) [222] proposed a Graph-Regularized Matrix Factorization (GRMF) method for DTI prediction. In this approach, the similarity matrices associated with the drugs and targets are sparsified to retain only the similarity values to the nearest neighbors for each drug and target, respectively. This study also employs a Weighted K-Nearest Known Neighbors (WKNKN) pre-processing method to transform binary values in the interaction matrix into interaction likelihood values, promoting the identification of new drugs and targets. Furthermore, a variation of GRMF called Weighted GRMF (WGRMF) is explored to prevent unknown instances (interactions without information) from contributing to the determination

of the latent feature matrices.

#### 3.4.2 Feature-Based

Given that similarity-based approaches have shown lower performance for certain protein classes and that protein sequence similarity may not always be a reliable indicator due to conformational complexity, feature-based methods have garnered significant interest. Feature-based DTI studies involve characterizing each ligand and target as numerical feature vectors, which combine various attributes (features) such as physicochemical, structural, or topological properties. These feature vectors are then used as input in prediction models to uncover unknown DTIs. Considering the amount and variety of information available, numerous features related to receptors and ligands can be extracted. However, not all of these features are relevant or discriminatory to the prediction task. Thus, employing pre-processing methods on the dataset and exploring feature engineering methodologies to assess and extract significant features are usually required in order to improve the performance of the models. Furthermore, when the number of features exceeds the number of samples, the model's performance tends to suffer in new data due to the curse of dimensionality [223]. Nevertheless, the majority of ML and DL studies for DTI prediction primarily focus on feature-based PCM approaches, leveraging these feature vectors to characterize ligand-receptor pairs and learn relationships and patterns within the data.

Yu et al. (2012) [224] proposed a ML framework for inferring new interactions, using RF and SVM as the prediction models. Chemical descriptors were generated using the DRAGON software [205], which encompasses constitutional, topological, and various other molecular properties. Conversely, protein descriptors were generated using the PROFEAT webserver [225], which primarily includes structural and physicochemical properties. These chemical and protein descriptors were concatenated to create feature vectors that characterize drug-target pairs. The proposed framework was validated using four distinct datasets associated with biologically relevant targets, specifically human enzymes, ion channels, GPCRs, and nuclear receptors [216].

Cao et al. (2014) [226] combined chemical, biological, and network properties into feature vectors for predicting DTIs, in which RF was selected as the prediction model. The chemical space was represented using MACCS fingerprints and/or substructure fingerprints, while the proteomic space was represented by protein descriptors such as amino acid composition and distribution, and other physicochemical properties. Additionally, network properties were described using binary profiles indicating the presence or absence of interaction. The model was validated using the four independent datasets corresponding to human enzymes, ion channels, GPCRs, and nuclear receptors [216].

Coelho et al. (2016) [227] introduced a computational pipeline designed for screening potential DTIs for drug repositioning, applicable to any microbial proteome. This framework combines network metrics calculated for the interactome of the target bacterial organism with predictions from an RF classification model to identify potential DTIs. The compounds and proteins were represented using various descriptors from the PyDPI package [228]. Protein descriptors encompassed amino acid composition, Moran autocorrelation, and Composition, Transition and Distribution (CTD) features. Drug descriptors included molecular constitution, molecular connectivity, molecular property, kappa shape and charge descriptors, MACCS keys, and E-state fingerprints. Moreover, molecular docking experiments were conducted on the highest-scoring DTI pairs, demonstrating the pipeline's effectiveness in identifying new leads for drug repositioning.

Peng et al. (2017) [229] presented a novel DTI prediction framework called PUDTI for identifying potential DTIs and new drug repositioning candidates. This study incorporates feature selection methods, positive-unlabeled learning models, specifically Spy and Rocchio techniques [230, 231], and the K-means clustering algorithm to identify strong positive and negative DTIs. Drug molecules were represented using various descriptors from the PaDEL-Descriptor Software [232], while proteins were characterized using protein domain properties, pseudo amino acid composition features, and position-specific scores. Furthermore, an SVM-based optimization model called SVM with Similarity Weights (SVM-SW) was used to identify DTI candidates, in which ambiguous samples were regulated based on similarity weights to improve classification accuracy.

Considering the progressive advances in computing and the availability of large-scale datasets to train complex models, DL algorithms have emerged as state-of-the-art techniques in several research fields [233]. These architectures, usually consisting of multiple and different hidden layers [234], are capable of uncovering intricate and hidden patterns within the data without relying on feature engineering tools. Moreover, they provide robust and discriminating feature representations from raw input data and are capable of exploiting unknown structures within the data. Additionally, DL models perform significantly better when applied to large datasets, surpassing the traditional ML approaches.

Tian et al. (2016) [235] proposed Deep Learning for Compound-Protein Interactions (DL-CPI), a deep neural network approach for predicting compound-protein interactions. The model combines chemical fingerprints and protein domains, which are binary vectors indicating the presence or absence of specific features, as input for a deep FFN architecture. This architecture consists of stacked dense layers, in which all neurons are interconnected and the information flows in one direction. Additionally, regularization techniques such as weight penalty coefficient, sparsity coefficient, and dropout layers were employed to prevent overfitting of the model.

Peng Wei et al. (2016) [236] proposed a unified framework called MFDR (Multi-Scale Features Deep Representations) that combines an autoencoder with an SVM classifier to predict DTIs. The autoencoder is used to extract deep and low-dimensional representations from molecular fingerprints and protein sequence descriptors. Autoencoders are unsupervised neural networks designed to learn an approximation of the identity function, compressing the input space into a smaller and representative latent-space representation while aiming to reconstruct the input accurately. The autoencoder architecture is divided into two subnetworks: the encoder, responsible to compress the input data into a latent-space representation. The resulting latent-space representation is used as input for the SVM classifier to predict the binary association of compound-target pairs.

Wen et al. (2017) [237] introduced a DL framework known as DeepDTIs, based on Deep Belief Neural Networks, for predicting DTIs. DeepDTIs uses features extracted from chemical substructures and protein sequence order information as input. Deep Belief Neural Networks stack Restricted Boltzmann Machines (RBMs), which are two-layered stochastic neural networks (one visible and one hidden) connected by a fully bipartite graph. This architecture learns a probability distribution from the input data and is capable of extracting deep hierarchical features by modeling the joint distribution between the training sample vector x and the hidden layers l:

$$P(x,h^{1},...,h^{l}) = \left(\prod_{k=0}^{l-2} P(h^{k}|h^{k+1})P(h^{l-1},h^{l})\right)$$
(3.1)

, where  $x=h^0$  (sample vector),  $P(h^{k-1}|h^k)$  is a conditional distribution for the visible units conditioned on the hidden units of the RBM at level k, and  $P(h^{l-1},h^l)$  is the visible-hidden joint distribution in the top level RBM.

Wang et al. (2020) [238] developed a DL framework called DeepLSTM for identifying unknown DTIs. In this architecture, drug molecules are encoded as fingerprint features, and protein sequences are encoded using position-specific scores obtained through Legendre Moments (LMs) applied to the Position Specific Scoring Matrix (PSSM), which contains evolutionary information. These features are combined to characterize the DTI pair and then subjected to dimensionality reduction using the Sparse Principal Component Analysis (SPCA) method, which reduces the dimension of the feature space and decreases information redundancy. The resulting representation is used as input for DeepLSTM, which consists of stacked Long Short-Term Memory (LSTM) layers, to predict the binary association of DTI pairs. LSTM is a special type of Recurrent Neural Network (RNN) that includes memory blocks with self-connection memory cells for storing temporal states, as well as input, output, and forget gates to control the flow of information.

To address the limitations of using global descriptors, which are mostly not robust or discriminating for predicting real interactions, recent studies in the field of PCM have explored the use of 1D structures, such as amino acid sequences and Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry System (SMILES) strings, as well as graph representations. These representations, in combination with CNNs, Graph Neural Networks (GNNs), and FCNNs, have been explored for their potential in improving DTI prediction accuracy [239, 240, 241].

Tsubaki et al. (2019) [239] proposed an end-to-end DL framework that combines CNNs and GNNs for the prediction of DTIs. In their approach, protein sequences are transformed into sequential representations using overlapping n-gram amino acids and a learnable dictionary lookup matrix, which assigns a learnable continuous vector (embedding) to each protein subword. These sequential representations are used as input for a CNN, which captures deep patterns within the data. On the other hand, SMILES strings are converted into graph representations, where atoms and bonds correspond to nodes and edges, respectively, and propagated through a GNN in order to obtain a molecular vector representation. To enhance representation learning and address the limited number of parameters associated with atom types and chemical bonds, the framework incorporates r-radius subgraphs based on neighboring vertices and edges within a specific radius into the molecular graph representation. Furthermore, a neural attention mechanism, inspired by the work of Bahdanau et al. (2016) [242], is employed to assign different weights to protein subword representations based on their relevance to the compound. The resulting protein and compound representations are concatenated and provided as input to a dense layer, which predicts the binary association of the DTI pairs.

Lee et al. (2019) [240] introduced a DL framework called DeepConv-DTI, which

combines CNNs and FCNNs for the prediction of DTIs. Proteins are represented using raw 1D sequential data, specifically amino acid sequences, and each residue is converted into a learnable continuous vector (embedding) via a learnable dictionary lookup matrix (embedding layer). Following the embedding layer, a CNN is employed to capture local residue patterns within the protein sequences. The final protein representation is obtained by applying a global max pooling layer to the resulting feature maps from the CNN. Conversely, compounds are represented using Morgan fingerprints [208] and used as input for an FCNN in order to obtain a latent drug representation. The resulting protein and compound representations are concatenated and fed into another FCNN, which predicts the binary association of the DTI pairs. Additionally, regularization techniques such as dropout and batch normalization were employed to prevent overfitting of the model and improve the learning process.

Monteiro et al. (2021) [241] presented a DL architecture that leverages the particular ability of CNNs to extract 1D representations from protein amino acid sequences and compounds SMILES strings. In their framework, the protein sequences and SMILES strings are first encoded using a one-hot encoding layer, where each character in the sequence or string is converted into a binary vector representation. Two parallel series of 1D convolutional layers are then employed to capture deep patterns from the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. To reduce the spatial size of each feature map to its maximum representative feature, a global max pooling layer is applied to the resulting feature maps, leading to deep representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings. The resulting deep representations from both protein sequences and SMILES strings are concatenated into a single feature vector and used as input for an FCNN, which acts as a binary classifier, predicting the presence or absence of interaction. Moreover, the results of this study demonstrated that using 1D raw sequential data instead of global descriptors leads to overall improved performance.

Despite the increasing modeling ability of DL architectures to learn sequential and/or structural motifs and extract robust representations, the resulting predictions often lack interpretability or potential DTI explainability. Furthermore, these predictions typically rely on scattered and local motifs, disregarding the interdependency among the sequential and structural components of each binding entity (independent motifs), or the inter-associations revolving around the binding substructures and, thus, assigned equal weight to all extracted motifs. Nevertheless, some approaches have been proposed to address some of these limitations, particularly attention-based models [239, 243, 244, 245]. These methods focus on learning short and long-term context dependencies among the units of proteins and/or compounds in order to condition the weight given to input elements based on their relevance.

Chen et al. (2020) [243] presented a Transformer-based architecture named TransformerCPI, which employs a classification encoder-decoder scheme to predict DTIs. Transformers [172] have shown remarkable success in several computational domains, particularly in Natural Language Processing (NLP), due to their ability to capture features between two input sequences and effective modeling of the relationships and dependencies within the sequences (attention mechanisms). In their approach, protein sequences are initially split into overlapping 3-gram amino acid sequences and then transformed into real-valued embedding using a pre-trained Word2Vec model [246, 247]. The resulting sequential representations are used as input to the encoder, which is based on gated 1D CNNs. On the other hand, SMILES strings are converted into graph representations and propagated through a Graph Convolutional Neural Network (GCN) to obtain atomic features. These molecular features are then fed to the Transformer-Decoder, which captures the relationships and dependencies between the atom sequence embedding and the protein sequence embedding (encoder output) and learns the interaction sequence. The resulting interaction sequence is used as input for an FCNN, which outputs the binary association of the DTI pairs. Moreover, this study conducted label reversal experiments to effectively assess the learning capacity of the architecture.

Huang et al. (2022) [244] introduced an architecture called Molecular Interaction Transformer (MolTrans), which leverages the effectiveness of Transformers-Encoders to extract an augmented contextual representation of the input [173]. This framework employs two Transformer-Encoders in parallel to capture the semantic relations and learn the intra-associations amongst 1D substructures in proteins and compounds, respectively. The resulting augmented contextual representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings are transformed into a 2D interaction map using the dot-product operation. To model high-order interactions and capture and aggregate information from relevant sub-structure pairs, a CNN block is applied on top of the interaction map [248]. The resulting output is flattened and passed through a dense layer, which outputs a probability indicating the likelihood of interaction between the compound and protein.

Zhao et al. (2022) [245] proposed a bio-inspired end-to-end approach named Hyper-AttentionDTI, which combines 1D CNNs, a special attention block, and FCNNs to predict DTIs. This framework employs two sets of 1D CNNs operating in parallel to identify local patterns and extract features from protein amino sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. The resulting feature maps from the 1D CNNs are then used as input in a sigmoid-based attention block, which is designed to model the semantic inter-dependencies between drug subsequences and protein subsequences across both spatial and channel dimensions. The latent feature matrices obtained from the 1D CNNs are combined with the latent feature matrices derived from the attention block, followed by global max pooling in order to obtain two feature vectors. These feature vectors are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which acts as a binary classifier and predicts the association of the DTI pairs.

### **3.5** Binding Affinity Prediction

Apart from docking simulation and certain ligand-based approaches, the majority of ML and DL studies conducted in the field of PCM methods primarily focus on binary classification tasks, predicting whether a compound interacts positively or negatively (lacks interactions) with a target. In spite of the interesting results and findings obtained in the field of DTI classification, the use of binary associations to conduct the experiments limits the quality of the results, leading to an increasing lack of target selectivity.

The availability and expansion of specific databases, such as ChEMBL [6], containing detailed information about interactions with known binding affinity and bioactivity metrics, have played a crucial role in shifting the field of computational drug discovery toward DTA prediction. Considering the limitations of certain original score metrics employed in structure-based VS, DTA prediction methods have initially focused on improving and incorporating more information, such as energetic terms, into these functions. Machine learning methods, including RF and SVM, and DL architectures like FFN, have been proposed as alternatives to traditional scoring functions. These approaches aim to predict the putative strengths of protein-ligand complexes based on various features mostly associated with their 3D structures [249, 250, 251, 252, 253, 254, 255, 256].

Ballester et al (2010) [249] introduced a scoring function called RF-score for predicting protein-ligand binding affinities, in which RF was selected as the regression model. The dataset used in this study was extracted from PDB [186] and filtered to only contain complexes with known  $K_d$  and  $K_i$ . Each 3D protein-ligand complex was characterized using a combination of intermolecular interaction features, such as the occurrence count of specific protein-ligand atom type pairs within a defined distance range. The binding affinities were transformed into the logarithmic space and merged into single binding constants. The proposed approach was evaluated and compared to several original scoring functions used in docking simulation, demonstrating superior performance. Ballester et al (2014) [250] further improved the initial proposed RF-score [249] by incorporating chemical information relevant to the binding process, including structural interaction fingerprints, atom type, and interaction definitions. These additional chemical terms improved the accuracy of the scoring function in predicting protein-ligand binding affinities.

Durrant et al. (2010) [251] proposed NNScore as one of the initial neural network approaches for replacing scoring functions used in docking simulation. The dataset was collected from PDB [186], where complexes were categorized as either good or poor binders based on a  $K_d$  threshold of 25  $\mu$ M. Each complex was characterized using enthalpic and entropic factors, considered to have the greatest influence on ligand binding affinity. Enthalpic factors include atom-atom interactions such as electrostatic and Van der Waals force, whereas entropic factors are related to the number of ligand rotatable bonds. The neural network architecture employed was an FFN. Durrant et al. (2011) [252] further improved the original NNScore, creating NNScore 2.0 by incorporating additional binding features and shifting from binary classification to estimating the binding affinity measured in  $pK_d$ . Each receptorligand complex was described using features from Autodock Vina [191] and BINANA [257]. Autodock Vina [191] includes three steric terms, a hydrophobic term, and a hydrogen-bond term. On the other hand, BINANA [257] provides several binding properties, including the number of hydrogen bonds and active-site flexibility. The neural network architecture employed was also an FFN, however, the output layer was replaced to return a continuous value  $(pK_d)$  rather than a binary value.

Li et al. (2013) [253] proposed a ML framework known as ID-Score to predict protein-ligand binding affinity, employing SVR as the prediction model. The dataset was collected from PDBbind [19] and filtered to contain complexes with binding activity measured in terms of  $pK_i$ ,  $pK_d$ , and  $pIC_{50}$  (log-transformed). Each structure was characterized using a comprehensive set of features related to the binding process, including Van der Waals interaction, hydrogen bonding, electrostatic interaction,  $\pi$ -system interaction, metal-ligand bonding, desolvation effect, entropic loss effect, shape matching, and surface property matching. The results demonstrated the effectiveness of the ID-Score method compared to state-of-the-art scoring functions used in VS, and its ability to correctly differentiate structurally similar ligands.

Li et al. (2014) [254] explored two regression models, specifically multivariate linear

regression and RF, for predicting binding affinity. The multivariate linear regression model employed was Cyscore [258], an empirical scoring function in an additive functional form of four energetic terms: hydrophobic free energy, Van der Waals interaction energy, hydrogen bond interaction energy, and ligand conformational entropy. RF was evaluated using three sets of features: Cyscore energetic terms, AutoDock Vina features (Gauss1, Gauss2, Repulsion, Hydrophobic, Hydrogen Bonding, and the number of rotatable bonds) [191], and the features used in the research work of Ballester et al. (2010) [249]. The dataset was extracted from PDBbind [19], and each complex was characterized by either  $K_d$  or  $K_i$ . RF achieved superior performance compared to the Cyscore model, particularly when incorporating structural features.

Kumar et al. (2021) [255] introduced Substructural Molecular and Protein-Ligand Interaction Pattern Score (SMPLIP-Score) for predicting binding affinity based on the use of a straightforward and interpretable featurization process. The proteinligand complexes were collected from PDBbind [19], and processed using the KNIME Analytic Platform [259], which iteratively refined the structures by adding hydrogen atoms, correcting the bond order, and removing water molecules. Each complex was characterized using features related to interaction patterns (fingerprints), interaction distances, and molecular substructural fragments. The authors explored two regression models, namely RF and FFN, where the former exhibited the highest prediction performance. Additionally, the features used to characterize the complexes were evaluated based on their scoring power, ranking power, and robustness. The evaluation demonstrated that the features possessed sufficient discriminatory and predictive capabilities.

Meli et al. (2021) [256] explored the use of atomic environment vectors (AEVs) and FFNs for the prediction of protein-ligand binding affinity. The proposed framework called AEScore describes every atom in the protein-ligand binding site (within a certain distance) using atom-centered symmetry functions (ACSFs), specifically radial and angular symmetry functions, to capture the local chemical environment. The resulting AEVs are propagated across atom-specific FNNs, where all atomic contributions are summed together to predict the binding affinity value. Moreover, the authors explored combining their approach with AutoDock Vina [191] in order to learn potential corrections to the classical scoring function. These results demonstrated sufficient predictive capabilities of binding affinity while retaining the docking and screening power of AutoDock Vina [191].

Given that the interaction between an active compound and a protein occurs in the

3D space and that the conformational space accessed by the ligand plays a critical role in ensuring optimal interactions with the protein and achieving high binding affinity, recent research endeavors have focused on employing 3D CNNs in conjunction with 3D single-instance learning due to the exceptional capability of 3D CNNs to effectively capture spatial context [260, 261, 262, 263]. However, these approaches are limited by the availability and complexity of the 3D structures, resulting in complex models with reduced reproducibility. Furthermore, 3D single-instance learning does not consider the range of possible ligand and protein conformations. Many 3D conformations would have to be taken into consideration and multiple 3D instances would be necessary to represent a single object, in which ML and DL approaches have been considering a single 3D instance due to the complexity/limitation of multi-instance learning.

Gomes et al. (2017) [260] presented a novel 3D spatial convolutional approach in order to learn atomic-level chemical interactions based on atomic coordinates. The proposed framework predicts the energy gap, specifically the binding free energy, between a protein-ligand complex in a bound state and its unbound state. The 3D crystal structures and corresponding  $K_i$  values used in this study were collected from PDBbind [19]. In this approach, two primitive convolutional operations were introduced, specifically atom-type convolutional and radial pooling. The atomtype convolutional uses a neighbor-listed distance matrix to extract features from the Cartesian atomic coordinates. On the other hand, the radial pooling filters, characterized by learnable mean and variance, are employed to extract information regarding the atom's environment, resulting in a representation that is invariant to atom ordering and the orientation of the complex. The output of the radial pooling layer is used as input to an atomistic FCNN that estimates the energy of each atom, in which the sum of all of these atomic energies gives the total energy of the molecule.

Stepniewska-Dziubinska et al. (2018) [261] proposed a deep neural network approach called Pafnucy based on 3D CNNs for predicting binding affinity. Drug-target complexes were extracted from PDBbind [19] with their corresponding binding affinities expressed in  $pK_d$  or  $pK_i$ . Each complex was represented by a 4D tensor, in which the first three dimensions correspond to the Cartesian coordinates (obtained by a 3D grid) and the last dimension to a vector of atom features. These features were computed using Open Babel [264], representing several atom properties, including atom type, hybridization, and partial charge. Even though each complex was represented by a 4D tensor, the molecular complex is seen as a 3D image with multiple color channels, wherein each position is characterized by the vector of atom features. Moreover, a regularization technique was employed to ensure that both proteins and ligands have the same atom types.

Jiménez et al. (2018) [262] introduced  $K_{DEEP}$  for predicting binding affinity based on the use of 3D CNNs. The dataset used in this study was extracted from PDBbind [19] and filtered to include only complexes with known  $K_d$  or  $K_i$ . Additionally, the 3D complexes were pre-processed based on structural resolution and the experimental precision of the binding measurement. Both proteins and ligands were characterized by a 3D voxelized representation of the binding site by assigning a Van der Waals radius to each atom type. On that account, pharmacophoric-like properties, including hydrophobic, hydrogen-bond donor or acceptor, aromatic, positive or negative ionizable, metallic, and total excluded volume, were computed by centering a fixed subgrid on the geometric center of the ligand. The resulting 3D voxelized representation comprised 16 different channels to account for both protein and ligand. This representation was used as input for a 3D CNN followed by an FCNN, predicting the binding affinity value.

Jones et al. (2021) [263] explored a deep fusion inference framework that combines the outputs obtained from a 3D CNN and a Spatial Graph Convolutional Neural Network (SG-CNN) for the prediction of binding affinity. The 3D complexes were represented using various atomic features, including element type, atom hybridization, number of heavy atom bonds, number of bonds with other heteroatoms, structural properties, partial charge, molecule type, and Van der Waals radius. The 3D CNN was applied to capture 3D atomic features and implicit atomic interactions, while the SG-CNN was employed to capture noncovalent interactions, which play a crucial role in modeling complex biological structures. Contrary to traditional molecular graph representations, the SG-CNN applies explicit distance thresholds to determine which pairs of atoms should be considered for pairwise interactions, e.g., covalent or noncovalent. Both covalent and noncovalent bonds are represented through the use of an adjacency matrix. Overall, the results demonstrated that the integration of heterogeneous feature representations obtained from the two models of the fusion framework leads to improved prediction performance of binding affinity.

To circumvent the limitations of 3D single instance learning and the confined space of proteins and ligands with known/determined 3D structures, recent research studies have been exploring PCM approaches based on chemogenomic and lower structure information, e.g., 1D and 2D structures, to conduct their experiments, leading to more realistic and reproducible methodologies in the DTA prediction domain. In addition to traditional ML methods, several studies have centered their studies on CNN-based frameworks, such as 1D CNNs, 2D CNNs, or GCNs, to extract knowledge and meaningful information from different protein and compound representations, including 1D structures, 2D similarity matrices, feature vectors, or molecular graphs, for the prediction of binding affinity [265, 266, 267, 268, 269, 270, 271, 272, 273, 274, 275]. Moreover, three benchmark datasets associated with the studies by Davis et al. (2011) [276], Metz et al. (2011) [277], and Tang et al. (2014) [278], measured in  $K_d$ ,  $K_i$ , and KIBA scores, respectively, have been the focus of several of these studies to establish and evaluate the regression models.

Pahikkala et al (2014) [265] presented a Kronecker-Regularized Least Squares (Kronecker RLS) algorithm to predict binding affinity. The datasets used in this study were collected from the research works of Davis et al. (2011) [276] and Metz et al. (2011) [277]. Proteins and compounds were represented by their pairwise similarity score matrices, which were obtained from the PubChem structure clustering server [279] and Smith-Waterman local alignment algorithm, respectively. Kronecker-RLS focus on minimizing the following objective function:

$$J(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} (y_i - f(x_i))^2 + \lambda ||f||_k^2$$
(3.2)

, where f is the prediction function,  $x_i$  the input,  $y_i$  the interaction affinity,  $\lambda > 0$  a user-provided regularization parameter, and k the kernel function, which is associated with the protein and compounds similarity matrices.

Shar et al (2016) [266] explored two regression ML models, specifically RF and SVM, for the prediction of binding affinity measured in terms of  $K_i$ . The dataset was collected from the Psychoactive Drug Screening Program  $K_i$  database [280], which comprises bioactivity data of several molecules targeting GPCRs, transporters, and ion channels. The proteins and compounds were characterized by features generated from the DRAGON software [205] and PROFEAT web server [225], respectively. The results of this study demonstrate that using 2D autocorrelation, topological charge indices, and 3D-MoRSE descriptors to characterize compounds, and amphiphilic pseudo amino acid composition, autocorrelation features, and quasisequence order descriptors to represent the proteins leads to improved  $K_i$  prediction. Moreover, both regression ML models achieved similar prediction performance.

He et al. (2017) [267] introduced SimBoost for predicting the binding affinity of DTI pairs, employing GBR as the regression model. The proposed method constructs features for each drug, target, and DTI pair by using similarity and network information. Three types of features were extracted using feature engineering: occurrence

and pairwise similarities information, drug-drug and target-target similarity network features, and drug-target interaction network features. The compound and protein similarity matrices were obtained from the PubChem structure clustering server [279] and the Smith-Waterman algorithm, respectively. Furthermore, a variation of SimBoost called SimBoostQuant was explored to compute a confidence score for the prediction interval of a given DTI pair based on quantile regression. The datasets used in this study were collected from the research studies of Davis et al. (2011) [276], Metz et al. (2011) [277], and Tang et al. (2014) [278].

 $Ozt\ddot{u}$ rk et al. (2018) [268] proposed a DL pipeline called DeepDTA, which is based on 1D CNNs, for the prediction of binding affinity. The authors validated Deep-DTA using datasets obtained from the studies conducted by Davis et al. (2011) [276] and Tang et al. (2014) [278]. In their framework, proteins and compounds were represented using 1D sequential information, specifically amino acid sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. Two parallel CNNs were employed to uncover underlying patterns and extract deep representations from the input data. The resulting deep representations were concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which predicted the binding affinity value.  $\ddot{O}zt\ddot{u}rk$  et al. (2019) [269] extended their previous approach using a text-based method for predicting DTA by shifting from a character-based sequence representation to a word-based sequence representation. Only chemical and biological textual sequence information was considered in this new framework, and four types of information were collected: protein amino acid sequences, protein motifs and domains, compound SMILES strings, and ligand maximum common substructures. Protein sequences were represented using sets of 3-residue words, which consisted of groups of three consecutive amino acids. Protein domains and motifs were extracted from the PROSITE database [281] and represented using 3-residue subsequences. The SMILES strings were initially converted to Deep SMILES [282] and then transformed into consecutive overlapping 8-character words. Ligand maximum common substructures [283] were employed to extract chemical words from the SMILES strings, representing certain patterns capable of distinguishing sets of molecules. The proposed framework called WideDTA employed four parallel CNNs to extract a deep representation from each specific type of information. The resulting deep representations were concatenated and used as input for an FCNN.

Feng et al. (2018) [270] introduced a DL framework known as Protein And Drug Molecule Interaction Prediction (PADME) to predict real-valued interaction strength. Compounds were represented using molecular graphs, where nodes represented atoms and edges represented bonds. Proteins were described using protein sequence composition descriptors and a binary entry to characterize the phosphorylation status. The proposed architecture leverages the ability of GCNs to capture deep patterns from molecular graph representations, where the resulting deep representations were combined with the protein features to characterize the DTI pairs. The final DTI representations were used as input for an FCNN, which predicted the binding affinity values. Moreover, a variation of PADME was explored, wherein the graph representation of the compounds was replaced with an ECFP-based representation. The authors validated PADME using datasets obtained from the studies conducted by Davis et al. (2011) [276], Metz et al. (2011), and Tang et al. (2014) [278], and a dataset containing toxicology data measured in AC<sub>50</sub> (activity concentration at 50% of maximal activity). Furthermore, the proposed approach was capable of handling cold-target/cold-drug problems, which are associated with targets and drugs that have never appeared in the training data, respectively.

Nguyen et al. (2020) [271] presented GraphDTA for predicting binding affinity based on the use of GNNs and 1D CNNs. This study explored multiples types of GNNs, including Graph Isomorphism Neural Network (GIN) [284], Graph Attention Neural Network (GAT) [285], GCN, and Graph Attention - Graph Convolutional Neural Network (GAT-GCN), to extract deep features from molecular graph representations of the compounds. Each node in the molecular graphs was characterized by various atom features such as atom symbol, atom degree, number of bonded neighbors and hydrogens, total number of hydrogens, implicit atom value, and aromaticity. The edges of the molecular graphs were represented by the presence or absence of interaction. On the other hand, proteins were encoded using their 1D amino acid sequences and fed into 1D CNNs to extract deep representations. The resulting representations from both GNNs and 1D CNNs were concatenated and used as input for an FCNN to predict the binding affinity value. The proposed approach was validated using datasets from the studies conducted by Davis et al. (2011) [276] and Tang et al. (2014) [278].

Abbasi et al. (2020) [272] introduced DeepCDA, a DL framework for predicting binding affinity that combines CNNs and LSTMs. This framework employs two parallel blocks of CNNs followed by LSTMS to extract discriminating representations from protein amino acid sequences and compound SMILES strings, respectively. The resulting representations are used as input for a two-sided attention mechanism to encode the interaction strength between protein and compound substructures, leading to a binding map containing the weights (strength) of each interaction. This binding map is used as input for an FCNN, which outputs the binding affinity value. Furthermore, the authors explored an adversarial domain adaptation technique to improve the generalization of the model and solve the problem of training and testing data being sampled from different domains with different contributions. The authors validated their approach using datasets collected from the research works of Davis et al. (2011) [276] and Tang et al. (2014) [278], and from the BindingDB database [18].

Shim et al. (2021) [273] explored a similarity-based model called SimCNN-DTA to predict binding affinity based on 2D CNNs. Proteins and compounds were represented by their pairwise similarity score matrices, which were computed using the Smith-Waterman local alignment algorithm ans Tanimoto distance metric, respectively. The outer products between the column vectors of the two similarity matrices were used as input for 2D CNNs in order to extract deep patterns from the DTI representation space. The output of the 2D CNNs was used as input for an FCNN, which predicted the binding affinity value. The authors validated their approach using datasets collected from the studies conducted by Davis et al. (2011) [276] and Tang et al. (2014) [278].

Wang et al. (2021) [274] presented DeepDTAF for predicting binding affinity based on 1D CNNs and 1D dilated CNNs. This framework consists of three parallel modules to extract local and global contextual features from proteins, compounds, and binding pockets. Proteins were represented by their 1D amino acid sequence and secondary structure and physicochemical characteristics, compounds by their SMILES strings, and binding pockets by sequential and structural properties. 1D dilated CNNs were employed to capture multiscale long-range interactions from protein features and ligand SMILES, while traditional 1D CNNs were applied to uncover and extract deep patterns within the binding pocket representation. The resulting deep features from the three modules were concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which predicted the binding affinity value. The authors validated their approach using data collected from the PDBbind database [19].

Rifaioglu et al. (2021) [275] proposed a hybrid pairwise input deep neural network called MDeePred (Multi-channel Deep Proteochemometric Predictor for Binding Affinity) to estimate DTA. In their approach, multiple types of protein features such as sequential, structural, evolutionary, and physicochemical properties were incorporated within multiple 2D vectors and used as input for a CNN-based model. On the other hand, compounds were represented by molecular fingerprints-based vectors and fed to an FCNN. The resulting representations obtained from the two modules were concatenated and used as input for another FCNN, which predicted the binding affinity value. The authors validated their approach using different datasets collected from ChEMBL [6], PDBbind [19], and the research study by Davis et al. (2011) [276].
# Chapter 4

# **Explainable Artificial Intelligence**

his chapter presents an overview of explainability and interpretability concepts in the context of Artificial Intelligence (AI) methods. Section 4.1 details the need for providing compelling explanations concerning ML and DL approaches in critical domains such as drug discovery. Section 4.2 introduces relevant and recurring terminology employed in the context of Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI) methods, and describes the concepts of explainability and interpretability. Section 4.3 summarizes various strategies within the realm of XAI capable of providing explanations to the inferring process and/or predictions of the models.

# 4.1 Explaining Models' Decisions

Despite the continuous advances in the field of Artificial Intelligence (AI) to produce autonomous systems capable of perceiving, learning, and reasoning on their own, the underlying mathematical models often remain elusive to interpretation by the human mind, limiting the effectiveness of these systems [286]. Moreover, the majority of AI approaches are based on models/heuristics of difficult interpretation, which may result in an inadequate explanation of the input context that leads to a specific choice of a particular decision. Given the current pace of ML and DL in real-world applications and critical contexts, such as health care and drug discovery, there is an increasing demand to assure specific criteria, develop high-performing models under rigorous conditions, and provide explanations in a human-intelligible format [287, 288].

Several AI models have been successfully adopted for computer-assisted drug discovery [289, 290], in which DL architectures have been surpassing most traditional ML methods [291, 292] due to their ability to model and capture complex and intricate nonlinear relationships between input data and the associate output by stacking multiple processing layers. Furthermore, DL has been pivotal to broaden *in sil-ico* drug discovery across different subdomains, namely molecular design [293, 294], chemical synthesis [295, 296], protein structure prediction [297, 181], and DTI identification [268, 241]. However, DL architectures are considered highly black-box models, devoided of transparency and explainability in their inner operations and decision-making process. Moreover, it is difficult to understand the error surface, and obtain detailed explanations of their behavior [298, 299, 300].

Some prior attempts have been explored to extract, represent, and explain features from medical and chemical knowledge to better fit human intuition [301, 302]. In the particular case of drug discovery, efforts have been made to explain QSAR models in terms of algorithmic insights and molecular analysis in order to understand and correlate biological effects with physicochemical properties [303, 304, 305, 306]. Furthermore, recent PCM approaches, whose focus is based on the use of target and ligand information for the inferring process, have been providing interpretable prediction results by analyzing the importance of certain descriptors for the prediction of DTIs, resulting in the identification of important ligand features and/or target features [40, 307, 308, 309, 310]. However, the rise of DL architectures reduces the willingness to sacrifice prediction performance in favor of explainability, especially when considering the ability of these architectures to model nonlinear associations, perform pattern recognition and feature extraction from low-level data representations, and achieve state-of-the-art prediction performance.

Drug discovery is unequivocally complex and not straightforward, posing many domain-specific challenges [311]. Several comprehensive factors are involved in DTIs, in which identifying important substructures remains an ongoing task. Even though ML and DL models may identify complex hidden patterns within sequential and structural data, these are usually not perceptible by humans or require domain knowledge to be explained. Moreover, the representation of the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces plays a crucial role in AI-assisted drug discovery, considering that there are no raw and complete representations of the proteins, compounds, and binding pockets. Thus, the choice of the representation models conditions the explainability and performance of the resulting prediction architecture given that they determine the context, type, and interpretability of the information retained [31]. Overall, there is a need for further understanding due to the lack of knowledge regarding all the biological, chemical, and pharmacological processes involved, and the inability to formulate infallible mathematical models and corresponding explanations [32, 312]. The lack of interpretability of the underlying models and the need to augment human reasoning and decision-making have been motivating the emergence of the Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI) field [313, 314]. Providing potential and informative explanations for the models' decisions helps to guarantee decisive criteria concerning ML and DL in critical contexts: i) ensure that the decision-making is impartial and understandable; ii) avoid correct predictions for the wrong decisions; iii) advert possible disturbances or unfair biases that may alter the prediction; iv) ensure a real underlying causality in the reasoning of the model by identifying the most significant variables that infer the output; and v) bridge the gap between ML/DL and domain knowledge [32, 315, 316, 312]. On that account, XAI bears the promise to undertake informed actions while concurrently taking into account domain knowledge, model logic, and an understanding of the limitations inherent to the model [317].

# 4.2 Explainability and XAI Terminology

DL is increasingly being employed in several areas of interest, including critical contexts, e.g., medical and pharmaceutical areas, where the decision provided may have a great impact on the overall well-being. The efficient learning algorithms associated with these architectures have proven pivotal in attaining exceptional levels of performance, while simultaneously solving progressively intricate computational tasks. Contrarily to simple linear or rule-based models, where it is possible to search for a direct understanding of the mechanisms involved in the model (transparency), DL architectures are mostly opaque and complex black-box models due to the vast parametric space, which compromises the interpretability of these architectures [29]. In that regard, it is crucial to provide explanations that support the output of a model given the risk of employing decisions that are not justifiable, reliable, or capable of providing detailed explanations [318]. Moreover, given the rise of more complex data across various domains, it is vital to provide fundamental support in the interpretation and analysis of the results [319, 320]. Hence, XAI focuses on producing explainable and high-performing models that enable humans to understand, comprehend, and trust these systems.

In the context of ML/DL, it is important to distinguish interpretability from explainability, considering that these two terms are mostly not interchangeable. Interpretability is associated with the intrinsic characteristics of the model to provide the user with the ability to understand the processes involved, i.e., to be, on its own, understandable for a human (transparency). On that account, interpretable models make it possible for humans to know the influence of the input variables on the overall performance, understand the marginal relationship between input variables and the target, and predict a future output by analyzing the input. Moreover, these models can feature different levels of understandability/intelligibility [321, 315]. On the other hand, explainability concerns the ability of the model to provide details with the intent of clarifying or detailing its internal functions and reasoning in human terms [315]. In that regard, explainable methods focus on understanding sets of decisions instead of the internal structure of the model or the intrinsic algorithmic processes involved [312]. Hence, explainability emphasizes converting non-interpretable models into explainable ones. Nevertheless, the degree of explainability relies on the capability of the users to understand the knowledge contained in the model (comprehensibility) [322].

# 4.3 XAI Methods

Methods designed for explainability can be categorized according to multiple criteria, including interpretability grade, model dependency, explainability range, type of data, and results of the interpretation method [31, 312, 315, 320]. However, XAI methods broadly fall under three primary domains: i) intrinsic interpretability or post-hoc explainability, ii) model-specific or model-agnostic, and iii) local or global explainability.

The achievement of intrinsic interpretability is accomplished by altering the structure of the model in a manner that enables the user to discern the features that influenced the overall inferring process. Furthermore, the design should be oriented in a way that facilitates the visualization of the marginal contribution of each input variable to the model, and that the error surface can be understood and substantiated [323]. These approaches are primarily designed for transparency, i.e., need to convey some degree of interpretability by themselves, and are built under the premise that all parts of the model can be understandable to a human without the need for additional methods or tools [324]. Intrinsic interpretability is commonly associated with simpler models, such as logistic regression, low-depth decision trees, decision rules, sparse linear regression, generalized linear models, and generalized additive models. In spite of the accurate explanations provided by these models, the compromise between complexity and explainability often leads to a reduction in prediction performance. Nevertheless, recent approaches focus on incorporating explainability directly into the structural units of the architectures (*intrinsic explainability*). In that regard, attention mechanisms have been explored and incorporated into the architectures to condition the learning process, and provide explainability through the visualization of the input elements that were given more attention (weight) [325, 326].

Post-hoc techniques aim to provide explanations for an already existing model, imparting insights into the parameters, learned representations, individual predictions, or the behavior of the model. Typically, this is accomplished by constructing supplementary models or employing external methods on models that are not inherently interpretable, with the intention of augmenting their interpretability. Nonetheless, these approaches possess limitations in their inherent approximation, whereby if the model demonstrates bias, the explanations will similarly be biased [327]. Post-hoc explainability can be attained through diverse perspectives such as:

- Surrogate models/functions: explain the predictions of a complex model by locally approximating it with a simple interpretable surrogate function, e.g., decision trees, decision rules, or linear models. Ribeiro et al. (2016) [328] introduced Local Interpretable Model-Agnostic Explanations (LIME), a technique that involves generating local surrogate models to approximate the behavior of the primary model around a given prediction. The LIME approach samples data points within the neighborhood of the specific instance of interest, subsequently evaluating the model at these points, and then tries to fit the surrogate function in a manner that closely approximates the behavior of the primary model for that particular instance. Lundberg et al. (2017) [329] presented Shapley Additive Explanations (SHAP), a method designed to explain the prediction of a certain instance by computing the contribution of each feature to the prediction. This approach relies on the concept of Shapley values, which enables the provision of explanations via an additive feature attribution technique. The method leverages a linear combination of binary variables to attribute the contributions of individual features to the overall prediction.
- Local Perturbations: attempt to explain the model by modifying or removing parts of the input and measuring the respective changes in the output. Zeiler et al. (2014) [330] explored an occlusion sensitivity method, which systematically occludes different portions of the input in order to measure the importance of the input dimension. Zintgraf et al. (2017) [331] proposed a method based on prediction difference analysis, which uses conditional sampling within the pixel neighborhood of an analyzed feature to measure how the prediction changes if the feature is unknown.
- Propagation-based: leverages the model's internal structure and propagates a

score in order to measure how much a change around a local neighborhood of the input corresponds to a change in the output. Methods such as Deconvolution [330, 332], Layer Relevance Propagation [333] and Gradient-Weighted Class Activation Mapping [334] highlight the critical regions in the input for the prediction of the concept, in which the feature activity, the relevance score, and the gradients of the model's outcome are backpropagated to the input domain, respectively.

• Instance-based: identifies data points, such as relevant feature subsets, that are essential for retaining or altering the predictions of a given model. This category includes anchor algorithms, counterfactual instance search, and contrastive explanation methods [31]. Anchor algorithms are designed to derive a subset of if-then rules based on one or more features that must be satisfied to maintain the predicted outcome [335]. Counterfactual explanations, on the other hand, aim to discover data points most similar to a specific instance that can lead to a different prediction outcome [336, 337]. Contrastive explanation methods combine the key concepts of anchor algorithms and counterfactual instance search approaches to provide explanations. These methods identify the smallest set of features required for the model to predict the correct outcome and the smallest set of features needed to be absent to ensure sufficient distinction from other potential outcomes [338].

XAI-generated explanations can also be categorized into model-specific or modelagnostic. The model-specific category includes methods designed for specific models, such as propagation-based approaches and saliency maps used for neural networks [339, 334, 332, 330]. Intrinsically interpretable models are also included in this category considering that intrinsic interpretability is inherently tied to the design of the models. On the other hand, model-agnostic techniques are not restricted to any particular model and focus on establishing relationships between input and output pairs by extracting information from the prediction procedure of the models. These methods are typically applied post-hoc, as they lack access to the model's internal logic and intrinsic operations [315, 312].

Additionally, the resulting explainability can be classified according to its range, namely local or global explainability [340]. Local explainability addresses explainability by segmenting the solution space and providing explanations for individual predictions or a small subset of neighboring samples. Hence, these methods only explain part of the model's functioning. In contrast, global explainability seeks to provide an overall understanding of the model's behavior across the entire dataset or a specific domain. Thus, global explainability focuses on analyzing the model's patterns and general behaviors and summarizing the relevance of input features that consistently influence the decisions of the model.

# Chapter 5

# Methods, Models, and Architectures

his chapter details some of the major and recurring methodology employed throughout the research work associated with this thesis. Section 5.1 details ML models used to compare the prediction performance. Section 5.2 explains the main concepts regarding DL architectures involved in the design of the frameworks explored in this thesis. Section 5.3 describes the similarity methods applied to the proteins and compounds. Section 5.4 presents the evaluation metrics explored to assess the prediction performance.

# 5.1 Machine Learning Models

# 5.1.1 Random Forest

Random Forest (RF) is an ensemble learning method that generates a chosen number of uncorrelated decision trees and returns the class or value that is the mode of the classes (majority voting) or the average of the values, respectively, across the output of each decision tree [165]. Decision trees are the building blocks of the forest and they can be defined as a series of if-then-else rules (nodes) that divide the dataset into smaller subsets until the predicted class or value is achieved or when the impurity can no longer be reduced. The nodes are based on a single feature and a specific threshold according to the combination that generates less impurity, e.g., entropy, for the tree. Each decision tree is created using bootstrapping, in which only a randomly selected portion of the dataset is used to build the tree. The non-sampled data (out-of-thebag) is used to evaluate the performance (generalization capacity). Moreover, each tree at each node only considers a subset of features that are randomly chosen. The randomness of the whole process increases the diversity amongst the trees, making them grow dissimilar and uncorrelated. This method is highly adaptive to different data types given its capacity to describe the relationship between independent and dependent variables. Figure 5.1 illustrates the RF architecture for classification and regression tasks (RFR).



Figure 5.1: Random Forest, where the majority voting approach is applied for classification problems and the average for regression tasks.

## 5.1.2 Support Vector Machine

Support Vector Machine (SVM) identifies an optimal hyperplane that maximizes the separation margin between different classes [166]. For problems that are not linearly separable, SVM applies two different approaches, namely soft-margins and kernel tricks. Soft-margin tolerates violations of the margins and controls the tradeoff between margin-width maximization and misclassified sample minimization. The tolerance is represented by the penalty term C, which is responsible for the number of violations allowed. Kernel tricks, which are identified as functions capable of transforming the data, are used to map data to higher dimensional spaces where it is possible to classify with linear decision surfaces. Gaussian Radial Basis Function (RBF) is one of the most used kernels for handling nonlinear problems and it replaces each point in the feature space by the Gaussian of the squared Euclidean distance from support vectors. Considering  $x_1$  and  $x_2$  two different feature vectors in the original input, RBF can be expressed as:

$$K(x_1, x_2) = exp(-\frac{||x_1 - x_2||^2}{2\sigma^2})$$
(5.1)

, where  $\sigma$  is the scale parameter that is related to the Gaussian width. Support Vector Regression (SVR) is an extension of the SVM for regression tasks, in which instead of defining a hyperplane that maximizes the separation margin between different classes, it finds the best-fit line corresponding to the hyperplane that has the maximum number of points [167]. The regression line margin in the SVR is controlled by a parameter  $\epsilon$ . Figure 5.2 illustrates the SVM architecture applied to a classification problem.



Figure 5.2: Support Vector Machine applied to a binary classification problem. Figure adapted from "Support vector machines for drug discovery" [168].

# 5.1.3 Gradient Boosting Regression

Gradient Boosting Regression (GBR) is an ensemble learning method derived from the Gradient Boosting Machine (GBM) model [169, 170, 171], which iteratively adds decision trees in order to improve the objective function. GBR makes predictions using the following equation:

$$\widehat{y}_i = \Phi(x_i) = \sum_{k=1}^K f_k(x_i), f_k \in F$$
(5.2)

, where  $\hat{y}_i$  is the predicted value, K is the number of regression trees,  $x_i$  is the input, and F the space of all possible trees. In order to learn the set of trees  $f_k$ , a

regularized objective function is employed:

$$L(\Phi) = \sum_{i} l(\hat{y}_i, y_i) + \sum_{k} \Omega(f_k)$$
(5.3)

, where l is the loss function and  $\Omega$  is a tuning parameter that measures the complexity of the model to avoid overfitting.

#### 5.1.4 Kernel Ridge Regression

Kernel Ridge Regression (KRR) combines Ridge regression with kernels, in which the learning process is similar to the SVM. This method estimates a regression function f by solving an optimization problem over the reproducing kernel Hilbert space of functions  $\mathcal{H}$ :

$$\hat{f} = \underset{f \in \mathcal{H}}{\operatorname{argmin}} \sum_{i=1}^{m} (y_i - f(x_i))^2 + \lambda ||f||_k^2$$
(5.4)

, where  $||f||_k^2$  is norm of the regression function,  $x_i$  is the input,  $y_i$  is the target,  $\lambda > 0$  is a user provided regularization parameter, and k is the kernel function. The regularized loss function (minimizer) for the above objective can be expressed as :

$$f(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \alpha_i k(x, x_i) \tag{5.5}$$

, where  $\alpha$  is the data dependent weights and  $k(x,x_i)$  is the kernel function centered in the input x.

# 5.2 Deep Learning Architectures

#### 5.2.1 Fully-Connected Feed-Forward Neural Network

Fully-Connected Feed-Forward Neural Networks (FCNNs) are similar to traditional Artificial Neural Networks (ANNs), comprising an input layer, multiple hidden layers, and an output layer. The input layer is associated with independent values (features) that are fed to the working units, denominated artificial neurons, which constitute the hidden layers. Each one of the hidden layers is composed of multiple neurons, which are interlinked across the layers. The output is the result of the weighted sum of all the outputs given by the previous layers and to which is applied an activation function. Each artificial neuron is organized into five building elements: input, weight, bias, activation function, and output. The output associated with the ith neuron can be expressed as:

$$f(\alpha_i) = f(\sum_{j=1}^{n} W_{ij} X_j + b_i)$$
(5.6)

, where W is the weight, X is the input value, f is the activation function, b is the bias, and n is the number of neurons from the previous layer connected to the *i*th neuron. In this type of architecture, the information flows in one direction, from the input layer, going through the hidden layers (middle layers), to the output layer. Figure 5.3 shows the architecture of an FCNN.



**Figure 5.3:** Fully-Connected Feed-Forward Neural Network architecture, wherein the information flows in one direction and all neurons are interlinked across the multiple hidden layers.

# 5.2.2 Convolutional Neural Network

Convolutional Neural Networks (CNNs) are inspired in the visual cortex, specifically in the receptive fields, where some neurons are only activated in the presence of stimulus in certain orientations, i.e., restricted regions of the visual space. The architecture of a typical CNN is organized as a series of layers, comprising convolutional layers and pooling layers.

Convolutional layers are composed of filters, which are arrays of weights, that slide over the entire input and convolute at each particular location, originating activation (feature) maps. Convolution is a specialized type of linear operation, described as an element-by-element multiplication between a particular location of the input (local patch) and the filter, followed by the sum of the results and to which is applied an activation function. On that account, this type of neural network performs scatter interactions, limiting the number of connections for each input, conversely to traditional neural networks, where all the neurons are interlinked across the hidden layers. Figure 5.4 illustrates the convolution operation.



Figure 5.4: Convolution operation: element-by-element multiplication between local patches of the input and the filter, followed by the sum of the results and to which is applied an activation function.

The filters work as feature identifiers and can only extract a single type of features due to the parameter sharing, i.e., the weights associated with the filter are used in every position of the input where it slides over (local patches) and, therefore, in order to learn more types of features, it is necessary to use additional filters in parallel. On the other hand, the activation maps are identified as learnable feature maps and used as the input of the next layer. In that regard, each convolutional layer detects local conjunctions of features from the previous layer. Additionally, the output volume depth (number of feature maps) is equal to the number of filters and the depth of the filter has to be the same as the depth of the input. The output of each filter can be given by:

$$Output = \frac{Input\_Size - Filter\_Size + 2 * Padding}{Stride} + 1$$
(5.7)

, where *stride* corresponds to the number of steps that a filter moves along the input (sliding size) and *padding* to the output size control.

Pooling layers reduce the spatial size of each feature map by replacing local patches of units with a single unit based on a specific function, e.g., max pooling extracts the maximum value and average pooling extracts the average of all values within the local patch. These layers are usually applied for dimensionality reduction and to preserve only the features associated with a certain motif rather than its exact location, considering that the relative positions of the characteristics forming a motif may change. Moreover, this layer promotes the invariance of the input to translations and reduces the number of parameters to be learned in the following layers. The output of a pooling layer can be given by:

$$Output\_Pooling = \frac{Input\_Size - Pool\_Size}{Stride} + 1$$
(5.8)

Overall, CNNs are identified as motif detectors and feature extractors, capable of retrieving deep patterns from the data by moving from low-level features to abstract concepts using learnable feature maps. Furthermore, they are capable of describing complex interactions between many variables using fewer interactions, resulting in better generalization capacity and reduced training costs. There are mainly three types of CNNs, specifically 1D, 2D, and 3D, according to the depth of the input. Figure 5.5 depicts the architecture of an CNN.



**Figure 5.5:** Convolutional Neural Network architecture, which comprises convolutional and pooling layers to extract deep representations from the input data.

# 5.2.3 Transformer-Encoder

Transformer-Encoders transform each token of the input sequence into a robust and contextual representation, which reflects the short and long-term dependencies, through the use of self-attention mechanisms [172]. Moreover, it is possible to extract an aggregated representation of the input using this architecture, reflecting the overall inter-dependencies amongst the tokens of the input sequence [173].

The Transformer-Encoder architecture stacks N identical blocks, where each block comprises a Multi-Head Self-Attention (MHSA) layer and a Position-Wise FeedForward Neural Network (PWFFN). Residual connections are applied after each subunit followed by Layer Normalization (LN) to mitigate vanishing gradients. Additionally, dropout is added after each MHSA layer and after each dense layer of the PWFFN to prevent overfitting. Considering  $x^1$  and  $x^2$  the outputs of the MHSA layer and the PWFFN block, respectively, the output of the kth Transformer-Encoder block can be expressed as:

$$x_{k}^{1} = \mathbf{LN}(x_{k-1}^{2} + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHSA}(x_{k-1}^{2})))$$

$$x_{k}^{2} = \mathbf{LN}(x_{k}^{1} + \mathbf{PWFFN}(x_{k}^{1}))$$
(5.9)

, where  $x_k^1, x_k^2 \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times d_{model}}$ , N is the number of tokens in the input sequence, and  $d_{model}$  is the embedding dimension.

Figure 5.6 illustrates the architecture of the Transformer-Encoder.



Figure 5.6: Transformer-Encoder architecture, where each block is composed of an MHSA layer and a PWFFN. The MHSA layer computes self-attention across h heads of attention, where each  $head_i$  computes a weighted sum of  $V_{proj}^i$ . The attention weights are determined by applying a softmax ( $\sigma$ ) to the scaled dot-product between  $Q_{proj}^i$  and  $K_{proj}^i$ , in which PAD tokens are masked. The PWFFN is applied to the last dimension of the MHSA outputs in order to give them an individually more robust representation.

#### 5.2.3.1 Multi-Head Self-Attention

The MHSA layer determines the short and long-term inter-dependencies between the input elements by applying self-attention multiple times in parallel, resulting in a robust and contextual representation for each token of the sequence. This layer takes the input in the form of three parameters, specifically Query (Q), Key (K), and Value (V), which are generated from the same input sequence, and computes attention across h heads of attention. On that account, Q, K, and V are linearly projected and divided into h sub-dimensions, where each  $head_{1,..,h}$  computes a weighted sum of  $V_{1,...,h}^{proj}$ , i.e., each head maps a query and a set of key-value pairs to an output. The attention weights assigned to each element of  $V_{1,...,h}^{proj}$  are determined by applying a softmax to the scaled dot-product between  $Q_{1,...,h}^{proj}$  and  $K_{1,...,h}^{proj}$ . Furthermore, a masking matrix is added before the softmax to prevent the model from attention to certain tokens, e.g., PAD tokens. This masking matrix is obtained by assigning an extremely negative value (close to minus infinity) to the positions of the nonattending tokens, considering that in the softmax function values close to minus infinity lead to a probability of zero. The outputs of each head of attention are concatenated and linearly projected, resulting in the same dimensions as the input Q.

$$\mathbf{attn}(Q,K,V) = \mathbf{softmax}(\frac{QK^{T}}{\sqrt{d_{K}}} + Mask)V$$
$$\mathbf{MHSA}(Q,K,V) = [\mathbf{attn}(Q_{1}^{proj},K_{1}^{proj},V_{1}^{proj}); ...; \mathbf{attn}(Q_{h}^{proj},K_{h}^{proj},V_{h}^{proj})]\mathbf{W}^{O}$$
$$Q_{1,..,h}^{proj} = QW_{1,...,h}^{Q}, K_{1,..,h}^{proj} = KW_{1,...,h}^{K}, V_{1,...,h}^{proj} = VW_{1,...,h}^{V}$$
(5.10)

, where  $Q \in \mathbb{R}^{N \ x \ d_{model}}$ ,  $K \in \mathbb{R}^{N \ x \ d_{model}}$ ,  $V \in \mathbb{R}^{N \ x \ d_{model}}$ ,  $W_{1,\dots,h}^{Q} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model} \ x \ d_{Q}}$ are the Q projection matrices,  $W_{1,\dots,h}^{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model} \ x \ d_{K}}$  are the K projection matrices,  $W_{1,\dots,h}^{V} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model} \ x \ d_{V}}$  are the V projection matrices,  $W^{O} \in \mathbb{R}^{h \ x \ d_{V} \ x \ d_{model}}$  is the output projection matrix, [;] denotes concatenation,  $d_{Q} = d_{K} = d_{V} = \frac{d_{model}}{h}$ ,  $Mask \in \mathbb{R}^{N \ x \ N}$ , N is the number of tokens in the input sequence, and  $d_{model}$  is the embedding dimension.

Figure 5.7 illustrates the architecture of an MHSA layer with h heads of attention in parallel.

#### 5.2.3.2 Dropout Layer

Deep neural network architectures have many non-linear hidden layers and, thus, many complex relationships can be learned between inputs and outputs. On that account, neurons can overly adapt to each other during training (overfitting), resulting in increased noise. Dropout is a regularization strategy that helps reduce learning inter-dependency and improves the generalization of the model [174]. This approach deactivates a percentage p of randomly selected neurons and their connections during the training stage of the architecture, reducing the possibility of neurons developing co-dependency amongst each other. At the testing step (inferring process), the weights associated with the units that remain activated are multiplied by



Figure 5.7: MHSA architecture, where each head of attention maps a query and set of key-value pairs to an output, which is computed as a weighted sum of the values. h is the number of heads of attention and mask corresponds to the masking of the PAD tokens.

the training forgetting rate p. Figure 5.8 illustrates the dropout method applied to a standard FCNN.

# 5.2.3.3 Layer Normalization

LN reduces the training time and enhances the generalization capacity of deep neural networks by redistributing the input values of each layer to a mean of approximately



**Figure 5.8:** Dropout applied to a standard FCNN with 2 hidden layers. Figure adapted from "Dropout: A Simple Way to Prevent Neural Networks from Overfitting" [174].

zero and a standard deviation of one [175]. Moreover, this strategy is robust toward the scale and shift of the weight matrix and variations in the input scale. Consequently, it mitigates the occurrence of significant discrepancies in neuron values across different layers' inputs and reduces the probability of vanishing gradients. The mean ( $\mu_l$ ) and standard deviation ( $\sigma_l$ ) associated with the neurons of a certain layer l are computed as follows:

$$\mu_l = \frac{1}{H_l} \sum_{j=1}^{H_l} x_{lj} , \ \sigma_l = \sqrt{\frac{1}{H_l} (\sum_{j=1}^{H_l} x_{lj} - \mu_l)^2}$$
(5.11)

, where H is the number of hidden units in the layer l and x are the inputs connected to the neurons associated with layer l. These two statistical measures are used to normalize x:

$$x'_{lj} = \frac{x_{lj} - \mu_l}{\sqrt{\sigma_l^2 + \epsilon}} \tag{5.12}$$

, where  $\epsilon$  is a stability factor.

Additionally, this transformation is independent of the batch size and performs identically during the training and testing stages.

#### 5.2.3.4 Position-Wise Feed-Forward Network

The PWFFN block improves the robustness of the representation of each token and increases the learning capacity of the architecture by projecting the last dimension (position-wise) of the attention outputs. The architecture of the PWFFN is similar to the FCNN, where all neurons are interlinked and the information flows in one direction. This block is composed of two dense layers, where the first dense layer projects the attention outputs to a higher dimension and the second dense layer projects it back to the initial last dimension. Thus, this block is usually compared to two 1x1 convolution layers. Moreover, dropout layers are applied after each dense layer of the PWFFN.

$$\mathbf{PWFFN}(x) = \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{F}_2(\mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{F}_1(x\mathbf{W}_1 + \mathbf{b}_1)\mathbf{W}_2 + \mathbf{b}_2)))$$
(5.13)

, where  $W_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model} \ x \ \pi}$ ,  $W_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{\pi \ x \ d_{model}}$ ,  $b_1 \in \mathbb{R}^{\pi}$ ,  $b_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}}$ , F is the activation function,  $\pi$  is the expansion ratio, and  $d_{model}$  is the embedding dimension.

# 5.3 Similarity Methods

### 5.3.1 Smith-Waterman Algorithm

The Smith-Waterman algorithm is usually applied for local sequence alignment and to determined similar regions between protein sequences. It is a dynamic programming algorithm used to find the optimal local alignment with respect to the scoring system that is selected. This method initializes a matrix F, indexed by (i,j), where i and j correspond to the sequence length of the two protein sequences, respectively, and systematically fills the matrix based on a scoring function:

$$F(i,j) = max \begin{cases} 0\\F(i-1,j) - d\\F(i,j-1) - d\\F(i-1,j-1) + s(x_i,y_j) \end{cases}$$

, where d is the penalty for opening or extending gaps, and  $s(x_i, y_j)$  is the score for matches or mismatches, where a substitution matrix, e.g., BLOSUM62, can be used instead. Furthermore, this method initializes the top left (F(i,0),F(0,j))with zero, and finds the best local alignment using traceback from the highest score until it finds the first zero. The alignment score (similarity) for the two protein sequences corresponds to the sum of the scores for each position associated with the optimal local alignment. Nevertheless, this method can lead to various local alignments. Figure 5.9 illustrates the Smith-Waterman algorithm applied to two protein fragments.



Figure 5.9: Smith-Waterman algorithm: optimal local alignment between "MG-GPP" and "PSMGPP", using d=-2 and  $s(x_i,y_j)=\pm 1$  (+1 for match and -1 for mismatch).

# 5.3.2 Tanimoto Coefficient

The Tanimoto coefficient is a distance metric used to determine the similarity between two finite sample sets and takes into account the ratio between the intersection and union of the two sample sets. Considering A and B two different finite sample sets, the Tanimoto coefficient (T) is given by:

$$T(A,B) = \frac{|A \cap B|}{|A| + |B| - |A \cap B|}$$
(5.14)

This method is usually applied to determine the similarity between chemical compounds based on their hashed binary chemical fingerprint representations, which are bitmap strings that contain information the presence or absence of particular substructures. Considering i and j the vector (fingerprint) representations of two different compounds, respectively, the Tanimoto coefficient (T) can be expressed as:

$$T(i,j) = \frac{i \cdot j}{|i|^2 + |j|^2 - i \cdot j}$$
(5.15)

# 5.4 Evaluation Metrics

There are many metrics used to evaluate the performance and the capacity of the models as predictors, where the choice of which ones to use highly depends on the context of the problem and on the distribution of the target vector (labels). In spite of the fundamental purpose of comparing predicted labels with true labels, each evaluation metric assesses specifics aspects and is influenced differently by the distribution of the labels and outcomes.

# 5.4.1 Binding Affinity Prediction (Regression)

• Mean Squared Error (MSE): measures the average squared difference between the predicted values and the real values.

$$MSE = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \hat{y}_i)^2$$
(5.16)

, where n is the number of samples,  $y_i$  is the real value, and  $\hat{y}_i$  is the predicted value.

• Root Mean Squared Error (RMSE): measures the square root of the average squared difference between the predicted values and the real values.

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_i - \hat{y}_i)^2}$$
(5.17)

, where n is the number of samples,  $y_i$  is the real value, and  $\hat{y}_i$  is the predicted value.

• Concordance Index (CI): measures the probability of non-equal pairs being correctly predicted in terms of order.

$$CI = \frac{1}{Z} \sum_{y_i > y_j} h(p_i - p_j), h(p) = \begin{cases} 1, p > 0\\ 0.5, p = 0\\ 0, p < 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.18)

, where Z corresponds to the number of non-equal pairs,  $p_i$  to the predicted value for the larger affinity  $y_i$ , and  $p_j$  to the predicted value for the smaller affinity  $y_j$ .

• Coefficient of Determination  $(r^2)$ : measures the ratio between the total vari-

ance explained by the model and the total variance.

$$r^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i})^{2}}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (y_{i} - \overline{y})^{2}}$$
(5.19)

, where  $\hat{y}_i$  is the predicted value,  $y_i$  is the real value, and  $\overline{y}$  is the mean of the real values.

• Spearman Rank Correlation (Spearman): measures the strength and direction of association between two ranked variables (non-parametric).

$$Spearman = \frac{\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (R(y_i) - \overline{R(y)}) \cdot (R(\hat{y}_i) - \overline{R(\hat{y})})}{\sqrt{(\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (R(y_i) - \overline{R(y)})^2) \cdot (\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} (R(\hat{y}_i) - \overline{R(\hat{y})})^2)}}$$
(5.20)

, where  $R(\hat{y}_i)$  is the predicted value rank,  $R(y_i)$  is the real value rank,  $R(\hat{y})$  is the mean of the predicted values ranks, and  $\overline{R(y)}$  is the mean of the real values ranks.

# 5.4.2 Binding Pocket Prediction (Binary Classification)

• Balanced Accuracy: arithmetic mean of sensitivity and specificity.

$$Balanced Accuracy = \frac{Sensitivity + Specificity}{2}$$
$$Sensitivity = \frac{TP}{TP + FN}$$
$$Specificity = \frac{TN}{TN + FP}$$
(5.21)

, where TP are the True positives, TN are the True negatives, FP are the False positives, and FN are the False negatives.

• Precision: proportion of true positives to all positive predictions.

$$Precision = \frac{TP}{TP + FP} \tag{5.22}$$

, where TP are the True positives and FP are the False positives.

• **Recall**: rate of positives correctly classified.

$$Recall = \frac{TP}{TP + FN} \tag{5.23}$$

, where TP are the True positives and FN are the False negatives.

• F1-Score: harmonic mean of precision and recall.

$$F1 - Score = 2 * \frac{precision * recall}{precision + recall}$$

$$Precision = \frac{TP}{TP + FP}$$

$$Recall = \frac{TP}{TP + FN}$$
(5.24)

, where TP are the True positives, FP are the False positives, and FN are the False negatives.

• Matthew's Correlation Coefficient (MCC): correlation between two binary variables.

$$MCC = \frac{TP * TN - FP * FN}{\sqrt{(TP + FP)(TP + FN)(TN + FP)(TN + FN)}}$$
(5.25)

, where TP are the True positives, TN are the True negatives, FP are the False positives, and FN are the False negatives.

# Chapter 6 Explainable Deep Drug-Target Representations

his chapter concerns the use of a post-hoc explainability algorithm to explore and provide potential explanations for the decision-making process of complex models such as CNNs, which are employed to identify and extract deep patterns from input data, in the context of DTA prediction. This study also probes the correlation between input regions that had a positive influence on the prediction and relevant regions in the DTI domain.

The content of this chapter is based on a journal article published in *BMC Bioin*formatics [341]. Section 6.1 presents the study context. Section 6.2 details the materials and methods used in this study. Section 6.3 reports the results and discusses the obtained findings. Section 6.4 provides some final reflections and the limitations of this study.

# 6.1 Study Context

The accurate identification of novel DTIs and the understanding of the binding process are determinants in the discovery of potential hit-to-lead compounds. Despite the *in silico* research advances, the majority of these studies rely on binary associations to conduct their experiments, neglecting the importance of the binding affinity [14]. Thus, the quality of the predictions is usually compromised or least limited, particularly when considering secondary interactions with off-targets [16, 17, 342]. Moreover, most studies seldom characterize proteins and compounds using sequential and structural data, making use of global descriptors and certain topological or physicochemical properties, which are mostly not robust and remarkably limiting to DTI understanding and model explainability [35].

DL architectures have gained acceptance in recent years due to their ability to exploit

and learn from comprehensive chemical and proteomic libraries, retrieve unprecedented knowledge in DTIs, and identify complex and discriminating patterns within the input data [27]. Furthermore, these architectures typically do not require feature engineering tools given their capacity to extract features with increased selectivity from structured or unstructured raw data and, thus, outperform most traditional ML algorithms. However, these complex models are still considered opaque and devoided of transparency in their inner decisions and results, despite the high performance achieved [28, 29]. Moreover, the binding process between an active compound and a protein is unequivocally complex, especially given the range of different regions across the whole structure of proteins and compounds that directly or indirectly participate in the interaction [34, 39]. Hence, the lack of explainability in the predictions compromises the comprehension and identification of the underlying aspects of the interaction, considering that it is not possible to directly associate the output with the input domain in DL models [300]. Additionally, when taking into account the context of the problem, wherein the decision presented may have a great impact on the drug discovery process chain, it is vital to understand and provide possible explanations for the reasoning behind the decisions of these complex architectures [31, 311].

This study explores the use of an end-to-end DL approach to predict DTA measured in terms of the dissociation constant ( $K_d$ ), where 1D sequential and structural data, protein sequences and SMILES strings, are used to represent the targets and compounds, respectively. Furthermore, it aims to provide explainability and validate the decision-making process of CNNs when extracting deep features from protein sequences and SMILES strings in the context of DTIs. On that account, three critical points were investigated in this work: a) efficiency of the deep representations in the prediction of a real-valued interaction strength; b) reliability of CNNs in the identification of important sequential and structural regions for the binding process; and c) robustness of the features extracted from relevant sequential regions.

# 6.2 Materials and Methods

# 6.2.1 Binding Affinity Prediction

#### 6.2.1.1 Drug–Target Interaction Pairs

In order to establish the binding affinity prediction model, it was necessary to collect DTI pairs characterized with binding affinity measured in terms of  $K_d$ . However,

standard experimentally validated, also known as *gold standard*, datasets are extremely scarce in the context of the problem. On that account, in order to conduct this study and the experiments, the data from the Davis et al. (2011) [276] research study was explored, considering that it is the only benchmark dataset that contains interactions characterized with their respective dissociation constant values. The Davis et al. (2011) [276] dataset comprises selectivity assays related to the human catalytic protein kinome, resulting in a total of 31 824 interactions between 72 kinase inhibitors (compounds) and 442 kinases (proteins). Furthermore, all compounds and proteins in this dataset are interlinked, which is critical to preserve their overall representability, given that the number of observations for each protein and compound has a great impact on their relative importance and influence during the learning stage.

The protein sequences of the Davis dataset were collected from UniProt [57] based on the corresponding accession numbers (identifiers). Proteins are characterized by a unique amino acid sequence, resulting in varying sequence lengths. Thus, to standardize the number of features and avoid the loss of relevant sequential information or increased noise due to excessive padding, the protein sequence length was fixed between 264 and 1400 residues based on a 95% information density threshold. Protein sequences shorter than the maximum length were padded.

The SMILES strings of the Davis dataset were extracted from PubChem [343] based on their compound identifiers (CIDs). To ensure a consistent notation to represent the chemical structure of all compounds, the RDKit [344] canonical transformation was applied to every SMILES string. Even though the canonical notation does not include stereochemical information, it is a unique representation, where the atoms are consistently numbered. Similar to the protein sequences, the sequence length of the SMILES strings was fixed between 38 and 72 chemical characters based on a 95% information density threshold. SMILES strings shorter than the maximum length were padded.

The distribution of the Davis  $K_d$  values is significantly skewed toward  $K_d$  equal to 10 000 nM (22 400 interaction pairs out of 31 824), which is associated with extremely weak or almost non-existing interactions. Furthermore, the variance of this distribution is considerably high, since it ranges from values close to zero (strong interaction) to high values (weak binding). Hence, in order to reduce the effects of the high variance of this distribution on the learning loss, the  $K_d$  values were transformed into the logarithmic space (p $K_d$ ) using Equation 6.1. The distribution of the  $pK_d$  values spans from 5 (10 000 nM) to approximately 11.

$$pK_d = -\log_{10}(\frac{K_d}{10^9}) \tag{6.1}$$

Table 6.1 summarizes the statistics of the original and pre-processed Davis dataset.

Table 6.1: Original and pre-processed Davis dataset [276]: unique proteins, compounds, and DTIs.

Davis Kinase Dataset									
	Proteins	Compounds	DTI	pKd = 5	pKd > 5				
Original	442	72	$31 \ 824$	22  400	9424				
Pre-Processed	423	69	$29\ 187$	$20\ 479$	8708				

See Figures B.1 and B.2 in Section B.1 of Appendix B for more details regarding the distribution of the Davis dataset.

#### 6.2.1.2 Data Representation and Encoding

Protein sequences and SMILES strings are constituted by different sequential and structural characters, respectively, which are used as input for the binding affinity prediction model. A dictionary-based approach was considered to encode each one of the characters into an integer according to the number of unique tokens, resulting in a 20-character dictionary for the protein sequences and a 26-character dictionary for the SMILES strings. In order to normalize the importance of each one of these integer values and preserve only the structural information, one-hot encoding was applied, assigning a binary variable for each unique integer value and converting every integer into a binary vector. Figure 6.1 illustrates the dictionary-based approach and the one-hot encoding applied to the AKK1 kinase.

#### 6.2.1.3 Binding Affinity Prediction Model

In order to predict real-valued DTI strength measured in  $pK_d$ , an end-to-end DL model based on CNNs and FCNNs was explored, where 1D sequential and structural information, specifically protein amino acid sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, were used as input.

The protein sequences and SMILES strings were initially processed based on their length and then encoded according to the dictionary-based approach mentioned in Section 6.2.1.2. Considering that these integer values are recognized as categorical variables, a one-hot encoder layer was assigned to both protein sequences and



Figure 6.1: Dictionary-based encoding followed by one-hot encoding applied to the kinase AKK1, where L is the length of the protein sequence.

SMILES strings, respectively. Following the one-hot encoding, two parallel series of 1D convolutional layers were considered, one for the protein sequences and the other for the SMILES strings. These sets of convolutional layers were employed to uncover deep patterns within the input data and automatically surmise and identify important sequential and structural regions for the interaction. Following each series of convolutional layers, global max pooling was applied to reduce the spatial size of each feature map to its maximum representative feature, i.e., to capture the most relevant motifs. The resulting deep representations were concatenated into a single vector, comprising the most significant sequential and structural features, and used as input for an FCNN, in which dropout regularization was applied between each fully-connected layer. Following the FCNN, an output layer composed of one neuron was employed to return the real-valued interaction strength measured in  $pK_d$ . The proposed end-to-end DL architecture is illustrated in Figure 6.2.

#### 6.2.1.4 Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold

In order to find the best model architecture and set of parameters, a variation of the stratified K-fold cross-validation approach was explored. In the context of the problem, a randomly split of the dataset leads to non-representative sets of DTIs, especially when considering the imbalanced distribution of  $pK_d$  values and that the majority of the interactions are characterized with a  $pK_d$  value equal to 5 (extremely weak interactions). Moreover, considering that 1D raw data is used to characterize the proteins and compounds, specifically the amino acid sequence and the SMILES string, respectively, the overall representability of the data plays an important role in the learning process of the architecture. Thus, in order to split the dataset into representative sets, it is crucial to consider the protein sequences similarity, the SMILES strings similarity, and the  $pK_d$  values distribution during the splitting



Figure 6.2: CNN-FCNN binding affinity prediction model. Two parallel series of 1D CNNs uncover deep patterns and extract deep representations from protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. The resulting deep representations, comprising the most relevant and significant sequential and structural motifs, are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which predicts the binding affinity measured in terms of  $pK_d$ .

process.

The proposed method, Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold, initially splits the data into two different groups according to the  $pK_d$  value, specifically greater than 5 or equal to 5, respectively. Following the sampling process, the samples with a  $pK_d$  value greater than 5 are initially distributed across the different K folds based on the lowest similarity score (dissimilarity score). The first K samples of this group are assigned to each K set in order to initialize each fold, and the remaining  $N_I - K$  samples ( $N_I$  is the number of DTI pairs in the dataset with a pK<sub>d</sub> value greater than 5) are distributed based on their dissimilarity score. The dissimilarity score corresponds to the lowest similarity score between the sample and each Kset, in which the sample is assigned to the set with the lowest similarity score. The similarity score is computed as the weighted mean between the median value across all the protein sequences' similarity scores and the median value across all the SMILES strings' similarity scores, which are calculated (e.g., obtained from similarity matrices) between the sample and each entry in the corresponding set, i.e., between the protein sequence of the sample and all the protein sequences in the corresponding set, and between the SMILES string of the sample and all the SMILES strings in the corresponding set. In order to guarantee that each set is equally sized, only sets that had not previously been assigned a sample are considered at each step (until it is reset), thus, the dissimilarity score corresponds to the lowest similarity convex combination across all K - m sets, where m = 1, ..., K - 1 is associated with the number of sets that had previously been assigned a sample. Following the pairs with a  $pK_d$  value greater than 5, this process is repeated for the remaining  $N_{II}$ samples, which correspond to the DTI pairs with a  $pK_d$  value equal to 5 (weak interactions).

This approach leads to equally sized representative sets, prioritizing the relevant interactions. Furthermore, considering that this method splits the data according to the lowest similarity score (improved representability), it is possible to extract an independent testing set to evaluate the model's generalization capacity. The Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold is illustrated in Figure 6.3.

## 6.2.2 Explainable Binding Affinity Prediction

#### 6.2.2.1 Binding Sites

The interaction between compounds and proteins results from the recognition and complementarity of certain active and functional groups (binding sites). On that



Figure 6.3: Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold, where DTI pairs are distributed based on the  $pK_d$  value, protein sequence similarity, and SMILES string similarity. The DTI pairs with a  $pK_d > 5$  are initially assigned to the K set with the lowest similarity score followed by the DTI pairs with a  $pK_d = 5$ . The similarity score corresponds to the weighted mean between the median value across all the protein sequences' similarity scores and the median value across all the SMILES strings' similarity scores, which are computed between the sample and each entry in the corresponding set.

account, the protein amino acid sequence, specifically the binding regions within the protein, and the compound's chemical structure are determinants for the binding. Considering the range of different regions across the whole structure of proteins and compounds, respectively, the relevance given to certain spots might introduce bias in the predictions, compromising the validity of the inferring process of the model. Thus, apart from providing visual explanations to the predictions inferred by the proposed model, it is determinant to evaluate the relevance and significance given to the regions identified as important for the prediction, i.e., the model's reliability in identifying binding spots as regions of interest.

In order to conduct this evaluation, it was necessary to identify the binding regions of the interaction pairs in the dataset, although the number of DTIs with the exact binding regions known or available represents only a small subset of the whole DTI universe. Nevertheless, the sc-PDB database [345], which is an annotated database of druggable binding sites, contains some DTI pairs with interactions sites known and, thus, it was explored to collect DTIs with binding sites annotated. The DTI pairs from this database were initially pre-processed, where only entries belonging to the taxonomic identifier 9606 (Homo sapiens) were selected, considering that the proposed model was trained using DTI pairs associated with the human catalytic protein kinome. The remaining samples were then processed according to the protein and SMILES string length thresholds, where any entry with a sequential size outside the thresholds defined in Section 6.2.1.1 was removed, respectively. Moreover, the real-valued interaction strength measured in K<sub>d</sub> is not known for the majority of the DTI pairs in this database, thus, their binding affinity had to be initially predicted by the proposed model, where only pairs with a predicted  $pK_d$  greater than 5 were considered. The final DTI pairs were then divided into two groups, specifically those that are also present in the Davis dataset (Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs) and the ones that are exclusively from the sc-PDB database. Table 6.2 summarizes the number of DTIs, the average number of binding sites for each DTI, and the number of unique proteins and compounds for the two datasets.

 Table 6.2: Statistics of collected binding sites datasets from the sc-PDB database
 [345].

	DTI	Binding Sites	Proteins	Compounds
$\boxed{\text{Davis} \cap \text{sc-PDB}}$	32	16	27	8
sc-PDB	266	12	64	249

Binding Sites corresponds to the average number of binding sites annotated for each DTI.

### 6.2.2.2 Protein Evolutionary Conserved Motifs

Many proteins are functionally and evolutionarily related, where certain regions (motifs/profiles), usually associated with important protein functions/activities, e.g., binding, folding, or secondary interactions, are conserved. Thus, apart from understanding if the CNNs are identifying and assigning importance to the binding sites, it is also relevant to explore if there is any association between the input regions selected by the model that are not in the vicinity of the binding regions and the motifs that are usually conserved.

These profiles can be obtained using PSI-BLAST [346], which iteratively searches for regions of similarity between the protein query sequence and a target protein database. This method scores the matches using PSSMs instead of pre-defined scoring matrices, where final high-scoring sequences (filtered using an expectation threshold) found at each iteration step are multiple aligned to produce a new PSSM to be used in the next iteration. The resulting PSSM provides evolutionary information for the protein query sequence, where each position (a, l),  $a = \{1, 2, ..., 20\}$  and  $l = \{1, 2, ..., L\}$  corresponding to the number of possible amino acids and the protein sequence length, respectively, is the probability of the pattern l in the protein sequence diverge to another amino acid a. On that account, the amino acids that have a high score (probability) of not diverging are considered to be evolutionarily conserved and thus associated with important activities of the protein.

In order to obtain the PSSMs for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs, a standalone version of PSI-BLAST [346] from blast+ 2.11.0 [347] was explored. The database selected was the non-redundant (nr), the number of iterations was fixed at 3, the E-value chosen was 0.001, and the search was restricted to the taxonomic group 9606. Considering that the PSSM scores range from negative values up to a maximum of 10 (highest probability), different thresholds were considered to select the conserved motifs, specifically from 5 to 10. Table 6.3 summarizes the average number of conserved motifs for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs across different thresholds.

	PSSM Motifs Threshold					
	$\ge 5$	$\geq 6$	$\geq 7$	$\geq 8$	$\ge 9$	$\geq 10$
$\boxed{\text{Davis}  \cap  \text{sc-PDB}}$	276	162	88	45	19	11
sc-PDB	191	121	69	36	15	8

**Table 6.3:** Average number of conserved motifs across different thresholds for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs.

#### 6.2.2.3 Gradient-Weighted Regression Activation Mapping

Gradient-Weighted Class Activation Mapping (Grad-CAM) [334] is a gradient-based method that provides visual explanations for the decisions associated with CNNbased architectures, producing coarse localization maps that highlight the important
regions for prediction. This method is a generalization of the Class Activation Mapping (CAM) [348] and it uses the gradient information flowing into the last convolutional layer to assign importance to each neuron for a particular decision of interest. The class discriminative localization maps are obtained by performing a linear (weighted) combination of the forward feature maps of the convolutional layer with the neuron importance weights, which is followed by a Rectified Linear Unit (ReLU) in order to obtain the features that have a positive influence on the class of interest.

$$L^{c}_{Grad-CAM} \in R^{uxv} = ReLU(\sum_{k} \alpha^{c}_{k} A^{k})$$
(6.2)

, where  $L^{c}_{Grad-CAM} \in R^{uxv}$  is the class discriminative localization map of width uand height v for the class of interest c, k is the number of feature maps,  $A^{k}$  is the kth feature map activations, and  $\alpha_{k}^{c}$  is the neuron importance weights connecting the kth feature map activations with the cth class.

In order to obtain the neuron importance weights  $\alpha_k^c$ , which capture the importance of the feature map k for the target class c, the gradients of the score for the class of interest  $(y_c)$  concerning the feature map activations  $A^k$  of the convolutional layer are computed through backpropagation and global average pooled over the width and height dimensions of the feature map.

$$\alpha_k^c = \frac{1}{Z} \sum_i \sum_j \frac{\partial y^c}{\partial A_{ij}^k} \tag{6.3}$$

, where  $\frac{1}{Z} \sum_{i} \sum_{j}$  corresponds to the global average pooling (Z is the number of points/pixels in the feature map),  $\frac{\partial y^{c}}{\partial A_{ij}^{k}}$  to the gradient of the score of class c with the respect to the feature map activations  $A^{k}$ , and i and j to the width and height dimensions, respectively, of the feature map.

The DL framework employed in this study focuses on a regression task instead of a classification problem. Thus, in the context of the problem, it was important to identify the discriminative regions toward the regression outcome, specifically the sequential and structural regions in the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, that were considered to be important for the prediction of binding affinity. On that account, an adaptation of the Grad-CAM approach called Gradient Weighted Regression Activation Mapping (Grad-RAM) was proposed, which computes the gradients of the regression outcome with respect to the feature map activations. Similar to the Grad-CAM method, these gradients are global average pooled, leading to neuron importance weights that capture the importance of the feature map activations for the interaction strength. The resulting regression discriminative localization maps are capable of explaining the output layer decisions by identifying the relevant sequential and structural regions for prediction.

$$L_{Grad-RAM} = ReLU(\sum_{k} (\frac{1}{Z} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A_{ij}^{k}}) A^{k})$$
(6.4)

, where  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  is the regression discriminative localization map for the predicted value  $\hat{y}$ ,  $\frac{1}{Z} \sum_{i} \sum_{j} \sum_{j}$  corresponds to the global average pooling,  $\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A_{ij}^k}$  to the gradient of the regression outcome  $\hat{y}$  with respect to the feature map activations  $A^k$  of the convolutional layer, and i and j to the width and height dimensions, respectively, of the feature map.

**Global Max Pooling.** In image or object localization/detection tasks, global average pooling encourages the network to identify the complete extent of the object, considering that the average of a feature map takes into account both discriminative and low-activation regions. However, in the context of the problem, the interaction is determined by structural and sequential regions scattered in a 1D dimension. Hence, global max pooling was of special interest since the goal was to identify single discriminative spots.

$$L_{Grad-RAM} = ReLU(\sum_{k} max(\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^{k}})A^{k})$$
(6.5)

, where  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  is the regression discriminative localization map for the predicted value  $\hat{y}$ , max corresponds to the global max pooling,  $\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^k}$  to the gradient of the regression outcome  $\hat{y}$  with respect to the feature map activations  $A^k$  of the convolutional layer.

**Guided (Positive) Gradients.** In the work of Selvaraju et al. (2020) [334], the authors proposed an adaptation of their Grad-CAM method by combining their visualizations with the Guided backpropagation approach proposed by Springenberg et al. (2015) [349], in which negative gradients are suppressed when backpropagating through ReLU layers. Considering that visualizing the sequential and structural regions that have the highest positive influence on the prediction of binding affinity was of special interest, a variation of Grad-RAM was also explored by masking all the gradient positions associated with negatives values or where the activations of the feature maps were not greater than zero.

$$\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^k} = (A^k > 0) \cdot \left(\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^k} > 0\right) \cdot \frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^k} \tag{6.6}$$

, where  $\frac{\partial \hat{y}}{\partial A^k}$  is the gradient of the regression outcome  $\hat{y}$  with respect to the feature map activations  $A^k$  of the convolutional layer.

#### 6.3 Results and Discussion

#### 6.3.1 Prediction efficiency of the deep representations

The accurate and reliable prediction of a real-valued interaction strength is critical in the path of new findings regarding DTIs. In this study, an end-to-end DL architecture was proposed, in which CNNs were leveraged due to their capacity to automatically identify and extract deep representations from relevant and important sequential and structural regions associated with DTIs. In order to validate the prediction efficiency of the proposed architecture (CNN-FCNN), the performance was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art baselines. Additionally, the efficiency of the features extracted from the CNNs was further validated by evaluating and comparing the performance of using those deep representations as input for traditional ML models (see Section B.2.1 in Appendix B for more details regarding the experimental setup conducted in this study). Table 6.4 reports the binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set in terms of five different metrics: MSE, RMSE, CI,  $r^2$ , and Spearman (See Table B.4 in Section B.3.1 of Appendix B for the binding affinity predictions results using the original split methodology of the state-of-the-art research works).

The results demonstrate that the CNN-FCNN model achieved the highest performance in terms of MSE (0.177), RMSE (0.421), CI (0.915), Spearman (0.725), and  $r^2(0.789)$  compared to state-of-the-art baselines. Hence, it exceeds the other models in its capacity to correctly predict the binding affinity value (lower MSE and RMSE) and distinguish the binding strength rank order across DTI pairs (higher CI).

Regarding the efficiency of the deep representations, the results validate the effectiveness of CNNs in their capacity to extract relevant deep representations from sequential and structural data, especially when considering the performance achieved in terms of CI, which is significantly high across all models and superior to the state-of-the-art baselines (except the KRR model). Albeit the accurate prediction of the interaction strength value, assessed in terms of MSE and RMSE, is important in the context of the problem, the ability to correctly distinguish the binding

Method	Protein	Compound	MSE	BMSE	↑ CI	$\uparrow r^2$	↑ Spearman	
	Rep.	Rep.	* 1101	* 101151		1,		
<b>Baseline Methods</b>								
KronRLS [265]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.443	0.665	0.847	0.473	0.624	
GraphDTA-GCN [271]	1D	Graph	0.315	0.561	0.879	0.625	0.676	
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D	Graph	0.307	0.554	0.875	0.634	0.670	
SimBoost [267]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.277	0.526	0.891	0.670	0.694	
Sim-CNN-DTA [273]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.266	0.516	0.884	0.683	0.674	
GraphDTA-GIN [271]	1D	Graph	0.255	0.505	0.889	0.696	0.690	
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D	Graph	0.254	0.504	0.885	0.697	0.683	
DeepDTA [268]	1D	1D	0.222	0.472	0.888	0.735	0.678	
DeepCDA [272]	1D	1D	0.202	0.449	0.882	0.760	0.668	
Proposed Method								
CNN-FCNN	1D	1D	0.177	0.421	0.915	0.789	0.725	
Deep Representations Eval.								
SVR	CNN Deep Repres	sentations	0.203	0.450	0.907	0.759	0.714	
GBR	CNN Deep Representations		0.271	0.520	0.894	0.677	0.699	
RFR	CNN Deep Repres	sentations	0.283	0.532	0.895	0.663	0.703	
KRR	CNN Deep Repres	sentations	0.453	0.673	0.848	0.461	0.630	

Table 6.4:	Binding	affinity	prediction	$\operatorname{results}$	over	the	Davis	testing	$\operatorname{set.}$
------------	---------	----------	------------	--------------------------	------	-----	-------	---------	-----------------------

Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

 $RFR-Random\ Forest\ Regressor,\ SVR-Support\ Vector\ Regressor,\ GBR-Gradient\ Boosting\ Regressor,\ KRR-Kernel\ Ridge\ Regression$ 

strength rank order between two different DTI pairs is of special interest, since it allows to differentiate primary from secondary or not so relevant interactions. On that account, the deep representations extracted from the CNNs are efficient and discriminating in their capacity to describe DTIs and distinguish interactions based on their binding affinity values.

Additionally, the performance of the SVR model in terms of MSE (0.203), RMSE (0.450), CI (0.907), Spearman (0.714) and  $r^2$  (0.759) is considerably high and overall superior to all state-of-the-art baselines, despite it being a traditional ML approach. These findings demonstrate that the input data's quality and discriminatory power greatly influence the performance, validating once more the efficiency of the deep representations extracted from the CNNs in the prediction process.

Overall, the use of an end-to-end DL architecture to predict binding affinity demonstrates not only the ability of DL to automatically identify and extract discriminating features from drug and protein data collection, but also the capacity to learn complex and hidden patterns related to DTIs for the prediction of binding affinity.

Figure 6.4 illustrates the predictions from the proposed model against the actual (true) binding affinity values for the Davis independent testing set, where it is possible to observe a significant density around the *predicted* = *true value* reference line (perfect model).



Figure 6.4: CNN-FCNN model predictions against the true values for the Davis kinase binding affinity testing set, where the diagonal line is the reference line (*predicted* = true value).

### 6.3.2 Reliability of the CNNs in the identification of important regions for binding

Despite the prediction efficiency achieved, it is not possible to directly extract explanations for the decision-making process solely based on the deep representations, considering that they are not interpretable by humans. In this study, Grad-RAM was proposed to obtain regression discriminative localization maps, which provide information related to the regions of the input that had a positive influence on the prediction. In order to evaluate the reliability of the CNNs in the identification of important regions for binding, the correlation between the input regions that had a positive influence on the prediction and the window-based pockets related to binding sites and motifs was explored. Table 6.5 and 6.6 report the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching (see Section B.2.2.1 in Appendix B for more details) results for the binding sites of the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs, respectively, across different window lengths and for the different formulations of the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$ .

Regarding the differences in the formulation of  $L_{Grad-RAM}$ , specifically between employing a global max pooling (GMP) instead of a global average pooling (GAP), and between using guided gradients (G) instead of non-guided gradients (NG), the

**Table 6.5:** Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB Binding Sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching (Equation B.4) results across different window lengths and for the different formulations of the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$ . Lower and higher percentage values are associated with lower and higher numbers of window-based binding pockets, in which information is extracted from at least one position, across all the DTI pairs.

Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	20.74	20.74	20.74	19.57
1	46.32	46.32	46.32	42.83
<b>2</b>	53.29	53.29	53.29	50.39
3	56.98	56.98	56.98	54.07
4	60.66	60.66	60.66	57.95
5	61.24	61.24	61.24	58.72

GMP: Global Max Pooling, GAP - Global AVG Pooling, G - Guided Gradients, NG - Non Guided Gradients

**Table 6.6:** sc-PDB Binding Sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching (Equation B.4) results across different window lengths and for the different formulations of the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$ . Lower and higher percentage values are associated with lower and higher numbers of window-based binding pockets, in which information is extracted from at least one position, across all the DTI pairs.

Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	16.51	16.51	16.51	15.08
1	39.14	39.14	39.14	36.93
2	49.37	49.37	49.37	46.89
3	56.92	56.92	56.92	53.99
4	63.33	63.33	63.33	60.53
5	66.85	66.85	66.85	64.44

GMP: Global Max Pooling, GAP - Global AVG Pooling, G - Guided Gradients, NG - Non Guided Gradients

results demonstrate that there was no significant difference, except for GAP-NG, which generated worse localization maps. Considering that regions with the highest positive influence are of special interest in the context of the problem, GMP-G was determined to be the most consistent combination and, thus, used for all evaluations and comparisons.

The Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results demonstrate that the CNNs are identifying and extracting features from the window-based binding pockets without any *a priori* information, considering that there is relevant information being detected at every window length. Furthermore, the highest  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching increase occurs between a window length 0 and 1, and between a window length 1 and 2 (20.74 - 46.32 - 53.29% and 16.51 - 39.14 - 49.37% for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs, respectively), showing that the CNNs are extracting information essentially within the closer regions to the exact binding site location, in which with a window length of 2, the DTI pairs have in average around 50% or more of their window-based binding sites identified. Nevertheless, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values in the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs are essentially higher for the lower window lengths when compared to the sc-PDB pairs, which is in agreement with the fact that sc-PDB pairs are not associated only with kinases (representability).

Regarding the motifs, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching was evaluated across different PSSM thresholds, window lengths, and data collections, where subsets of these datasets, specifically related to the filtering process of the motifs inside the entire binding region, were also considered. Figure 6.5 illustrates the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching in terms of a heatmap for the PSSM motifs across different thresholds and window lengths for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB, Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB with the motifs inside the binding region filtered out, sc-PDB, and sc-PDB with the motifs inside the binding region filtered out pairs, respectively (see Tables B.5, B.6, B.7, and B.8 in Section B.3.2.1 of Appendix B for more details regarding the results).

The motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results demonstrate that the CNNs are identifying and extracting features from window-based motifs across different thresholds and window lengths. Similar to the binding sites, the highest  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching increase occurs between a window length 0 and 1, and between a window length 1 and 2 (e.g., 11.28 - 20.26 - 26.52% for the PSSM threshold  $\geq$  5, and 13.3 - 28.25 - 47.65% for the PSSM threshold  $\geq$  10 for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs). The sc-PDB pairs (Figures 6.5c and 6.5d) present higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values, demonstrating that the CNNs are especially focusing on the conserved motifs positions, which reflects the absence of the protein domain similarity. Furthermore, higher PSSM thresholds ( $\geq$  8) are associated with higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values across the different window lengths, suggesting that the CNNs are focusing on the highly conserved motifs, which are usually associated with important protein functions. Nevertheless, the filtering process of the motifs inside the entire binding region (Figures 6.5b and 6.5d) resulted in overall lower  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values, showing that the CNNs are identifying and extracting features simultaneously from binding sites and motifs.

Figure 6.6 illustrates the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  maps for some of the protein sequences associated with the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB DTI pairs, in which the binding sites are annotated, i.e., known and available.



**Figure 6.5:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results (Equation B.4) across different window lengths and PSSM thresholds, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values, respectively. a) Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs; b) Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs (filtered\*); c) sc-PDB pairs; d) sc-PDB pairs (filtered\*). \*Motifs inside the binding region filtered out.

#### 6.3.2.1 3D Interaction Space Analysis (Docking)

In order to further validate the reliability of the CNNs in the identification of important regions for binding, and the previous Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results, it was critical to explore the 3D interaction for DTI pairs without any binding information available, i.e., where the interacting protein residues are not annotated or available (contrarily to the pairs represented in Figure 6.6 and the ones used for the Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results). On that account, two DTI pairs from the Davis kinase binding affinity testing set, specifically ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 and DDR1 - Foretinib, were selected and their 3D interaction space was explored using docking approaches, wherein the resulting 3D complexes were thoroughly assessed in order to make a fair comparison with the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits. Figures 6.7 and 6.8 depict the 3D receptor-ligand com-



**Figure 6.6:**  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  maps for some of the protein sequences of the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs and sc-PDB pairs, where the binding sites are represented by the red and blue circles, respectively. The height of the vertical lines corresponds to the importance (weight) of the feature extracted from the corresponding position (amino acid).\*NP: non-phosphorylated

plex, in which the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å) and the information retrieved from the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  are annotated, and the 2D interaction diagram, where the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions are annotated, for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated receptor and DDR1 receptor, respectively.

Consistent with the previous findings related to the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results, Figures 6.7a and 6.8a show that the CNNs are not aimlessly identifying regions to extract features from when predicting binding affinity, especially considering that there are  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits matched with the potential binding sites (also represented in Figures 6.7b and 6.8b) and other hits near the neighborhood of these interaction spots. Regarding the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits close to the main binding pocket and also those not in the vicinity of the binding pocket, their spacial positions suggest they bear relation to conserved regions or other potential interaction pockets/subpockets, e.g., some of these hits are near  $\alpha$ -helices, which are usually important for the structure and function of the protein, and for certain interactions given their polarity. In particular, for the case of the DDR1 kinase, some of these  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits were found to be matched or nearly matched with certain experimental validated critical interacting residues.



Figure 6.7: SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated. a) Annotated 3D complex obtained from docking, where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å), the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, and the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions are represented by the green, blue and red colors, respectively. b) 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits are shown delimited by red circles.

See Section B.3.2.2 in Appendix B for more details regarding the docking process and analysis of the resulting 3D complexes.



**Figure 6.8:** Foretinib in complex with DDR1. a) Annotated 3D complex obtained from docking, where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å), the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, and the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions are represented by the green, blue and red colors, respectively. b) 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits are shown delimited by red circles.

#### 6.3.3 Robustness of the deep representations

Apart from validating the reliability of the CNNs in the identification of important regions for binding, it is critical to understand the robustness (significance) of the deep representations. On that account, the feature relevance correlation between the positive-valued features in the input domain and the ones extracted from the window-based binding sites and motifs was also evaluated and explored. Figure 6.9 illustrates the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance (see Section B.2.2.2 in Appendix B for more details) in terms of a density map for the binding sites across the different feature relevance thresholds and window length values for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB and sc-PDB pairs (see Tables B.10 and B.11 in Section B.3.3.1 of Appendix B for more details regarding the results).



**Figure 6.9:** Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance (Equation B.5) results across different feature relevance thresholds and window lengths, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance values, respectively. a) Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs; b) sc-PDB pairs

The results demonstrate that at every feature importance threshold and window length value, the Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance values are superior to the corresponding threshold, i.e., the positive-valued features extracted from the window-based binding pockets are in the range of those with the highest influence. In particular, Figure 6.9a shows that at every feature significance threshold, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance value is roughly 10% higher than the corresponding threshold. Regarding the window length, there is no significant difference across the different thresholds, corroborating the Binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results, where CNNs were shown to extract information within the closer regions to the binding sites. Overall, CNNs are not aimlessly identifying and extracting features from each window-based binding pocket, but essentially assigning significance to these regions when predicting binding affinity.

Regarding the motifs, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance was evaluated across different PSSM thresholds, feature significance thresholds, window lengths, and data collections, including the subsets related to the filtering process of the motifs inside the entire binding region. However, since the window length did not represent any significant difference in the results, the mean value across the different window lengths was considered for visualization. Figure 6.10 illustrates the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance in terms of a heatmap for the motifs across different PSSM thresholds and feature significance thresholds for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB, Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB with the motifs inside the binding region filtered out, sc-PDB, and sc-PDB with the motifs inside the binding region filtered out pairs, respectively (see Tables B.12, B.13, B.14, and B.15 in Section B.3.3.2 of Appendix B for more details regarding the results).

The motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance results demonstrate that the CNNs are also assigning significance to the conserved motifs, although inferior to the one given to the window-based binding pockets, considering that the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance is essentially lower in filtered pairs and even below the corresponding feature significance threshold values in some cases (illustrated when comparing Figures 6.10a and 6.10b, and Figures 6.10c and 6.10d). These results are in agreement with the fact that the binding sites and the overall binding region have a great impact on the interaction process, which is expressed in terms of the binding affinity (regression outcome). Additionally, across the different feature importance thresholds, higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance values are essentially associated with higher PSSM thresholds ( $\geq 8$ ), except for Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB unfiltered (Figure 6.10a) and Davis  $\cap$ sc-PDB filtered (Figure 6.10b), in which at the feature relevance threshold 60 % and 70 % it was not verified. Nonetheless, the results are consistent with the previous findings, where the conserved motifs associated with the higher PSSM thresholds were found to be associated with the highest  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values.

#### 6.4 Conclusions

#### 6.4.1 Final Remarks

This study explored an end-to-end DL architecture to predict DTA measured in  $pK_d$ , where CNNs were exploited to automatically identify and extract discriminating deep representations from protein sequences and SMILES strings. The deep representations were found to be efficient and discriminating in their capacity to describe DTIs and distinguish interactions based on their binding affinity values (interaction strength rank order). Furthermore, the CNN-FCNN model yielded better results compared to state-of-the-art baselines, demonstrating its viability for practical use.



**Figure 6.10:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance (Equation B.2.2.2) results<sup>\*</sup> across different PSSM thresholds and feature significance thresholds, where weaker and deeper red colors are associated with lower and higher  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching values, respectively. a) Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs; b) Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs (filtered<sup>\*\*</sup>); c) sc-PDB pairs; d) sc-PDB pairs (filtered<sup>\*\*</sup>). \* Each value corresponds to the mean value across the different window lengths. \*\*Motifs inside the binding region filtered out.

Additionally, this work provided explainability to the predictions by connecting the deep representations extracted from the CNNs to the input domain, exploring the reliability of CNNs in the identification of important sequential regions, specifically binding sites and evolutionarily conserved motifs, when predicting binding affinity, and evaluating the significance of the deep representations extracted from relevant sequential spots. On that account, the results demonstrated that the CNNs are identifying and extracting features simultaneously from window-based binding sites and motifs without any *a priori* information. Moreover, CNNs were found to extract information essentially within the closer regions to the exact binding or motif location, respectively, validating the effectiveness of these architectures in drug discovery. Additionally, the features extracted from window-based relevant regions for

binding were shown to be in the range of those with the highest positive influence, particularly in the case of the interaction sites.

Overall, the major contribution of this study relies on an efficient end-to-end DL architecture to predict binding affinity beyond the confined space of proteins and ligands with determined 3D structures, in which explanations for the predictions are presented and explored.

#### 6.4.2 Study Limitations and Future Work

In spite of the discriminating power and robustness of the deep representations extracted from the protein sequences and SMILES strings for the prediction of binding affinity, the CNNs do not model the intra-associations amongst the units of proteins or compounds, i.e., the inter-dependency of the proteomics and chemical spaces. Thus, the predictions are based solely on local and independent scattered motifs, in which the global context is not taken into consideration during the feature-extracting process. Furthermore, the proposed CNN-FCNN model only considers the magnitude of certain local regions of each binding component for the prediction of binding affinity, neglecting the inter-associations that revolve around the binding substructures (context of interaction), and the contributions of the interacting substructures involved. On that account, the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces is not captured in the learning process of the proposed model, compromising the robustness of the predictions and the validity of the DTI representation space for the estimation of binding affinity.

Post-hoc explainability approaches have demonstrated their efficiency and potency as tools for generating potential explanations concerning the predictions and inference processes of black box models, specifically complex DL architectures. In the context of this study, the implemented and proposed Grad-RAM method played a crucial role in identifying and visualizing the input regions that positively influenced the prediction of binding affinity. In particular, interacting residues were found to be associated with the features extracted from the CNNs. However, conducting external evaluations may result in explanations that stem from artifacts learned by the model rather than actual knowledge derived from the data. Consequently, the effectiveness and usefulness of these explanations are limited, particularly given the inherent bias associated with the traceback process of the Grad-RAM approach. On that account, it is critical to consider interpretability and explainability during the model construction in order to improve the performance and reliability of the predictions. Even though it was shown that CNNs are identifying and extracting features from window-based binding sites, especially within closer regions to the exact binding locations, without any *a priori* information, the reliability of the predictions is limited considering that information about binding sites/pockets is not actively integrated into the learning process. Therefore, given the range of different regions across the whole structure of the proteins and compounds, the relevance given to certain spots introduces bias in the predictions, resulting in the estimation of potential DTIs based on certain redundant sites. Moreover, in order to realistically model DTIs and understand the interaction process, it is crucial to learn the inter-associations that revolve around the binding substructures based on information related to binding sites.

DL-based architectures perform significantly better when the dataset becomes larger. Thus, collecting and building a larger and valid DTI dataset measured in terms of the  $K_d$  constant, which is one of the few unbiased binding affinity/activity metrics, may lead to superior prediction performance. However, the choice of using the Davis dataset (exclusively) to establish the grounds/basis of the proposed approach relied upon the fact that it is the benchmark dataset that contains only DTIs measured in terms of the dissociation constant and, thus, representing a source of more direct/reliable binding affinity metric, offering less noise/error, and better serving the purpose of centering the focus of the work on the proposed methodology. Furthermore, the number of DTIs with binding affinity measured in  $K_d$  is reduced compared to other bioactivities, hence, exploring bioactivity-related domain adaptation methods might also lead to interesting findings.

Additionally, considering the polypharmacological nature associated with most active small compounds, in which these drugs interfere with different disease pathways, it is relevant to extend this work to validate the identification of important components/substructures within the compound space, especially to reduce potential offtarget effects and toxicity. Moreover, identifying relevant substructures in hit-to-lead compounds greatly reduces the search space around structural congeners, homologs, or analogs during the lead optimization step of the drug discovery pipelines.

# Chapter 7

# Intrinsic Explainability and Drug– Target Multi-Domain Inter-Dependency

his chapter concerns the use of multiple attention mechanisms to model the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces for the prediction of binding affinity. This study also focuses on incorporating explainability during model construction in order to provide different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding.

The content of this chapter is based on a journal article published in *Computers* in *Biology and Medicine* [350]. Section 7.1 presents the study context. Section 7.2 details the materials and methods used in this study. Section 7.3 reports the results and discusses the obtained findings. Section 7.4 provides some final reflections and the limitations of this study.

## 7.1 Study Context

The therapeutic effects of active compounds are determined through the observation of DTIs, where the role enforced by the drug (pharmacological activity) regulates the target's biological process. Therefore, identifying new molecules with relevant binding activity against targets with biological interest is crucial in the early drug discovery stages, considering that the ability of a drug to bind plays an important role in the execution of its intrinsic activity [1, 103].

In recent years, *in silico* DTI prediction has attracted increasing attention and holds broad interest to address several challenges, including target fishing, drug repositioning, and polypharmacology studies. These computational methods through the scanning of large amounts of pharmacogenomic data in shorter periods of time and leveraging of the knowledge available to characterize the proteins and/or compounds have been determinant in the discovery of new drugs, new findings for existing drugs, and improving the overall understanding of the biological, chemical and pharmacological processes involved in the DTIs [4]. In spite of the encouraging results and performances obtained by numerous computational studies proposed to solve the DTI prediction challenge, most of these methodologies rely either on shallow binary associations or biased bioactivities to characterize the interaction and conduct the experiments [14].

The interaction between compounds and proteins results from the recognition and complementarity of certain groups (binding regions) and it is supported by the joint action of other individual substructures scattered across the protein and compound [24, 108]. However, most DTI prediction models simplify the interaction mechanism and do not take simultaneously into consideration the magnitude of certain local regions of each binding component and the interacting substructures involved [36]. Thus, the multi-domain inter-dependency is usually not captured or learned in these approaches, limiting the inferring process and the validity of the results.

Given the advances in computational power, most recent studies dealing with DTI or DTA prediction explore DL strategies, achieving better results than traditional ML solutions [27]. Despite the increased modular ability of these architectures to learn sequential and/or structural motifs and extract robust representations, the final predictions are mostly not interpretable by humans, which affects the understanding of the underlying aspects around the inner decisions. Hence, it is crucial to consider explainability during model construction [28, 31].

This study explores a novel end-to-end Transformer-based architecture for predicting DTA measured in terms of the dissociation constant ( $K_d$ ), where 1D sequential and structural data, specifically protein sequences and SMILES strings, are used to represent the targets and compounds, respectively. The proposed architecture employs three Transformer-Encoder blocks, particularly a protein encoder, a compound encoder, and a protein-compound encoder, and concatenates the resulting aggregate representations to feed into an FCNN. Moreover, this architecture, Drug– Target Interaction TRansformer (DTITR), leverages the use of self-attention layers to learn the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and cross-attention layers to exchange information and make the interaction between the proteomic and chemical domains (pharmacological space). Additionally, the proposed model's emphasis is not only on the predictive performance, but also on the self-capability of the architecture to provide different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks, which give information about the overall importance of the input components and their associations to the model.

# 7.2 Material and Methods

#### 7.2.1 Binding Affinity Dataset

The proposed model was evaluated using the Davis et al. (2011) [276] research study dataset, which contains a total of 31 824 interactions between 72 kinase inhibitors (compounds) and 442 kinases (proteins). This dataset covers a large percentage of the human catalytic protein kinome, and the binding strength of the DTI pairs is measured in terms of a quantitative dissociation constant (K<sub>d</sub>), which expresses a direct measurement (unbiased) of the equilibrium between the receptor-ligand complex and dissociation components, in which lower values are associated with strong interactions.

The protein sequences of the Davis dataset were extracted from the UniProt [57] database based on the corresponding accession numbers (identifiers). In order to avoid increased noise due to excessive padding or loss of relevant sequential information potentially related to binding regions, only proteins with a length between 264 and 1400 residues were selected, corresponding to 95.7% of the information present in the dataset.

Davis compound SMILES strings were collected in their canonical notation from the PubChem [343] database based on their compound identifiers (CIDs). Even though the canonical notation is unique, where the atoms are consistently numbered, there are some differences in the representation across different data sources. On that account, the canonical transformation from the RDKit [344] package was applied in order to guarantee a consistent notation to represent the chemical structure of the compounds and increase the overall reproducibility. Similar to the protein sequences, only SMILES strings with a length between 38 and 72 chemical characters were selected, corresponding to 95.8% of the information present in the dataset.

The Davis binding strength distribution ranges from low values (strong interactions) to high values (weak interactions), in which the majority of the DTI pairs are characterized by a binding affinity equal to 10 000 nM. Hence, in order to reduce the effects of the high variance of this distribution on the learning loss, a normalization

strategy (Equation 7.1) was employed to the Kd values, transforming them into the logarithmic space ( $pK_d$ ). The distribution of the  $pK_d$  values ranges from 5 (10 000 nM) to approximately 11.

$$pK_d = -\log_{10}(\frac{K_d}{10^9}) \tag{7.1}$$

Table 7.1 summarizes the statistics of the original and pre-processed Davis Dataset.

**Table 7.1:** Original and pre-processed Davis dataset: unique proteins, compounds,and DTIs.

Davis Kinase Dataset									
	Proteins	Compounds	DTI	pKd = 5	pKd > 5				
Original	442	72	$31 \ 824$	22  400	9424				
Pre-Processed	423	69	$29\ 187$	$20\ 479$	8708				

#### 7.2.2 Input Representation

In order to represent the structural characters of the SMILES strings, an integerbased encoding was applied, in which the different SMILES in the Davis dataset were scanned and 26 categories (unique characters) were extracted. This 26-character dictionary was used to encode each character into the corresponding integer. SMILES strings shorter than the maximum length threshold of 72 characters were padded. Figure 7.1 illustrates the integer-based encoding applied to the SMILES string associated with the Dasatinib compound.



Figure 7.1: Integer-based encoding applied to the Dasatinib SMILES string, where each character is encoded into the corresponding integer. S is the length of the SMILES string and P is the number of padding tokens (zeros).

In the case of protein sequences, it was not reasonable to apply the same encoding method of the SMILES strings given the computational complexity of the selfattention layers of  $O(n^2)$  with respect to the sequence length. On that account, the approach proposed in the research study by Huang et al. (2021) [244] was employed, which combines a Frequent Consecutive Subsequence (FCS) mining method with the Byte Pair Encoding (BPE) algorithm. The FCS method examines large amounts of unlabeled data to discover frequent substructures and create a set of recurring subsequences (subwords). On the other hand, BPE decomposes the sequence into an order of discovered frequent subsequences, where each subsequence must be exclusive and must not overlap, and the aggregation of all subsequences must recover the original sequence. The hierarchy set of frequent subsequences contains a total of 16 693 different subwords, which results in a maximum length of 556 subwords for the protein sequences present in the Davis dataset. Similar to the SMILES strings, protein sequences shorter than this maximum length were padded. Figure 7.2 depicts the FCS and BPE encoding approach applied to the AAK1 kinase.



Figure 7.2: FCS and BPE encoding applied to the AAK1 kinase amino acid sequence, where the sequence is decomposed into an order of discovered frequent subsequences followed by integer encoding. L is the length of the amino acid sequence,  $L_S$  is the length of the sequence decomposed into subsequences, and P is the number of padding tokens (zeros).

See Figure C.1 in Section C.1 of Appendix C for more details regarding the distribution of the Davis dataset based on the FCE and BPE encoding approach.

#### 7.2.3 DTITR Framework

The DTITR framework learns to predict the binding strength of DTIs, where 1D sequential and structural information, protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, are used as input. This architecture makes use of two parallel Transformer-Encoders to compute a contextual embedding of the protein sequences and SMILES strings. The outputs are then fed into a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block, which comprises cross-attention and self-attention layers, to exchange information and model the interaction space. The resulting aggregate representations, which correspond to the final hidden states of the start tokens added to the protein sequences and SMILES strings, are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN. The final layer, which is composed of a single neuron, outputs the binding affinity measured in terms of  $pK_d$ .

#### 7.2.3.1 Embedding Block

The protein sequences and SMILES strings are initially processed based on their length (Section 7.2.1) and then encoded according to the approaches mentioned in Section 7.2.2. Similar to the BERT architecture [173], special tokens of regression  $R_P$  and  $R_S$  have been added to the beginning of every protein sequence and SMILES string, respectively. An embedding layer was assigned to the protein sequences and SMILES strings, generating a learned embedding to every token with a fixed size of  $d^P_{model}$  and  $d^S_{model}$ , respectively, via a learnable dictionary matrix. Following the embedding layers, the embedding values were multiplied by  $\sqrt{d^P_{model}}$  and  $\sqrt{d^S_{model}}$ to initially rescale their value.

Considering that the Transformer-Encoder is permutation invariant, it is necessary to include additional information about the relative or absolute position of the tokens in the sequence. On that account, the same approach used in the study by Vaswani et al. (2017) [172] was applied in order to assign a positional encoding for each token of the input sequences. This method is based on sine and cosine functions of different frequencies and outputs a unique encoding for each position (see Section C.2.1 in Appendix C for more details). The final embeddings for the *i*th and *j*th input tokens of the protein sequence  $(E_i^{P_k})$  and SMILES string  $(E_j^{S_k})$ , respectively, associated with the *k*th DTI pair are given by the sum of the token embedding and the positional embedding:

$$E_{i}^{P_{k}} = E_{token_{i}}^{P_{k}} + E_{pos_{i}}^{P_{k}}$$

$$E_{j}^{S_{k}} = E_{token_{j}}^{S_{k}} + E_{pos_{j}}^{S_{k}}$$
(7.2)

, where  $E_{token_i}^{P_k} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$  and  $E_{token_j}^{S_k} \in R^{d_{model}^S}$ , and  $E_{pos_i}^{P_k} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$  and  $E_{pos_j}^{S_k} \in R^{d_{model}^S}$  are the token embeddings and the positional embeddings for the *i*th and *j*th inputs tokens of the protein sequence  $P_k$  and SMILES string  $S_k$ , respectively.

Following the sum of the two types of embedding, a dropout layer was added.

#### 7.2.3.2 Transformer-Encoder

In order to capture the proteomics and chemical context information present in the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, two Transformer-Encoders in parallel were explored. The Transformer-Encoder architecture is composed of a stack of identical blocks, where each block contains a MHSA with an PWFFN. Residual connections are applied after every block followed by LN, and dropout is applied after each MHSA layer and after each Dense layer of the PWFFN. Considering  $B^1$ the output of the first subunit and  $B^2$  the output of the second subunit, the output of the *k*th block can be expressed as:

$$B_k^1 = \mathbf{LN}(B_{k-1}^2 + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHSA}(B_{k-1}^2)))$$
  

$$B_k^2 = \mathbf{LN}(B_k^1 + \mathbf{PWFFN}(B_k^1))$$
(7.3)

, where  $B_k^1, B_k^2 \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \times d_{model}^P}$  in the case of the protein sequences ( $N_P$  is the number of protein subwords), and  $B_k^1, B_k^2 \in \mathbb{R}^{N_S \times d_{model}^S}$  in the case of the SMILES strings ( $N_S$  is the number of SMILES characters).

Overall, these two stacked Transformer-Encoders in parallel compute a contextual embedding for the protein sequences and SMILES strings, in which the self-attention mechanisms condition the weight given to input elements by learning the short and long-term context dependencies between the individual units.

#### 7.2.3.3 Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder

Apart from attending individually and learning the context dependencies between the individual units of each element of the DTI pair (Section 7.2.3.2), it is crucial for the compounds and proteins to attend mutually to each other, i.e., to exchange information, especially when considering that DTIs are primarily substructural, where the complementarity of certain regions is key for the binding process. Hence, a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block was proposed to learn the pharmacological context information associated with the interaction space. The Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder architecture is composed of a stack of two parallel identical blocks, where each block contains a Multi-Head Cross-Attention (MHCA), an MHSA, and an PWFFN. Similar to the Transformer-Encoder, residual connections are applied after every block followed by LN, and dropout is applied after each MHCA and MHSA layers and each Dense layer of the PWFFN.

The two MHCA layers are responsible for the exchange of information between the proteins and compounds, and to model the substructural space of the interaction. Instead of employing a full attention approach, i.e., the whole protein and compound attending to the whole compound and protein, respectively, which is computationally expensive and complex, and also redundant since the two attention matrices would have to satisfy the condition  $W_{P-S} = W_{S-P}^T$ , the  $R_P$  and  $R_S$  tokens are used for the exchange of context information [351]. These tokens previously learn

(Section 7.2.3.2) the overall proteomics and chemical context information amongst the individual units of the protein sequence and SMILES string, respectively, and therefore are considered an aggregate representation. On that account, these can be efficiently used as the attending agents (Query) in a Multi-Head Attention Layer, where each one of these tokens attends to the information present in the corresponding interaction component, i.e., the  $R_P$  token attends to the tokens of the SMILES string and the  $R_S$  token attends to the tokens of the protein sequence. Hence, these tokens interact and learn the context information present in the corresponding binding component, which further enriches their representation. The MHCA layers work similarly to the MHSA layer (Equation 5.10), but instead of the input attending to itself, i.e., the Query, Key, and Value being generated from the same input sequence, the Query will correspond to  $R_P$  or  $R_S$  token, and the Key and Value to the concatenation of the  $R_P$  or  $R_S$  token with the corresponding interaction component tokens. Considering  $X_P$  and  $X_S$  the representation of the protein sequence and SMILES string, respectively, the outputs for the two MHCA subunits associated with the kth Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block  $(X_P^k \text{ and } X_S^k)$  can be expressed as:

$$X_{P}^{k-1} = [R_{P}^{k-1} || T_{P}^{k-1}], X_{S}^{k-1} = [R_{S}^{k-1} || T_{S}^{k-1}]$$

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{P}} = R_{P}^{k-1}, \mathbf{Q}_{\mathbf{S}} = R_{S}^{k-1}$$

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{P}}/\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{P}} = [R_{P}^{k-1} || T_{S}^{k-1}], \mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{S}}/\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{S}} = [R_{S}^{k-1} || T_{P}^{k-1}]$$

$$R_{P}^{k} = \mathbf{LN}(R_{P}^{k-1} + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHCA}(Q_{P}, K_{P}, V_{P})))$$

$$R_{S}^{k} = \mathbf{LN}(R_{S}^{k-1} + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHCA}(Q_{S}, K_{S}, V_{S})))$$

$$X_{P}^{K} = [R_{P}^{k} || T_{P}^{k-1}], X_{S}^{K} = [R_{S}^{K} || T_{S}^{k-1}]$$
(7.4)

, where  $X_P^{k-1}$ ,  $X_P^k \in R^{N_P \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ ;  $R_P^{k-1}$ ,  $R_P^k \in R^{d_{model}^P}$ ;  $T_P^{k-1}$ ,  $T_P^k \in R^{(N_P-1) \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ ;  $X_S^{k-1}$ ,  $X_S^k \in R^{N_S \ x \ d_{model}^S}$ ;  $R_S^{k-1}$ ,  $R_S^k \in R^{d_{model}^S}$ ; and  $T_S^{k-1}$ ,  $T_S^k \in R^{(N_S-1) \ x \ d_{model}^S}$ .

Following each one of these MHCA layers, an MHSA layer is applied in order to improve the internal connections between the individual units and enhance the representation of each token based on the learnt cross-attention context information. Similar to the Transformer-Encoder, an PWFFN is added and applied to the output of each MHSA layer. Considering  $B^1$  the output of the first subunit,  $B^2$  the output of the second subunit, and  $B^3$  the output of the third subunit, the outputs of the *k*th Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block can be expressed as:

$$B_{k_{P}-1}^{1} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{Eq.}7.4} B_{k_{P}}^{1}, B_{k_{S}-1}^{1} \xrightarrow{\mathbf{Eq.}7.4} B_{k_{S}}^{1}$$

$$B_{k_{P}}^{2} = \mathbf{LN}(B_{k_{P}}^{1} + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHSA}(B_{k_{P}}^{1})))$$

$$B_{k_{S}}^{2} = \mathbf{LN}(B_{k_{S}}^{1} + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHSA}(B_{k_{S}}^{1})))$$

$$B_{k_{P}}^{3} = \mathbf{LN}(B_{k_{P}}^{2} + \mathbf{PWFFN}(B_{k_{P}}^{2}))$$

$$B_{k_{S}}^{3} = \mathbf{LN}(B_{k_{S}}^{2} + \mathbf{PWFFN}(B_{k_{S}}^{2}))$$
(7.5)

, where  $B_{k_P-1}^1, B_{k_P}^1, B_{k_P}^2, B_{k_P}^3 \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ , and  $B_{k_S-1}^1, B_{k_S}^1, B_{k_S}^2, B_{k_S}^3 \in \mathbb{R}^{N_S \ x \ d_{model}^S}$ .

#### 7.2.3.4 Fully-Connected Feed-Forward

The final hidden states of the aggregate representations, which correspond to the start  $R_P$  and  $R_S$  tokens added to the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which is essentially a Multilayer Perceptron (MLP). After each Dense layer of this block, a dropout layer was employed. Following the FCNN, a Dense layer with a single neuron is applied to predict the binding affinity of the DTI pair measured in terms of the logarithmic-transformed dissociation constant (pK<sub>d</sub>).

Figure 7.3 illustrates the proposed DTITR architecture.

#### 7.2.4 Hyperparameter Optimization Approach

The most common approach to determine the model's best architecture and set of parameters is grid search with cross-validation, in which the dataset is split across different folds under different conditions depending on the methodology used, e.g., stratified K-fold splits the dataset into different folds by taking into consideration the distribution of the classes. However, in the context of the problem, traditional cross-validation approaches are usually not satisfactory or representative, especially when considering that the Davis dataset is extremely imbalanced toward the pK<sub>d</sub> values distribution and that 1D raw sequential and structural data is used to characterize the proteins and compounds. On that account, the DTI representability of each fold is determinant in the learning process of the architecture.

The Chemogenomic Representative K-Fold method [341] was applied to split the dataset into representative folds and determine the hyperparameters. This method takes into consideration the  $pK_d$  values distribution, the protein sequences similarity, and the SMILES strings similarity during the splitting process. It initially distributes the DTI pairs with a  $pK_d$  value greater than 5 (relevant interactions) across the different K folds based on the lowest similarity score. This metric corresponds to



Figure 7.3: DTITR: End-to-End Transformer-based architecture. Two parallel Transformer-Encoders compute a contextual embedding of the protein sequences and SMILES strings, and a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder models the interaction space and learns the pharmacological context of the interaction. The resulting aggregate representations of the proteins  $(R_P)$  and compounds  $(R_S)$  are concatenated and used as input for a FCNN. The final dense layer outputs the binding affinity measured in terms of pK<sub>d</sub>

the weighted mean between the median value across all the protein sequences' similarity scores and the median value across all the SMILES strings' similarity scores, which are calculated between the sample and each entry in the corresponding set. Additionally, this method also guarantees that every set is equally sized, thus, only sets that had not previously been assigned a sample are considered at each step (until it is reset). Following the pairs with a  $pK_d$  value greater than 5, this process is repeated for the DTIs with a  $pK_d$  value equal to 5 (weak interactions).

Considering the improved representability of each fold obtained by this splitting methodology, it is also possible to extract an independent testing set in order to estimate the model's performance in the context and chemogenomic domain of the problem and evaluate the generalization capacity.

# 7.3 Results and Discussion

#### 7.3.1 Predictive Performance Evaluation

In the context of drug discovery and drug repositioning, it is crucial to accurately predict the binding strength of DTI pairs to properly identify and distinguish main interactions from those with secondary targets (off-targets). In order to validate the performance of the proposed DTITR architecture, the prediction efficiency was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art binding affinity regression models (see Section C.3 in Appendix C for more details regarding the experimental setup conducted in this study). Table 7.2 reports the binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set in terms of five different metrics: MSE, RMSE, CI,  $r^2$ , and Spearman.

The proposed DTITR architecture achieved superior performance across almost all metrics, specifically MSE (0.192), RMSE (0.438), CI (0.907), and  $r^2$  (0.771) when compared to the state-of-the-art baselines. The lower MSE and RMSE scores demonstrate the capacity of the model to correctly predict the binding strength values, and the higher CI score indicates the ability of the architecture to correctly distinguish the binding strength rank order across DTI pairs, which is not only crucial in the drug discovery context to differentiate primary from secondary or weak interactions, but also of special interest given the imbalance nature of the pK<sub>d</sub> values distribution of the Davis dataset.

Contrarily to the majority of the baseline methods, where either only individual representations of the proteins and compounds are being learnt by the model or

Table 7.2:	Binding	affinity	prediction	${\rm results}$	over	the	Davis	independent	testing
set.									

Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow {\bf CI}$	$\uparrow r^2$	$\uparrow {\bf Spearman}$
Baseline Methods							
KronRLS [265]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.443	0.665	0.847	0.473	0.624
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.311	0.558	0.883	0.630	0.681
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.286	0.535	0.881	0.660	0.688
SimBoost [267]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.277	0.526	0.891	0.670	0.694
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.269	0.518	0.874	0.680	0.670
Sim-CNN-DTA [273]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.266	0.516	0.884	0.683	0.674
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.238	0.488	0.899	0.717	0.741
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.215	0.464	0.891	0.743	0.691
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.208	0.457	0.895	0.752	0.689
Proposed Method							
DTITR	1D-Subseq	1D	0.192	0.438	0.907	0.771	0.712

Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

only the mutual interaction space is being considered during the inferring process, the DTITR architecture takes simultaneously into consideration the magnitude of certain local regions of each binding component (and their intra-associations) and the involving interaction substructures, resulting in robust representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings. On that account, the results demonstrate that the DTITR model is properly learning the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological context information of the proteins, compounds, and protein-compounds interactions, respectively, considering that the final aggregate representations are robust and discriminative for the prediction of binding affinity.

Figure 7.4 illustrates the predictions from the DTITR model against the actual (true) binding affinity values for the Davis testing set, where it is possible to observe a significant density around the *predicted* = *true value* reference line (perfect model).

#### 7.3.2 Ablation study

In order to further validate the DTITR architecture, three different alternatives for the DTITR model were explored, specifically (i) DTITR architecture without the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block, (ii) DTITR architecture without the FCNN block, and (iii) FCS and BPE encoding applied to the SMILES strings instead of the integer-based character-dictionary method. Table 7.3 reports the binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set in terms of the five different metrics for the different alternatives of the DTITR model.

To properly assess the efficacy of the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block,



Figure 7.4: DTITR predictions against the true values for the Davis testing set, where the diagonal line is the reference line ( $predicted = true \ value$ ).

**Table 7.3:** Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent testing set for the different alternatives of the DTITR model.

Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow \mathbf{CI}$	$\uparrow r^2$	↑ Spearman
DTITR - I	1D-Subseq	1D	0.232	0.481	0.906	0.724	0.712
DTITR - II	1D-Subseq	1D-Subseq	0.205	0.453	0.905	0.756	0.712
DTITR - III	1D-Subseq	1D .	0.196	0.443	0.899	0.766	0.703
DTITR	1D-Subseq	1D	0.192	0.438	0.907	0.771	0.712

I - Without FCNN Block, II - Both Subseq (FCS and BPE Encoding), III - Without Cross-Block. Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

which is responsible for the exchange of context information between proteins and compounds (pharmacological space), the model prediction efficiency with and without this module was evaluated. The DTITR architecture with the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block resulted in overall better performance in terms of the MSE (0.192), RMSE (0.438), CI (0.907),  $r^2$  (0.771) and Spearman (0.712) scores when compared to the DTITR architecture without the Cross-Block (MSE - 0.196, RMSE - 0.443, CI - 0.899,  $r^2$  - 0.766 and Spearman - 0.703). These results demonstrate that using the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block to learn the pharmacological context information associated with the interaction space improves the discriminative power of the final aggregate representation hidden states for the pre-

diction of binding affinity. Moreover, it indicates that the use of only the individual proteomics and chemical contextual information of the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, leads to worse performance when compared to combining the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts, which is in agreement with the fact that DTIs result from the recognition and complementarity of certain substructures (pharmacological space) but are supported by the joint action of other individual substructures scattered across the proteins (proteomics space) and compounds (chemical space).

Regarding the prediction efficiency of the DTITR model without the FCNN block, the performance obtained over the independent testing set is worse in terms of the MSE (0.231), RMSE (0.481), and  $r^2$  (0.724) scores when compared to the DTITR architecture with this block (MSE - 0.192, RMSE - 0.438, and  $r^2$  - 0.771). These results demonstrate that the use of the FCNN increases the learning capacity of the architecture and aids in the generalization from the concatenated aggregate representations space, which describes the DTI, to the output space.

Additionally, the differences in the prediction performance of the model by applying the same encoding approach of the protein sequences to the SMILEs strings instead of using the character-dictionary encoding method mentioned in Section 7.2.2 were also explored. The performance achieved is substantially worse (MSE - 0.205, RMSE - 0.453 and  $r^2$  - 0.756), except for the CI (0.905) and Spearman (0.712) scores, when compared to using the proposed integer-based encoding method. These results suggest that employing the FCS and BPE algorithms to represent the SMILES strings reduces the learning capacity of the DTITR model, which might be a consequence of the restrictive representation of the SMILES strings since this encoding method results in a maximum length of 15 for the SMILES strings in the Davis dataset.

Overall, the use of an end-to-end Transformer-based architecture for predicting binding affinity demonstrates the ability to use Transformer-Encoders to learn robust and discriminative aggregate representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings. Moreover, it shows the capacity of the self-attention layers to learn the context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and the cross-attention layers to exchange information and model the interaction space.

#### 7.3.3 Attention Maps

DTIs are primarily substructural, where the recognition and complementarity of certain substructures are crucial for the interaction, but the support of the joint

action of other individual substructures scattered across the protein and compound also plays a key role in the overall binding process. On that account, visualizing the overall importance of the input components and their associations to the model may potentially lead not only to understanding the model prediction but also to significant findings in the DTI domain. The DTITR architecture contains three different levels of attention: (i) self-attention over the individual units of the protein sequences and SMILES strings; (ii) cross-attention between the protein sequences and SMILES strings; and (iii) self-attention over the individual units of the protein sequences and SMILES strings after the cross-attention (interaction). The first level of attention provides information about the overall importance of the individual units (substructures) and intra-associations of protein sequences and SMILES strings prior to the interaction, i.e., the individual importance of the proteomics space and chemical space. On the other hand, the second level provides clues about which protein and compound substructures lead to the interaction, in particular, which compound substructures the protein attends to and vice versa. The third level of attention provides information about how the individual proteomics and chemical importance shifts after the interaction, i.e., how the pharmacological information affects the overall importance of the individual units and intra-associations of protein sequences and SMILES strings.

In order to visualize the attention levels, heat maps for the second level of attention were generated, specifically for the attention of the  $R_S$  token over the protein substructures (subwords). Four different DTI pairs were selected, particularly ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606, DDR1 - Foretinib, ERBB4 - Lapatinib, and BRAF - PLX-4720, where only subwords associated with interaction residues were considered for visualization. In the case of the ERBB4 - Lapatinib and BRAF - PLX-4720 DTI pairs, the binding positions were collected from the sc-PDB [345] database, which is a specialized structure database focused on ligand binding site in ligandable proteins, i.e., contains some experimental 3D interaction complexes with the binding regions known/available. On the other hand, the BL1(E255K)phosphorylated - SKI-606 and DDR1 - Foretinib DTI pairs do not have experimental 3D interaction complexes available/known, thus, the 3D interaction space was explored using docking approaches [341]. On that account, potential binding positions were selected based on a distance threshold of  $\leq 5$  Å from the resulting 3D receptor-ligand complexes, which were obtained by using guided docking (AutoDock Vina [352]) based on the highest scoring binding pocket from the DoGSiteScorer [161] platform. Figure 7.5 illustrates the attention heat maps for ABL1(E255K)phosphorylated - SKI-606, DDR1 - Foretinib, ERBB4 - Lapatinib, and BRAF - PLX-4720, where the attention weights were normalized across all the positions for each head of attention.



Figure 7.5: Attention maps for the attention of the  $R_S$  token over the protein substructures, where the interacting residues within the protein subwords are highlighted in gray. a) ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606; b) DDR1 - Foretinib; c) ERBB4 - Lapatinib; d) BRAF - PLX-4720.

These visual results show that the  $R_S$  token, which is an aggregate representation of the compound, is attending, i.e., giving weight, to substructures of the protein sequences associated with binding residues. For each one of these DTI pairs, there are binding-related substructures with a high percentage of significance (weight) in almost every head of attention, e.g., head 4 - motif NF, head 3 - motif PIR, head 3 - motif AS, and head 1 - motif IG for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606, DDR1 - Foretinib, ERBB4 - Lapatinib and BRAF - PLX-4720 interaction pairs, respectively. Moreover, in the particular case of the ABL1(E255K)phosphorylated - SKI-606 interaction pair, all heads of attention highly attend to almost every substructure. Overall, these findings demonstrate that the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block is learning the pharmacological context of the DTIs, indicating that the DTITR architecture is capable of providing reasonable evidence for understanding the model prediction and potentially leading to new knowledge about DTIs.

# 7.4 Conclusions

#### 7.4.1 Final Remarks

In this research study, an end-to-end Transformer-based architecture (DTITR) is proposed for predicting the logarithmic-transformed quantitative dissociation constant ( $pK_d$ ) of DTI pairs, where self-attention layers are exploited to learn the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the protein sequences and compound SMILES strings, respectively, and cross-attention layers to exchange information and learn the pharmacological context associated with the interaction space. The architecture makes use of two parallel Transformer-Encoders to compute a contextual embedding of the protein sequences and SMILES strings, and a Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block to model the interaction, where the resulting aggregate representations are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN. The experiments were performed on the Davis kinase binding affinity dataset, and the performance of the proposed model was compared with different state-of-the-art binding affinity regression baselines.

The proposed model yielded better results than state-of-the-art baselines. It obtained lower MSE and RMSE values and a higher CI score, demonstrating the model's ability to correctly predict the value of the binding strength and correctly distinguish the rank order of binding strength between the DTI pairs, respectively. In addition, the DTITR architecture is shown to efficiently learn the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological context of the proteins, compounds, and proteincompound interactions, respectively, given the robustness and discriminative power of the resulting aggregate representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings.

Additionally, various formulations of the DTITR architecture were examined. It was found that the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder, which is responsible for the exchange of information between the protein sequences and SMILES strings and learning the pharmacological context, leads to better performance than when only the two initial parallel Transformer-Encoders are used. These results show that combining the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts improves the robustness and discriminative power of the aggregate representations compared to using only the individual proteomics and chemical context information of the protein sequences and SMILES strings. In addition, the FCNN block was found to improve the learning capacity of the architecture as it can improve the generalization from the concatenated aggregate representations space to the output space.

Considering the nature of the attention layers, which give information about the overall importance of the input components and their associations to the model, the DTITR architecture provides three different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding. The attention maps for the second level of attention (Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block), specifically for the attention of the aggregate representation of the compounds over the protein sequences substructures, were visualized. The results show that the compounds are attending to subwords of the protein sequences associated with binding residues, confirming the ability of this block to properly learn the pharmacological context of the DTIs. It also demonstrates that the DTITR architecture is capable of providing reasonable model understanding and potentially leading to new insights in the DTI field.

The major contribution of this study is an efficient and novel end-to-end Transformer-based DL architecture for predicting binding affinity that simultaneously considers the magnitude of certain local regions of each binding component (proteomics and chemical context) and the interacting substructures involved (pharmacological context). Moreover, this architecture provides three different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding, which is critical in the context of drug discovery.

#### 7.4.2 Study Limitations and Future Work

Despite the improved capacity of the proposed architecture to model the interdependency of the sequential and structural units of each binding component (and their intra-associations) and the inter-associations that revolve around the binding substructures (context of the interaction), i.e., the multi-domain inter-dependency of the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces, DTITR is unequivocally computationally complex, especially regarding the self-attention layers, which have a computational complexity of  $O(n^2)$  with respect to the sequence length. In that regard and given that the main efficiency component in the Transformer-Encoder is its attention mechanism, DTITR is limited for long-sequence proteins. Even though the FCS/BPE encoding method employed in this study reduces the sequential representation space of the protein sequences, it drastically increases the number of parameters in the embedding block due to the cardinality of the protein subwords dictionary. Moreover, the FCS/BPE encoding method deepens the compromise of
the input data's representability in the architecture's learning process.

Large Language Models (LLMs) such as Transformer-Encoders have been proven to lead to improved performance and learning capacity by initially pre-training with a large corpus associated with the input domain in an unsupervised fashion, i.e., leveraging a vast amount of data points to learn the context, semantics, and interdependencies within the domain space. On that account, considering that the aggregate representations of the protein sequences and SMILES strings are not only used as attending agents in the cross-attention block to capture the pharmacological context and inter-dependencies amongst the binding structures but also for the prediction of binding affinity, pre-training the Transformer-Encoders blocks associated with the protein sequences and SMILES strings can improve the overall learning capacity and increase the discriminative power and robustness of the aggregate representations. Furthermore, pre-training these Transformer-Encoder Blocks, which learn the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the protein sequences and compound SMILES strings, i.e., the proteomics and chemical contexts associated with DTIs, can reduce the effects of the proteomics and chemical domains representability in the learning stage of DTITR, and greatly improve the training speed of the architecture. Nevertheless, this requires considerable resources, especially in the case of protein sequences.

DTITR provides multiple levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks, which give information about the overall importance of the input components and their intra-associations to the model. Even though it was shown that the aggregate representation of the compound attends to substructures of the protein sequences associated with binding residues, DTITR does not take into account information about binding sites/interaction regions during the training process or actively integrates binding-related information during the learning stage of the architecture. Thus, it does not model the inter-dependency amongst binding-related tokens, i.e., the inter-dependency within the binding region, or exclusively the interaction between the compound and the binding region. On that account, the aggregate representation of the compound also attends to redundant positions during the learning stage of the pharmacological space, introducing noise in the resulting aggregate representation. Furthermore, actively integrating information about binding sites in the training process is crucial to properly learning the pharmacological space considering that the protein's binding pocket is paramount in the interaction mechanism involved in the DTIs. Furthermore, to realistically model DTIs and improve the reliability of the predictions, it is vital to consider binding pockets in the learning process.

DL models, especially LLM-related architectures, perform significantly better when the dataset becomes larger due to their capacity to learn the context of the input domain and the inter-dependency amongst the units of the input data. Hence, focusing on building a larger and more valid DTI dataset measured in terms of the  $K_d$  constant is essential to increase the generalization capacity of the architecture beyond the limited space of the Kinase domain. Nevertheless, the Davis Kinase dataset remains an important benchmark to validate the prediction efficiency of the architectures in the context of DTA prediction.

# Chapter 8

# Binding-Region-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug–Target Affinity

his chapter concerns the use of a binding-region-guided strategy to model the pharmacological space of the interaction and learn the interdependency amongst binding-related positions for the prediction of binding affinity. This study also focuses on two contextually related yet computationally different tasks, specifically binding pocket classification and binding affinity regression. This chapter resulted in a novel approach capable of providing increased DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks and prediction of the binding pocket.

The content of this chapter is based on a journal article published in *Expert Systems* with Applications [353]. Section 8.1 presents the study context. Section 8.2 details the materials and methods used in this study. Section 8.3 reports the results and discusses the obtained findings. Section 8.4 provides some final reflections and the limitations of this study.

# 8.1 Study Context

The discovery of compounds that selectively bind to relevant and ligandable proteins remains one of the greatest challenges in drug discovery. In spite of the existing comprehensive chemical and proteomic libraries and numerous computational approaches in the DTI and DTA prediction fields, the proper modeling of the multidomain inter-dependency of DTIs is still limited, compromising the validity and reliability of the results and inferring process [4].

Recent research endeavors dealing with DTI or DTA prediction have been exploring attention-based frameworks to learn short and long-term term context intradependencies within proteins and/or compounds and inter-dependencies amongst interacting substructures, promoting the prediction performance and ability to provide reasonable model understanding in the DTI domain [245, 243, 244]. However, these approaches have yet to actively include information about binding sites/pockets into the learning process, introducing noise when modeling the pharmacological space and the inter-associations around the binding substructures. Moreover, the identification of protein-ligand binding pockets is paramount to understanding the biological functions of proteins and the mechanisms involved in DTIs [156, 157]. Therefore, the explainability in the DTI domain is particularly limited and partially compromised, given the lack of explicit evidence to support the pharmacological space representation and the redundancy introduced by attending to potentially inaccurate binding regions when learning the interaction domain.

This study explores an end-to-end Transformer-based framework to simultaneously predict the 1D binding pocket and the DTA measured in terms of the dissociation constant  $(K_d)$ , where the prediction of the binary binding vector, which states the binding nature of each protein residue, guides (conditions) the prediction of the binding affinity. The targets and compounds are represented using 1D sequential and structural information, specifically protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. This architecture, TAG-DTA, consists of two Transformer-Encoder-based prediction models, specifically a 1D binding pocket classifier and a binding affinity regressor, and shares three cores layers, including lower Transformer-Encoders and a condition-based concatenation block. The framework leverages the use of lower self-attention layers to learn the short and long-term proteomics and chemical context dependencies between the sequential and structural units of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and a condition-based concatenation layer to represent the pharmacological (interaction) space. The binding pocket Transformer-Encoder uses the pharmacological space representation for binary token labeling, where the predicted binary 1D binding pocket is used to condition the attention mechanism of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder, resulting in the exchange of information between the proteomics and chemical domains over binding-related residues. The resulting aggregate representations of the proteomics, chemical, and bindingregion-based pharmacological spaces are concatenated and fed into a fully-connected feed-forward network (FCNN), which predicts the binding strength of DTI pairs. Furthermore, the proposed framework leads to increasing DTI and model understanding not only due to the nature of the attention blocks, which give information about the overall importance of the input components and their intra-associations, but also due to the prediction of the 1D binding pocket, which determines the attention mechanism over the interaction space and shows explicit evidence of potential key residues within the protein sequences for the binding process.

# 8.2 Materials and Methods

#### 8.2.1 Binding Affinity Dataset

To establish the binding affinity prediction model, drug-target pairs were collected from the Davis et al. [276] research study, which comprises selectivity assays associated with the human catalytic protein kinome measured in terms of a quantitative dissociation constant ( $K_d$ ). This study covers the interaction between 442 kinases and 72 kinase inhibitors, resulting in 31 824 DTIs.  $K_d$  expresses a direct and unbiased measurement of the equilibrium between the receptor-ligand complex and the dissociation components, where lower values are associated with strong interactions.

The protein sequences of the Davis dataset were collected from UniProt [57] using the corresponding accession numbers. Proteins are characterized by a unique amino acid sequence, resulting in varying sequence lengths. To standardize the number of features and avoid the loss of relevant sequential information or increasing noise, the sequence length was fixed between 264 and 1400 residues based on a 95% information density threshold. Considering the computational complexity of the self-attention layers of  $O(n^2)$  concerning the sequence length, the approach proposed in the Huang et al. (2021) [244] research study, which combines a frequent consecutive subsequence (FCS) mining method with the byte pair encoding (BPE) algorithm, was applied to represent and encode the protein sequences. This method decomposes each protein sequence into an ordered set of non-overlapping frequent subsequences, where the aggregation of all subsequences ( $V_P$ ) comprises 16 693 different subwords.

The SMILES strings of the Davis dataset were extracted from PubChem [343] based on their PubChem CIDs. To ensure a consistent notation to represent the chemical structure of all compounds, the RDKit [344] canonical transformation was applied to every SMILES string. Similarly to the protein sequences, the sequential length of the SMILES strings was fixed between 38 and 72 chemical characters. To represent and encode the SMILES strings into numerical values, an integer-based encoding based on a character-integer dictionary was applied to convert each chemical token into the corresponding numerical value. The character-integer dictionary ( $V_S$ ) contains a total of 72 unique letters (labels) resulting from the scanning of approximately 1.3 M SMILES strings from the ChEMBL [6] database. The distribution of the Davis  $K_d$  values is significantly skewed toward  $K_d$  equal to 10 000 nM, which is associated with extremely weak or almost non-existing interactions. Moreover, the variance of the distribution is considerably high, thus, to avoid high learning losses, the  $K_d$  values were transformed into the log space (p $K_d$ ) using Equation 8.1. The distribution of the p $K_d$  values spans from 5 (10 000 nM) to approximately 11.

$$pK_d = -\log_{10}(\frac{K_d}{10^9}) \tag{8.1}$$

The Davis dataset was split into six different folds using the chemogenomic representative k-fold [341] method, where one of the folds was selected as an independent test set to estimate the performance and generalization capacity of the architecture and the remaining folds to determine the hyperparameters of the binding affinity prediction model. The chemogenomic representative k-fold approach takes into consideration the  $pK_d$  values distribution, the protein sequences similarity, and the SMILES strings similarity during the splitting process, leading to representative folds in the context of the problem.

#### 8.2.2 1D Binding Pocket Dataset

The interaction between compounds and proteins results from the recognition and complementarity of particular functional groups (binding sites) in the 3D space. In order to construct the 1D binding pocket dataset, 3D complexes with binding information available, i.e., complexes with the interacting residues annotated, and associated with drug-like molecules were collected from scPDB [345], PDBBind [19], and BioLiP [354]. In order to filter and select biologically relevant ligands, the HET group lists from BioLiP [354] and P2Rank [163] were employed, and complexes with less than five binding residues were excluded. Single-chain 3D complexes were regarded as single DTI pairs and multiple-chain 3D complexes were split into single-chain interaction pairs. Most of these 3D complex-based DTI pairs, however, correspond to specific fractions of the protein sequence in the 1D space. Thus, to identify the positions of the interacting residues in the whole protein sequence, it was necessary to map these fragments onto the corresponding UniProt [57] sequence. On that account, the pairwise sequential local alignment function from Biopython [355] was applied to determine the best alignment and identify the corresponding binding positions, where entries with a mismatch greater than 50% between the residues of the original and alignment binding pocket were removed from the dataset. Furthermore, the binding information of single-chain pairs belonging to the same PDB complex and with identical UniProt sequence was unified into single 1D binding pockets.

The binding sites are usually determined based on protein residues whose distance toward ligands is below a certain threshold. However, the definition of a binding pocket is inconsistent across multiple studies or databases, leading to some noise in identifying the correct interacting residues, especially in a 1D representation. Furthermore, residues in the neighborhood of a particular binding residue likely influence its ligandability, which is consistent with the distribution of the binding sites in a 1D representation. These positions are non-consecutive in the 1D sequence, however, they are prone to be concentrated across scattered local binding regions. Hence, in order to reasonably define the 1D binding pocket, the neighborhood of every single interacting position was also taken into account, i.e., for each binding position p, the residues within the interval [p-k, p+k], where k was fixed at 3 [341], were also considered as binding-related positions. The resulting 1D binding pockets were converted into binary binding vectors of the same length as the corresponding protein sequences, where ones and zeros represent binding and non-binding residues, respectively. Figure 8.1 depicts the process to generate the 1D binding pocket associated with the Penicillin G acylase - Homogentisic acid complex (PDB: 1AJP chain B).



Figure 8.1: Generation of the 1D binding pocket for the Penicillin G acylase -Homogentisic acid complex (PDB: 1AJP chain B). The 3D complex is collected from one of the binding-related databases (scPDB [345], PDBBind [19], or BioLiP [354]) and parsed to the 1D space, in which the protein sequence fragment and the binding positions are retrieved. The 1D binding information is mapped onto the corresponding UniProt [57] sequence using the Biopython [355] package, where the neighborhood of each binding position is also taken into consideration. The resulting 1D binding pocket is converted into a binary binding vector, where ones and zeros represent binding and non-binding residues (subwords), respectively.

The protein sequences and SMILES strings associated with the resulting 1D binding

pocket dataset were processed and encoded based on similar approaches to those applied to the binding affinity dataset. On that account, only proteins with a length between 30 and 575 subwords and SMILES strings with a sequential length between 10 and 100 chemical tokens were selected.

In order to select the hyperparameters of the 1D binding pocket prediction model, the resulting 1D binding pocket dataset was split into a 90/10 % training/validation dataset ratio. On the other hand, to estimate the binding site prediction model's performance, the COACH [162] test dataset, which is widely used in several studies related to binding site prediction, was selected. The COACH test dataset was processed identically to the 1D binding pocket dataset and duplicated PDB complexes were removed from the 1D binding pocket dataset.

# 8.2.3 SMILES Pre-Train MLM Dataset

In order to pre-train the SMILES Transformer-Encoder block using the Masked Language Modeling (MLM) approach, SMILES strings associated with small compounds that follow the Lipinski's rule of five (zero violations) were collected from ChEMBL [6]. Lipinski's rule defines boundaries for certain physicochemical properties, including molecular weight, lipophilicity, polar surface area, number of hydrogen bond acceptors, number of hydrogen bond donors, and number of rotatable bonds, to determine the drug-likeness (orally active) of the molecules.

The sequential length of the SMILES strings was fixed between 10 and 100 chemical tokens and each character was encoded into the corresponding integer using the 72-character-integer dictionary. Furthermore, the resulting SMILES pre-train MLM dataset was split into a 90/10 % training/validation ratio to select the hyperparameters of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder block.

Table 8.1 summarizes the statistics of the binding affinity, 1D binding pocket, and SMILES pre-train MLM datasets.

See Figure D.1 in Section D.1 of Appendix D for more details regarding the distributions associated with the binding pocket datasets.

# 8.2.4 TAG-DTA Framework

The TAG-DTA framework simultaneously learns to predict the 1D binding pocket and binding strength of DTIs, where the prediction of the binding sites vector guides and conditions the prediction of DTA. This framework comprises two models, specifically a 1D binding pocket classifier and a binding affinity regressor, and shares three

Dataset	Proteins	Compounds	DTI	pKd = 5	pKd > 5	Bind Res. <sup>a</sup>	Non-Bind Res. <sup>a</sup>
Binding Affinity							
Davis Original	442	72	31824	22400	9424	-	-
Davis Pre-Processed	423	69	29187	20479	8708	-	-
1D Binding Pocket							
SPB <sup>b</sup>	14256	24151	81696	-	-	$1816960 \ (4.4\%)$	39340137 (95.6%)
${\rm SPB^{b,c}}$	14256	24151	81696	-	-	2464345~(15.9%)	13011113 (84.1%)
COACH Test	402	332	490	-	-	6708(3.4%)	190626 (96.6%)
COACH $Test^c$	402	332	490	-	-	11852~(15.8%)	63194 (84.2%)
SMILES Pre-Train							
ChEMBL	-	1321328	-	-	-	-	-

**Table 8.1:** Statistics of collected binding affinity, 1D binding pocket, and SMILESpre-train MLM datasets.

<sup>a</sup> Residues

<sup>b</sup> scPDB  $\cup$  PDBBind  $\cup$  BioLiP

 $^{\rm c}$  FCS/BPE Encoding + Neighborhood

core layers, including lower Transformer-Encoders and a condition-based concatenation block. The architecture uses two parallel Transformer-Encoders to compute contextual embeddings and capture the proteomics and chemical context present in the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively, where the SMILES Transformer-Encoder is pre-trained using an MLM approach. The aggregate representation of the SMILES string, which corresponds to the final hidden state of the start token added to the SMILES strings, is concatenated with the resulting protein tokens, followed by conditional and positional encoding. The binding site classifier block, which comprises a Transformer-Encoder with a PWFFN, uses the resulting condition-based concatenated tokens as input for binary token labeling learning, predicting the 1D binding pocket. The predicted 1D binding pocket is used to condition the attention mechanism of the Transformer-Encoder of the binding affinity regressor, which also uses the condition-based concatenated tokens as input, by masking non-binding residues. On that account, it learns the pharmacological space and the inter-dependencies amongst the binding-related subwords. The resulting aggregate representations of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder, protein Transformer-Encoder, and SMILES Transformer-Encoder are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which outputs the binding affinity measured in terms of  $pK_d$ . Figure 8.2 illustrates the proposed TAG-DTA architecture.

#### 8.2.4.1 Embedding Block

Protein sequences and SMILES strings are tokenized according to the FCS/BPE and character-integer encoding methods, respectively, where each token is converted to a numeric value and each sequence/string is padded up to a maximum value of



Figure 8.2: TAG-DTA: Binding-Region-Guided Transformer-based architecture. Two parallel Transformer-Encoders capture the proteomics and chemical context present in the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. A conditionbased concatenation block concatenates the projected  $T_S$  (green) token from the SMILES Transformer-Encoder with the resulting protein tokens from the protein Transformer-Encoder to represent the pharmacological space. The resulting concatenated DTI representation is used as input to the 1D binding pocket classifier for binary token labeling, determining the binding nature of each protein subword. The predicted binary binding vector conditions the attention mechanism of the bindingregion-guided Transformer-Encoder, resulting in the learning of the interaction context based on binding-related positions. The resulting aggregate representations of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder (green  $T_S$ ) are concatenated and used as input for an FCNN, which outputs the binding affinity measured in pK<sub>d</sub>.

 $N_P/N_S$ . Additionally, special start tokens have been added to the beginning of every protein sequence  $(T_P)$  and SMILES string  $(T_S)$ . In order to map semantic meaning into a geometric space, an embedding layer was assigned to the protein sequences and SMILES strings, transforming each token into a learned continuous vector (embedding) with a fixed size of  $d^P_{model}$  and  $d^S_{model}$  via a learnable dictionary lookup matrix  $W^P_{token} \in R^{d^P_{model} |x||V^P|}$  and  $W^S_{token} \in R^{d^S_{model} |x||V^S|}$ , respectively.

Contrarily to RNNs, Transformer-Encoders do not have a built-in mechanism to deal with the order of sequences, i.e., they are entirely invariant to sequence order. To provide absolute or relative positional information of the tokens in the sequence to the model, a positional embedding was included via a learnable dictionary lookup matrix  $W_{pos}^P \in R^{d_{model}^P \times N_P}$  and  $W_{pos}^S \in R^{d_{model}^S \times N_S}$ . The final embeddings  $E_i^P$  and  $E_j^S$  associated with the *i*th and *j*th input tokens of the protein sequence and SMILES string, respectively, are given by the sum of the token embedding  $(E_{token_i}^P \text{ and } E_{token_j}^S)$ , followed by a dropout layer:

$$\mathbf{E}_{i}^{P} = \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{E}_{token_{i}}^{P} + \mathbf{E}_{pos_{i}}^{P}) 
\mathbf{E}_{j}^{S} = \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{E}_{token_{i}}^{S} + \mathbf{E}_{pos_{i}}^{S})$$
(8.2)

, where  $E_i^P$ ,  $E_{token_i}^P$ ,  $E_{pos_i}^P \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^P}$  and  $E_j^S$ ,  $E_{token_j}^S$ ,  $E_{pos_j}^S \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^S}$ .

The parameters of the token and positional embedding layers associated with the SMILES strings are initialized with the ones learned during the MLM pre-training stage.

#### 8.2.4.2 Transformer-Encoder

Two Transformer-Encoders in parallel are used to capture the proteomics and chemical context and model the inter-dependency amongst the substructures and molecular components of the protein sequences and SMILES strings, respectively. Transformer-Encoders stack N identical blocks, where each block comprises a MHSA layer and a PWFFN. Residual connections are applied after each subunit followed by LN to mitigate vanishing gradients. Additionally, dropout is added after each MHSA layer and after each dense layer of the PWFFN to prevent overfitting. Considering  $x^1$  and  $x^2$  the outputs of the MHSA layer and the PWFFN block, respectively, the output of the kth Transformer-Encoder block can be expressed as:

$$x_k^1 = \mathbf{LN}(x_{k-1}^2 + \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{MHSA}(x_{k-1}^2)))$$
  
$$x_k^2 = \mathbf{LN}(x_k^1 + \mathbf{PWFFN}(x_k^1))$$
(8.3)

, where  $x_k^1, x_k^2 \in \mathbb{R}^{N_{P/S} \times d_{model}^{P/S}}$ .

The weights of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder block are initialized with the ones learned during the MLM pre-training step.

#### 8.2.4.3 Condition-Based Concatenation Block

In order to model the interaction and exchange of information between proteins and compounds, it is crucial to represent the pharmacological space of the interaction. On that account, a condition-based concatenation block is proposed to concatenate the  $T_S$  token from the SMILES Transformer-Encoder with the resulting protein tokens from the protein Transformer-Encoder. The  $T_S$  token previously learns the overall chemical context and inter-dependency amongst the individual units of the SMILES strings and is thus considered an aggregate representation. On the other hand, each resulting token of the protein sequences from the protein Transformer-Encoder is characterized by a robust and contextual representation based on the learned short and long-term dependencies. Considering  $X_P$  and  $X_S$  the outputs of the protein and SMILES Transformer-Encoder, respectively, the output of the concatenation layer  $(X_{DT})$  can be expressed as:

$$X_P = [T_P \| C_P], X_S = [T_S \| C_S] \longrightarrow X_{DT} = [T_S^{Pool} \| C_P]$$
(8.4)

, where  $X_P \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ ,  $T_P \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^P}$ ,  $C_P \in \mathbb{R}^{(N_P-1) \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ ,  $X_S \in \mathbb{R}^{N_S \ x \ d_{model}^S}$ ,  $T_S \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^S}$ ,  $C_S \in \mathbb{R}^{(N_S-1) \ x \ d_{model}^S}$ ,  $T_S^{Pool} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^P}$ , and  $X_{DT} \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \ x \ d_{model}^P}$ .

Considering that the  $T_S$  token is used to condition and interact with the proteins tokens, i.e., it is not exclusively the attending agent, a conditional embedding via a learnable dictionary lookup matrix  $W_{cond}^{DT} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^{P} \times N_{P}}$  was included to distinguish the  $T_S$  token from the resulting protein tokens. In order to update the positional information of the tokens in the concatenated DTI representation, a positional embedding via a learnable dictionary lookup matrix  $W_{pos}^{DT} \in \mathbb{R}^{d_{model}^{P} \times N_{P}}$  was added. Following the sum of the conditional embedding and positional embedding, a dropout layer was applied. The final representation  $E_i^{DT}$  associated with the *i*th token of the resulting concatenated tokens can be expressed as:

$$\mathbf{E}_{i}^{DT} = \mathbf{dropout}(\mathbf{E}_{i}^{DT} + \mathbf{E}_{cond_{i}}^{DT} + \mathbf{E}_{pos_{i}}^{DT})$$
(8.5)

, where  $E_i^{DT} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$ ,  $E_{cond_i}^{DT} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$  is the conditional embedding, and  $E_{pos_i}^{DT} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$  is the positional embedding.

In order to map the  $T_S$  token to the last dimension of the protein tokens  $(C_P)$ , a position-wise pooling (PWPool) block, which comprises a dense layer applied to the last dimension of  $T_S$  and an LN layer, was employed.

$$\mathbf{PWPool}(T_S) = \mathbf{LN}(\mathbf{F}_{T_S}(\mathbf{W}_{T_S}T_S + \mathbf{b}_{T_S}))$$
(8.6)

, where F is the activation function,  $W_{T_S} \in R^{d_{model}^S \times d_{model}^P}$ , and  $b_{T_S} \in R^{d_{model}^P}$ 

#### 8.2.4.4 1D Binding Pocket Classifier

The 1D binding pocket classifier learns to identify the binding and non-binding positions within the protein sequence, i.e., it predicts each protein subword as a binding or non-binding spot. This block is composed of a Transformer-Encoder followed by a Position-Wise Multi-Layer Perceptron (PWMLP). The binding pocket Transformer-Encoder uses the output of the condition-based concatenation block as input and determines the interaction (and inter-dependencies) between the aggregate representation of the compound and the protein tokens. On that account, the  $T_S$  token and the protein tokens attend mutually to each other, where  $T_S$  conditions the representation of each token of the protein sequences based on their potential selectivity toward the compound. The resulting protein tokens are fed to the PWMLP, which stacks dense layers applied to the last dimension of the protein tokens (embedding/representation space), in order to increase the learning capacity of this block. Additionally, dropout layers are added after each dense layer of the PWMLP. Following the PWMLP, a single neuron position-wise dense layer is added to classify the binding nature of each protein token, where a sigmoid activation function is applied for binary token labeling. Considering  $X_{DT}$  the output of condition-based concatenation block,  $X_{DT}^1$  the output of the binding pocket Transformer-Encoder, and  $X_{DT}^2$  the output of the PWMLP, the output of the 1D binding pocket classifier  $(BP_{1D})$  can be expressed as:

$$X_{DT}^{1} = \operatorname{TransformerEncoder}_{BP}(X_{DT})$$

$$X_{DT}^{2} = \operatorname{PWMLP}(X_{DT}^{1})$$

$$BP_{1D} = \sigma(X_{DT}^{2}\mathbf{W}_{BP_{1D}} + \mathbf{b}_{BP_{1D}})$$
(8.7)

, where  $X_{DT} \in R^{N_P x d_{model}^P}$ ,  $X_{DT}^1 \in R^{N_P x d_{model}^P}$ ,  $X_{DT}^2 \in R^{(N_P-1) x \pi_{DT}^2}$ ,  $W_{BP_{1D}} \in R^{\pi_{DT}^2 x 1}$ ,  $b_{BP_{1D}} \in R^1$ ,  $BP_{1D} \in \mathbb{Z}_2^{(N_P-1)}$ ,  $\sigma$  is the sigmoid activation function, and  $\pi_{DT}^2$  is expansion/contraction ratio of the final dense layer of the PWMLP.

#### 8.2.4.5 Binding Affinity Regressor

The interaction between active compounds and proteins results from the recognition and complementarity of certain groups (binding regions) and it is supported by the joint action of other individual substructures scattered across the protein and compound. Hence, to effectively predict binding affinity, it is important to consider the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces. In order to learn the pharmacological context information associated with the interaction space for the prediction of binding affinity, a binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder is proposed, where the output of the 1D binding pocket classifier guides the attention mechanism and the output of the condition-based concatenation block is used as input. The binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder architecture is similar to the standard Transformer-Encoder, however, instead of applying global self-attention, it takes into consideration tokens that are potential binding residues using the predicted 1D binding pocket. On that account, the padding masking matrix is combined with the predicted 1D binding pocket, masking non-binding residues and PAD tokens. Thus, this layer learns the inter-dependencies amongst binding-related residues and the interaction between  $T_S$  (compound representation) and the binding tokens of the protein sequences. The resulting  $T_S$  token is considered an aggregate representation of the pharmacological space and expresses the short and long-term dependencies between the compound and the binding region.

The final hidden states of the aggregate representation of the protein Transformer Encoder, SMILES Transformer-Encoder, and binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder, respectively, are concatenated, followed by an LN layer, and used as input for an FCNN. Similarly to the PWMLP, dropout is added after each dense layer of the FCNN. Following the FCNN, a dense layer with a single neuron is applied to predict the binding affinity of the DTI pair measured in terms of the logarithmic-transformed dissociation constant (pK<sub>d</sub>). Considering  $X_{Aff}^1$  the output of the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder and  $X_{Aff}^2$  the output of the FCNN, the output of the binding affinity regressor ( $BF_{pK_D}$ ) can be expressed as:

$$X_{Aff}^{1} = \operatorname{TransformerEncoder}_{Aff}(X_{DT})$$

$$X_{Aff}^{2} = \operatorname{FCNN}(X_{Aff}^{1}), X_{Aff}^{2} = [T_{Aff} \parallel C_{Aff}]$$

$$T_{DTI} = \operatorname{LN}([T_{P} ; T_{S}^{Pool} ; T_{Aff}])$$

$$BF_{pK_{D}} = T_{DTI} \mathbf{W}_{BF_{pK_{D}}} + \mathbf{b}_{BF_{pK_{D}}}$$
(8.8)

, where  $X_{DT} \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \ x \ d^P_{model}}, \ X^1_{Aff} \in \mathbb{R}^{N_P \ x \ d^P_{model}}, \ T_P \in \mathbb{R}^{d^P_{model}}, \ T_S^{Pool} \in \mathbb{R}^{d^P_{model}},$ 

 $T_{Aff} \in R^{d_{model}^{P}}, C_{Aff} \in R^{(N_{P}-1) x d_{model}^{P}}, T_{DTI} \in R^{d_{model}^{DTI}}$  is concatenated representation of the final hidden states of the aggregate representations,  $W_{BF_{pK_{D}}} \in R^{d_{model}^{DTI} x 1}, b_{BF_{pK_{D}}} \in R^{1}, BF_{pK_{D}} \in R^{1}, d_{model}^{DTI} = d_{model}^{P} + d_{model}^{P} + d_{model}^{P}, \text{ and } [;] \text{ denotes con$  $catenation.}$ 

In order to avoid potential negative transfer of information from the 1D binding pocket classifier, i.e., incapable of identifying any binding position for a certain DTI pair, some flexibility is added to the attention mechanism in the bindingregion-guided Transformer-Encoder. On that account, when the predicted binary 1D binding pocket does not contain any value equal to 1 (binding spot), which would lead to the  $T_S$  token attending exclusively to itself, only the PAD tokens are masked before the softmax function. Thus, the attention mechanism corresponds to the standard global self-attention, learning the short and long-term inter-dependencies amongst all tokens of the input sequence, except PAD tokens.

$$\mathbf{Attention} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{Conditioned} & \mathbf{if} \quad \exists i = 1, \dots, N_P - N_{PAD} - 1 : BP_{1D}(i) = 1 \\ \mathbf{Global} & \mathbf{if} \quad \forall i \in \{1, \dots, N_P - N_{PAD} - 1\}, BP_{1D}(i) = 0 \\ \end{cases}$$

$$\tag{8.9}$$

, where *Conditioned* corresponds to the binding-region-guided attention, *Global* to the standard global self-attention, and  $N_{PAD}$  to the number of padding tokens.

Figure 8.3 illustrates the masking matrix applied in the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder when the predicted binary 1D binding pocket identifies binding spots (binding-region-guided attention).

#### 8.2.4.6 SMILES Pre-Train Masked Language Modeling

MLM leverages a large number of data points in an unsupervised fashion to capture the context and semantics of the input domain. This approach masks certain tokens of the input sequence and designs the model to predict the original tokens based on the unaltered sentence units. On that account, the model needs to learn the statistical and distribution properties as well as the short and long-term dependencies amongst the tokens of the sequence, considering that tokens can have different meanings in different positions. Hence, the model learns deep and multiple representations of the tokens, improving the performance levels in downstream tasks.

In the context of this work, the MLM approach is used to pre-train the SMILES Transformer-Encoder in order to capture the molecular context within the SMILES



Figure 8.3: Binding region-guided attention masking matrix, where the *PAD* tokens masking matrix is combined with the predicted 1D binding pocket.

 $-\infty$   $-\infty$  0

[PAD]

[PAD]

 $0 -\infty$ 

0

 $-\infty$   $-\infty$   $-\infty$  0

strings. The traditional MLM masking setup used in BERT [173] is followed, which randomly masks 15% of the tokens of the input sequence. The selected tokens are replaced with a special [MASK] token, replaced with a random token from the SMILES dictionary, or remain unaltered based on an 80%, 10%, and 10% probability rate, respectively.

The architecture of the SMILES pre-train MLM includes the SMILES token embedding layer, the SMILES positional embedding layer, the SMILES Transformer-Encoder, a dense layer, and a softmax activation function. The dense layer projects the output of the Transformer-Encoder into the dimension of the SMILES vocabulary  $V_S$ . The softmax function normalizes the output of the dense layer to a probability distribution over the cardinality of the vocabulary, indicating the likelihood of each token in the vocabulary for each position of the input sequence. Considering  $E^S$  the output of the SMILES embedding block and  $X_S$  the output of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder, the output of the SMILES pre-train MLM ( $X_S^{MLM}$ ) can be expressed as:

$$X_{S} = \operatorname{TransformerEncoder}_{SMILES}(E^{S})$$

$$X_{S}^{MLM} = \operatorname{Softmax}(X_{S}\mathbf{W}_{S}^{MLM} + \mathbf{b}_{S}^{MLM})$$
(8.10)

Figure 8.4 shows the SMILES pre-train MLM architecture.



Figure 8.4: Pre-training of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder using an MLM approach, where the model learns to predict the [MASK] tokens based on the unaltered input units.

#### 8.2.5 TAG-DTA Training Strategy

In order to train the TAG-DTA framework, the training strategy is divided into three stages: (I) pre-training of the 1D binding pocket classifier; (II) training of the binding affinity regressor; and (III) training of the 1D binding pocket classifier. The 1D binding pocket subunit, which consists of the three shared blocks, the binding pocket Transformer-Encoder, and the PWMLP, is initially pre-trained in order to partially converge and optimize TAG-DTA toward the prediction of the 1D binding pocket, considering that binding sites vector is used to guide and condition the prediction of binding affinity. Following the first stage, the binding affinity subunit, which is composed of the three shared blocks, the binding region-Guided Transformer-Encoder, and the FCNN, and the 1D binding pocket subunit are alternatively trained to optimize TAG-DTA to simultaneously predict the 1D binding pocket and the binding affinity of DTIs. On that account, two different training modes are considered, where only binding pocket or binding-affinity-related blocks are trainable during each corresponding prediction task, respectively, i.e., the binding pocket Transformer-Encoder and PWMLP weights are frozen during the training of the binding affinity regressor, and the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder and FCNN weights are frozen during the training of the 1D binding pocket classifier. Hence, this training strategy aims to reduce the discrepancy between the 1D binding pocket classification and the binding affinity regression and avoid the negative transfer of information between computationally different tasks yet contextually related. Moreover, instead of considering the convergence of the TAG-DTA architecture at the end of each training epoch, the framework is optimized at the end of each training cycle, which corresponds to the end of the two training modes, i.e., the training of the binding affinity regressor and the training of the 1D binding pocket classifier.

# 8.3 Results and Discussion

# **Binding Affinity Prediction Performance Evaluation**

In the context of drug discovery and drug repositioning, it is essential to properly assess the target selectivity of potential leads. Thus, establishing models capable of accurately predicting unbiased bioactivities associated with the interaction of biologically relevant targets and active small molecules is pivotal on the road to new insights in the DTI field. In order to validate the performance of the proposed TAG-DTA architecture in the prediction of binding affinity, the prediction efficiency was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art binding affinity regression and binary classification models (see Section D.2 of Appendix D for more details regarding the experimental setup conducted in this study). Table 8.2 reports the binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent test set in terms of MSE, RMSE, CI,  $r^2$ , and Spearman.

ethod Protein Rep.		Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow {\bf CI}$	$\uparrow r^2$	$\uparrow {\bf Spearman}$
Baseline Methods							
KronRLS [265]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.443	0.665	0.847	0.473	0.624
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.311	0.558	0.883	0.630	0.681
TransformerCPI [243]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.291	0.539	0.852	0.511	0.507
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.286	0.535	0.881	0.660	0.688
SimBoost [267]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.277	0.526	0.891	0.670	0.694
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.269	0.518	0.874	0.680	0.670
Sim-CNN-DTA [273]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.266	0.516	0.884	0.683	0.674
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.238	0.488	0.899	0.717	0.741
HyperAttentionDTI [245]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.227	0.477	0.890	0.729	0.690
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.215	0.464	0.891	0.743	0.691
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.208	0.457	0.895	0.752	0.689
DTITR [350]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.192	0.438	0.907	0.771	0.712
Proposed Method							
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	0.185	0.430	0.917	0.780	0.729

Table 8.2: Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis independent test set.

Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

The results demonstrate that the proposed TAG-DTA framework achieved the highest performance in terms of MSE (0.185), RMSE (0.430), CI (0.917), and  $r^2$  (0.780) compared to the state-of-the-art baselines. Thus, it exceeds the other models in its ability to correctly predict the binding affinity values (lower MSE and RMSE scores) and distinguish the binding strength rank order across DTI pairs (higher CI score). Furthermore, the significant increase in the CI metric shows the superior capacity of the architecture to correctly assess the target selectivity, which is crucial in identifying potential leads and differentiating primary from secondary interactions. Moreover, these findings are consistent with the results of Table 8.3, which reports the binding affinity prediction results over the Davis dataset using the original split methodology of the state-of-the-art research works. The TAG-DTA showed a significant increase in performance across all metrics, specifically MSE (0.199  $\pm$  0.003), RMSE (0.446  $\pm$  0.003), CI (0.898  $\pm$  0.001),  $r^2$  (0.752  $\pm$  0.004), and Spearman rank correlation (0.710  $\pm$  0.002), and lower standard deviation values compared to the state-of-the-art baselines, which furthers validates the efficiency of the proposed architecture in the prediction of binding affinity and shows superior learning stability.

In order to properly predict DTA it is essential to learn the inter-dependency of the sequential and structural units of each binding component and the inter-associations

**Table 8.3:** Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis dataset using the original split methodology, where the standard deviations are given in parentheses.

Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow {\bf CI}$	$\uparrow r^2$	$\uparrow {\bf Spearman}$
Baseline Methods							
KronRLS [265]*	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.379	0.616	0.871(0.001)	-	-
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.322(0.047)	0.566(0.039)	0.850(0.020)	0.598(0.059)	0.636(0.032)
TransformerCPI [243]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.285(0.024)	0.533(0.022)	0.839(0.017)	0.493(0.043)	0.472(0.023)
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.285(0.004)	0.534(0.004)	0.862(0.006)	0.644(0.005)	0.656(0.009)
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.284(0.012)	0.533(0.012)	0.872(0.002)	0.646(0.015)	0.681(0.010)
SimBoost [267]*	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.282	0.531	0.872(0.002)	-	-
Sim-CNN-DTA [273]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.276(0.008)	0.525(0.008)	0.869(0.006)	0.656(0.010)	0.666(0.011)
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.256(0.004)	0.506(0.004)	0.875(0.005)	0.680(0.005)	0.708(0.011)
HyperAttentionDTI [245]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.241(0.005)	0.491(0.005)	0.879(0.002)	0.699(0.006)	0.680(0.004)
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.235(0.006)	0.485(0.006)	0.871(0.006)	0.707(0.007)	0.670(0.014)
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.232(0.004)	0.482(0.004)	0.879(0.003)	0.710(0.005)	0.680(0.005)
DTITR [350]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.216(0.006)	0.465(0.006)	0.880(0.005)	0.730(0.007)	0.681(0.008)
Proposed Method							
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.199\ (0.003)$	$0.446\ (0.003)$	$0.898\ (0.001)$	$0.752\ (0.004)$	0.710(0.002)

\*Baselines results from Öztürk et al. [268].

The standard deviations are given in parentheses. Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric

that revolve around the binding-related substructures (pharmacological space). The majority of the baseline methods, however, either focus on learning individual representations of the proteins and compounds, which are usually combined for the inferring process, or only take into consideration the mutual interaction space for the prediction of binding affinity. Moreover, the mere use of Transformers, such as TransformerCPI [243], or attention mechanisms, e.g., HyperAttentionDTI [245], do not necessarily guarantee a performance increase, considering that the short and long-distance interactions within the proteins and compounds are crucial for the DTA prediction performance. On that account, DTITR [350] showed superior performance than all previous state-of-the-art baselines since it models the intraassociations within each individual binding component and the inter-dependency between the involving interacting components. However, DTITR [350] does not model the inter-dependency amongst binding-related tokens or the interaction between the compound and the binding region. TAG-DTA overcomes this limitation by employing a binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder to learn the pharmacological space based on the short and long-term dependencies between the compound and the binding region and the inter-dependency within the binding region. Additionally, it takes into consideration the magnitude of the local regions of each binding component and their intra-associations. Overall, the results demonstrate that the TAG-DTA model is properly learning the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological context of the proteins, compounds, and DTIs, respectively, and that guiding the learning of the pharmacological space based on potential binding positions leads to improved DTA prediction performance. Figure 8.5 depicts the predictions from

the TAG-DTA model against the actual binding affinity values for the Davis independent test set, where is it possible to observe a significant density around the  $predicted = true \ value \ reference \ line \ (perfect \ model).$ 



Figure 8.5: TAG-DTA binding affinity predictions against the true values for the Davis affinity testing set, where the black diagonal line corresponds to the reference line (*predicted* = true value).

Considering the importance of the models to generalize toward unknown subsets of the proteomics and/or chemical representation spaces, the performance of the proposed framework in the prediction of binding affinity was explored and evaluated for three different experimental settings, specifically novel compounds, novel proteins, and novel protein-compounds pairs. Table 8.4 reports the binding affinity prediction results over a 5-fold random split of the Davis affinity dataset for these three different experimental settings in terms of MSE, RMSE, and CI. Regarding the novel compound and novel protein-compound pairs settings, TAG-DTA achieved lower values of MSE ( $0.600 \pm 0.064$  and  $0.609 \pm 0.057$ ) and RMSE ( $0.775 \pm 0.042$  and  $0.780 \pm 0.036$ ), and higher CI scores ( $0.715 \pm 0.031$  and  $0.670 \pm 0.058$ ) compared to the state-of-the-art baselines. However, there is no significant difference between the proposed architecture and attention-based baselines, specifically DTITR [350], HyperAttentionDTI [245], and TransformerCPI [243], in these two experimental settings. In the case of the novel protein experimental setting, the proposed TAG-DTA framework achieved an MSE of  $0.372 \pm 0.044$ , an RMSE of  $0.549 \pm 0.035$ , and a CI score of  $0.833 \pm 0.013$ , demonstrating superior and competitive performance to generalize in unknown subsets of the proteomics space. Additionally, all models showed improved performance in the novel protein setting compared to the novel compound and novel protein-compound pair settings, which is consistent with the Kinase representability properties of the Davis affinity dataset. Furthermore, the proposed TAG-DTA model showed overall lower standard deviations amongst the validation sets across all three experimental settings, which demonstrates improved learning stability.

# 8.3.1 TAG-DTA Ablation Study

In order to further validate the TAG-DTA architecture, different alternatives for the TAG-DTA model were explored, specifically (i) TAG-DTA architecture without pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder, (ii) TAG-DTA architecture without the binding affinity regression block, and (iii) TAG-DTA architecture without the 1D binding pocket classification block. Table 8.5 reports the binding affinity and 1D binding pocket prediction results over the Davis and COACH test set, respectively, for the different alternatives of the TAG-DTA model.

To properly assess the efficacy of pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder using an MLM approach, which leverages a vast amount of data points in an unsupervised fashion to learn the context and semantics of the chemical domain, the model prediction efficiency was evaluated with and without initializing the SMILES Transformer-Encoder related layers weights with the ones learned during the MLM pre-training step (see Table D.3 in Section D.3.1 of Appendix D for the MLM pre-training results). The TAG-DTA architecture with the pre-trained SMILES Transformer-Encoder resulted in overall better performance in terms of the MSE (0.185), RMSE (0.430), CI (0.917),  $r^2$  (0.780), and Spearman (0.729) when compared to the TAG-DTA architecture without pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder (MSE - 0.190, RMSE - 0.436, CI - 0.912,  $r^2$  - 0.773, and Spearman -0.721) for the prediction of binding affinity. Moreover, in the case of the 1D binding pocket prediction, the TAG-DTA with the pre-trained SMILES Transformer-Encoder demonstrated a significant increase in performance in terms of balanced accuracy (87.10 %), recall (81.32 %), precision (68.17 %), F1-score (74.16 %), and MCC (0.692) when compared to the TAG-DTA architecture without pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder (balanced accuracy - 85.99 %, recall - 79.25 %, **Table 8.4:** Binding affinity prediction results over a 5-fold random split of the Davis affinity dataset for three different experimental settings: novel compounds, novel proteins, and novel protein-compound pairs.

Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow {\bf CI}$			
Novel Compound								
Baseline Methods								
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.808(0.134)	0.896(0.074)	0.628(0.056)			
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.793(0.101)	0.889(0.056)	0.594(0.068)			
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.763(0.116)	0.871(0.066)	0.628(0.093)			
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.636(0.052)	0.797(0.032)	0.685(0.056)			
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.641(0.054)	0.800(0.034)	$0.696 \ (0.058)$			
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.620(0.057)	0.786(0.036)	0.708(0.048)			
HyperAttentionDTI [245]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.612(0.075)	0.782(0.049)	0.706(0.053)			
TransformerCPI [243]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.606(0.072)	0.778(0.046)	0.687(0.092)			
DTITR [350]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.604(0.052)	0.777(0.032)	0.710(0.027)			
Proposed Method								
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.600 \ (0.064)$	$0.775\ (0.042)$	$0.715\ (0.031)$			
		Novel Prot	ein					
Baseline Methods								
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.588(0.048)	0.766(0.031)	0.744(0.010)			
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.652(0.021)	0.807(0.013)	0.733(0.014)			
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.579(0.064)	0.759(0.042)	0.739(0.018)			
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.495(0.031)	0.703(0.022)	0.770(0.011)			
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.399(0.062)	0.630(0.049)	0.807(0.026)			
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.396(0.045)	0.628(0.037)	0.815(0.015)			
HyperAttentionDTI [245]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.396\ (0.057)$	0.628(0.045)	0.814(0.020)			
TransformerCPI [243]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.385(0.046)	0.620(0.037)	0.785(0.033)			
DTITR [350]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.380\ (0.052)$	0.615(0.043)	0.827(0.017)			
Proposed Method								
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.372\ (0.044)$	$0.549\ (0.035)$	$0.833\ (0.013)$			
	Novel	Protein-Com	pound Pair					
<b>Baseline Methods</b>								
GraphDTA-GCNNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.815(0.129)	0.900(0.073)	$0.575\ (0.066)$			
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	0.788(0.101)	0.886(0.057)	0.573(0.104)			
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	$0.791\ (0.107)$	0.887(0.062)	$0.598\ (0.072)$			
GraphDTA-GINConvNet [271]	1D-Subseq	Graph	$0.698\ (0.087)$	$0.834\ (0.053)$	$0.674\ (0.079)$			
DeepDTA [268]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.630\ (0.058)$	$0.793\ (0.036)$	$0.664 \ (0.053)$			
DeepCDA [272]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.627\ (0.053)$	$0.791\ (0.033)$	$0.665\ (0.053)$			
HyperAttentionDTI [245]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.620 \ (0.070)$	0.787(0.046)	$0.667 \ (0.055)$			
TransformerCPI [243]	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.615\ (0.073)$	0.784(0.050)	0.652(0.082)			
DTITR [350]	1D-Subseq	1D	0.612(0.085)	0.782(0.051)	$0.665\ (0.062)$			
Proposed Method								
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	$0.609\ (0.057)$	$0.780\ (0.036)$	$0.670\ (0.058)$			

The standard deviations are given in parentheses.

Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

**Table 8.5:** Binding affinity and 1D binding pocket prediction results over the Davis and COACH test set, respectively, for the different alternatives of the TAG-DTA model: (I) TAG-DTA without pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder related block; (II) TAG-DTA without the binding affinity regression block; (III) TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block.

1D Binding Pocket Prediction										
Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	↑ Balanced Accuracy	$\uparrow \mathbf{Recall}$	$\uparrow \mathbf{Precision}$	$\uparrow {\bf F1}\text{-}{\bf Score}$	$\uparrow \mathbf{MCC}$			
TAG-DTA - I	1D-Subseq	1D	85.99	79.25	67.80	72.93	0.676			
TAG-DTA - II	1D-Subseq	1D	87.99	81.45	73.70	77.38	0.730			
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	87.18	81.26	68.82	74.52	0.696			
Binding Affinity Prediction										
Method	Protein Rep.	Compound Rep.	$\downarrow \mathbf{MSE}$	$\downarrow \mathbf{RMSE}$	$\uparrow {\bf CI}$	$\uparrow r^2$	↑ Spearman			
TAG-DTA - I	1D-Subseq	1D	0.190	0.436	0.912	0.773	0.721			
TAG-DTA - III	1D-Subseq	1D	0.199	0.446	0.906	0.763	0.713			
TAG-DTA	1D-Subseq	1D	0.185	0.430	0.917	0.780	0.729			

Bold indicates the best performance value associated with each evaluating metric.

precision - 67.80 %, F1-score - 72.93 %, and MCC - 0.676). These results show that pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder using an MLM approach to learn the context and semantics of the chemical domains improves the overall learning capacity of the TAG-DTA architecture and increases the discriminating power and robustness of the aggregate representation of the SMILES strings, which is not only used to interact with the protein tokens (and condition their representation) but also for the prediction of binding affinity.

Regarding the prediction efficiency of the TAG-DTA model without the binding affinity regression block, i.e., to exclusively predict the 1D binding pocket, the performance obtained over the COACH test dataset is slightly superior in terms of balanced accuracy (87.99 %), recall (81.45 %), precision (73.70 %), F1-score (77.38 %), and MCC (0.730) when compared to the TAG-DTA model with the dual nature in the inferring process (balanced accuracy - 87.18 %, recall - 81.26 %, precision - 68.82 %, F1-score - 74.52 %, and MCC - 0.696). These results suggest that using TAG-DTA to simultaneously predict the 1D binding pocket and binding affinity of DTIs reduces the learning capacity of the TAG-DTA to predict the 1D binding pocket is computationally complex due to the imbalanced nature of binding and non-binding positions and that these two prediction tasks are computationally different. Nevertheless, the small performance gap demonstrates that the proposed TAG-DTA architecture is capable of converging toward two different prediction tasks, and the overall good performance in the prediction of the 1D binding pocket indicates the

viability of the TAG-DTA to learn and identify binding-related positions.

Additionally, the contribution of the prediction of the 1D binding pocket for the prediction of binding affinity was evaluated by training the TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block. The prediction efficiency of the TAG-DTA architecture without the 1D binding pocket classification block resulted in significantly worse performance in terms of the MSE (0.199), RMSE (0.446), CI (0.906),  $r^2$  (0.763), and Spearman (0.713) when compared to the TAG-DTA architecture with the 1D binding pocket classification block (MSE - 0.185, RMSE - 0.430, CI - $0.917, r^2 - 0.780$ , and Spearman - 0.729). These results demonstrate that using the predicted 1D binding pocket to guide and condition the attention mechanism of the Transformer-Encoder of the binding affinity regression block improves the discriminating power of the final aggregate representation hidden states associated with the interaction space and the capacity of this block to learn the pharmacological context information associated with the interaction space. Moreover, it indicates that learning the pharmacological space based on the short and long-term dependencies between the compound and the binding region (and the intra-associations within the binding region) leads to improved performance, which is in agreement with the fact that protein binding pockets are crucial in the interaction mechanism involved in DTIs. Furthermore, the superior binding affinity prediction performance of the proposed TAG-DTA architecture demonstrates that the 1D binding pocket and binding affinity prediction models are contextually related and that the model is capable of converging toward two different prediction tasks.

Overall, the use of an end-to-end binding-region-guided Transformer-based architecture, which simultaneously predicts the 1D binding pocket and binding strength of DTIs, demonstrates that actively integrating information about binding sites in the training process is crucial to properly learning the pharmacological space of the interaction and leads to improved binding affinity prediction performance. Additionally, it shows the capacity of the attention mechanisms of the Transformer-Encoders to learn the inter-dependencies between the compound and the protein tokens for the prediction of the 1D binding pocket, and the ability of the Transformer-Encoders to learn robust and discriminating aggregate representations of the proteins, compounds, and pharmacological space for the prediction of binding affinity.

### 8.3.2 DTI and Model Understanding

In spite of the increasing performance of the models to correctly predict the binding strength or binary association of DTIs, it is crucial to understand the model prediction and the overall importance of the input intra-associations and interdependencies to the model in the context of drug discovery. Moreover, given that DTIs revolve around specific substructures between the binding components and are supported by individual substructures within each interacting element, providing potential model understanding may lead to significant findings in the DTI domain. Considering the nature of the attention blocks, which give information about the overall importance of the input components (and their associations) to the model, the TAG-DTA architecture provides four different levels of attention: (I) protein sequences self-attention; (II) SMILES strings self-attention; (III) 1D binding pocket condition-based self-attention; and (IV) binding-region-guided conditioned-based self-attention. The first and second levels of attention provide information about the overall importance of the individual units (substructures) and intra-associations of the protein sequences (proteomics context) and SMILES strings (chemical context), respectively. The third level of attention gives information about the inter-associations between the compound representation and protein tokens (and their intra-associations) for the prediction of the 1D binding pocket, i.e., how the chemical information affects the overall importance of the individual units and intra-associations of protein sequences for the prediction of the binding pocket. The fourth level of attention provides information about the inter-associations between the compound representation and binding-related protein tokens, and the inter-associations between the binding tokens, i.e., it reflects the interaction and selectivity to the ligand based on the binding pocket.

The visualization and analysis of the different levels of attention provide a reasonable model and DTI understanding, however, they do not show explicit evidence of potential key residues within the protein sequences for the binding process, which is essential to promote the identification and selection of potential leads and understanding of the biological functions of proteins and mechanisms involved in DTIs. On that account, the proposed TAG-DTA may provide increasing DTI and model understanding considering that it predicts the 1D binding pocket of the DTIs, which also conditions the prediction of the binding affinity. In order to further validate the reliability of the TAG-DTA in the prediction of the 1D binding pocket and that it is capable of providing reasonable evidence for understanding the model prediction, the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 DTI pair, which does not have the 3D interaction space available or annotated, was explored. Potential binding positions ( $\leq 5$  Å) were selected based on the research study by Monteiro et al. (2022) [341], where the 3D interaction space was explored and thoroughly assessed using guided docking, and compared with the predicted 1D binding pocket from the TAG-DTA architecture. Figure 8.6 depicts the 3D receptor-ligand complex and the TAG-DTA 1D binding pocket for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 DTI pair.



ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 Complex

Figure 8.6: SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated. (a) Annotated 3D complex obtained from docking [341]. (b) TAG-DTA 1D binding pocket. The docking binding sites ( $\leq$  5), TAG-DTA binding positions, TAG-DTA nonbinding positions, and matched binding positions are represented by the blue, red, gray, and orange colors, respectively.

These visual results show that the TAG-DTA 1D binding pocket identifies almost

all the docking binding hits ( $\leq 5$  Å), which further validates the capacity of the TAG-DTA architecture to learn and identify binding-related positions. Moreover, the other TAG-DTA binding hits are the in the neighborhood of the docking binding pocket, where the spacial position of some of these hits (Figure 8.6a) suggests that they bear relation to conserved regions of the proteins or other potential interaction pockets/subpockets, e.g., some of these hits are near  $\beta$ -strands, which are usually important for the structure and function of the protein. Overall, these findings demonstrate the TAG-DTA is capable of providing increasing DTI and model understanding, and improves the validity of the learning stage of the pharmacological space based on binding-related positions.

In order to further validate the contribution of the 1D binding pocket block in the learning process of TAG-DTA, heat maps for the fourth level of attention were generated, specifically for the attention related to the inter-associations between the compound representation and binding-related protein tokens (and inter-associations between binding subwords). The ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 DTI pair was selected for examination, and visual analysis of the attention disparities across binding hits was conducted between TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block and TAG-DTA with the dual nature incorporated into the inference process. Figure 8.7 illustrates the attention heat maps for ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 DTI pair across the two TAG-DTA configurations, where only subwords predicted as binding hits or related to docking binding hits were considered for visualization.

These visual observations indicate that TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block (Figure 8.7b) is not attending, i.e., assigning significance, to the majority of protein subwords associated with binding. Furthermore, it fails to learn the inter-associations between the compound representation ( $T_S$ ) and bindingrelated protein tokens. Notably, the  $T_S$  token does not direct its attention to any binding-related tokens, except for the EF motif. Consequently, this architecture configuration introduces bias into the predictions, resulting in the estimation of potential DTIs based on redundant sites. Conversely, TAG-DTA (Figure 8.7a), which incorporates a dual nature in the inference process, assigns significance to all binding hits (except for certain docking-related tokens) and comprehensively learns the pharmacological space of the interaction based on the inter-associations amongst binding-related substructures. Furthermore, TAG-DTA demonstrates a lower absolute prediction error for DTA prediction in comparison to TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block. In the particular case of ABL1(E255K)phosphorylated - SKI-606, the pK<sub>d</sub> values are 10.33 for the experiment, 10.23 for



**Figure 8.7:** Attention maps associated with the binding-region-guided Transformer-Encoder for the SKI-606 in complex with ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated. a) TAG-DTA. b) TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block. The attention weights were normalized across all the positions for each head of attention and the maximum value was selected for visualization.

TAG-DTA, and 10.04 for TAG-DTA without the 1D binding pocket classification block. These findings underscore the critical importance of actively integrating information about binding sites throughout the training process to effectively learn the pharmacological space of the interaction and to enhance the predictive performance of DTA. Moreover, they highlight the capability of TAG-DTA to provide reasonable evidence for understanding model predictions.

# 8.4 Conclusion

# 8.4.1 Final Remarks

In this research study, an end-to-end binding-region-guided Transformed-based architecture (TAG-DTA) is proposed to simultaneously predict the 1D binding pocket and the binding affinity in terms of the logarithmic-transformed dissociation constant  $(pK_d)$  of DTI pairs, where the prediction of the 1D binding vector conditions the prediction of DTA. The architecture comprises two models, specifically a 1D binding pocket classifier and a binding affinity regressor, and shares three core layers, including lower Transformer-Encoders and a condition-based concatenation block. The prediction of the 1D binding pocket conditions the attention mechanism of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder, resulting in the exchange of information between the proteomics and chemical domains over binding-related residues. To perform the experiments, DTIs with binding information annotated were collected from various binding-related databases, and DTIs with binding affinity available were extracted from the Davis kinase binding affinity dataset. The performance of the proposed TAG-DTA model was compared with different state-of-the-art baselines and in different experimental setups based on unknown subsets of the proteomics and chemical representation spaces.

The proposed model yielded better results than state-of-the-art baselines for the prediction of binding affinity, resulting in lower MSE and RMSE values and higher CI and  $r^2$  scores in the Davis independent test dataset, and lower MSE and RMSE values and higher CI,  $r^2$ , and Spearman scores in the original Davis split folds. These results demonstrate the model's ability to accurately predict the value of binding strength and to properly assess the target selectivity (distinguish the rank order of binding strength between the DTI pairs). In the novel compounds, novel proteins, and novel protein-compounds pairs experimental settings, TAG-DTA achieved lower values of MSE and RMSE, and higher CI scores when compared to the baselines, demonstrating a superior capacity to generalize toward unknown subsets of

the proteomics and chemical representation spaces. Furthermore, the TAG-DTA architecture is shown to efficiently learn the proteomics and chemical context of the proteins and compounds, respectively, and that learning the pharmacological space based on the short and long-term dependencies between the compound and the binding region (and the intra-associations within the binding region) leads to improved DTA prediction performance.

The influence of different blocks on the prediction efficiency of the TAG-DTA architecture was also explored. It was found that pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder using an MLM approach resulted in overall better performance in the prediction of the binding affinity and 1D binding pocket as it increases the discriminating power and robustness of the aggregate representation of the SMILES string, i.e., it improves the learning capacity of this block to capture chemical context. In addition, it was further demonstrated that conditioning the attention mechanism of the binding affinity Transformer-Encoder based on the predicted 1D binding pocket leads to significantly improved DTA prediction performance. Moreover, the results validated that combining computationally different yet contextually related tasks (1D binding pocket classification and binding affinity regression) is crucial for the DTI domain representation and DTA prediction performance.

TAG-DTA provides different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention layers, which give information about the overall importance of the input components (and their associations) to the model. Moreover, it showed increasing model understanding due to the dual nature of the prediction process, specifically due to the prediction of the 1D binding pocket, which conditions the prediction of the binding affinity and presents explicit evidence of potential key regions within the protein sequences, including in DTI pairs without the 3D complex annotated.

The major contribution of this study is an efficient and novel end-to-end bindingregion-guided Transformer-based architecture capable of simultaneously predicting the 1D binding pocket and binding affinity of DTI pairs, where binding information is actively integrated into the training process. Moreover, it models the interdependency of the proteomics, chemical, and binding-region-related pharmacological spaces, and provides increased DTI and model understanding due to the nature of the attention blocks and prediction of the 1D binding pocket.

#### 8.4.2 Study Limitations and Future Work

The pre-training step of the SMILES Transformer-Encoder based on the MLM approach improved the prediction performance and increased the robustness and discriminating power of the aggregate representation of the SMILES strings. These results corroborate that pre-training LLMs with a large corpus associated with the input domain leads to improved performance and learning capacity. On that account, extending the pre-training stage to the protein sequences can result in superior prediction performance, improve the robustness of the aggregate representation of the protein sequences, and reduce the effects of the proteomics domain representability in the learning process of TAG-DTA, which is of special interest considering the dual nature associated with the training and inferring stages of this architecture. Furthermore, pre-training LLMs, specifically Transformer-Encoders, greatly decreases the training time required to converge in the downstream tasks. Nevertheless, pre-training the Transformer-Encoder associated with the protein sequences is computationally complex and requires considerable resources due to the computational complexity of  $O(n^2)$  concerning the sequence length in the attention layers.

The unequivocal complexity surrounding the binding process between biologically relevant targets and active small compounds, and the importance of the complementarity of certain functional groups in the 3D space have led to a plethora of studies in the realm of binding pocket prediction. In that regard, the state-of-the-art in binding pocket prediction focuses on using 3D information to determine various potential pocket surfaces within the protein structures. Moreover, the 3D conformation and flexibility of the protein sequences and the 3D orientation and arrangement of the organic functional groups of the compounds are crucial for the binding process. Thus, exploring different levels of structural information and integrating multiple representations of the proteins and compounds can lead to improved performance and increased reliability in the learning process of the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological spaces. Furthermore, the stereoelectronic structure of the proteins and compounds plays an important role in the binding selectivity and overall reactivity, hence, incorporating additional intricate terms associated with the proteomics and chemical domains into the learning process might lead to interesting findings and superior validity in the inferring process.

TAG-DTA demonstrated that learning the pharmacological space based on the short and long-term dependencies between the compound and the binding region (and the intra-associations within the binding region) leads to superior DTA prediction performance. Moreover, TAG-DTA provides increasing DTI and model understanding due to the prediction of the 1D binding pocket. However, stereochemical information is not included in the representation of the compounds (canonical SMILES), and the pharmacophore and relevant secondary functional groups associated with the compounds are not actively integrated into the learning process of the architecture. Hence, TAG-DTA is limited in its capacity to model the pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and physicochemical differences across constitutional isomers or stereoisomers (enantiomers or diastereomers) of certain chemical compounds, and the overall polypharmacological nature associated with most active small molecules. Additionally, the identification of relevant components and substructures within the compound space is important to increase the reliability of the predictions and to promote the following steps of the drug discovery pipeline, i.e., the lead optimization stage. In that regard, extending the TAG-DTA to actively model the interdependencies between the pharmacophore of the compounds and the binding region within the proteins can increase the robustness and validity of the results and lead to new insights in the DTI domain.
# Chapter 9

## Conclusions

his chapter highlights the primary contributions and offers a comprehensive overview of the conducted research. Furthermore, it discusses and delves into future research directions.

#### 9.1 Overview of the Main Contributions

This thesis presents a comprehensive study on novel and explainable DL-based solutions for predicting Drug–Target Affinity (DTA) using 1D raw sequential and structural representations of the proteins and compounds. These solutions are capable of providing potential evidence to support the rationale behind the predictions and shed light on the mechanisms involved in the interaction between active compounds and biologically relevant targets. Furthermore, this research progressively addresses some of the primary challenges that persist in the drug discovery domain, including the multi-domain representation space of DTIs and the importance to proficiently modeling the pharmacological space based on information concerning binding pockets.

In Chapter 6, a post-hoc explainability algorithm was proposed and explored to provide potential explanations for the decision-making process of CNNs in the context of DTA prediction. The deep representations extracted by the CNNs were shown to be efficient and discriminating for the prediction of binding affinity. Moreover, CNNs were found to identify and extract features from regions relevant for the interaction, specifically binding sites and evolutionarily conserved motifs, without any *a priori* information during the learning stage. The weight associated with these spots was also in the range of those with the highest positive influence.

In Chapter 7, the multi-domain inter-dependency associated with DTIs was addressed by combining self and cross-attention mechanisms to learn the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts. Multiple Transformer-Encoders were stacked into a novel end-to-end Transformer-based architecture (DTITR) for predicting DTA. The results demonstrated that combining the proteomics, chemical, and pharmacological contexts improves the prediction efficiency compared to using only the individual proteomics and chemical context information of the proteins and compounds. Furthermore, the architecture is capable of providing different levels of potential DTI and prediction understanding due to the nature of the attention mechanisms. In that regard, the compounds were shown to be attending to bindingrelated residues.

In Chapter 8, a binding-region-guided strategy was proposed to model the pharmacological space of the interaction and learn the inter-dependency amongst bindingrelated positions. Additionally, two computationally different yet contextually related tasks, specifically 1D binding pocket classification and binding affinity regression, were combined into an end-to-end Transformer-based framework (TAG-DTA). The results demonstrated that actively integrating information concerning binding pockets during the learning stage of TAG-DTA leads to significantly improved DTA prediction performance. Moreover, this framework presents explicit evidence of potential key regions within the protein sequence for the prediction of binding affinity due to the dual nature of the inferring process.

Overall, endeavors were undertaken to design computational solutions with the aim of enhancing the drug discovery process chain and focusing on tackling pressing challenges related to the development of prospective applications for predicting DTI or DTA. Furthermore, the reported findings bridge the gap between ML/DL and domain knowledge, and highlight possible paths to incorporating these solutions into existing and stacked drug discovery and development pipelines.

#### 9.2 Future Research Directions

In spite of the considerable and consistently increasing investments in drug design and development, numerous opportunities for expansion endure. The investigation undertaken in this study centers on certain cornerstones of drug design and development. Nevertheless, the unequivocal complexity inherent in the comprehensive binding process between biologically relevant targets and active compounds underscores the multi-domain and multi-objective nature of drug discovery. Consequently, future research endeavors encompass a range of pertinent aspects.

In light of the polypharmacological nature commonly attributed to most existing compounds and the potential for synergistic effects, it is imperative to incorporate additional intricate properties associated with the chemical domain into the learning process for accurate compound characterization [15, 356]. Furthermore, the 3D orientation and arrangement of the organic functional groups significantly influence the pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and physicochemical properties of active small molecules [95, 96]. Hence, exploring various levels of structural information and integrating multiple representations of compounds to accurately depict their stereoelectronic structure, which plays a pivotal role in binding selectivity and overall reactivity, may yield valuable insights and enhance the predictive validity of the computational solutions reported in this study.

The identification of relevant components and substructures within the compound space is indispensable for facilitating various phases of the drug discovery pipeline, such as lead discovery and lead optimization. Modern drug discovery sources prioritize the application of *de novo* drug design based on *in silico* techniques to generate novel and synthesizable small compounds endowed with desired pharmacological properties and heightened selectivity for biologically relevant targets [357]. On that account, extending the computational frameworks put forth and investigated in this thesis to actively model the inter-dependencies between the organic functional groups of compounds and the binding regions within the proteins can effectively narrow the search space and reduce the requirement for numerous systematic modifications and refinements of the structure of lead compounds. Furthermore, it can augment the robustness and validity of the findings and further amplify the explainability and informativeness of the ensuing computational frameworks.

The majority of proteins inherently manifest dynamic behavior and substantial conformational flexibility, undergoing transitions between various conformational states or substates that maintain comparable energy levels [136, 138]. Moreover, numerous proteins experience conformational changes to facilitate their interaction with specific ligands. In this context, the characteristics and positioning of the binding pockets within the proteins also exert influence on the binding dynamics [150, 144]. Therefore, it is imperative to delve into 3D multi-instance learning to accurately characterize proteins (including their binding pockets) with respect to the range of possible conformations. Additionally, certain binding pockets are linked to transient states due to the stabilization of energy contributions [151], hence, the incorporation of 3D multi-instance learning may serve to facilitate the discovery and/or design of potential leads that selectively bind to these regions with high affinity.

Research within the realm of pharmacogenomics has revealed that the pharmacokinetics of various compounds are subject to the influence of genomic variations [358, 359]. These genetic alterations result in distinct transcriptomic profiles and, consequently, modifications in proteomic profiles. Thus, it is relevant to incorporate considerations of individual variability, particularly genomic and proteomics profiles, to effectively identify potential lead compounds. This is particularly decisive for specific clinical conditions marked by a notable degree of heterogeneity [360, 361]. Moreover, in the era of precision medicine it is paramount to account for all individual variability in order to accurately design pharmacological strategies..

Regardless of the inherent challenges entailed in the pursuit of scientific research and the indispensable requirement for sufficient resources to facilitate these endeavors, it is of paramount importance to enhance the communication between ML/DL researchers and domain experts. This is essential to further validate the applicability of complex computational frameworks within crucial domains like drug discovery. Furthermore, active engagement with multidisciplinary experts assumes a vital role in achieving a deeper understanding of the challenges associated with this research area and designing explainable and informative computational solutions [31, 312].

### Bibliography

- HUGHES, J. P. AND REES, S. AND KALINDJIAN, S. B. AND PHILPOTT, K. L., Principles of early drug discovery, British Journal of Pharmacology 162 (6) (2011) 1239–1249. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2010.01127.x.
- [2] PAUL, STEVEN M. AND MYTELKA, DANIEL S. AND DUNWIDDIE, CHRISTO-PHER T. AND PERSINGER, CHARLES C. AND MUNOS, BERNARD H. AND LINDBORG, STACY R. AND SCHACHT, AARON L., How to improve R&D productivity: the pharmaceutical industry's grand challenge, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 9 (2010) 203 EP –. doi:10.1038/nrd3078.
- [3] ZHOU, HONGYI AND GAO, MU AND SKOLNICK, JEFFREY, Comprehensive prediction of drug-protein interactions and side effects for the human proteome, Scientific Reports 5 (2015) 11090 EP -. doi:10.1038/srep11090.
- [4] SCHNEIDER, PETRA AND WALTERS, W. PATRICK AND PLOWRIGHT, AL-LEYN T. AND SIEROKA, NORMAN AND LISTGARTEN, JENNIFER AND GOOD-NOW, ROBERT A. AND FISHER, JASMIN AND JANSEN, JOHANNA M. AND DUCA, JOSÉ S. AND RUSH, THOMAS S. AND ZENTGRAF, MATTHIAS AND HILL, JOHN EDWARD AND KRUTOHOLOW, ELIZABETH AND KOHLER, MATTHIAS AND BLANEY, JEFF AND FUNATSU, KIMITO AND LUEBKE-MANN, CHRIS AND SCHNEIDER, GISBERT, Rethinking drug design in the artificial intelligence era, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 19 (5) (2020) 353– 364. doi:10.1038/s41573-019-0050-3.
- [5] SHAMEER, KHADER AND DUDLEY, BEN READHEAD AND JOEL T., Computational and Experimental Advances in Drug Repositioning for Accelerated Therapeutic Stratification, Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 15 (1) (2015) 5–20. doi:10.2174/1568026615666150112103510.
- [6] GAULTON, ANNA AND HERSEY, ANNE AND NOWOTKA, MICHAŁ AND BENTO, A. PATRÍCIA AND CHAMBERS, JON AND MENDEZ, DAVID AND

MUTOWO, PRUDENCE AND ATKINSON, FRANCIS AND BELLIS, LOUISA J. AND CIBRIÁN-UHALTE, ELENA AND DAVIES, MARK AND DEDMAN, NATHAN AND KARLSSON, ANNELI AND MAGARIÑOS, MARÍA PAULA AND OVERINGTON, JOHN P. AND PAPADATOS, GEORGE AND SMIT, INES AND LEACH, ANDREW R., The ChEMBL database in 2017, Nucleic Acids Research 45 (D1) (2017) D945–D954. doi:10.1093/nar/gkw1074.

- [7] WANG, WENJING AND SUN, QIU, Novel targeted drugs approved by the NMPA and FDA in 2019, Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy 5 (1) (2020) 65. doi:10.1038/s41392-020-0164-4.
- [8] BONI, MACIEJ F. AND LEMEY, PHILIPPE AND JIANG, XIAOWEI AND LAM, TOMMY TSAN-YUK AND PERRY, BLAIR W. AND CASTOE, TODD A. AND RAMBAUT, ANDREW AND ROBERTSON, DAVID L., Evolutionary origins of the SARS-CoV-2 sarbecovirus lineage responsible for the COVID-19 pandemic, Nature Microbiologydoi:10.1038/s41564-020-0771-4.
- [9] GOULD, IAN M. AND BAL, ABHIJIT M., New antibiotic agents in the pipeline and how they can help overcome microbial resistance, Virulence 4 (2) (2013) 185–191. doi:10.4161/viru.22507.
- [10] SENGUPTA, SASWATI AND CHATTOPADHYAY, MADHAB AND GROSSART, HANS-PETER, The multifaceted roles of antibiotics and antibiotic resistance in nature, Frontiers in Microbiology 4 (2013) 47. doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2013.00047.
- [11] VENTOLA, C. LEE, The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 1: causes and threats, P & T : a peer-reviewed journal for formulary management 40 (4) (2015) 277– 283.
- [12] ASLAM, BILAL AND WANG, WEI AND ARSHAD, MUHAMMAD IMRAN AND KHURSHID, MOHSIN AND MUZAMMIL, SAIMA AND RASOOL, MUHAMMAD HIDAYAT AND NISAR, MUHAMMAD ATIF AND ALVI, RUMAN FAROOQ AND ASLAM, MUHAMMAD AAMIR AND QAMAR, MUHAMMAD USMAN AND SALAMAT, MUHAMMAD KHALID FAROOQ AND BALOCH, ZULQARNAIN, Antibiotic resistance: a rundown of a global crisis, Infect Drug Resist 11 (2018) 1645–1658. doi:10.2147/IDR.S173867.
- [13] HEGEMANN, JULIAN D. AND BIRKELBACH, JOY AND WALESCH, SEBAS-TIAN AND MÜLLER, ROLF, Current developments in antibiotic discovery, EMBO reports 24 (1) (2023) e56184. doi:10.15252/embr.202256184.

- [14] D'SOUZA, SOFIA AND PREMA, K. V. AND BALAJI, SEETHARAMAN, Machine learning models for drug-target interactions: current knowledge and future directions, Drug Discovery Today 25 (4) (2020) 748–756. doi:10.1016/ j.drudis.2020.03.003.
- [15] KABIR, ABBAS AND MUTH, AARON, Polypharmacology: The science of multi-targeting molecules, Pharmacological Research 176 (2022) 106055. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2021.106055.
- [16] EZZAT, ALI AND WU, MIN AND LI, XIAO-LI AND KWOH, CHEE-KEONG, Drug-target interaction prediction via class imbalance-aware ensemble learning, BMC Bioinformatics 17 (19) (2016) 509. doi:10.1186/s12859-016-1377-y.
- [17] TAYEBI, AIDA AND YOUSEFI, NILOOFAR AND YAZDANI-JAHROMI, MEHDI AND KOLANTHAI, ELAYARAJA AND NEAL, CRAIG J. AND SEAL, SUDIPTA AND GARIBAY, OZLEM O., UnbiasedDTI: Mitigating Real-World Bias of Drug-Target Interaction Prediction by Using Deep Ensemble-Balanced Learning (2022). doi:10.3390/molecules27092980.
- [18] GILSON, MICHAEL K. AND LIU, TIQING AND BAITALUK, MICHAEL AND NICOLA, GEORGE AND HWANG, LINDA AND CHONG, JENNY, BindingDB in 2015: A public database for medicinal chemistry, computational chemistry and systems pharmacology, Nucleic Acids Research 44 (D1) (2016) D1045–D1053. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv1072.
- [19] WANG, RENXIAO AND FANG, XUELIANG AND LU, YIPIN AND WANG, SHAOMENG, The PDBbind Database: Collection of Binding Affinities for Protein-Ligand Complexes with Known Three-Dimensional Structures, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 47 (12) (2004) 2977–2980. doi:10.1021/ jm0305801.
- [20] THAFAR, MAHA AND RAIES, ARWA BIN AND ALBARADEI, SOMAYAH AND ESSACK, MAGBUBAH AND BAJIC, VLADIMIR B., Comparison Study of Computational Prediction Tools for Drug-Target Binding Affinities, Frontiers in Chemistry 7. doi:10.3389/fchem.2019.00782.
- [21] BURLINGHAM, BENJAMIN T. AND WIDLANSKI, THEODORE S., An Intuitive Look at the Relationship of Ki and IC50: A More General Use for the Dixon Plot, Journal of Chemical Education 80 (2) (2003) 214. doi: 10.1021/ed080p214.

- [22] BACHMANN, KENNETH A. AND LEWIS, JEFFREY D., Predicting Inhibitory Drug—Drug Interactions and Evaluating Drug Interaction Reports Using Inhibition Constants, Annals of Pharmacotherapy 39 (6) (2005) 1064–1072. doi:10.1345/aph.1E508.
- [23] HULME, EDWARD C. AND TREVETHICK, MIKE A., Ligand binding assays at equilibrium: validation and interpretation, British Journal of Pharmacology 161 (6) (2010) 1219–1237. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00604.x.
- [24] DU, XING AND LI, YI AND XIA, YUAN-LING AND AI, SHI-MENG AND LIANG, JING AND SANG, PENG AND JI, XING-LAI AND LIU, SHU-QUN, Insights into Protein-Ligand Interactions: Mechanisms, Models, and Methods (2016). doi:10.3390/ijms17020144.
- [25] MA, WEINA AND YANG, LIU AND HE, LANGCHONG, Overview of the detection methods for equilibrium dissociation constant KD of drug-receptor interaction, Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis 8 (3) (2018) 147–152. doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2018.05.001.
- [26] RAVÌ, D. AND WONG, C. AND DELIGIANNI, F. AND BERTHELOT, M. AND ANDREU-PEREZ, J. AND LO, B. AND YANG, G.-Z., Deep Learning for Health Informatics, IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics 21 (1) (2017) 4–21. doi:10.1109/JBHI.2016.2636665.
- [27] RIFAIOGLU, AHMET SUREYYA AND ATAS, HEVAL AND MARTIN, MARIA JESUS AND CETIN-ATALAY, RENGUL AND ATALAY, VOLKAN AND DOĞAN, TUNCA, Recent applications of deep learning and machine intelligence on in silico drug discovery: methods, tools and databases, Briefings in Bioinformatics 20 (5) (2018) 1878–1912. doi:10.1093/bib/bby061.
- [28] LONDON, ALEX JOHN, Artificial Intelligence and Black-Box Medical Decisions: Accuracy versus Explainability, Hastings Center Report 49 (1) (2019) 15–21. doi:10.1002/hast.973.
- [29] CASTELVECCHI, DAVIDE, Can we open the black box of AI?, Nature 538 (2016) 20-23. doi:10.1038/538020a.
- [30] PREUER, KRISTINA AND KLAMBAUER, GÜNTER AND RIPPMANN, FRIEDRICH AND HOCHREITER, SEPP AND UNTERTHINER, THOMAS, Interpretable Deep Learning in Drug Discovery, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2019, pp. 331–345. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-28954-6\_18.

- [31] JIMÉNEZ-LUNA, JOSÉ AND GRISONI, FRANCESCA AND SCHNEIDER, GIS-BERT, Drug discovery with explainable artificial intelligence, Nature Machine Intelligence 2 (10) (2020) 573–584. doi:10.1038/s42256-020-00236-4.
- [32] FINALE DOSHI-VELEZ AND BEEN KIM, Towards A Rigorous Science of Interpretable Machine Learning (2017). arXiv:1702.08608v2.
- [33] KRASNER, JOSEPH, Drug-Protein Interaction, Pediatric Clinics of North America 19 (1) (1972) 51–63. doi:10.1016/S0031-3955(16)32666-9.
- [34] GUO, FEI AND WANG, LUSHENG, Computing the protein binding sites, BMC bioinformatics 13 Suppl 10 (Suppl 10) (2012) S2–S2. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-13-S10-S2.
- [35] CHENG, TIEJUN AND HAO, MING AND TAKEDA, TAKAKO AND BRYANT, STEPHEN H. AND WANG, YANLI, Large-Scale Prediction of Drug-Target Interaction: a Data-Centric Review, The AAPS Journal 19 (5) (2017) 1264– 1275. doi:10.1208/s12248-017-0092-6.
- [36] AGAMAH, FRANCIS E. AND MAZANDU, GASTON K. AND HASSAN, RADIA AND BOPE, CHRISTIAN D. AND THOMFORD, NICHOLAS E. AND GHANSAH, ANITA AND CHIMUSA, EMILE R., Computational/in silico methods in drug target and lead prediction, Briefings in Bioinformatics 21 (5) (2020) 1663– 1675. doi:10.1093/bib/bbz103.
- [37] HANSON, JACK AND PALIWAL, KULDIP K. AND LITFIN, THOMAS AND YANG, YUEDONG AND ZHOU, YAOQI, Getting to Know Your Neighbor: Protein Structure Prediction Comes of Age with Contextual Machine Learning, Journal of Computational Biology 27 (5) (2020) 796–814. doi:10.1089/ cmb.2019.0193.
- [38] KONC, JANEZ AND JANEŽIČ, DUŠANKA, Binding site comparison for function prediction and pharmaceutical discovery, Current Opinion in Structural Biology 25 (2014) 34–39. doi:10.1016/j.sbi.2013.11.012.
- [39] PARICHARAK, SHARDUL AND CORTÉS-CIRIANO, ISIDRO AND IJZERMAN, ADRIAAN P. AND MALLIAVIN, THÉRÈSE E. AND BENDER, ANDREAS, Proteochemometric modelling coupled to in silico target prediction: an integrated approach for the simultaneous prediction of polypharmacology and binding affinity/potency of small molecules, Journal of Cheminformatics 7 (1) (2015) 15. doi:10.1186/s13321-015-0063-9.

- [40] RASTI, BEHNAM AND KARIMI-JAFARI, MOHAMMAD H. AND GHASEMI, JA-HAN B., Quantitative Characterization of the Interaction Space of the Mammalian Carbonic Anhydrase Isoforms I, II, VII, IX, XII, and XIV and their Inhibitors, Using the Proteochemometric Approach, Chemical Biology & Drug Design 88 (3) (2016) 341–353. doi:10.1111/cbdd.12759.
- [41] CHRISTMANN-FRANCK, SERGE AND VAN WESTEN, GERARD J. P. AND PAPADATOS, GEORGE AND BELTRAN ESCUDIE, FANNY AND ROBERTS, ALEXANDER AND OVERINGTON, JOHN P. AND DOMINE, DANIEL, Unprecedently Large-Scale Kinase Inhibitor Set Enabling the Accurate Prediction of Compound-Kinase Activities: A Way toward Selective Promiscuity by Design?, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 56 (9) (2016) 1654–1675. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.6b00122.
- [42] PÉROT, STÉPHANIE AND SPERANDIO, OLIVIER AND MITEVA, MARIA A. AND CAMPROUX, ANNE-CLAUDE AND VILLOUTREIX, BRUNO O., Druggable pockets and binding site centric chemical space: a paradigm shift in drug discovery, Drug Discovery Today 15 (15) (2010) 656–667. doi: 10.1016/j.drudis.2010.05.015.
- [43] ZHENG, XILIANG AND GAN, LINFENG AND WANG, ERKANG AND WANG, JIN, Pocket-Based Drug Design: Exploring Pocket Space, The AAPS Journal 15 (1) (2013) 228–241. doi:10.1208/s12248-012-9426-6.
- [44] TIBAUT, T. AND BORIŠEK, J. AND NOVIČ, M. AND TURK, D., Comparison of in silico tools for binding site prediction applied for structure-based design of autolysin inhibitors, SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 27 (7) (2016) 573–587. doi:10.1080/1062936X.2016.1217271.
- [45] CAPRA, JOHN A. AND SINGH, MONA, Predicting functionally important residues from sequence conservation, Bioinformatics 23 (15) (2007) 1875–1882. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btm270.
- [46] NELSON, DAVID L. AND COX, MICHAEL, Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry. 5th ed, W. H. Freeman and Company, W. H. Freeman and Company, 2008.
- [47] JEZ, JOSEPH M., Revisiting protein structure, function, and evolution in the genomic era, Journal of Invertebrate Pathology 142 (2017) 11-15. doi: 10.1016/j.jip.2016.07.013.

- [48] TALLEY, KEMPER AND ALEXOV, EMIL, On the pH-optimum of activity and stability of proteins, Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics 78 (12) (2010) 2699–2706. doi:10.1002/prot.22786.
- [49] STUDER, ROMAIN AND DESSAILLY, BENOIT AND ORENGO, CHRISTINE, Residue mutations and their impact on protein structure and function: Detecting beneficial and pathogenic changes, The Biochemical journal 449 (2013) 581–94. doi:10.1042/BJ20121221.
- [50] BHATTACHARYA, ROSHNI AND ROSE, PETER W. AND BURLEY, STEPHEN K. AND PRLIC, ANDREAS, Impact of genetic variation on three dimensional structure and function of proteins, PLOS ONE 12 (3) (2017) e0171355. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171355.
- [51] LAURENCIKIENE, JURGA AND KÄLLMAN, ANNIKA M. AND FONG, NOVA AND BENTLEY, DAVID L. AND ÖHMAN, MARIE, RNA editing and alternative splicing: the importance of co-transcriptional coordination, EMBO reports 7 (3) (2006) 303–307. doi:10.1038/sj.embor.7400621.
- [52] JURADO, ASHLEY R. AND TAN, DAZHI AND JIAO, XINFU AND KILEDJIAN, MEGERDITCH AND TONG, LIANG, Structure and Function of Pre-mRNA 5'-End Capping Quality Control and 3'-End Processing, Biochemistry 53 (12) (2014) 1882–1898. doi:10.1021/bi401715v.
- [53] MIGNONE, FLAVIO AND GISSI, CARMELA AND LIUNI, SABINO AND PESOLE, GRAZIANO, Untranslated regions of mRNAs, Genome Biology 3 (3) (2002) reviews0004.1. doi:10.1186/gb-2002-3-3-reviews0004.
- [54] RAMAZI, SHAHIN AND ZAHIRI, JAVAD, Post-translational modifications in proteins: resources, tools and prediction methods, Database 2021 (2021) baab012. doi:10.1093/database/baab012.
- [55] SHEN, JUWEN AND ZHANG, JIAN AND LUO, XIAOMIN AND ZHU, WEILIANG AND YU, KUNQIAN AND CHEN, KAIXIAN AND LI, YIXUE AND JIANG, HUALIANG, Predicting protein-protein interactions based only on sequences information, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104 (11) (2007) 4337-4341. doi:10.1073/pnas.0607879104.
- [56] YU, CHI-YUAN AND CHOU, LIH-CHING AND CHANG, DARBY TIEN-HAO, Predicting protein-protein interactions in unbalanced data using the primary structure of proteins, BMC Bioinformatics 11 (1) (2010) 167. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2105-11-167.

- [57] CONSORTIUM, THE UNIPROT, UniProt: the Universal Protein Knowledgebase in 2023, Nucleic Acids Research 51 (D1) (2023) D523–D531. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkac1052.
- [58] KABSCH, WOLFGANG AND SANDER, CHRISTIAN, Dictionary of protein secondary structure: Pattern recognition of hydrogen-bonded and geometrical features, Biopolymers 22 (12) (1983) 2577–2637. doi:10.1002/ bip.360221211.
- [59] ANDERSEN, CLAUS A. F. AND PALMER, ARTHUR G. AND BRUNAK, SØREN AND ROST, BURKHARD, Continuum secondary structure captures protein flexibility, Structure 10 (2) (2002) 175–184. doi:10.1016/s0969-2126(02)00700-1.
- [60] COOLEY, RICHARD B. AND ARP, DANIEL J. AND KARPLUS, P. AN-DREW, Evolutionary Origin of a Secondary Structure: π-Helices as Cryptic but Widespread Insertional Variations of α-Helices That Enhance Protein Functionality, Journal of Molecular Biology 404 (2) (2010) 232–246. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2010.09.034.
- [61] LUKIN, JONATHAN A. AND KONTAXIS, GEORG AND SIMPLACEANU, VIRGIL AND YUAN, YUE AND BAX, AD AND HO, CHIEN, Quaternary structure of hemoglobin in solution, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100 (2) (2003) 517–520. doi:10.1073/pnas.232715799.
- [62] NAVARRO, GEMMA AND CORDOMÍ, ARNAU AND ZELMAN-FEMIAK, MONIKA AND BRUGAROLAS, MARC AND MORENO, ESTEFANIA AND AGUINAGA, DAVID AND PEREZ-BENITO, LAURA AND CORTÉS, ANTONI AND CASADÓ, VICENT AND MALLOL, JOSEFA AND CANELA, ENRIC I. AND LLUÍS, CARME AND PARDO, LEONARDO AND GARCÍA-SÁEZ, ANA J. AND MCCORMICK, PETER J. AND FRANCO, RAFAEL, Quaternary structure of a G-protein-coupled receptor heterotetramer in complex with Gi and Gs, BMC Biology 14 (1) (2016) 26. doi:10.1186/s12915-016-0247-4.
- [63] WATSON, H. C. AND KENDREW, J.C., The stereochemistry of the protein myoglobin (2017). doi:10.2210/pdb1MBN/pdb.
- [64] PAOLI, MASSIMO AND LIDDINGTON, ROBERT AND TAME, JEREMY AND WILKINSON, ANTHONY AND DODSON, GUY, Oxy T State Haemoglobin -Oxygen bound at all four haems (1996). doi:10.2210/pdb1GZX/pdb.

- [65] DREWS, JÜRGEN, Drug Discovery: A Historical Perspective, Science 287 (5460) (2000) 1960. doi:10.1126/science.287.5460.1960.
- [66] CHIN, YOUNG-WON AND BALUNAS, MARCY J. AND CHAI, HEE BYUNG AND KINGHORN, A. DOUGLAS, Drug discovery from natural sources, The AAPS Journal 8 (2) (2006) 28. doi:10.1007/BF02854894.
- [67] BOSCH, FÈLIX AND ROSICH, LAIA, The Contributions of Paul Ehrlich to Pharmacology: A Tribute on the Occasion of the Centenary of His Nobel Prize, Pharmacology 82 (3) (2008) 171–179. doi:10.1159/000149583.
- [68] LOMBARDINO, JOSEPH G. AND LOWE, JOHN A., The role of the medicinal chemist in drug discovery — then and now, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 3 (10) (2004) 853–862. doi:10.1038/nrd1523.
- [69] PINA, ANA SOFIA AND HUSSAIN, ABID AND ROQUE, ANA CECÍLIA A., An Historical Overview of Drug Discovery, Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 2010, pp. 3–12. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-244-5\_1.
- [70] GAYNES, ROBERT, The Discovery of Penicillin–New Insights After More Than 75 Years of Clinical Use, Emerging Infectious Diseases 23 (5) (2017) 849–853, pMC5403050[pmcid]. doi:10.3201/eid2305.161556.
- [71] MOHS, RICHARD C. AND GREIG, NIGEL H., Drug discovery and development: Role of basic biological research, Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions 3 (4) (2017) 651–657. doi:10.1016/ j.trci.2017.10.005.
- [72] BROACH, JAMES R. AND THORNER, JEREMY, High-throughput screening for drug discovery, Nature 384 (6604 SUPPL.) (1996) 14–16, review article. doi:10.1038/384014a0.
- [73] APPELL, KEN AND BALDWIN, JOHN J. AND EGAN, WILLIAM J., 2 Combinatorial Chemistry and High-Throughput Screening in Drug Discovery and Development, Vol. 3 of Handbook of Modern Pharmaceutical Analysis, Academic Press, 2001, pp. 23–56. doi:10.1016/S0149-6395(01)80004-0.
- [74] ENTZEROTH, MICHAEL AND FLOTOW, HORST AND CONDRON, PETER, Overview of High-Throughput Screening, Current Protocols in Pharmacology 44 (1) (2009) 9.4.1–9.4.27. doi:10.1002/0471141755.ph0904s44.
- [75] WILLIAMS, MICHAEL AND RADDATZ, RITA AND MEHLIN, CHRISTOPHER AND TRIGGLE, DAVID J., Receptor Targets in Drug Discovery, Reviews in

Cell Biology and Molecular Medicine, 2006, major Reference Works. doi: 10.1002/3527600906.mcb.200500063.

- [76] LEMKE, THOMAS L. AND WILLIAMS, DAVID A. AND ROCHE, VICTORIA F. AND ZITO, S. WILLIAM, Foye's Principles of Medicinal Chemistry, Seventh Edition, Wolters Kluwer Health Adis (ESP), 2013, book.
- [77] KERNS, EDWARD H. AND DI, LI, Pharmaceutical profiling in drug discovery, Drug Discovery Today 8 (7) (2003) 316–323. doi:10.1016/S1359– 6446(03)02649-7.
- [78] DI, LI AND KERNS, EDWARD H., Profiling drug-like properties in discovery research, Current Opinion in Chemical Biology 7 (3) (2003) 402–408. doi: 10.1016/S1367-5931(03)00055-3.
- [79] PERKINS, ROGER AND FANG, HONG AND TONG, WEIDA AND WELSH, WILLIAM J., Quantitative structure-activity relationship methods: Perspectives on drug discovery and toxicology, Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 22 (8) (2003) 1666–1679. doi:10.1897/01–171.
- [80] YENGI, LILIAN G. AND LEUNG, LOUIS AND KAO, JOHN, The Evolving Role of Drug Metabolism in Drug Discovery and Development, Pharmaceutical Research 24 (5) (2007) 842–858. doi:10.1007/s11095-006-9217-9.
- [81] SLENO, LEKHA AND EMILI, ANDREW, Proteomic methods for drug target discovery, Current Opinion in Chemical Biology 12 (1) (2008) 46–54. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.01.022.
- [82] EDWARDS, ALED M. AND ARROWSMITH, CHERYL H. AND CHRISTENDAT, DINESH AND DHARAMSI, AKIL AND FRIESEN, JAMES D. AND GREEN-BLATT, JACK F. AND VEDADI, MASOUD, Protein production: feeding the crystallographers and NMR spectroscopists, Nature Structural Biology 7 (11) (2000) 970–972. doi:10.1038/80751.
- [83] KATAYAMA, HIROYUKI AND ODA, YOSHIYA, Chemical proteomics for drug discovery based on compound-immobilized affinity chromatography, Journal of Chromatography B 855 (1) (2007) 21–27. doi:10.1016/ j.jchromb.2006.12.047.
- [84] PELLECCHIA, MAURIZIO AND SEM, DANIEL S. AND WÜTHRICH, KURT, Nmr in drug discovery, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 1 (3) (2002) 211–219. doi:10.1038/nrd748.

- [85] MAVEYRAUD, LAURENT AND MOUREY, LIONEL, Protein X-ray Crystallography and Drug Discovery (2020). doi:10.3390/molecules25051030.
- [86] ZHOU, SHU-FENG AND ZHONG, WEI-ZHU, Drug Design and Discovery: Principles and Applications (2017). doi:10.3390/molecules22020279.
- [87] MOUCHLIS, VARNAVAS D. AND AFANTITIS, ANTREAS AND SERRA, AN-GELA AND FRATELLO, MICHELE AND PAPADIAMANTIS, ANASTASIOS G. AND AIDINIS, VASSILIS AND LYNCH, ISEULT AND GRECO, DARIO AND MELAGRAKI, GEORGIA, Advances in De Novo Drug Design: From Conventional to Machine Learning Methods (2021). doi:10.3390/ijms22041676.
- [88] ASHBURN, TED T. AND THOR, KARL B., Drug repositioning: identifying and developing new uses for existing drugs, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 3 (8) (2004) 673-683. doi:10.1038/nrd1468.
- [89] DUDLEY, JOEL T. AND DESHPANDE, TARANGINI AND BUTTE, ATUL J., Exploiting drug-disease relationships for computational drug repositioning, Briefings in Bioinformatics 12 (4) (2011) 303-311. doi:10.1093/bib/bbr013.
- [90] EKINS, SEAN AND WILLIAMS, ANTONY J. AND KRASOWSKI, MATTHEW D. AND FREUNDLICH, JOEL S., In silico repositioning of approved drugs for rare and neglected diseases, Drug Discovery Today 16 (7) (2011) 298–310. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2011.02.016.
- [91] FDA, The Drug Development Process. URL https://www.fda.gov/patients/learn-about-drug-and-deviceapprovals/drug-development-process
- [92] MAO, FEI AND NI, WEI AND XU, XIANG AND WANG, HUI AND WANG, JING AND JI, MIN AND LI, JIAN, Chemical Structure-Related Drug-Like Criteria of Global Approved Drugs (2016). doi:10.3390/molecules21010075.
- [93] GOLAN, DAVID E AND TASHJIAN, ARMEN H AND ARMSTRONG, EHRIN J, Principles of pharmacology: the pathophysiologic basis of drug therapy, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2011.
- [94] HAGE, DAVID S. AND JACKSON, ABBY AND SOBANSKY, MATTHEW R. AND SCHIEL, JOHN E. AND YOO, MICHELLE J. AND JOSEPH, K. S., Characterization of drug-protein interactions in blood using high-performance affinity chromatography, Journal of Separation Science 32 (5-6) (2009) 835–853. doi:10.1002/jssc.200800640.

- [95] MCCONATHY, JONATHAN AND OWENS, MICHAEL J., Stereochemistry in drug action, Prim. Care Companion J. Clin. Psychiatry 5 (2) (2003) 70–73, pMC353039. doi:10.4088/pcc.v05n0202.
- [96] BROOKS, W. H. AND GUIDA, W. C. AND DANIEL, K. G., The significance of chirality in drug design and development, Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 11 (7) (2011) 760–770, pMC5765859. doi:10.2174/156802611795165098.
- [97] ZHANG, TINGHU AND HATCHER, JOHN M. AND TENG, MINGXING AND GRAY, NATHANAEL S. AND KOSTIC, MILKA, Recent advances in selective and irreversible covalent ligand development and validation, Cell Chem. Biol. 26 (11) (2019) 1486–1500, pMC6886688. doi:10.1016/ j.chembiol.2019.09.012.
- [98] KIELY-COLLINS, HANNAH AND WINTER, GEORG E. AND BERNARDES, GONÇALO J.L., The role of reversible and irreversible covalent chemistry in targeted protein degradation, Cell Chemical Biology 28 (7) (2021) 952–968. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2021.03.005.
- [99] ORAVCOVA', JANA AND BO"HS, BARBARA AND LINDNER, WOLFGANG, Drug-protein binding studies new trends in analytical and experimental methodology, Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications 677 (1) (1996) 1–28. doi:10.1016/0378-4347(95)00425-4.
- [100] CHRISTOPOULOS, ARTHUR, Allosteric binding sites on cell-surface receptors: novel targets for drug discovery, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 1 (3) (2002) 198–210. doi:10.1038/nrd746.
- [101] COZZINI, PIETRO AND KELLOGG, GLEN E. AND SPYRAKIS, FRANCESCA AND ABRAHAM, DONALD J. AND COSTANTINO, GABRIELE AND EMER-SON, ANDREW AND FANELLI, FRANCESCA AND GOHLKE, HOLGER AND KUHN, LESLIE A. AND MORRIS, GARRETT M. AND OROZCO, MODESTO AND PERTINHEZ, THELMA A. AND RIZZI, MENICO AND SOTRIFFER, CHRISTOPH A., Target Flexibility: An Emerging Consideration in Drug Discovery and Design, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 51 (20) (2008) 6237–6255. doi:10.1021/jm800562d.
- [102] AMARAL, M. AND KOKH, D. B. AND BOMKE, J. AND WEGENER, A. AND BUCHSTALLER, H. P. AND EGGENWEILER, H. M. AND MATIAS, P. AND SIRRENBERG, C. AND WADE, R. C. AND FRECH, M., Protein conforma-

tional flexibility modulates kinetics and thermodynamics of drug binding, Nature Communications 8 (1) (2017) 2276. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-02258-w.

- [103] LAMBERT, D. G., Drugs and receptors, Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain 4 (6) (2004) 181–184. doi:10.1093/bjaceaccp/mkh049.
- [104] NEWTON, PHILIP AND HARRISON, PAULA AND CLULOW, STEPHEN, A Novel Method for Determination of the Affinity of Protein: Protein Interactions in Homogeneous Assays, Journal of Biomolecular Screening 13 (7) (2008) 674–682. doi:10.1177/1087057108321086.
- [105] YUNG-CHI, CHENG AND PRUSOFF, WILLIAM H., Relationship between the inhibition constant (KI) and the concentration of inhibitor which causes 50 per cent inhibition (I50) of an enzymatic reaction, Biochemical Pharmacology 22 (23) (1973) 3099–3108. doi:10.1016/0006-2952(73)90196-2.
- [106] JOHNSON, KENNETH A. AND GOODY, ROGER S., The Original Michaelis Constant: Translation of the 1913 Michaelis-Menten Paper, Biochemistry 50 (39) (2011) 8264-8269. doi:10.1021/bi201284u.
- [107] CHAIRES, JONATHAN B., Calorimetry and Thermodynamics in Drug Design, Annual Review of Biophysics 37 (1) (2008) 135–151. doi:10.1146/ annurev.biophys.36.040306.132812.
- [108] STEINBRECHER, THOMAS AND LABAHN, ANDREAS, Towards Accurate Free Energy Calculations in Ligand Protein-Binding Studies, Current Medicinal Chemistry 17 (8) (2010) 767–785. doi:doi:10.2174/092986710790514453.
- [109] GIBBS, JOSIAH WILLARD, A method of geometrical representation of the thermodynamic properties by means of surfaces, The Collected Works of J. Willard Gibbs, Ph. D., LL. D (1957) 33–54.
- [110] GILSON, MICHAEL K. AND ZHOU, HUAN-XIANG, Calculation of Protein-Ligand Binding Affinities, Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure 36 (1) (2007) 21-42. doi:10.1146/ annurev.biophys.36.040306.132550.
- [111] LI, HUIMIN AND XIE, YUEHUI AND LIU, CIQUAN AND LIU, SHUQUN, Physicochemical bases for protein folding, dynamics, and protein-ligand binding, Science China Life Sciences 57 (3) (2014) 287–302. doi:10.1007/s11427-014-4617-2.

- [112] PEROZZO, REMO AND FOLKERS, GERD AND SCAPOZZA, LEONARDO, Thermodynamics of Protein-Ligand Interactions: History, Presence, and Future Aspects, Journal of Receptors and Signal Transduction 24 (1-2) (2004) 1–52. doi:10.1081/RRS-120037896.
- [113] LIU, SHU-QUN AND JI, XING-LAI AND TAO, YAN AND TAN, DE-YONG AND ZHANG, KE-QIN AND FU, YUN-XIN, Protein Folding, Binding and Energy Landscape: A Synthesis, IntechOpen, Rijeka, 2012, p. Ch. 10. doi: 10.5772/30440.
- [114] AMZEL, L.MARIO, Calculation of entropy changes in biological processes: Folding, binding, and oligomerization, Vol. 323 of Energetics of Biological Macromolecules, Part C, Academic Press, 2000, pp. 167–177. doi:10.1016/ S0076-6879(00)23366-1.
- [115] AMZEL, L. MARIO, Loss of translational entropy in binding, folding, and catalysis, Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics 28 (2) (1997) 144-149. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0134(199706)28:2<144::AID-PROT2> 3.0.CO;2-F.
- [116] MACRAILD, CHRISTOPHER A. AND DARANAS, ANTONIO HERNÁNDEZ AND BRONOWSKA, AGNIESZKA AND HOMANS, STEVE W., Global Changes in Local Protein Dynamics Reduce the Entropic Cost of Carbohydrate Binding in the Arabinose-binding Protein, Journal of Molecular Biology 368 (3) (2007) 822–832. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2007.02.055.
- [117] BRONOWSKA, AGNIESZKA K., Thermodynamics of Ligand-Protein Interactions: Implications for Molecular Design, IntechOpen, Rijeka, 2011, p. Ch. 1.
- [118] DUNITZ, J. D., Win some, lose some: enthalpy-entropy compensation in weak intermolecular interactions, Chemistry & amp; biology 2 (11) (1995) 709–712. doi:10.1016/1074-5521(95)90097-7.
- [119] CHODERA, JOHN D. AND MOBLEY, DAVID L., Entropy-Enthalpy Compensation: Role and Ramifications in Biomolecular Ligand Recognition and Design, Annual Review of Biophysics 42 (1) (2013) 121–142. doi:10.1146/annurevbiophys-083012-130318.
- [120] BREITEN, BENJAMIN AND LOCKETT, MATTHEW R. AND SHERMAN, WOODY AND FUJITA, SHUJI AND AL-SAYAH, MOHAMMAD AND LANGE, HEIKO AND BOWERS, CARLEEN M. AND HEROUX, ANNIE AND KRILOV,

GORAN AND WHITESIDES, GEORGE M., Water Networks Contribute to Enthalpy/Entropy Compensation in Protein-Ligand Binding, Journal of the American Chemical Society 135 (41) (2013) 15579–15584. doi:10.1021/ja4075776.

- [121] CRAMER, FRIEDRICH, Emil Fischer's Lock-and-Key Hypothesis after 100 years—Towards a Supracellular Chemistry, Perspectives in Supramolecular Chemistry, Perspectives in Supramolecular Chemistry, 1994, pp. 1–23. doi: 10.1002/9780470511411.ch1.
- [122] KOSHLAND JR., DANIEL E., The Key–Lock Theory and the Induced Fit Theory, Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English 33 (23-24) (1995) 2375–2378. doi:10.1002/anie.199423751.
- [123] KOSHLAND, D. E., Application of a Theory of Enzyme Specificity to Protein Synthesis\*, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 44 (2) (1958) 98–104. doi:10.1073/pnas.44.2.98.
- [124] TOBI, DROR AND BAHAR, IVET, Structural changes involved in protein binding correlate with intrinsic motions of proteins in the unbound state, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102 (52) (2005) 18908–18913. doi:10.1073/pnas.0507603102.
- [125] CSERMELY, PETER AND PALOTAI, ROBIN AND NUSSINOV, RUTH, Induced fit, conformational selection and independent dynamic segments: an extended view of binding events, Nature Precedingsdoi:10.1038/npre.2010.4422.1.
- [126] HOLYOAK, TODD, Molecular Recognition: Lock-and-Key, Induced Fit, and Conformational Selection, Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013, pp. 1584–1588. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-16712-6\_468.
- [127] ODRIOZOLA, G. AND JIMÉNEZ-ÁNGELES, F. AND LOZADA-CASSOU, M., Entropy driven key-lock assembly, The Journal of Chemical Physics 129 (11) (2008) 111101. doi:10.1063/1.2981795.
- [128] SACANNA, S. AND IRVINE, W. T. M. AND CHAIKIN, P. M. AND PINE, D. J., Lock and key colloids, Nature 464 (7288) (2010) 575–578. doi:10.1038/ nature08906.
- [129] KRAFT, DANIELA J. AND NI, RAN AND SMALLENBURG, FRANK AND HERMES, MICHIEL AND YOON, KISUN AND WEITZ, DAVID A. AND VAN BLAADEREN, ALFONS AND GROENEWOLD, JAN AND DIJKSTRA, MAR-JOLEIN AND KEGEL, WILLEM K., Surface roughness directed self-assembly of

patchy particles into colloidal micelles, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109 (27) (2012) 10787–10792. doi:10.1073/pnas.1116820109.

- [130] SCHNEIDER, HANS-JÖRG, Limitations and Extensions of the Lock-and-Key Principle: Differences between Gas State, Solution and Solid State Structures (2015). doi:10.3390/ijms16046694.
- [131] BOSSHARD, HANS RUDOLF, Molecular Recognition by Induced Fit: How Fit is the Concept?, Physiology 16 (4) (2001) 171–173. doi:10.1152/ physiologyonline.2001.16.4.171.
- [132] CHANG, CHIA-EN AND GILSON, MICHAEL K., Free Energy, Entropy, and Induced Fit in Host-Guest Recognition: Calculations with the Second-Generation Mining Minima Algorithm, Journal of the American Chemical Society 126 (40) (2004) 13156–13164. doi:10.1021/ja047115d.
- [133] CORBETT, PETER T. AND TONG, LOK H. AND SANDERS, JEREMY K. M. AND OTTO, SIJBREN, Diastereoselective Amplification of an Induced-Fit Receptor from a Dynamic Combinatorial Library, Journal of the American Chemical Society 127 (25) (2005) 8902–8903. doi:10.1021/ja050790i.
- [134] HARIHARAN, PARAMESWARAN AND GUAN, LAN, Insights into the Inhibitory Mechanisms of the Regulatory Protein IIA;sup;Glc;/sup; on Melibiose Permease Activity \*, Journal of Biological Chemistry 289 (47) (2014) 33012–33019. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.609255.
- [135] HENZLER-WILDMAN, KATHERINE AND KERN, DOROTHEE, Dynamic personalities of proteins, Nature 450 (7172) (2007) 964–972. doi:10.1038/ nature06522.
- [136] BOEHR, DAVID D. AND NUSSINOV, RUTH AND WRIGHT, PETER E., The role of dynamic conformational ensembles in biomolecular recognition, Nature Chemical Biology 5 (11) (2009) 789–796. doi:10.1038/nchembio.232.
- [137] FOOTE, J. AND MILSTEIN, C., Conformational isomerism and the diversity of antibodies., Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 91 (22) (1994) 10370–10374. doi:10.1073/pnas.91.22.10370.
- [138] KUMAR, SANDEEP AND MA, BUYONG AND TSAI, CHUNG-JUNG AND SINHA, NEETI AND NUSSINOV, RUTH, Folding and binding cascades: Dynamic landscapes and population shifts, Protein Science 9 (1) (2000) 10–19. doi:10.1110/ps.9.1.10.

- [139] MA, BUYONG AND WOLFSON, HAIM J. AND NUSSINOV, RUTH, Protein functional epitopes: hot spots, dynamics and combinatorial libraries, Current Opinion in Structural Biology 11 (3) (2001) 364–369. doi:10.1016/S0959– 440X(00)00216-5.
- [140] VOGT, AUSTIN D. AND DI CERA, ENRICO, Conformational Selection or Induced Fit? A Critical Appraisal of the Kinetic Mechanism, Biochemistry 51 (30) (2012) 5894–5902. doi:10.1021/bi3006913.
- [141] KASTRITIS, PANAGIOTIS L. AND BONVIN, ALEXANDRE M. J. J., On the binding affinity of macromolecular interactions: daring to ask why proteins interact, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 10 (79) (2013) 20120835. doi:10.1098/rsif.2012.0835.
- [142] NUSSINOV, RUTH AND MA, BUYONG AND TSAI, CHUNG-JUNG, Multiple conformational selection and induced fit events take place in allosteric propagation, Biophysical Chemistry 186 (2014) 22–30. doi:10.1016/ j.bpc.2013.10.002.
- [143] GREIVES, NICHOLAS AND ZHOU, HUAN-XIANG, Both protein dynamics and ligand concentration can shift the binding mechanism between conformational selection and induced fit, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111 (28) (2014) 10197–10202. doi:10.1073/pnas.1407545111.
- [144] GAO, MU AND SKOLNICK, JEFFREY, A Comprehensive Survey of Small-Molecule Binding Pockets in Proteins, PLOS Computational Biology 9 (10) (2013) e1003302. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003302.
- [145] HOPKINS, ANDREW L. AND GROOM, COLIN R., The druggable genome, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 1 (9) (2002) 727–730. doi:10.1038/nrd892.
- [146] HENRICH, STEFAN AND SALO-AHEN, OUTI M. H. AND HUANG, BINGDING AND RIPPMANN, FRIEDRICH F. AND CRUCIANI, GABRIELE AND WADE, REBECCA C., Computational approaches to identifying and characterizing protein binding sites for ligand design, Journal of Molecular Recognition 23 (2) (2010) 209–219. doi:10.1002/jmr.984.
- [147] DEL SOL, ANTONIO AND FUJIHASHI, HIROTOMO AND AMOROS, DOLORS AND NUSSINOV, RUTH, Residue centrality, functionally important residues, and active site shape: Analysis of enzyme and non-enzyme families, Protein Science 15 (9) (2006) 2120–2128. doi:10.1110/ps.062249106.

- [148] CARLSON, HEATHER A., Protein flexibility and drug design: how to hit a moving target, Current Opinion in Chemical Biology 6 (4) (2002) 447–452. doi:10.1016/S1367-5931(02)00341-1.
- [149] SURADE, SACHIN AND BLUNDELL, TOM L., Structural Biology and Drug Discovery of Difficult Targets: The Limits of Ligandability, Chemistry & Biology 19 (1) (2012) 42–50. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2011.12.013.
- [150] STANK, ANTONIA AND KOKH, DARIA B. AND FULLER, JONATHAN C. AND WADE, REBECCA C., Protein Binding Pocket Dynamics, Accounts of Chemical Research 49 (5) (2016) 809–815. doi:10.1021/acs.accounts.5b00516.
- [151] VOLL, ANDREAS M. AND MEYNERS, CHRISTIAN AND TAUBERT, MARTHA C. AND BAJAJ, THOMAS AND HEYMANN, TIM AND MERZ, STEPHANIE AND CHARALAMPIDOU, ANNA AND KOLOS, JÜRGEN AND PURDER, PATRICK L. AND GEIGER, THOMAS M. AND WESSIG, PABLO AND GASSEN, NILS C. AND BRACHER, ANDREAS AND HAUSCH, FELIX, Macrocyclic FKBP51 Ligands Define a Transient Binding Mode with Enhanced Selectivity, Angewandte Chemie International Edition 60 (24) (2021) 13257–13263. doi: 10.1002/anie.202017352.
- [152] UMEZAWA, KOJI AND KII, ISAO, Druggable Transient Pockets in Protein Kinases (2021). doi:10.3390/molecules26030651.
- [153] LERMA ROMERO, JORGE A. AND MEYNERS, CHRISTIAN AND CHRIST-MANN, ANDREAS AND REINBOLD, LISA M. AND CHARALAMPIDOU, ANNA AND HAUSCH, FELIX AND KOLMAR, HARALD, Binding pocket stabilization by high-throughput screening of yeast display libraries, Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences 9, original Research. doi:10.3389/fmolb.2022.1023131.
- [154] LEIS, SIMON AND SCHNEIDER, SEBASTIAN AND ZACHARIAS, MARTIN, In Silico Prediction of Binding Sites on Proteins, Current Medicinal Chemistry 17 (15) (2010) 1550–1562. doi:doi:10.2174/092986710790979944.
- [155] CHEN, KE AND MIZIANTY, MARCIN J. AND GAO, JIANZHAO AND KUR-GAN, LUKASZ, A Critical Comparative Assessment of Predictions of Protein-Binding Sites for Biologically Relevant Organic Compounds, Structure 19 (5) (2011) 613–621. doi:10.1016/j.str.2011.02.015.
- [156] ROCHE, DANIEL B. AND BRACKENRIDGE, DANIELLE A. AND MCGUF-FIN, LIAM J., Proteins and Their Interacting Partners: An Introduction

to Protein-Ligand Binding Site Prediction Methods (2015). doi:10.3390/ ijms161226202.

- [157] BROOMHEAD, NEAL K. AND SOLIMAN, MAHMOUD E., Can We Rely on Computational Predictions To Correctly Identify Ligand Binding Sites on Novel Protein Drug Targets? Assessment of Binding Site Prediction Methods and a Protocol for Validation of Predicted Binding Sites, Cell Biochemistry and Biophysics 75 (1) (2017) 15–23. doi:10.1007/s12013-016-0769-y.
- BRYLINSKI, MICHAL AND SKOLNICK, JEFFREY, A threading-based method (FINDSITE) for ligand-binding site prediction and functional annotation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105 (1) (2007) 129–134, pMC2224172. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0707684105.
- [159] CAPRA, JOHN A. AND LASKOWSKI, ROMAN A. AND THORNTON, JANET M. AND SINGH, MONA AND FUNKHOUSER, THOMAS A., Predicting Protein Ligand Binding Sites by Combining Evolutionary Sequence Conservation and 3D Structure, PLOS Computational Biology 5 (12) (2009) e1000585. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1000585.
- [160] ROY, AMBRISH AND YANG, JIANYI AND ZHANG, YANG, COFACTOR: an accurate comparative algorithm for structure-based protein function annotation, Nucleic Acids Research 40 (W1) (2012) W471–W477. doi:10.1093/nar/ gks372.
- [161] VOLKAMER, ANDREA AND KUHN, DANIEL AND GROMBACHER, THOMAS AND RIPPMANN, FRIEDRICH AND RAREY, MATTHIAS, Combining Global and Local Measures for Structure-Based Druggability Predictions, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 52 (2) (2012) 360–372. doi:10.1021/ ci200454v.
- [162] YANG, JIANYI AND ROY, AMBRISH AND ZHANG, YANG, Protein-ligand binding site recognition using complementary binding-specific substructure comparison and sequence profile alignment, Bioinformatics 29 (20) (2013) 2588-2595. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btt447.
- [163] KRIVÁK, RADOSLAV AND HOKSZA, DAVID, P2Rank: machine learning based tool for rapid and accurate prediction of ligand binding sites from protein structure, Journal of Cheminformatics 10 (1) (2018) 39. doi:10.1186/s13321-018-0285-8.

- [164] CUI, YIFENG AND DONG, QIWEN AND HONG, DAOCHENG AND WANG, XIKUN, Predicting protein-ligand binding residues with deep convolutional neural networks, BMC Bioinformatics 20 (1) (2019) 93. doi:10.1186/s12859-019-2672-1.
- [165] BREIMAN, LEO, Random Forests, Machine Learning 45 (1) (2001) 5–32. doi: 10.1023/A:1010933404324.
- [166] CORTES, CORINNA AND VAPNIK, VLADIMIR, Support-vector networks, Machine Learning 20 (3) (1995) 273–297. doi:10.1007/BF00994018.
- [167] DRUCKER, HARRIS AND BURGES, CHRISTOPHER J. C. AND KAUFMAN, LINDA AND SMOLA, ALEX AND VAPNIK, VLADIMIR, Support Vector Regression Machines, in: Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, Vol. 9, MIT Press, 1996.
- [168] HEIKAMP, KATHRIN AND BAJORATH, JÜRGEN, Support vector machines for drug discovery, Expert Opinion on Drug Discovery 9 (1) (2014) 93–104. doi:10.1517/17460441.2014.866943.
- [169] FRIEDMAN, JEROME H., Greedy Function Approximation: A Gradient Boosting Machine, The Annals of Statistics 29 (5) (2001) 1189–1232, full publication date: Oct., 2001. doi:10.1214/aos/1013203451.
- [170] TIANQI CHEN AND TONG HE, Higgs Boson Discovery with Boosted Trees, in: Proceedings of the NIPS 2014 Workshop on High-energy Physics and Machine Learning, Vol. 42 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, PMLR, Montreal, Canada, 2015, pp. 69–80.
- [171] CHEN, TIANQI AND GUESTRIN, CARLOS, XGBoost: A Scalable Tree Boosting System, KDD '16, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2016, p. 785–794. doi:10.1145/2939672.2939785.
- [172] ASHISH VASWANI AND NOAM SHAZEER AND NIKI PARMAR AND JAKOB USZKOREIT AND LLION JONES AND AIDAN N. GOMEZ AND LUKASZ KAISER AND ILLIA POLOSUKHIN, Attention Is All You Need (2017). arXiv: 1706.03762v5.
- [173] JACOB DEVLIN AND MING-WEI CHANG AND KENTON LEE AND KRISTINA TOUTANOVA, BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding (2019). arXiv:1810.04805.

- [174] NITISH SRIVASTAVA AND GEOFFREY HINTON AND ALEX KRIZHEVSKY AND ILYA SUTSKEVER AND RUSLAN SALAKHUTDINOV, Dropout: A Simple Way to Prevent Neural Networks from Overfitting, Journal of Machine Learning Research 15 (56) (2014) 1929–1958.
- [175] JIMMY LEI BA AND JAMIE RYAN KIROS AND GEOFFREY E. HINTON, Layer Normalization (2016). arXiv:1607.06450.
- [176] SOUSA, SÉRGIO FILIPE AND FERNANDES, PEDRO ALEXANDRINO AND RAMOS, MARIA JOÃO, Protein-ligand docking: Current status and future challenges, Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics 65 (1) (2006) 15-26. doi:10.1002/prot.21082.
- [177] GIOVANNI, A. LAVECCHIA AND C. DI, Virtual Screening Strategies in Drug Discovery: A Critical Review, Current Medicinal Chemistry 20 (23) (2013) 2839–2860. doi:10.2174/09298673113209990001.
- [178] PUJADAS, GERARD AND VAQUÉ, MONTSERRAT AND ARDÈVOL, ANNA AND BLADÉ, CINTA AND SALVADÓ, MARIA-JOSEPA AND BLAY, MAYTE AND FERNANDEZ-LARREA, JUAN-BAUTISTA AND AROLA, LLUIS, Proteinligand Docking: A Review of Recent Advances and Future Perspectives, Vol. 4 of Current Pharmaceutical Analysis, Current Pharmaceutical Analysis, 2008. doi:10.2174/157341208783497597.
- [179] PAGADALA, NATARAJ S. AND SYED, KHAJAMOHIDDIN AND TUSZYNSKI, JACK, Software for molecular docking: a review, Biophysical reviews 9 (2) (2017) 91–102. doi:10.1007/s12551-016-0247-1.
- [180] WATERHOUSE, ANDREW AND BERTONI, MARTINO AND BIENERT, STE-FAN AND STUDER, GABRIEL AND TAURIELLO, GERARDO AND GUMI-ENNY, RAFAL AND HEER, FLORIAN T. AND DE BEER, TJAART A. P. AND REMPFER, CHRISTINE AND BORDOLI, LORENZA AND LEPORE, ROS-ALBA AND SCHWEDE, TORSTEN, SWISS-MODEL: homology modelling of protein structures and complexes, Nucleic acids research 46 (W1). doi: 10.1093/nar/gky427.
- [181] JUMPER, JOHN AND EVANS, RICHARD AND PRITZEL, ALEXANDER AND GREEN, TIM AND FIGURNOV, MICHAEL AND RONNEBERGER, OLAF AND TUNYASUVUNAKOOL, KATHRYN AND BATES, RUSS AND ŽÍDEK, AUGUSTIN AND POTAPENKO, ANNA AND BRIDGLAND, ALEX AND MEYER, CLEMENS AND KOHL, SIMON A. A. AND BALLARD, ANDREW J. AND COWIE, AN-

DREW AND ROMERA-PAREDES, BERNARDINO AND NIKOLOV, STANISLAV AND JAIN, RISHUB AND ADLER, JONAS AND BACK, TREVOR AND PE-TERSEN, STIG AND REIMAN, DAVID AND CLANCY, ELLEN AND ZIELINSKI, MICHAL AND STEINEGGER, MARTIN AND PACHOLSKA, MICHALINA AND BERGHAMMER, TAMAS AND BODENSTEIN, SEBASTIAN AND SILVER, DAVID AND VINYALS, ORIOL AND SENIOR, ANDREW W. AND KAVUKCUOGLU, KORAY AND KOHLI, PUSHMEET AND HASSABIS, DEMIS, Highly accurate protein structure prediction with AlphaFold, Nature 596 (7873) (2021) 583– 589. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03819-2.

- [182] THILAGAVATHI, N. AND AMUDHA, T., An Analytical Study of NP-Hard Protein Folding Problems, in: 2014 International Conference on Intelligent Computing Applications, 2014, pp. 184–188. doi:10.1109/ICICA.2014.47.
- [183] L. TEODORO, MIGUEL AND PHILLIPS, GEORGE AND KAVRAKI, LYDIA, Molecular Docking: A Problem With Thousands Of Degrees Of Freedom, Vol. 1 of Proceedings - IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, Proceedings - IEEE International Conference on Robotics and Automation, 2002. doi:10.1109/ROBOT.2001.932674.
- [184] ZHANG, HAILEI AND LI, HONGLIN AND JIANG, HUALIANG AND SHEN, JIANHUA AND CHEN, KAIXIAN AND YANG, KUN AND YU, KUNQIAN AND KANG, LING AND ZHU, WEILIANG AND LUO, XIAOMIN AND WANG, XI-CHENG AND GAO, ZHENTING, TarFisDock: a web server for identifying drug targets with docking approach, Nucleic Acids Research 34 (suppl\_2) (2006) W219–W224. doi:10.1093/nar/gkl114.
- [185] WANG, JUI-CHIH AND CHU, PEI-YING AND CHEN, CHUNG-MING AND LIN, JUNG-HSIN, idTarget: a web server for identifying protein targets of small chemical molecules with robust scoring functions and a divide-and-conquer docking approach, Nucleic Acids Research 40 (W1) (2012) W393–W399. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks496.
- [186] BERMAN, H. M. AND WESTBROOK, J. AND FENG, Z. AND GILLILAND, G. AND BHAT, T. N. AND WEISSIG, H. AND SHINDYALOV, I. N. AND BOURNE, P. E., The Protein Data Bank, Nucleic Acids Res 28 (1) (2000) 235–242. doi:10.1093/nar/28.1.235.
- [187] HUEY, RUTH AND MORRIS, GARRETT M. AND OLSON, ARTHUR J. AND GOODSELL, DAVID S., A semiempirical free energy force field with charge-

based desolvation, Journal of Computational Chemistry 28 (6) (2007) 1145–1152. doi:10.1002/jcc.20634.

- [188] GOWTHAMAN, RAGUL AND MILLER, SVEN A. AND ROGERS, STEVEN AND KHOWSATHIT, JITTASAK AND LAN, LAN AND BAI, NAN AND JOHN-SON, DAVID K. AND LIU, CHUNJING AND XU, LIANG AND ANBANANDAM, ASOKAN AND AUBÉ, JEFFREY AND ROY, ANURADHA AND KARANICOLAS, JOHN, DARC: Mapping Surface Topography by Ray-Casting for Effective Virtual Screening at Protein Interaction Sites, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 59 (9) (2016) 4152–4170. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b00150.
- [189] LEAVER-FAY, ANDREW AND TYKA, MICHAEL AND LEWIS, STEVEN M. AND LANGE, OLIVER F. AND THOMPSON, JAMES AND JACAK, RON AND KAUFMAN, KRISTIAN W. AND RENFREW, P. DOUGLAS AND SMITH, COLIN A. AND SHEFFLER, WILL AND DAVIS, IAN W. AND COOPER, SETH AND TREUILLE, ADRIEN AND MANDELL, DANIEL J. AND RICHTER, FLORIAN AND BAN, YIH-EN ANDREW AND FLEISHMAN, SAREL J. AND CORN, JA-COB E. AND KIM, DAVID E. AND LYSKOV, SERGEY AND BERRONDO, MONICA AND MENTZER, STUART AND POPOVIĆ, ZORAN AND HAVRANEK, JAMES J. AND KARANICOLAS, JOHN AND DAS, RHIJU AND MEILER, JENS AND KORTEMME, TANJA AND GRAY, JEFFREY J. AND KUHLMAN, BRIAN AND BAKER, DAVID AND BRADLEY, PHILIP, Chapter nineteen - Rosetta3: An Object-Oriented Software Suite for the Simulation and Design of Macromolecules, Vol. 487 of Computer Methods, Part C, Academic Press, 2011, pp. 545-574. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-381270-4.00019-6.
- [190] WANG, FAN AND WU, FENG-XU AND LI, CHENG-ZHANG AND JIA, CHEN-YANG AND SU, SUN-WEN AND HAO, GE-FEI AND YANG, GUANG-FU, ACID: a free tool for drug repurposing using consensus inverse docking strategy, Journal of Cheminformatics 11 (1) (2019) 73. doi:10.1186/s13321-019-0394-z.
- [191] TROTT, OLEG AND OLSON, ARTHUR J., AutoDock Vina: Improving the speed and accuracy of docking with a new scoring function, efficient optimization, and multithreading, Journal of Computational Chemistry 31 (2) (2010) 455-461. doi:10.1002/jcc.21334.
- [192] LEPHAR, LEDOCK. URL http://www.lephar.com/

- [193] KORB, OLIVER AND STÜTZLE, THOMAS AND EXNER, THOMAS E., Empirical Scoring Functions for Advanced Protein-Ligand Docking with PLANTS, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 49 (1) (2009) 84–96. doi: 10.1021/ci800298z.
- [194] NG, MARCUS C. K. AND FONG, SIMON AND SIU, SHIRLEY W. I., PSOVina: The hybrid particle swarm optimization algorithm for protein-ligand docking, Journal of Bioinformatics and Computational Biology 13 (03) (2015) 1541007. doi:10.1142/S0219720015410073.
- [195] WANG, RENXIAO AND LAI, LUHUA AND WANG, SHAOMENG, Further development and validation of empirical scoring functions for structure-based binding affinity prediction, Journal of Computer-Aided Molecular Design 16 (1) (2002) 11–26. doi:10.1023/A:1016357811882.
- [196] OBIOL-PARDO, CRISTIAN AND RUBIO-MARTINEZ, JAIME, Comparative Evaluation of MMPBSA and XSCORE To Compute Binding Free Energy in XIAP-Peptide Complexes, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 47 (1) (2007) 134–142. doi:10.1021/ci600412z.
- [197] ZHANG, WENYI AND BELL, ERIC W. AND YIN, MINGHAO AND ZHANG, YANG, EDock: blind protein-ligand docking by replica-exchange monte carlo simulation, Journal of Cheminformatics 12 (1) (2020) 37. doi:10.1186/ s13321-020-00440-9.
- [198] SWENDSEN, ROBERT H. AND WANG, JIAN-SHENG, Replica Monte Carlo Simulation of Spin-Glasses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 57 (1986) 2607–2609. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.57.2607.
- [199] GEPPERT, HANNA AND VOGT, MARTIN AND BAJORATH, JÜRGEN, Current Trends in Ligand-Based Virtual Screening: Molecular Representations, Data Mining Methods, New Application Areas, and Performance Evaluation, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 50 (2) (2010) 205–216. doi:10.1021/ci900419k.
- [200] DUDEK, ARKADIUSZ Z. AND GALVEZ, TOMASZ ARODZ AND JORGE, Computational Methods in Developing Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships (QSAR): A Review, Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening 9 (3) (2006) 213–228. doi:10.2174/138620706776055539.
- [201] Afantitis, Antreas and Melagraki, Georgia and Sarimveis, Haralambos and Koutentis, Panayiotis A. and Markopoulos, John

AND IGGLESSI-MARKOPOULOU, OLGA, A novel QSAR model for predicting induction of apoptosis by 4-aryl-4H-chromenes, Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry 14 (19) (2006) 6686–6694. doi:10.1016/j.bmc.2006.05.061.

- [202] KEISER, MICHAEL J. AND ROTH, BRYAN L. AND ARMBRUSTER, BLAINE N. AND ERNSBERGER, PAUL AND IRWIN, JOHN J. AND SHOICHET, BRIAN K., Relating protein pharmacology by ligand chemistry, Nature Biotechnology 25 (2007) 197 EP –. doi:10.1038/nbt1284.
- [203] PEARSON, WILLIAM R., Empirical statistical estimates for sequence similarity searches, Journal of Molecular Biology 276 (1) (1998) 71-84. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1525.
- [204] LUO, MAN AND WANG, XIANG SIMON AND ROTH, BRYAN L. AND GOL-BRAIKH, ALEXANDER AND TROPSHA, ALEXANDER, Application of Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship Models of 5-HT1A Receptor Binding to Virtual Screening Identifies Novel and Potent 5-HT1A Ligands, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 54 (2) (2014) 634–647. doi: 10.1021/ci400460q.
- [205] TALETE: MILANO, ITALY, DRAGON for Windows and Linux. URL http://www.talete.mi.it/help/dragon\_help
- [206] MA, JUNSHUI AND SHERIDAN, ROBERT P. AND LIAW, ANDY AND DAHL, GEORGE E. AND SVETNIK, VLADIMIR, Deep Neural Nets as a Method for Quantitative Structure–Activity Relationships, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 55 (2) (2015) 263–274. doi:10.1021/ci500747n.
- [207] NEVES, BRUNO J. AND DANTAS, RAFAEL F. AND SENGER, MARIO R. AND MELO-FILHO, CLEBER C. AND VALENTE, WALTER C. G. AND DE ALMEIDA, ANA C. M. AND REZENDE-NETO, JOÃO M. AND LIMA, ELID F. C. AND PAVELEY, ROSS AND FURNHAM, NICHOLAS AND MU-RATOV, EUGENE AND KAMENTSKY, LEE AND CARPENTER, ANNE E. AND BRAGA, RODOLPHO C. AND SILVA-JUNIOR, FLORIANO P. AND AN-DRADE, CAROLINA HORTA, Discovery of New Anti-Schistosomal Hits by Integration of QSAR-Based Virtual Screening and High Content Screening, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 59 (15) (2016) 7075–7088. doi:10.1021/ acs.jmedchem.5b02038.
- [208] MORGAN, H. L., The Generation of a Unique Machine Description for Chemical Structures-A Technique Developed at Chemical Abstracts Service., Journal

of Chemical Documentation 5 (2) (1965) 107–113. doi:10.1021/c160017a018.

- [209] ROGERS, DAVID AND HAHN, MATHEW, Extended-Connectivity Fingerprints, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 50 (5) (2010) 742–754. doi: 10.1021/ci100050t.
- [210] CARHART, RAYMOND E. AND SMITH, DENNIS H. AND VENKATARAGHA-VAN, R., Atom pairs as molecular features in structure-activity studies: definition and applications, Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences 25 (2) (1985) 64–73. doi:10.1021/ci00046a002.
- [211] DURANT, JOSEPH L. AND LELAND, BURTON A. AND HENRY, DOUGLAS R. AND NOURSE, JAMES G., Reoptimization of MDL Keys for Use in Drug Discovery, Journal of Chemical Information and Computer Sciences 42 (6) (2002) 1273–1280. doi:10.1021/ci010132r.
- [212] WILLIGHAGEN, EGON L. AND MAYFIELD, JOHN W. AND ALVARSSON, JONATHAN AND BERG, ARVID AND CARLSSON, LARS AND JELIAZKOVA, NINA AND KUHN, STEFAN AND PLUSKAL, TOMÁŠ AND ROJAS-CHERTÓ, MIQUEL AND SPJUTH, OLA AND TORRANCE, GILLEAIN AND EVELO, CHRIS T. AND GUHA, RAJARSHI AND STEINBECK, CHRISTOPH, The Chemistry Development Kit (CDK) v2.0: atom typing, depiction, molecular formulas, and substructure searching, Journal of Cheminformatics 9 (1) (2017) 33. doi:10.1186/s13321-017-0220-4.
- [213] BRANDON J. BONGERS AND ADRIAAN. P. IJZERMAN AND GERARD J.P. VAN WESTEN, Proteochemometrics - recent developments in bioactivity and selectivity modeling, Drug Discovery Today: Technologies 32-33 (2019) 89–98, artificial Intelligence. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ddtec.2020.08.003.
- [214] EZZAT, ALI AND WU, MIN AND LI, XIAO-LI AND KWOH, CHEE-KEONG, Computational prediction of drug-target interactions using chemogenomic approaches: an empirical survey, Briefings in Bioinformaticsdoi:10.1093/bib/ bby002.
- [215] WANG, CHEN AND KURGAN, LUKASZ, Review and comparative assessment of similarity-based methods for prediction of drug-protein interactions in the druggable human proteome, Briefings in Bioinformaticsdoi:10.1093/ bib/bby069.
- [216] GUTTERIDGE, ALEX AND ARAKI, MICHIHIRO AND KANEHISA, MI-NORU AND HONDA, WATARU AND YAMANISHI, YOSHIHIRO, Prediction

of drug-target interaction networks from the integration of chemical and genomic spaces, Bioinformatics 24 (13) (2008) i232-i240. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btn162.

- [217] BLEAKLEY, KEVIN AND YAMANISHI, YOSHIHIRO, Supervised prediction of drug-target interactions using bipartite local models, Bioinformatics 25 (18) (2009) 2397–2403. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btp433.
- [218] CHENG, FEIXIONG AND LIU, CHUANG AND JIANG, JING AND LU, WEIQIANG AND LI, WEIHUA AND LIU, GUIXIA AND ZHOU, WEIXING AND HUANG, JIN AND TANG, YUN, Prediction of Drug-Target Interactions and Drug Repositioning via Network-Based Inference, PLOS Computational Biology 8 (5) (2012) e1002503. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1002503.
- [219] ZHENG, XIAODONG AND DING, HAO AND MAMITSUKA, HIROSHI AND ZHU, SHANFENG, Collaborative matrix factorization with multiple similarities for predicting drug-target interactions, Proceedings of the 19th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, Proceedings of the 19th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, 2013.
- [220] PENG, L. AND LIAO, B. AND ZHU, W. AND LI, Z. AND LI, K., Predicting Drug–Target Interactions With Multi-Information Fusion, IEEE Journal of Biomedical and Health Informatics 21 (2) (2017) 561–572. doi: 10.1109/JBHI.2015.2513200.
- [221] ZHOUCHEN LIN AND MINMING CHEN AND YI MA, The Augmented Lagrange Multiplier Method for Exact Recovery of Corrupted Low-Rank Matrices (2013). arXiv:1009.5055v3.
- [222] EZZAT, A. AND ZHAO, P. AND WU, M. AND LI, X.-L. AND KWOH, C.-K., Drug-Target Interaction Prediction with Graph Regularized Matrix Factorization, IEEE/ACM Transactions on Computational Biology and Bioinformatics 14 (3) (2017) 646–656. doi:10.1109/TCBB.2016.2530062.
- [223] DEBIE, ESSAM AND SHAFI, KAMRAN, Implications of the Curse of Dimensionality for Supervised Learning Classifier Systems: Theoretical and Empirical Analyses, Pattern Anal. Appl. 22 (2) (2019) 519–536. doi:10.1007/ s10044-017-0649-0.
- [224] YU, HUA AND CHEN, JIANXIN AND XU, XUE AND LI, YAN AND ZHAO, HUIHUI AND FANG, YUPENG AND LI, XIUXIU AND ZHOU, WEI AND WANG,

WEI AND WANG, YONGHUA, A Systematic Prediction of Multiple Drug-Target Interactions from Chemical, Genomic, and Pharmacological Data, PLOS ONE 7 (5) (2012) e37608. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037608.

- [225] LI, Z. R. AND LIN, H. H. AND HAN, L. Y. AND JIANG, L. AND CHEN, X. AND CHEN, Y. Z., PROFEAT: a web server for computing structural and physicochemical features of proteins and peptides from amino acid sequence, Nucleic Acids Research 34 (suppl\_2) (2006) W32–W37. doi:10.1093/nar/ gkl305.
- [226] CAO, DONG-SHENG AND ZHANG, LIU-XIA AND TAN, GUI-SHAN AND XI-ANG, ZHENG AND ZENG, WENBIN AND XU, QINGSONG AND CHEN, ALEX, Computational Prediction of DrugTarget Interactions Using Chemical, Biological, and Network Features, Vol. 33 of Molecular Informatics, Molecular Informatics, 2014. doi:10.1002/minf.201400009.
- [227] COELHO, EDGAR D. AND ARRAIS, JOEL P. AND OLIVEIRA, JOSÉ LUÍS, Computational Discovery of Putative Leads for Drug Repositioning through Drug-Target Interaction Prediction, PLOS Computational Biology 12 (11) (2016) e1005219. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1005219.
- [228] CAO, DONG-SHENG AND LIANG, YI-ZENG AND YAN, JUN AND TAN, GUI-SHAN AND XU, QING-SONG AND LIU, SHAO, PyDPI: Freely Available Python Package for Chemoinformatics, Bioinformatics, and Chemogenomics Studies, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 53 (11) (2013) 3086– 3096. doi:10.1021/ci400127q.
- [229] PENG, LIHONG AND ZHU, WEN AND LIAO, BO AND DUAN, YU AND CHEN, MIN AND CHEN, YI AND YANG, JIALIANG, Screening drug-target interactions with positive-unlabeled learning, Scientific Reports 7 (1) (2017) 8087. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08079-7.
- [230] LIU, BING AND LEE, WEE SUN AND YU, PHILIP S. AND LI, XIAOLI, Partially Supervised Classification of Text Documents, in: Proceedings of the Nineteenth International Conference on Machine Learning, ICML '02, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc., San Francisco, CA, USA, 2002, p. 387–394.
- [231] LI, XIAOLI AND LIU, BING, Learning to Classify Texts Using Positive and Unlabeled Data., Proceedings of Eighteenth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI-03): 2003; Acapulco, Mexico, Proceedings of

Eighteenth International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence (IJCAI-03): 2003, 2003.

- [232] YAP, CHUN WEI, PaDEL-descriptor: An open source software to calculate molecular descriptors and fingerprints, Journal of Computational Chemistry 32 (7) (2011) 1466–1474. doi:10.1002/jcc.21707.
- [233] MAMOSHINA, POLINA AND VIEIRA, ARMANDO AND PUTIN, EVGENY AND ZHAVORONKOV, ALEX, Applications of Deep Learning in Biomedicine, Molecular Pharmaceutics 13 (5) (2016) 1445–1454. doi:10.1021/ acs.molpharmaceut.5b00982.
- [234] LECUN, YANN AND BENGIO, YOSHUA AND HINTON, GEOFFREY, Deep learning, Nature 521 (2015) 436 EP -. doi:10.1038/nature14539.
- [235] TIAN, KAI AND SHAO, MINGYU AND WANG, YANG AND GUAN, JIHONG AND ZHOU, SHUIGENG, Boosting compound-protein interaction prediction by deep learning, Methods 110 (2016) 64–72. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2016.06.024.
- [236] PENG-WEI AND CHAN, KEITH AND YOU, ZHU-HONG, Large-scale prediction of drug-target interactions from deep representations, 2016 International Joint Conference on Neural Networks (IJCNN) (2016) 1236–1243doi: 10.1109/IJCNN.2016.7727339.
- [237] WEN, MING AND ZHANG, ZHIMIN AND NIU, SHAOYU AND SHA, HAOZHI AND YANG, RUIHAN AND YUN, YONGHUAN AND LU, HONGMEI, Deep-Learning-Based Drug-Target Interaction Prediction, Journal of Proteome Research 16 (4) (2017) 1401–1409. doi:10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00618.
- [238] WANG, YAN-BIN AND YOU, ZHU-HONG AND YANG, SHAN AND YI, HAI-CHENG AND CHEN, ZHAN-HENG AND ZHENG, KAI, A deep learning-based method for drug-target interaction prediction based on long short-term memory neural network, BMC Medical Informatics and Decision Making 20 (2) (2020) 49. doi:10.1186/s12911-020-1052-0.
- [239] TSUBAKI, MASASHI AND TOMII, KENTARO AND SESE, JUN, Compoundprotein interaction prediction with end-to-end learning of neural networks for graphs and sequences, Bioinformatics 35 (2) (2019) 309–318. doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/bty535.
- [240] LEE, INGOO AND KEUM, JONGSOO AND NAM, HOJUNG, DeepConv-DTI: Prediction of drug-target interactions via deep learning with convolution on

protein sequences, PLOS Computational Biology 15 (6) (2019) e1007129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007129.

- [241] MONTEIRO, N. R. C. AND RIBEIRO, B. AND ARRAIS, J. P., Drug-Target Interaction Prediction: End-to-End Deep Learning Approach, IEEE/ACM Transactions on Computational Biology and Bioinformatics 18 (6) (2021) 2364–2374. doi:10.1109/TCBB.2020.2977335.
- [242] DZMITRY BAHDANAU AND KYUNGHYUN CHO AND YOSHUA BENGIO, Neural Machine Translation by Jointly Learning to Align and Translate (2016). arXiv:1409.0473v7.
- [243] CHEN, LIFAN AND TAN, XIAOQIN AND WANG, DINGYAN AND ZHONG, FEISHENG AND LIU, XIAOHONG AND YANG, TIANBIAO AND LUO, XI-AOMIN AND CHEN, KAIXIAN AND JIANG, HUALIANG AND ZHENG, MINGYUE, TransformerCPI: improving compound-protein interaction prediction by sequence-based deep learning with self-attention mechanism and label reversal experiments, Bioinformatics 36 (16) (2020) 4406-4414. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa524.
- [244] HUANG, KEXIN AND XIAO, CAO AND GLASS, LUCAS M. AND SUN, JI-MENG, MolTrans: Molecular Interaction Transformer for drug-target interaction prediction, Bioinformatics 37 (6) (2021) 830-836. doi:10.1093/ bioinformatics/btaa880.
- [245] ZHAO, QICHANG AND ZHAO, HAOCHEN AND ZHENG, KAI AND WANG, JIANXIN, HyperAttentionDTI: improving drug-protein interaction prediction by sequence-based deep learning with attention mechanism, Bioinformatics 38 (3) (2022) 655-662. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btab715.
- [246] TOMAS MIKOLOV AND KAI CHEN AND GREG CORRADO AND JEFFREY DEAN, Efficient Estimation of Word Representations in Vector Space (2013). arXiv:1301.3781v3.
- [247] TOMAS MIKOLOV AND ILYA SUTSKEVER AND KAI CHEN AND GREG CORRADO AND JEFFREY DEAN, Distributed Representations of Words and Phrases and their Compositionality (2013). arXiv:1310.4546.
- [248] YICHEN GONG AND HENG LUO AND JIAN ZHANG, Natural Language Inference over Interaction Space (2018). arXiv:1709.04348v2.
- [249] BALLESTER, PEDRO J. AND MITCHELL, JOHN B. O., A machine learning approach to predicting protein-ligand binding affinity with applications
to molecular docking, Bioinformatics 26 (9) (2010) 1169–1175. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btq112.

- [250] BALLESTER, PEDRO J. AND SCHREYER, ADRIAN AND BLUNDELL, TOM L., Does a More Precise Chemical Description of Protein-Ligand Complexes Lead to More Accurate Prediction of Binding Affinity?, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 54 (3) (2014) 944–955. doi:10.1021/ci500091r.
- [251] DURRANT, JACOB D. AND MCCAMMON, J. ANDREW, NNScore: A Neural-Network-Based Scoring Function for the Characterization of Protein-Ligand Complexes, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 50 (10) (2010) 1865–1871. doi:10.1021/ci100244v.
- [252] DURRANT, JACOB D. AND MCCAMMON, J. ANDREW, NNScore 2.0: A Neural-Network Receptor-Ligand Scoring Function, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 51 (11) (2011) 2897–2903. doi:10.1021/ci2003889.
- [253] LI, GUO-BO AND YANG, LING-LING AND WANG, WEN-JING AND LI, LIN-LI AND YANG, SHENG-YONG, ID-Score: A New Empirical Scoring Function Based on a Comprehensive Set of Descriptors Related to Protein-Ligand Interactions, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 53 (3) (2013) 592–600. doi:10.1021/ci300493w.
- [254] LI, HONGJIAN AND LEUNG, KWONG-SAK AND WONG, MAN-HON AND BALLESTER, PEDRO J., Substituting random forest for multiple linear regression improves binding affinity prediction of scoring functions: Cyscore as a case study, BMC Bioinformatics 15 (1) (2014) 291. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-15-291.
- [255] KUMAR, SURENDRA AND KIM, MI-HYUN, SMPLIP-Score: predicting ligand binding affinity from simple and interpretable on-the-fly interaction fingerprint pattern descriptors, Journal of Cheminformatics 13 (1) (2021) 28. doi:10.1186/s13321-021-00507-1.
- [256] MELI, ROCCO AND ANIGHORO, ANDREW AND BODKIN, MIKE J. AND MORRIS, GARRETT M. AND BIGGIN, PHILIP C., Learning protein-ligand binding affinity with atomic environment vectors, Journal of Cheminformatics 13 (1) (2021) 59. doi:10.1186/s13321-021-00536-w.
- [257] DURRANT, JACOB D. AND MCCAMMON, J. A., BINANA: A novel algorithm for ligand-binding characterization, Journal of Molecular Graphics and Modelling 29 (6) (2011) 888–893. doi:10.1016/j.jmgm.2011.01.004.

- [258] CAO, YANG AND LI, LEI, Improved protein-ligand binding affinity prediction by using a curvature-dependent surface-area model, Bioinformatics 30 (12) (2014) 1674–1680. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu104.
- [259] BERTHOLD, MICHAEL R. AND CEBRON, NICOLAS AND DILL, FABIAN AND GABRIEL, THOMAS R. AND KÖTTER, TOBIAS AND MEINL, THORSTEN AND OHL, PETER AND THIEL, KILIAN AND WISWEDEL, BERND, KNIME the Konstanz Information Miner: Version 2.0 and Beyond, SIGKDD Explor. Newsl. 11 (1) (2009) 26–31. doi:10.1145/1656274.1656280.
- [260] JOSEPH GOMES AND BHARATH RAMSUNDAR AND EVAN N. FEINBERG AND VIJAY S. PANDE, Atomic Convolutional Networks for Predicting Protein-Ligand Binding Affinity (2017). arXiv:1703.10603.
- [261] STEPNIEWSKA-DZIUBINSKA, MARTA M. AND ZIELENKIEWICZ, PIOTR AND SIEDLECKI, PAWEL, Development and evaluation of a deep learning model for protein-ligand binding affinity prediction, Bioinformatics 34 (21) (2018) 3666-3674. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bty374.
- [262] JIMÉNEZ, JOSÉ AND ŠKALIČ, MIHA AND MARTÍNEZ-ROSELL, GERARD AND DE FABRITIIS, GIANNI, KDEEP: Protein-Ligand Absolute Binding Affinity Prediction via 3D-Convolutional Neural Networks, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 58 (2) (2018) 287–296. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.7b00650.
- [263] JONES, DEREK AND KIM, HYOJIN AND ZHANG, XIAOHUA AND ZEMLA, ADAM AND STEVENSON, GARRETT AND BENNETT, W. F. DREW AND KIR-SHNER, DANIEL AND WONG, SERGIO E. AND LIGHTSTONE, FELICE C. AND ALLEN, JONATHAN E., Improved Protein–Ligand Binding Affinity Prediction with Structure-Based Deep Fusion Inference, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 61 (4) (2021) 1583–1592. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.0c01306.
- [264] O'BOYLE, NOEL M. AND BANCK, MICHAEL AND JAMES, CRAIG A. AND MORLEY, CHRIS AND VANDERMEERSCH, TIM AND HUTCHISON, GEOFFREY R., Open Babel: An open chemical toolbox, Journal of Cheminformatics 3 (1) (2011) 33. doi:10.1186/1758-2946-3-33.
- [265] PAHIKKALA, TAPIO AND AIROLA, ANTTI AND PIETILÄ, SAMI AND SHAKYAWAR, SUSHIL AND SZWAJDA, AGNIESZKA AND TANG, JING AND AITTOKALLIO, TERO, Toward more realistic drug-target interaction predictions, Briefings in Bioinformatics 16 (2) (2014) 325–337. doi:10.1093/bib/ bbu010.

- [266] SHAR, PIAR ALI AND TAO, WEIYANG AND GAO, SHUO AND HUANG, CHAO AND LI, BOHUI AND ZHANG, WENJUAN AND SHAHEN, MOHAMED AND ZHENG, CHUNLI AND BAI, YAOFEI AND WANG, YONGHUA, Predbinding: large-scale protein-ligand binding affinity prediction, Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry 31 (6) (2016) 1443–1450. doi: 10.3109/14756366.2016.1144594.
- [267] HE, TONG AND HEIDEMEYER, MARTEN AND BAN, FUQIANG AND CHERKASOV, ARTEM AND ESTER, MARTIN, SimBoost: a read-across approach for predicting drug-target binding affinities using gradient boosting machines, Journal of Cheminformatics 9. doi:10.1186/s13321-017-0209-z.
- [268] ÖZTÜRK, HAKIME AND ÖZGÜR, ARZUCAN AND OZKIRIMLI, ELIF, Deep-DTA: deep drug-target binding affinity prediction, Bioinformatics 34 (17) (2018) i821–i829. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/bty593.
- [269] HAKIME ÖZTÜRK AND ELIF OZKIRIMLI AND ARZUCAN ÖZGÜR, WideDTA: prediction of drug-target binding affinity (2019). arXiv:1902.04166.
- [270] QINGYUAN FENG AND EVGENIA DUEVA AND ARTEM CHERKASOV AND MARTIN ESTER, PADME: A Deep Learning-based Framework for Drug-Target Interaction Prediction (2018). arXiv:1807.09741.
- [271] NGUYEN, THIN AND LE, HANG AND QUINN, THOMAS P AND NGUYEN, TRI AND LE, THUC DUY AND VENKATESH, SVETHA, GraphDTA: Predicting drug-target binding affinity with graph neural networks, BioinformaticsBtaa921. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa921.
- [272] ABBASI, KARIM AND RAZZAGHI, PARVIN AND POSO, ANTTI AND AMAN-LOU, MASSOUD AND GHASEMI, JAHAN B. AND MASOUDI-NEJAD, ALI, DeepCDA: deep cross-domain compound-protein affinity prediction through LSTM and convolutional neural networks, Bioinformatics 36 (17) (2020) 4633– 4642. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa544.
- [273] SHIM, JOOYONG AND HONG, ZHEN-YU AND SOHN, INSUK AND HWANG, CHANGHA, Prediction of drug-target binding affinity using similarity-based convolutional neural network, Scientific Reports 11 (1) (2021) 4416. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-83679-y.
- [274] WANG, KAILI AND ZHOU, RENYI AND LI, YAOHANG AND LI, MIN, Deep-DTAF: a deep learning method to predict protein-ligand binding affinity, Briefings in Bioinformatics 22 (5) (2021) bbab072. doi:10.1093/bib/bbab072.

- [275] RIFAIOGLU, A. S. AND CETIN ATALAY, R. AND CANSEN KAHRAMAN, D. AND DOĞAN, T. AND MARTIN, M. AND ATALAY, V., MDeePred: novel multi-channel protein featurization for deep learning-based binding affinity prediction in drug discovery, Bioinformatics 37 (5) (2021) 693–704. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa858.
- [276] DAVIS, MINDY I. AND HUNT, JEREMY P. AND HERRGARD, SANNA AND CICERI, PIETRO AND WODICKA, LISA M. AND PALLARES, GABRIEL AND HOCKER, MICHAEL AND TREIBER, DANIEL K. AND ZARRINKAR, PATRICK P., Comprehensive analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity, Nature Biotechnology 29 (11) (2011) 1046–1051. doi:10.1038/nbt.1990.
- [277] METZ, JAMES T. AND JOHNSON, ERIC F. AND SONI, NIRU B. AND MERTA, PHILIP J. AND KIFLE, LEMMA AND HAJDUK, PHILIP J., Navigating the kinome, Nature Chemical Biology 7 (4) (2011) 200–202. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.530.
- [278] TANG, JING AND SZWAJDA, AGNIESZKA AND SHAKYAWAR, SUSHIL AND XU, TAO AND HINTSANEN, PETTERI AND WENNERBERG, KRISTER AND AITTOKALLIO, TERO, Making Sense of Large-Scale Kinase Inhibitor Bioactivity Data Sets: A Comparative and Integrative Analysis, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 54 (3) (2014) 735–743. doi:10.1021/ci400709d.
- [279] KIM, SUNGHWAN AND HAN, LIANYI AND YU, BO AND HÄHNKE, VOLKER D. AND BOLTON, EVAN E. AND BRYANT, STEPHEN H., PubChem structureactivity relationship (SAR) clusters, Journal of cheminformatics 7 (2015) 33– 33. doi:10.1186/s13321-015-0070-x.
- [280] ROTH, BRYAN L. AND LOPEZ, ESTELLE AND PATEL, SHAMIL AND KROEZE, WESLEY K., The Multiplicity of Serotonin Receptors: Uselessly Diverse Molecules or an Embarrassment of Riches?, The Neuroscientist 6 (4) (2000) 252–262. doi:10.1177/107385840000600408.
- [281] SIGRIST, CHRISTIAN J. A. AND CERUTTI, LORENZO AND DE CASTRO, EDOUARD AND LANGENDIJK-GENEVAUX, PETRA S. AND BULLIARD, VIR-GINIE AND BAIROCH, AMOS AND HULO, NICOLAS, PROSITE, a protein domain database for functional characterization and annotation, Nucleic Acids Research 38 (suppl\_1) (2009) D161–D166. doi:10.1093/nar/gkp885.
- [282] NOEL O'BOYLE AND ANDREW DALKE, DeepSMILES: An Adaptation of SMILES for Use in Machine-Learning of Chemical Structures (2018). doi:

10.26434/chemrxiv.7097960.v1.

- [283] WOZNIAK, MICHAL AND WOLOS, AGNIESZKA AND MODRZYK, URSZULA AND GÓRSKI, RAFAL L. AND WINKOWSKI, JAN AND BAJCZYK, MICHAL AND SZYMKUC, SARA AND GRZYBOWSKI, BARTOSZ A. AND EDER, MA-CIEJ, Linguistic measures of chemical diversity and the "keywords" of molecular collections, Scientific Reports 8 (1) (2018) 7598. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-25440-6.
- [284] KEYULU XU AND WEIHUA HU AND JURE LESKOVEC AND STEFANIE JEGELKA, How Powerful are Graph Neural Networks? (2019). arXiv: 1810.00826v3.
- [285] PETAR VELIČKOVIĆ AND GUILLEM CUCURULL AND ARANTXA CASANOVA AND ADRIANA ROMERO AND PIETRO LIÒ AND YOSHUA BENGIO, Graph Attention Networks (2018). arXiv:1710.10903v3.
- [286] RUDIN, CYNTHIA, Stop explaining black box machine learning models for high stakes decisions and use interpretable models instead, Nature Machine Intelligence 1 (5) (2019) 206–215. doi:10.1038/s42256-019-0048-x.
- [287] GOEBEL, R. AND CHANDER, A. AND HOLZINGER, K. AND LECUE, F. AND AKATA, Z. AND STUMPF, S. AND KIESEBERG, P. AND HOLZINGER, A., Explainable AI: The new 42?, in: CD-MAKE 2018, Vol. 11015, 2018. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-99740-7\\_21.
- [288] ZACHARY C. LIPTON, The Mythos of Model Interpretability (2017). arXiv: 1606.03490v3.
- [289] GAWEHN, ERIK AND HISS, JAN A. AND SCHNEIDER, GISBERT, Deep Learning in Drug Discovery, Molecular Informatics 35 (1) (2016) 3–14. doi: 10.1002/minf.201501008.
- [290] ZHANG, LU AND TAN, JIANJUN AND HAN, DAN AND ZHU, HAO, From machine learning to deep learning: progress in machine intelligence for rational drug discovery, Drug Discovery Today 22 (11) (2017) 1680–1685. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2017.08.010.
- [291] LENSELINK, EELKE B. AND TEN DIJKE, NIELS AND BONGERS, BRAN-DON AND PAPADATOS, GEORGE AND VAN VLIJMEN, HERMAN W. T. AND KOWALCZYK, WOJTEK AND IJZERMAN, ADRIAAN P. AND VAN WESTEN, GERARD J. P., Beyond the hype: deep neural networks outperform estab-

lished methods using a ChEMBL bioactivity benchmark set, Journal of Cheminformatics 9 (1) (2017) 45. doi:10.1186/s13321-017-0232-0.

- [292] CARPENTER, KRISTY A. AND COHEN, DAVID S. AND JARRELL, JULIET T. AND HUANG, XUDONG, Deep learning and virtual drug screening, Future Medicinal Chemistry 10 (21) (2018) 2557–2567. doi:10.4155/fmc-2018-0314.
- [293] MERK, DANIEL AND FRIEDRICH, LUKAS AND GRISONI, FRANCESCA AND SCHNEIDER, GISBERT, De Novo Design of Bioactive Small Molecules by Artificial Intelligence, Molecular Informatics 37 (1-2) (2018) 1700153. doi: 10.1002/minf.201700153.
- [294] ZHAVORONKOV, ALEX AND IVANENKOV, YAN A. AND ALIPER, ALEX AND VESELOV, MARK S. AND ALADINSKIY, VLADIMIR A. AND ALADINSKAYA, ANASTASIYA V. AND TERENTIEV, VICTOR A. AND POLYKOVSKIY, DANIIL A. AND KUZNETSOV, MAKSIM D. AND ASADULAEV, ARIP AND VOLKOV, YURY AND ZHOLUS, ARTEM AND SHAYAKHMETOV, RIM R. AND ZHEBRAK, ALEXANDER AND MINAEVA, LIDIYA I. AND ZAGRIBELNYY, BOGDAN A. AND LEE, LENNART H. AND SOLL, RICHARD AND MADGE, DAVID AND XING, LI AND GUO, TAO AND ASPURU-GUZIK, ALÁN, Deep learning enables rapid identification of potent DDR1 kinase inhibitors, Nature Biotechnology 37 (9) (2019) 1038–1040. doi:10.1038/s41587-019-0224-x.
- [295] SCHWALLER, PHILIPPE AND GAUDIN, THÉOPHILE AND LÁNYI, DÁVID AND BEKAS, COSTAS AND LAINO, TEODORO, "Found in Translation": predicting outcomes of complex organic chemistry reactions using neural sequence-tosequence models, Chemical Science 9 (28) (2018) 6091–6098. doi:10.1039/ C8SC02339E.
- [296] COLEY, CONNOR W. AND GREEN, WILLIAM H. AND JENSEN, KLAVS F., Machine Learning in Computer-Aided Synthesis Planning, Accounts of Chemical Research 51 (5) (2018) 1281–1289. doi:10.1021/acs.accounts.8b00087.
- [297] SENIOR, ANDREW W. AND EVANS, RICHARD AND JUMPER, JOHN AND KIRKPATRICK, JAMES AND SIFRE, LAURENT AND GREEN, TIM AND QIN, CHONGLI AND ŽÍDEK, AUGUSTIN AND NELSON, ALEXANDER W. R. AND BRIDGLAND, ALEX AND PENEDONES, HUGO AND PETERSEN, STIG AND SIMONYAN, KAREN AND CROSSAN, STEVE AND KOHLI, PUSHMEET AND JONES, DAVID T. AND SILVER, DAVID AND KAVUKCUOGLU, KORAY AND HASSABIS, DEMIS, Improved protein structure prediction using potentials

from deep learning, Nature 577 (7792) (2020) 706–710. doi:10.1038/s41586–019-1923-7.

- [298] KENJI KAWAGUCHI, Deep Learning without Poor Local Minima (2016). arXiv:1605.07110v3.
- [299] DATTA, ANUPAM AND SEN, SHAYAK AND ZICK, YAIR, Algorithmic Transparency via Quantitative Input Influence: Theory and Experiments with Learning Systems, in: 2016 IEEE Symposium on Security and Privacy (SP), 2016, pp. 598–617. doi:10.1109/SP.2016.42.
- [300] GUIDOTTI, RICCARDO AND MONREALE, ANNA AND RUGGIERI, SALVA-TORE AND TURINI, FRANCO AND GIANNOTTI, FOSCA AND PEDRESCHI, DINO, A Survey of Methods for Explaining Black Box Models, ACM Comput. Surv. 51 (5). doi:10.1145/3236009.
- [301] HIRST, JONATHAN D. AND KING, ROSS D. AND STERNBERG, MICHAEL J. E., Quantitative structure-activity relationships by neural networks and inductive logic programming. I. The inhibition of dihydrofolate reductase by pyrimidines, Journal of Computer-Aided Molecular Design 8 (4) (1994) 405– 420. doi:10.1007/BF00125375.
- [302] FIORE, M. AND SICURELLO, F. AND INDORATO, G., An integrated system to represent and manage medical knowledge, Medinfo 8 Pt 2 (1995) 931–933.
- [303] MARCOU, G. AND HORVATH, D. AND SOLOV'EV, V. AND ARRAULT, A. AND VAYER, P. AND VARNEK, A., Interpretability of SAR/QSAR Models of any Complexity by Atomic Contributions, Molecular Informatics 31 (9) (2012) 639–642. doi:10.1002/minf.201100136.
- [304] RINIKER, SEREINA AND LANDRUM, GREGORY A., Similarity maps a visualization strategy for molecular fingerprints and machine-learning methods, Journal of Cheminformatics 5 (1) (2013) 43. doi:10.1186/1758-2946-5-43.
- [305] MARCHESE ROBINSON, RICHARD L. AND PALCZEWSKA, ANNA AND PAL-CZEWSKI, JAN AND KIDLEY, NATHAN, Comparison of the Predictive Performance and Interpretability of Random Forest and Linear Models on Benchmark Data Sets, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 57 (8) (2017) 1773–1792. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.6b00753.
- [306] CHEN, YA AND STORK, CONRAD AND HIRTE, STEFFEN AND KIRCHMAIR, JOHANNES, NP-Scout: Machine Learning Approach for the Quantification

and Visualization of the Natural Product-Likeness of Small Molecules (2019). doi:10.3390/biom9020043.

- [307] CHRISTMANN-FRANCK, SERGE AND VAN WESTEN, GERARD J. P. AND PAPADATOS, GEORGE AND BELTRAN ESCUDIE, FANNY AND ROBERTS, ALEXANDER AND OVERINGTON, JOHN P. AND DOMINE, DANIEL, Unprecedently Large-Scale Kinase Inhibitor Set Enabling the Accurate Prediction of Compound-Kinase Activities: A Way toward Selective Promiscuity by Design?, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 56 (9) (2016) 1654–1675. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.6b00122.
- [308] SUBRAMANIAN, VIGNESHWARI AND AIN, QURRAT UL AND HENNO, HE-LENA AND PIETILÄ, LARS-OLOF AND FUCHS, JULIAN E. AND PRUSIS, PE-TERIS AND BENDER, ANDREAS AND WOHLFAHRT, GERD, 3D proteochemometrics: using three-dimensional information of proteins and ligands to address aspects of the selectivity of serine proteases, MedChemComm 8 (5) (2017) 1037–1045. doi:10.1039/C6MD00701E.
- [309] GIBLIN, KATHRYN A. AND HUGHES, SAMANTHA J. AND BOYD, HELEN AND HANSSON, PIA AND BENDER, ANDREAS, Prospectively Validated Proteochemometric Models for the Prediction of Small-Molecule Binding to Bromodomain Proteins, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 58 (9) (2018) 1870–1888. doi:10.1021/acs.jcim.8b00400.
- [310] HARIRI, SAFOURA AND GHASEMI, JAHAN B. AND SHIRINI, FARHAD AND RASTI, BEHNAM, Probing the origin of dihydrofolate reductase inhibition via proteochemometric modeling, Journal of Chemometrics 33 (2) (2019) e3090. doi:10.1002/cem.3090.
- [311] SCHNEIDER, PETRA AND SCHNEIDER, GISBERT, De Novo Design at the Edge of Chaos, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 59 (9) (2016) 4077-4086. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01849.
- [312] CHRISTOPH MOLNAR, Interpretable Machine Learning, 2nd Edition, 2022. URL https://christophm.github.io/interpretable-ml-book
- [313] GUIDOTTI, RICCARDO AND MONREALE, ANNA AND RUGGIERI, SALVA-TORE AND TURINI, FRANCO AND GIANNOTTI, FOSCA AND PEDRESCHI, DINO, A Survey of Methods for Explaining Black Box Models, ACM Comput. Surv. 51 (5). doi:10.1145/3236009.

- [314] MURDOCH, W. JAMES AND SINGH, CHANDAN AND KUMBIER, KARL AND ABBASI-ASL, REZA AND YU, BIN, Definitions, methods, and applications in interpretable machine learning, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116 (44) (2019) 22071–22080. doi:10.1073/pnas.1900654116.
- [315] ALEJANDRO BARREDO ARRIETA AND NATALIA DÍAZ-RODRÍGUEZ AND JAVIER DEL SER AND ADRIEN BENNETOT AND SIHAM TABIK AND AL-BERTO BARBADO AND SALVADOR GARCÍA AND SERGIO GIL-LÓPEZ AND DANIEL MOLINA AND RICHARD BENJAMINS AND RAJA CHATILA AND FRANCISCO HERRERA, Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI): Concepts, Taxonomies, Opportunities and Challenges toward Responsible AI (2019). arXiv:1910.10045v2.
- [316] LAPUSCHKIN, SEBASTIAN AND WÄLDCHEN, STEPHAN AND BINDER, ALEXANDER AND MONTAVON, GRÉGOIRE AND SAMEK, WOJCIECH AND MÜLLER, KLAUS-ROBERT, Unmasking Clever Hans predictors and assessing what machines really learn, Nature Communications 10 (1) (2019) 1096. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-08987-4.
- [317] Q. VERA LIAO AND DANIEL GRUEN AND SARAH MILLER, Questioning the AI: Informing Design Practices for Explainable AI User Experiences, in: Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, ACM, 2020. doi:10.1145/3313831.3376590.
- [318] GUNNING, DAVID AND AHA, DAVID, DARPA's Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI) Program, AI Magazine 40 (2) (2019) 44–58. doi:10.1609/ aimag.v40i2.2850.
- [319] CIALLELLA, HEATHER L. AND ZHU, HAO, Advancing Computational Toxicology in the Big Data Era by Artificial Intelligence: Data-Driven and Mechanism-Driven Modeling for Chemical Toxicity, Chemical Research in Toxicology 32 (4) (2019) 536-547. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrestox.8b00393.
- [320] ERICO TJOA AND CUNTAI GUAN, A Survey on Explainable Artificial Intelligence (XAI): Toward Medical XAI, IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems 32 (11) (2021) 4793–4813. doi:10.1109/ tnnls.2020.3027314.
- [321] LEILANI H. GILPIN AND DAVID BAU AND BEN Z. YUAN AND AYESHA BAJWA AND MICHAEL SPECTER AND LALANA KAGAL, Explaining Ex-

planations: An Overview of Interpretability of Machine Learning (2019). arXiv:1806.00069v3.

- [322] LYDIA P. GLEAVES AND REVA SCHWARTZ AND DAVID A. BRONIATOWSKI, The Role of Individual User Differences in Interpretable and Explainable Machine Learning Systems (2020). arXiv:2009.06675.
- [323] JAMES, GARETH AND WITTEN, DANIELA AND HASTIE, TREVOR AND TIB-SHIRANI, ROBERT, An Introduction to Statistical Learning: with Applications in R, Springer New York, New York, NY, 2013, pp. 59–126.
- [324] LOU, YIN AND CARUANA, RICH AND GEHRKE, JOHANNES, Intelligible Models for Classification and Regression, in: Proceedings of the 18th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining, KDD '12, Association for Computing Machinery, New York, NY, USA, 2012, p. 150–158. doi:10.1145/2339530.2339556.
- [325] KELVIN XU AND JIMMY BA AND RYAN KIROS AND KYUNGHYUN CHO AND AARON COURVILLE AND RUSLAN SALAKHUTDINOV AND RICHARD ZEMEL AND YOSHUA BENGIO, Show, Attend and Tell: Neural Image Caption Generation with Visual Attention (2015). arXiv:arXiv:1502.03044.
- [326] KYLE YINGKAI GAO AND ACHILLE FOKOUE AND HENG LUO AND ARUN IYENGAR AND SANJOY DEY AND PING ZHANG, Interpretable Drug Target Prediction Using Deep Neural Representation, in: Proceedings of the Twenty-Seventh International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence, IJCAI-18, 2018, pp. 3371–3377. doi:10.24963/ijcai.2018/468.
- [327] THIBAULT LAUGEL AND MARIE-JEANNE LESOT AND CHRISTOPHE MARSALA AND XAVIER RENARD AND MARCIN DETYNIECKI, The Dangers of Post-hoc Interpretability: Unjustified Counterfactual Explanations (2019). arXiv:1907.09294.
- [328] MARCO TULIO RIBEIRO AND SAMEER SINGH AND CARLOS GUESTRIN, "Why Should I Trust You?": Explaining the Predictions of Any Classifier (2016). arXiv:1602.04938v3.
- [329] LUNDBERG, SCOTT M. AND LEE, SU-IN, A Unified Approach to Interpreting Model Predictions, in: Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, NIPS'17, Curran Associates Inc., Red Hook, NY, USA, 2017, p. 4768–4777.

- [330] ZEILER, MATTHEW D. AND FERGUS, ROB, Visualizing and Understanding Convolutional Networks, in: Computer Vision – ECCV 2014, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2014, pp. 818–833. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-10590-1\\_53.
- [331] LUISA M ZINTGRAF AND TACO S COHEN AND TAMEEM ADEL AND MAX WELLING, Visualizing Deep Neural Network Decisions: Prediction Difference Analysis (2017). arXiv:arXiv:1702.04595.
- [332] M. D. ZEILER AND D. KRISHNAN AND G. W. TAYLOR AND R. FER-GUS, Deconvolutional networks, in: 2010 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition, 2010, pp. 2528–2535. doi:10.1109/CVPR.2010.5539957.
- [333] BACH, SEBASTIAN AND BINDER, ALEXANDER AND MONTAVON, GRÉGOIRE AND KLAUSCHEN, FREDERICK AND MÜLLER, KLAUS-ROBERT AND SAMEK, WOJCIECH, On Pixel-Wise Explanations for Non-Linear Classifier Decisions by Layer-Wise Relevance Propagation, PLOS ONE 10 (7) (2015) 1–46. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0130140.
- [334] SELVARAJU, RAMPRASAATH R. AND COGSWELL, MICHAEL AND DAS, AB-HISHEK AND VEDANTAM, RAMAKRISHNA AND PARIKH, DEVI AND BATRA, DHRUV, Grad-CAM: Visual Explanations from Deep Networks via Gradient-Based Localization, International Journal of Computer Vision 128 (2) (2020) 336–359. doi:10.1007/s11263-019-01228-7.
- [335] RIBEIRO, MARCO TULIO AND SINGH, SAMEER AND GUESTRIN, CAR-LOS, Anchors: High-Precision Model-Agnostic Explanations, Proceedings of the AAAI Conference on Artificial Intelligence 32 (1). doi:10.1609/ aaai.v32i1.11491.
- [336] SANDRA WACHTER AND BRENT MITTELSTADT AND CHRIS RUSSELL, Counterfactual Explanations without Opening the Black Box: Automated Decisions and the GDPR (2018). arXiv:1711.00399v3.
- [337] ARNAUD VAN LOOVEREN AND JANIS KLAISE, Interpretable Counterfactual Explanations Guided by Prototypes (2020). arXiv:1907.02584v2.
- [338] AMIT DHURANDHAR AND PIN-YU CHEN AND RONNY LUSS AND CHUN-CHEN TU AND PAISHUN TING AND KARTHIKEYAN SHANMUGAM AND PAYEL DAS, Explanations based on the Missing: Towards Contrastive Explanations with Pertinent Negatives (2018). arXiv:1802.07623v2.

- [339] AVANTI SHRIKUMAR AND PEYTON GREENSIDE AND ANSHUL KUNDAJE, Learning Important Features Through Propagating Activation Differences, in: Proceedings of the 34th International Conference on Machine Learning, Vol. 70 of Proceedings of Machine Learning Research, PMLR, 2017, pp. 3145–3153.
- [340] LUNDBERG, SCOTT M. AND ERION, GABRIEL AND CHEN, HUGH AND DEGRAVE, ALEX AND PRUTKIN, JORDAN M. AND NAIR, BALA AND KATZ, RONIT AND HIMMELFARB, JONATHAN AND BANSAL, NISHA AND LEE, SU-IN, From local explanations to global understanding with explainable AI for trees, Nature Machine Intelligence 2 (1) (2020) 56–67. doi: 10.1038/s42256-019-0138-9.
- [341] MONTEIRO, NELSON R. C. AND SIMÕES, CARLOS J. V. AND ÁVILA, HEN-RIQUE V. AND ABBASI, MARYAM AND OLIVEIRA, JOSÉ L. AND ARRAIS, JOEL P., Explainable deep drug-target representations for binding affinity prediction, BMC Bioinformatics 23 (1) (2022) 237. doi:10.1186/s12859-022-04767-y.
- [342] HOPKINS, ANDREW L., Predicting promiscuity, Nature 462 (7270) (2009) 167–168. doi:10.1038/462167a.
- [343] KIM, SUNGHWAN AND CHEN, JIE AND CHENG, TIEJUN AND GINDULYTE, ASTA AND HE, JIA AND HE, SIQIAN AND LI, QINGLIANG AND SHOE-MAKER, BENJAMIN A AND THIESSEN, PAUL A AND YU, BO AND ZA-SLAVSKY, LEONID AND ZHANG, JIAN AND BOLTON, EVAN E, PubChem in 2021: new data content and improved web interfaces, Nucleic Acids Research 49 (D1) (2020) D1388–D1395. doi:10.1093/nar/gkaa971.
- [344] GREG LANDRUM, RDKit: Open-source cheminformatics (2021). URL http://www.rdkit.org
- [345] DESAPHY, JÉRÉMY AND BRET, GUILLAUME AND ROGNAN, DIDIER AND KELLENBERGER, ESTHER, sc-PDB: a 3D-database of ligandable binding sites—10 years on, Nucleic Acids Research 43 (D1) (2015) D399–D404. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku928.
- [346] ALTSCHUL, STEPHEN F. AND MADDEN, THOMAS L. AND SCHÄFFER, ALE-JANDRO A. AND ZHANG, JINGHUI AND ZHANG, ZHENG AND MILLER, WEBB AND LIPMAN, DAVID J., Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs, Nucleic Acids Research 25 (17) (1997) 3389–3402. doi:10.1093/nar/25.17.3389.

- [347] CAMACHO, CHRISTIAM AND COULOURIS, GEORGE AND AVAGYAN, VAHRAM AND MA, NING AND PAPADOPOULOS, JASON AND BEALER, KEVIN AND MADDEN, THOMAS L., BLAST+: architecture and applications, BMC Bioinformatics 10 (1) (2009) 421. doi:10.1186/1471-2105-10-421.
- [348] ZHOU, BOLEI AND KHOSLA, ADITYA AND LAPEDRIZA, AGATA AND OLIVA, AUDE AND TORRALBA, ANTONIO, Learning Deep Features for Discriminative Localization, in: 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR), 2016, pp. 2921–2929. doi:10.1109/CVPR.2016.319.
- [349] JOST TOBIAS SPRINGENBERG AND ALEXEY DOSOVITSKIY AND THOMAS BROX AND MARTIN RIEDMILLER, Striving for Simplicity: The All Convolutional Net (2015). arXiv:1412.6806v3.
- [350] MONTEIRO, NELSON R.C. AND OLIVEIRA, JOSÉ L. AND ARRAIS, JOEL P., DTITR: End-to-end drug-target binding affinity prediction with transformers, Computers in Biology and Medicine 147 (2022) 105772. doi: 10.1016/j.compbiomed.2022.105772.
- [351] CHUN-FU CHEN AND QUANFU FAN AND RAMESWAR PANDA, CrossViT: Cross-Attention Multi-Scale Vision Transformer for Image Classification (2021). arXiv:2103.14899v2.
- [352] EBERHARDT, JEROME AND SANTOS-MARTINS, DIOGO AND TILLACK, AN-DREAS F. AND FORLI, STEFANO, AutoDock Vina 1.2.0: New Docking Methods, Expanded Force Field, and Python Bindings, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 61 (8) (2021) 3891–3898. doi:10.1021/ acs.jcim.1c00203.
- [353] MONTEIRO, NELSON R.C. AND OLIVEIRA, JOSÉ L. AND ARRAIS, JOEL
   P., TAG-DTA: Binding-region-guided strategy to predict drug-target affinity using transformers, Expert Systems with Applications 238 (2024) 122334.
   URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957417423028361
- [354] YANG, JIANYI AND ROY, AMBRISH AND ZHANG, YANG, BioLiP: a semimanually curated database for biologically relevant ligand-protein interactions, Nucleic Acids Research 41 (D1) (2013) D1096-D1103. doi:10.1093/ nar/gks966.
- [355] Cock, Peter J. A. and Antao, Tiago and Chang, Jeffrey T. and Chapman, Brad A. and Cox, Cymon J. and Dalke, Andrew and

FRIEDBERG, IDDO AND HAMELRYCK, THOMAS AND KAUFF, FRANK AND WILCZYNSKI, BARTEK AND DE HOON, MICHIEL J. L., Biopython: freely available Python tools for computational molecular biology and bioinformatics, Bioinformatics 25 (11) (2009) 1422–1423. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/ btp163.

- [356] PEMOVSKA, TEA AND BIGENZAHN, JOHANNES W. AND SUPERTI-FURGA, GIULIO, Recent advances in combinatorial drug screening and synergy scoring, Current Opinion in Pharmacology 42 (2018) 102–110. doi:10.1016/ j.coph.2018.07.008.
- [357] MAK, KIT-KAY AND PICHIKA, MALLIKARJUNA RAO, Artificial intelligence in drug development: present status and future prospects, Drug Discovery Today 24 (3) (2019) 773–780. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2018.11.014.
- [358] EVANS, WILLIAM E. AND RELLING, MARY V., Moving towards individualized medicine with pharmacogenomics, Nature 429 (6990) (2004) 464–468. doi:10.1038/nature02626.
- [359] SPREAFICO, ROBERTO AND SORIAGA, LEAH B. AND GROSSE, JOHANNES AND VIRGIN, HERBERT W. AND TELENTI, AMALIO, Advances in Genomics for Drug Development (2020). doi:10.3390/genes11080942.
- [360] IORIO, FRANCESCO AND KNIJNENBURG, THEO A. AND VIS, DANIEL J. AND BIGNELL, GRAHAM R. AND MENDEN, MICHAEL P. AND SCHU-BERT, MICHAEL AND ABEN, NANNE AND GONÇALVES, EMANUEL AND BARTHORPE, SYD AND LIGHTFOOT, HOWARD AND COKELAER, THOMAS AND GRENINGER, PATRICIA AND VAN DYK, EWALD AND CHANG, HAN AND DE SILVA, HESHANI AND HEYN, HOLGER AND DENG, XIANMING AND EGAN, REGINA K. AND LIU, QINGSONG AND MIRONENKO, TATIANA AND MITROPOULOS, XENI AND RICHARDSON, LAURA AND WANG, JIN-HUA AND ZHANG, TINGHU AND MORAN, SEBASTIAN AND SAYOLS, SERGI AND SOLEIMANI, MARYAM AND TAMBORERO, DAVID AND LOPEZ-BIGAS, NURIA AND ROSS-MACDONALD, PETRA AND ESTELLER, MANEL AND GRAY, NATHANAEL S. AND HABER, DANIEL A. AND STRATTON, MICHAEL R. AND BENES, CYRIL H. AND WESSELS, LODEWYK F.A. AND SAEZ-RODRIGUEZ, JULIO AND MCDERMOTT, ULTAN AND GARNETT, MATHEW J., A Landscape of Pharmacogenomic Interactions in Cancer, Cell 166 (3) (2016) 740-754. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.017.

- [361] CHIU, YU-CHIAO AND CHEN, HUNG-I HARRY AND GORTHI, APARNA AND MOSTAVI, MILAD AND ZHENG, SIYUAN AND HUANG, YUFEI AND CHEN, YIDONG, Deep learning of pharmacogenomics resources: moving towards precision oncology, Briefings in Bioinformatics 21 (6) (2020) 2066–2083. doi:10.1093/bib/bbz144.
- [362] H. PAGÉS AND P. ABOYOUN AND R. GENTLEMAN AND S. DEBROY, Biostrings: Efficient manipulation of biological strings, r package version 2.50.2 (2019).
- [363] PEDREGOSA, FABIAN AND VAROQUAUX, GAËL AND GRAMFORT, ALEXAN-DRE AND MICHEL, VINCENT AND THIRION, BERTRAND AND GRISEL, OLIVIER AND BLONDEL, MATHIEU AND PRETTENHOFER, PETER AND WEISS, RON AND DUBOURG, VINCENT, Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python, the Journal of machine Learning research 12 (2011) 2825–2830.
- [364] CHAN, WAYNE W. AND WISE, SCOTT C. AND KAUFMAN, MICHAEL D. AND AHN, YU MI AND ENSINGER, CAROL L. AND HAACK, TORSTEN AND HOOD, MOLLY M. AND JONES, JENNIFER AND LORD, JOHN W. AND LU, WEI PING AND MILLER, DAVID AND PATT, WILLIAM C. AND SMITH, BRYAN D. AND PETILLO, PETER A. AND RUTKOSKI, THOMAS J. AND TELIKEPALLI, HANUMAIAH AND VOGETI, LAKSHMINARAYANA AND YAO, TONY AND CHUN, LAWRENCE AND CLARK, ROBIN AND EVANGELISTA, PETER AND GAVRILESCU, L. CRISTINA AND LAZARIDES, KATHERINE AND ZALESKAS, VIRGINIA M. AND STEWART, LANCE J. AND VAN ETTEN, RICHARD A. AND FLYNN, DANIEL L., Crystal structure of human ABL1 kinase domain in complex with DCC-2036 (2011). doi:10.2210/pdb3QRI/pdb.
- [365] CANNING, PETER AND TAN, LI AND CHU, KIKI AND LEE, SAM W. AND GRAY, NATHANAEL S. AND BULLOCK, ALEX N., Crystal structure of the human DDR1 kinase domain in complex with imatinib (2013). doi:10.2210/ pdb4BKJ/pdb.
- [366] SYSTÈMES, DASSAULT, BIOVIA Discovery Studio (2021). URL http://accelrys.com
- [367] MOLECULAR GRAPHICS LABORATORY, AutoDockTools 1.5.6. URL https://ccsb.scripps.edu/mgltools/
- [368] SCHRÖDINGER, LLC, The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 2.5 (May 2021).

- [369] STEPHEN F. ALTSCHUL AND WARREN GISH AND WEBB MILLER AND EU-GENE W. MYERS AND DAVID J. LIPMAN, Basic local alignment search tool, Journal of Molecular Biology 215 (3) (1990) 403–410. doi:https: //doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(05)80360-2.
- [370] LEMEER, SIMONE AND BLUWSTEIN, ANDREJ AND WU, ZHIXIANG AND LEBERFINGER, JULIA AND MÜLLER, KONRAD AND KRAMER, KARL AND KUSTER, BERNHARD, Phosphotyrosine mediated protein interactions of the discoidin domain receptor 1, Journal of Proteomics 75 (12) (2012) 3465–3477. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2011.10.007.
- [371] DAN HENDRYCKS AND KEVIN GIMPEL, Gaussian Error Linear Units (GELUs) (2020). arXiv:1606.08415v4.
- [372] LIYUAN LIU AND HAOMING JIANG AND PENGCHENG HE AND WEIZHU CHEN AND XIAODONG LIU AND JIANFENG GAO AND JIAWEI HAN, On the Variance of the Adaptive Learning Rate and Beyond (2021). arXiv: 1908.03265v4.

Appendices

# Chapter A

# **Appendix Background**

First letter of codon (5' end)

#### A.1 Proteins

	Second of codon	letter						
¥	U	,	C		A	1		G
U	UU <b>U</b> UU <b>C</b>	Phe Phe	UC <b>U</b> UC <b>C</b>	Ser Ser	UAU UAC	Tyr Tyr	UG <b>U</b> UG <b>C</b>	$\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{Cys} \\ \mathrm{Cys} \end{array}$
	UUA UUG	Leu Leu	UC <b>A</b> UC <b>G</b>	Ser Ser	UAA UAG	Stop Stop	UGA UGG	Stop Trp
C	CU <b>U</b>	Leu	CCU	Pro	CAU	His	CG <b>U</b>	Arg
	CU <b>C</b>	Leu	CC <b>C</b>	Pro	CAC	His	CG <b>C</b>	Arg
C	CUA	Leu	CCA	Pro	CAA	Gln	CGA	Arg
	CU <b>G</b>	Leu	CC <b>G</b>	Pro	CAG	Gln	CG <b>G</b>	Arg
Δ	AUU	Ile	ACU	Thr	AAU	Asn	AGU	Ser
	AUC	Ile	ACC	Thr	AAC	Asn	AGC	Ser
A	AUA	Ile	ACA	Thr	AAA	Lys	AGA	Arg
	AUG	Met	AC <b>G</b>	Thr	AAG	Lys	AGG	Arg
G	GU <b>U</b>	Val	GC <b>U</b>	Ala	GAU	Asp	GG <b>U</b>	Gly
	GU <b>C</b>	Val	GC <b>C</b>	Ala	GAC	Asp	GG <b>C</b>	Gly
G	GU <b>A</b>	Val	GC <b>A</b>	Ala	GA <b>A</b>	Glu	GGA	Gly
	GU <b>G</b>	Val	GC <b>G</b>	Ala	GA <b>G</b>	Glu	GG <b>G</b>	Gly

Figure A.1: Genetic code: mapping of triplets of nucleotides (codons) in the mRNA to specific amino acids. The initiation and termination codons are highlighted in green and pink, respectively. Figure adapted from Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition [46].



Figure A.2: Transfer RNA. a) General cloverleaf secondary structure of tRNA: D arm, anticodon arm, extra arm,  $T\psi C$  arm, and amino acid arm. b) Pairing relationship of codon and anticodon: complementary base pairing between the codon on the mRNA and the anticodon on the tRNA. Figures adapted from *Lehninger Principles of Biochemistry, 5th Edition* [46].

Amino Acid	3-letter	1-letter	Occurrence in proteins(%)
Alanine	Ala	А	9.06
Arginine	Arg	R	5.84
Asparagine	Asn	Ν	3.79
Aspartate	Asp	D	5.47
Cysteine	Cys	$\mathbf{C}$	1.28
Glutamine	Gln	Q	3.79
Glutamate	Glu	Ε	6.24
Glycine	Gly	G	7.29
Histidine	His	Н	2.21
Isoleucine	Ile	Ι	5.55
Leucine	Leu	L	9.87
Lysine	Lys	Κ	4.92
Methionine	Met	Μ	2.33
Phenylalanine	Phe	$\mathbf{F}$	3.89
Proline	Pro	Р	4.97
Serine	Ser	$\mathbf{S}$	6.78
Threonine	Thr	Т	5.54
Tryptophan	Trp	W	1.30
Tyrosine	Tyr	Υ	2.88
Valine	Val	V	6.88

Table A.1: Standard amino acids.

Amino Acid	3-letter	1-letter	Amino acids included
Selenocysteine	Sec	U	-
Pyrrolysine	Pyl	Ο	-
Any/Unknown	Xaa	Х	All
Asparagine/Aspartate	Asx	В	$_{ m D,N}$
Glutamine/Glutamate	Glx	Ζ	$\mathrm{E},\mathrm{Q}$
Leucine/Isoleucine	Xle	J	$_{\rm I,L}$

Table A.2: Uncommon amino acids and placeholders.

**Table A.3:** Amino acids categories according to polarity and charge of the side chains at pH 7 [46].

Amino Acid	3-letter	1-letter	Occurrence in proteins(%)					
	Nonpolar, aliphatic R groups							
Glycine	Gly	G	7.29					
Alanine	Ala	А	9.06					
Proline	Pro	Р	4.97					
Valine	Val	V	6.88					
Leucine	Leu	L	9.87					
Isoleucine	Ile	Ι	5.55					
Methionine	Met	Μ	2.33					
	Aı	romatic R	groups					
Phenylalanine	Phe	F	3.89					
Tyrosine	Tyr	Υ	2.88					
Tryptophan	Trp	W	1.30					
	Polar,	uncharge	ed R groups					
Serine	Ser	S	6.78					
Threonine	Thr	Т	5.54					
Cysteine	Cys	С	1.28					
Asparagine	Asn	Ν	3.79					
Glutamine	$\operatorname{Gln}$	Q	3.79					
	Positiv	ely charg	ed R groups					
Lysine	Lys	Κ	4.92					
Histidine	His	Η	2.21					
Arginine	Arg	R	5.84					
	Negativ	vely charg	ged R groups					
Aspartate	Asp	D	5.47					
Glutamate	Glu	Е	6.24					

Amino Acid	3-letter	1-letter	Occurrence in proteins(%)
		Group	1
Glycine	Gly	G	7.29
Alanine	Ala	А	9.06
Valine	Val	V	6.88
		Group	2
Isoleucine	Ile	Ι	5.55
Leucine	Leu	L	9.87
Phenylalanine	Phe	F	3.89
Proline	Pro	Р	4.97
		Group	3
Tyrosine	Tyr	Y	2.88
Methionine	Met	М	2.33
Threonine	Thr	Т	5.54
Serine	Ser	$\mathbf{S}$	6.78
		Group	. 4
Histidine	His	Н	2.21
Asparagine	Asn	Ν	3.79
Glutamine	$\operatorname{Gln}$	Q	3.79
Tryptophan	Trp	W	1.30
		Group	5
Arginine	Arg	R	5.84
Lysine	Lys	Κ	4.92
		Group	6
Aspartate	Asp	D	5.47
Glutamate	Glu	Ε	6.24
		Group	1
Cysteine	Cys	С	1.28

**Table A.4:** Amino acids categories according to dipoles and volume of the side chains [55, 56].

Amino Acid	3-letter	1-letter	Occurrence in proteins(%)					
Aliphatic R Groups								
Glycine	Gly	G	7.29					
Alanine	Ala	А	9.06					
Proline	Pro	Р	4.97					
Valine	Val	V	6.88					
Leucine	Leu	L	9.87					
Isoleucine	Ile	Ι	5.55					
	Ar	omatic R	Groups					
Phenylalanine	Phe	F	3.89					
Tyrosine	Tyr	Υ	2.88					
Tryptophan	Trp	W	1.30					
	A	cidic R C	Groups					
Aspartate	Asp	D	5.47					
Glutamate	Glu	Е	6.24					
	-	Basic R g	roups					
Arginine	Arg	R	5.84					
Histidine	His	Η	2.21					
Lysine	Lys	Κ	4.92					
	Hy	droxylic I	R groups					
Serine	Ser	S	6.78					
Threonine	$\operatorname{Thr}$	Т	5.54					
	Sulphu	r-containi	ng R groups					
Methionine	Met	М	2.33					
Cysteine	Cys	$\mathbf{C}$	1.28					
	A	midic R	groups					
Asparagine	Asn	N	3.79					
Glutamine	$\operatorname{Gln}$	Q	3.79					

**Table A.5:** Amino acids categories according to physicochemical/structural properties of the side chains [57].

# Chapter B

# Appendix Explainable Deep Drug– Target Representations

## **B.1** Supplementary Materials





**Figure B.1:** Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions associated with the input vectors. a) Protein sequences length distribution; b) SMILES string length distribution.



Figure B.2: Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions associated with the output (target) vector. a)  $K_d$  values distribution; b)  $pK_d$  values distribution; c)  $pK_d > 5$  values distribution.

## **B.2** Supplementary Experimental Setup

#### **B.2.1** Binding Affinity Prediction

The optimized architecture and set of parameters for the proposed model were determined by the Chemogenomic K-Fold Cross-Validation methodology, which requires a similarity matrix for all the pairs of protein sequences and SMILES strings. The similarity for the protein pairs was obtained using the Smith-Waterman algorithm, which is usually applied for local sequence alignment and to determine similar regions between two protein sequences. This method was implemented using the Biostrings R Package [362], where the substitution matrix selected was the BLOSUM62, and the gap penalty for opening and extension was fixed at 10 and 0.5, respectively. Furthermore, the final alignment scores were normalized to a [0,1] range using the approach mentioned in the work of Yamanishi et al. (2008) [216]:

$$SW_{Normalized}(p_1, p_2) = \frac{SW(p_1, p_2)}{\sqrt{SW(p_1, p_1)} * \sqrt{SW(p_2, p_2)}}$$
(B.1)

, where SW stands for Smith-Watermann, and  $p_1$  and  $p_2$  for two proteins associated with a certain pair  $(p_1, p_2)$ . On the other hand, the similarity for the SMILES pairs was determined by the Tanimoto Coefficient, which is a distance metric usually applied to calculate the similarity between two molecules based on their bitmap representation (fingerprints). In order to calculate this coefficient, the SMILES strings were initially converted to the Morgan circular fingerprints with a radius of 3, representing the presence or absence of particular substructures across the bitmap. Morgan fingerprints are similar to ECFPs, and the features generated using this representation are based on the neighborhood (fragments) of each non-hydrogen atom of the molecule up to a certain radius and mapped into integer codes using a hashing procedure. The Tanimoto distance coefficient and the SMILES strings fingerprint transformation were implemented using the RDKit Python package [344]. Consequently, the dataset was split into six different folds, in which one fold was used to evaluate the generalization capacity of the model (independent test set) and the remaining folds for hyperoptimization. Table B.1 summarizes the statistics of the different folds obtained from the Chemogenomic K-Fold Cross-Validation approach.

**Table B.1:** Number of DTIs for the different Davis train/validation folds and independent test fold.

	DTI	pKd = 5	pKd > 5
Train/Validation Fold 0	4864	3413	1451
Train/Validation Fold 1	4864	3412	1452
Train/Validation Fold 2	4864	3413	1451
Train/Validation Fold 3	4864	3413	1451
Train/Validation Fold 4	4864	3413	1451
Independent Test Fold	4867	3415	1452

Several parameters were hyperoptimized, including the number of convolutional layers, the number of dense layers, the number of filters for each convolutional layer, the filter length, the number of neurons for each dense layer, the dropout rate, and the optimizer learning rate. A considerable range of possible values was assigned for each hyperparameter and the search was narrowed down to the best parameter values.

The Rectified Linear Unit (ReLU) was selected as the activation function for every layer, except for the final output dense layer which uses a linear activation. This function preserves the main properties of the linear and non-linear activation functions, returning zero if it receives any negative input (non-linear) or the value itself in the case of a positive input (linear). Furthermore, it is simple to compute and easier to optimize with gradient-based methods.

$$f(x) = max(0,x) \tag{B.2}$$

Considering that the proposed model focuses on a regression task, the loss function selected was the MSE, which measures the average squared differences between the predicted values and the real values. Regarding the optimizer function, Adaptive Moment Estimation (Adam) was used to update the network weights in each iteration of the training process. This function, identified as a combination of the RMSprop (Root Mean Square Propagation) and SGD (Stochastic Gradient Descent) with momentum, is an adaptive learning rate optimization algorithm that computes individual learning rates for each parameter.

$$W_t = W_{t-1} - \eta \frac{\hat{m}_t}{\sqrt{\hat{v}_t + \epsilon}} \tag{B.3}$$

, where W is the weight,  $\eta$  the learning rate, m and v the moving averages, and  $\epsilon$  a small value to avoid division by zero.

Furthermore, early stopping with a patience of 30 and model checkpoint were also considered in order to avoid potential overfitting, where the RMSE was evaluated at each epoch by these two callbacks. Early stopping allows the interruption of the training process if there is no improvement of the evaluation metric after a chosen number of epochs (patience). On the other hand, model checkpoint saves the best model, including the parameters, for the training run, independently of the finishing epoch. Overall, the hyperparameter combination that provided the best average RMSE score over the validation sets was selected as the best set of parameters to establish the optimized model and evaluate the generalization capacity on the test set.

Table B.2 summarizes the parameter settings for the CNN-FCNN model.

In order to validate the prediction efficiency of the end-to-end deep learning architecture (CNN-FCNN), the performance was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art baselines, specifically KronRLS [265], SimBoost [267], Sim-CNN-DTA [273], DeepDTA [268], DeepCDA [272], and all the different formulations of the GraphDTA [271]. The original hyperparameter settings described in each one of these works were applied, except for DeepCDA [272], in which it was necessary to

Parameter	Value
Number of Convolution Lavor	9
Number of Convolution Layers	0
Number of Dense Layers	3
Number of Filters	[64, 64, 128]
Filter Length (Proteins)	[4,4,5]
Filter Length (Compounds)	[4,4,5]
Filter Padding	'same'
Hidden Neurons	[1024, 512, 1024]
Dropout Rate	[0.5, 0.1]
Optimizer	Adam
Learning Rate	1e-04
Activation Function (CNN)	ReLU
Activation Function (FCNN)	ReLU
Activation Function (Output)	Linear
Loss Function	MSE
Epochs*	500

 Table B.2: CNN-FCNN parameter settings.

\*Initial number of epochs to allow convergence of the model, where early stopping and model checkpoint were applied to avoid overfitting.

conduct a hyperparameter search considering that the authors did not provide any reference values.

To further evaluate the efficiency of the CNN deep representations, the performance was compared with RFR, SVR, GBR, and KRR. Scikit-learn [363] was used to implement these models and the parameters were obtained using the Chemogenomic K-Fold Cross-Validation approach. Table B.3 summarizes the parameter settings for the deep representations evaluation baseline models.

The model was developed using Python 3.7.9 and Tensorflow 2.4.1, and the experiments were run on 2.20GHz Intel i7-8750H and GeForce GTX 1060 6GB.

#### B.2.2 Explainable Binding Affinity Prediction

In order to provide explainability to the predictions, Grad-RAM was applied to the implemented trained model, specifically to the last convolutional layers. Even though Grad-RAM connects the features extracted from the CNNs to the input domain, the sole visualization of the input regions that had a positive influence on the prediction does not provide enough explainability without any domain knowledge. Hence, the matching and feature relevance correlation between input regions that

**Table B.3:** Parameters settings for the deep representations evaluation baseline models. a) RFR; b) KRR; c) SVR; d) GBR.

(a)		(b)		(c)			
Parameters	Value	Parameter	rs Value	Parameters	Value		
n_estimators300criterionmsemax_featuresauto		$\begin{array}{c} alpha \\ kernel \\ degree \\ (d) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.01 \\ \mathrm{poly} \\ 5 \end{array}$	C kernel gamma	5 rbf scale		
		Parameters	Value				
		n_estimators criterion learning_rate max_features	900 friedman_mse 0.1 None				

had a positive influence on the prediction and the spots associated with binding sites or motifs were also assessed and explored.

Additionally, binding sites (and motifs) are mostly non-consecutive and scattered in a 1D representation. Thus, to reasonably evaluate the reliability of the CNNs in the identification of these regions as relevant for prediction, the neighborhood of every single position was also taken into consideration. On that account, for each position p associated with a binding (or motif) region, the resulting pocket is given by an interval  $]p - s_w, p + s_w[$ , where  $s_w$  is the size of the window. Nevertheless, the interval is always left or right-bounded in the presence of another binding site (or motif) in order to avoid overlapping.

#### B.2.2.1 L<sub>Grad-RAM</sub> Matching

The regression discriminative localization map provides information regarding the regions of the input that positive-influenced the prediction, and their relative importance (weight). On that account, the first evaluation step consisted in verifying if the CNNs are identifying the binding sites as relevant for the prediction of the binding affinity. Different window lengths were considered, specifically ranging from 0 (exact matching) to 5, in order to determine if in these window-based binding pockets, the CNNs are extracting information from at least one position, considering that the binding spots are non-consecutive single positions. Moreover,  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  only contains values equal to zero or greater than zero (positive influence). Thus, to evaluate the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching, it is necessary to verify if there is at least one value greater than zero in the window-based binding pocket. Overall, this information is presented as a matching percentage corresponding to the weighted average of the average number of binding sites, wherein information is being extracted from at least one position, across all the DTI pairs.

$$\sum_{p=1}^{P} \frac{B_p}{\sum_{p=1}^{P} B_p} * \frac{1}{B_p} \sum_{b=1}^{B_p} 1, \ \exists i = 1, ..., W : window_b(i) > 0$$
(B.4)

, where P is the number of DTI pairs, B is the number of binding sites associated with a certain DTI pair p, and W is the total length of the window-based pocket.

In the case of the conserved motifs, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching for the positions outside the entire binding region, i.e., from the first to the last binding position, was also evaluated.

#### **B.2.2.2** L<sub>Grad-RAM</sub> Feature Relevance

In addition to the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching, it is critical to understand the significance of the features extracted from the window-based pockets, specifically if these features are in the range of those with the highest positive influence. On that matter, different thresholds of significance, ranging from the 10% to the 70% highest positive-valued features, were defined in order to perceive what percentage of the features extracted from the window-based pocket regions actually fall into these  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature threshold distributions. Overall, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  feature relevance is presented as the weighted average of the average number of positive features extracted from the window-based pocket regions that belong to the feature threshold distribution across all the DTI pairs.

$$\sum_{p=1}^{P} \frac{F_p}{\sum_{p=1}^{P} F_p} * \frac{1}{F_P} \sum_{f=1}^{F_P} 1 \iff F_P(f) \in \{x \in L_p^{GR>0} | \{y \in L_p^{GR>0} | x \le y\} | \le \lambda | L_p^{GR>0} | \}$$
(B.5)

, where P is the number of DTI pairs, F is the number of positive features extracted from all the window-based pockets,  $L_p^{GR}$  is the regression discriminative localization map, and  $\lambda$  is the significance threshold.

# **B.3** Supplementary Results

### **B.3.1** Binding Affinity Prediction

In order to further validate the proposed architecture and increase the fairness in the comparisons with the state-of-the-art models, the binding affinity performance of the CNN-FCNN model was also evaluated and compared using the experimental settings, i.e., the split methodology of the Davis dataset, proposed in these baselines. The protein sequences and SMILES strings were truncated to the maximum lengths defined in Section 6.2.1.1 of Chapter 6, and the hyperparameter combination of Table B.2 was selected to establish the optimized model. Table B.4 reports the average MSE and CI scores over the independent test set using the five different training sets for the Davis dataset.

Method	Protein	Compound	MSE	↑ CI
Wethod	Rep.	Rep.	* 11101	
Baseline Methods				
KronRLS [265]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.379	0.871
Sim-CNN-DTA [273]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.306	0.855
SimBoost [267]	Smith-Waterman	PubChem-Sim	0.282	0.872
DeepDTA [268]	1D	1D	0.261	0.878
GraphDTA-GCN [271]	1D	Graph	0.254	0.880
DeepCDA [272]	1D	1D	0.248	0.891
GraphDTA-GAT-GCN [271]	1D	Graph	0.245	0.881
GraphDTA-GATNet [271]	1D	Graph	0.232	0.892
GraphDTA-GIN [271]	1D	Graph	0.229	0.893
Proposed Method				
CNN-FCNN	1D	1D	$0.198\ (0.003)$	$0.902 \ (0.002)$

 Table B.4: Binding affinity prediction results over the Davis dataset using the original split methodology.

The standard deviations for the proposed architecture are given in parentheses.

### **B.3.2** $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Matching

#### B.3.2.1 PSSM Motifs

**Table B.5:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Matching (Equation B.4) for the Davis  $\cap$  sc-PDB pairs across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 10$ .

(a)					(b)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	11.28	11.28	11.28	10.37	0	12.14	12.14	12.14	11.23
1	20.26	20.26	20.26	19.07	1	23.52	23.52	23.52	22.40
2	26.52	26.52	26.52	25.11	$^{2}$	30.88	30.88	30.88	29.19
3	30.01	30.01	30.01	28.59	3	35.31	35.31	35.31	33.69
4	32.20	32.20	32.20	30.73	4	38.70	38.70	38.70	37.24
5	33.62	33.62	33.62	32.12	5	41.67	41.67	41.67	40.24
(c)					$\overline{(d)}$				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	11.35	11.35	11.35	10.39	0	9.41	9.41	9.41	7.87
1	26.09	26.09	26.09	25.20	1	27.53	27.53	27.53	26.69
2	38.07	38.07	38.07	36.16	2	42.49	42.49	42.49	40.17
3	44.15	44.15	44.15	42.42	3	49.79	49.79	49.79	48.10
4	49.24	49.24	49.24	47.61	4	53.23	53.23	53.23	52.25
5	51.93	51.93	51.93	50.44	5	56.25	56.25	56.25	55.41
(e)					$\overline{(f)}$				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	9.27	9.27	9.27	6.83	0	13.30	13.30	13.30	9.42
1	26.67	26.67	26.67	25.37	1	28.25	28.25	28.25	26.59
2	40.98	40.98	40.98	37.89	2	47.65	47.65	47.65	42.94
3	47.80	47.80	47.80	45.04	3	52.91	52.91	52.91	48.48
4	52.52	52.52	52.52	51.06	4	55.12	55.12	55.12	53.19
5	59.35	59.35	59.35	58.21	5	65.37	65.37	65.37	64.27

**Table B.6:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Matching (Equation B.4) for the Davis  $\cap$ sc-PDB pairs with the motifs inside the entire binding region filtered out across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold  $\geq$  5; b) PSSM Threshold  $\geq$  6; c) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 10$ .

(a)					(b)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	10.38	10.38	10.38	9.50	0	10.71	10.71	10.71	9.83
1	19.05	19.05	19.05	17.95	1	21.15	21.15	21.15	20.15
$^{2}$	25.69	25.69	25.69	24.54	<b>2</b>	28.97	28.97	28.97	27.69
3	29.72	29.72	29.72	28.51	3	34.05	34.05	34.05	32.82
4	32.37	32.37	32.37	31.11	4	37.98	37.98	37.98	36.90
5	34.09	34.09	34.09	32.78	5	41.78	41.78	41.78	40.74
(c)					(d)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	10.19	10.19	10.19	9.24	0	7.41	7.41	7.41	5.78
1	23.10	23.10	23.10	22.10	1	25.84	25.84	25.84	25.02
<b>2</b>	35.10	35.10	35.10	33.43	<b>2</b>	40.74	40.74	40.74	39.02
3	41.67	41.67	41.67	40.19	3	47.52	47.52	47.52	45.80
4	48.19	48.19	48.19	46.86	4	51.58	51.58	51.58	50.77
5	51.24	51.24	51.24	50.05	5	55.37	55.37	55.37	54.65
(e)					(f)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	7.59	7.59	7.59	4.56	0	9.27	9.27	9.27	4.97
1	25.38	25.38	25.38	23.86	1	23.18	23.18	23.18	21.52
<b>2</b>	39.70	39.70	39.70	36.23	<b>2</b>	41.06	41.06	41.06	36.09
3	47.72	47.72	47.72	44.69	3	46.36	46.36	46.36	41.72
4	53.80	53.80	53.80	52.71	4	49.01	49.01	49.01	47.35
5	62.69	62.69	62.69	61.61	5	61.26	61.26	61.26	59.93

(a)
**Table B.7:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Matching (Equation B.4) for the sc-PDB pairs across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 10$ .

(a)					(b)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	14.14	14.14	14.14	12.84	0	14.34	14.34	14.34	13.07
1	27.11	27.11	27.11	24.96	1	29.86	29.86	29.86	27.52
<b>2</b>	33.28	33.28	33.28	30.82	2	38.02	38.02	38.02	35.32
3	37.10	37.10	37.10	34.54	3	43.40	43.40	43.40	40.53
4	39.21	39.21	39.21	36.61	4	47.52	47.52	47.52	44.53
5	40.78	40.78	40.78	38.15	5	49.83	49.83	49.83	46.82
(c)					(d)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	14.92	14.92	14.92	13.61	0	15.42	15.42	15.42	13.97
1	32.52	32.52	32.52	30.12	1	34.91	34.91	34.91	32.80
<b>2</b>	42.58	42.58	42.58	39.74	2	46.80	46.80	46.80	43.90
3	50.52	50.52	50.52	47.39	3	56.62	56.62	56.62	53.22
4	56.52	56.52	56.52	53.29	4	63.70	63.70	63.70	60.15
5	59.96	59.96	59.96	56.72	5	68.68	68.68	68.68	65.28
(e)					(f)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	18.29	18.29	18.29	16.45	0	22.20	22.20	22.20	19.87
1	36.73	36.73	36.73	34.25	1	38.41	38.41	38.41	35.23
<b>2</b>	50.14	50.14	50.14	47.36	2	53.67	53.67	53.67	50.09
3	62.20	62.20	62.20	58.72	3	63.79	63.79	63.79	60.12
4	70.88	70.88	70.88	67.46	4	73.32	73.32	73.32	69.87
5	76.53	76.53	76.53	73.36	5	78.92	78.92	78.92	75.74

239

**Table B.8:** PSSM Motifs -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Matching (Equation B.4) for the sc-PDB pairs with the motifs inside the entire binding region filtered out across different PSSM thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold  $\geq 10$ .

(a)					(b)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	12.88	12.88	12.88	11.55	0	13.46	13.46	13.46	12.12
1	25.64	25.64	25.64	23.57	1	28.03	28.03	28.03	25.79
<b>2</b>	32.02	32.02	32.02	29.59	<b>2</b>	36.34	36.34	36.34	33.73
3	36.10	36.10	36.10	33.60	3	41.80	41.80	41.80	39.06
4	38.34	38.34	38.34	35.80	4	46.27	46.27	46.27	43.32
5	40.14	40.14	40.14	37.56	5	48.84	48.84	48.84	45.89
(c)					(d)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	14.27	14.27	14.27	12.81	0	13.41	13.41	13.41	11.90
1	31.16	31.16	31.16	28.76	1	33.05	33.05	33.05	30.94
<b>2</b>	41.08	41.08	41.08	38.30	$^{2}$	44.71	44.71	44.71	41.79
3	49.27	49.27	49.27	46.19	3	54.38	54.38	54.38	51.26
4	55.93	55.93	55.93	52.75	4	61.64	61.64	61.64	58.29
5	59.96	59.96	59.96	56.72	5	67.19	67.19	67.19	63.92
(e)					(f)				
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	15.90	15.90	15.90	13.99	0	20.42	20.42	20.42	17.78
1	33.90	33.90	33.90	31.38	1	35.56	35.56	35.56	32.37
2	47.89	47.89	47.89	45.06	2	52.01	52.01	52.01	48.41
3	59.05	59.05	59.05	55.79	3	61.26	61.26	61.26	57.84
4	67.84	67.84	67.84	64.70	4	69.91	69.91	69.91	66.79
5	73.25	73.25	73.25	70.25	5	75.38	75.38	75.38	72.31

#### **B.3.2.2 3D** Interaction Space Analysis (Docking)

Apart from visualizing and exploring the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results in the 1D space and for DTI pairs with binding information known and available, it is essential to validate the reliability of the CNNs in the identification of important regions for binding and the binding sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  matching results for DTI pairs without any binding information available, especially in the 3D interaction space. On that account, two DTI pairs with an extremely low absolute prediction error from the Davis testing set, specifically ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 and DDR1 -Foretinib, were selected to conduct 3D interaction space analysis.

The 3D structures of the proteins associated with these DTI pairs were collected from the PDB database [186], in which the 3QRI [364] and 4BKJ [365] structures were selected for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated and DDR1 kinases, respectively. These structures were processed using the Discovery Studio Visualizer 4.5 [366] and converted into the PDBQT format using the AutoDockTools 1.5.6 [367]. On the other hand, OpenBabel 3.1.1 [264] was used to generate the 3D coordinates and convert the SMILES strings into the PDB format, and AutoDockTools 1.5.6 [367] to convert the ligands in the PDB format to the PDBQT format.

In order to generate and predict the 3D receptor-ligand complexes for the two aforementioned DTI pairs, docking experiments were conducted using AutoDock Vina 1.2.0 [352]. The docking process was divided into different stages: blind docking and guided docking. In the blind docking step, search boxes larger than the receptors were employed (increased searching space), specifically 60x60x45 Å for ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated and 75x55x50 Å for DDR1, and the exhaustiveness was set to 2000. In the guided docking stage, the DoGSiteScorer [161] platform was explored to perform an unbiased assessment of the most likely binding regions (high drug scores) for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated and DDR1 kinases. On that account, the search boxes, with a size of 30x30x30 Å, were centered around the highest-scoring binding pockets for each receptor, respectively, and the exhaustiveness was set to 200. The two docking approaches presented very similar results, in which the RMSD (Root Mean Squared Deviation) between the resulting blind and guided docking best poses was under 0.1 Å for the SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K)phosphorylated ligand) and was equal to 0.2 Å for the Foretinib (DDR1 ligand). Figure B.3 illustrates the superimposed blind and guided docking best poses for the ligands associated with each receptor, where it is possible to observe that the best binding poses obtained from each docking approach almost completely overlap.



**Figure B.3:** Overlapped blind and guided docking best poses. a) SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K) - phosphorylated ligand); b) Foretinib (DDR1 ligand). Blind Docking - Blue, Guided Docking - Orange.

Table B.9 reports the blind and guided docking scores measured in terms of kcal/mol (binding affinity) for the best three poses of the ligands associated with each receptor, specifically SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated ligand) and Foretinib (DDR1 ligand).

Consistent with visual findings observed in Figure B.3, the docking scores for the best pose of the blind and guided docking methods associated with the ABL1(E255K)-

**Table B.9:** Blind and guided docking scores, measured in terms of kcal/mol, for the best three poses of the ligands associated with each receptor, specifically SKI-606 (ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated ligand) and Foretinib (DDR1 ligand).

		Binding Affinit	y (kcal/mol)
Drug–Target Interaction Pair	Ligand Pose	Blind Docking	Guided Docking
	1	-12.4	-12.4
ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606	2	-11.6	-11.7
	3	-11.1	-11.7
	1	-10.8	-10.8
DDR1 - Foretinib	<b>2</b>	-10.7	-10.7
	3	-10.6	-10.7

phosphorylated - SKI-606 and DDR1 - Foretinib interaction pairs, respectively, are in the same strength order.

To further validate the resulting 3D complexes for each one of the selected DTI pairs, the information present in the 3D structures of the receptors in the PDB database [186], i.e., the X-ray crystallography structures of ligands in complex with these receptors (cognates), was used to conduct pocket surface visual evaluations. On that account, it was evaluated if the pocket surface associated with the X-ray crystallography structure of the ligand in complex with each one of the receptors, which is considered a region of high binding probability, contains the docked ligand, i.e., if it falls inside this binding surface. The DoGSiteScorer [161] platform was used to extract the pocket surface, and PyMol [368] for the representation and annotation of these structures.

Considering that binding spots are of special interest in the context of this study, PyMol [368] was used to select and identify potential interacting residues within the protein sequences based on a distance threshold of  $\leq 5$  Å from the docked ligand molecule. However, protein crystal structures from the PDB [186] repository are usually associated with certain fragments of the whole protein 1D amino acid sequence (e.g., protein sequence from the UniProt database [57]). Thus, BLASTP [369] was employed to align the PDB fragments with the protein sequences used to characterize ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated and DDR1 in the Davis dataset, respectively. The resulting 3D interaction complexes were annotated based on the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å),  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, matched binding- $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions, and pocket surface.

Figures B.4 and B.5 illustrate the 3D receptor-ligand complexes (both cognate and docked ligand) associated with the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated - SKI-606 and DDR1 - Foretinib DTI pairs.



**Figure B.4:** Annotated 3D structure for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated receptor in complex with the cognate ligand and docked ligand (SKI-606), where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å), the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions, and the pocket surface are represented by the green, blue, red and orange colors, respectively. a) Full representation of the 3D complex; b) Pocket surface in detail. Cognate Ligand - Dark Blue, Docked Ligand - Cyan.



**Figure B.5:** Annotated 3D structure for the DDR1 receptor in complex with the cognate ligand and docked ligand (Foretinib), where the potential binding sites ( $\leq 5$  Å), the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, the matched binding -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  positions, and the pocket surface are represented by the green, blue, red and orange colors, respectively. a) Full representation of the 3D complex; b) Pocket surface in detail. Cognate Ligand - Dark Blue, Docked Ligand - Cyan.

The visual findings demonstrate that the docked ligand falls inside the pocket surface associated with the cognate ligand for each one of the receptors considered, thus, improving the significance of the binding pose of the docked ligands and the overall docking approach. Moreover, it is possible to observe in Figures B.4b and B.5b that the binding poses of the docked ligand and the cognate ligand in each one of the receptors seem to be correlated. On that account, the correlation of the binding residues associated with each one of these ligands was further evaluated. Discovery Studio Visualizer 4.5 [366] was used to generate 2D Interaction Diagrams, representing the type of directed bonds between protein and ligand and the interacting protein residues. Figures B.6 and B.7 depict the 2D Interaction Diagrams for the ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated receptor in complex with the cognate ligand and the docked ligand, and the DDR1 receptor in complex with the cognate ligand and the docked ligand, respectively.

**Figure B.6:** ABL1(E255K)-phosphorylated 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the binding residues interacting with both the cognate and docked ligands are shown delimited by black circles. a) Cognate Ligand; b) Docked Ligand (SKI-606).



The 2D interaction diagrams for both receptors corroborate the previous visual findings (Figures B.4 and B.5), where it is possible to observe that the majority of the binding residues are interacting with both the cognate and docked ligands. Overall, these results increase the significance of 3D complexes obtained from docking, and the comparisons with the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits.

In addition to exploring the resulting 3D complexes for the two selected DTI pairs, and assessing the visual correlation between the binding sites and  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits, it was relevant to check any potential meaning for the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits close to the binding pocket and those not in the vicinity of the binding pocket. In particular, for the DDR1 kinase, which is considered an important therapeutic target due to its implication in pressing contexts, e.g., cancer, it was found that some of these hits are correlated with certain experimental validated critical interacting residues

Figure B.7: DDR1 2D Interaction Diagram, in which the binding residues interacting with both the cognate and docked ligands are shown delimited by black circles. a) Cognate Ligand; b) Docked Ligand (Foretinib).



[370], specifically pY703, pY740, pY756, pY792 and pY869. On that account, the  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  hits are matched with pY703 (near main binding pocket), pY740 (far away from main binding pocket), and pY869 (far away from main binding pocket), and nearly matched (1 position away) with pY756 and pY792 (far away from binding pocket). Figure B.8 illustrates the DDR1 kinase domain interactome related to experimental validated critical interacting residues identified in the research work of Lemeer et al. (2012) [370].



**Figure B.8:** DDR1 kinase domain interactome. a) Interaction map of DDR1.DDR1-pY interactome based on phosphotyrosine peptide pulldowns performed in human placenta tissue [370]; b) Network map of DDR1 interactions, where the interacting residues and the interactors are represented by the yellow and green colors, respectively.

### **B.3.3** $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance

#### B.3.3.1**Binding Sites**

Table B.10: Binding Sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the Davis - sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds. a) Feature Relevance 10%; b) Feature Relevance 20%; c) Feature Relevance 30%; d) Feature Relevance 40%; e) Feature Relevance 50%; f) Feature Relevance 60%; g) Feature Relevance 70%.

(a)					(b)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	13.08	13.08	13.08	12.87		0	20.56	20.56	20.56	17.82
1	17.24	17.24	17.24	20.08		1	27.59	27.59	27.59	28.03
<b>2</b>	18.42	18.42	18.42	20.62		2	30.00	30.00	30.00	30.79
3	19.58	19.58	19.58	21.45		3	30.30	30.30	30.30	30.92
4	19.09	19.09	19.09	20.27		4	30.08	30.08	30.08	30.96
5	19.84	19.84	19.84	20.83		5	31.52	31.52	31.52	32.50
$\overline{(\mathbf{c})}$					(d)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	33.64	33.64	33.64	30.69		0	57.01	57.01	57.01	58.42
1	39.08	39.08	39.08	39.33		1	57.47	57.47	57.47	61.09
<b>2</b>	44.74	44.74	44.74	45.48		2	58.95	58.95	58.95	61.86
3	44.06	44.06	44.06	44.89		3	57.34	57.34	57.34	60.10
4	43.36	43.36	43.36	44.32		4	56.22	56.22	56.22	58.80
5	43.97	43.97	43.97	45.00		5	56.61	56.61	56.61	58.96
(e)					(f)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	76.64	76.64	76.64	73.27		0	84.11	84.11	84.11	85.15
1	72.03	72.03	72.03	72.80		1	78.16	78.16	78.16	79.92
$^{2}$	72.37	72.37	72.37	72.88		2	79.21	79.21	79.21	81.07
3	70.63	70.63	70.63	71.32		3	77.62	77.62	77.62	79.55
4	70.33	70.33	70.33	71.05		4	76.76	76.76	76.76	78.62
5	69.84	69.84	69.84	70.62		5	75.88	75.88	75.88	77.71
		$(\mathbf{g})$								
		Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	-		
			0	91.59	91.59	91.59	93.07	-		
			1	87.36	87.36	87.36	89.12			
			2	86.84	86.84	86.84	87.57			
			3	85.55	85.55	85.55	86.28			
			4	85.06	85.06	85.06	85.97			
			5	83.85	83.85	83.85	84.58			

83.85

**Table B.11:** Binding Sites -  $L_{Grad-RAM}$  Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the sc-PDB pairs across different feature significance thresholds: a) Feature Relevance 10%; b) Feature Relevance 20%; c) Feature Relevance 30%; d) Feature Relevance 40%; e) Feature Relevance 50%; f) Feature Relevance 60%; g) Feature Relevance 70%.

(a)					(b)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	8.48	8.48	8.48	8.42		0	20.71	20.71	20.71	20.73
1	11.83	11.83	11.83	12.42		1	22.55	22.55	22.55	23.26
2	11.85	11.85	11.85	12.65		2	21.69	21.69	21.69	22.47
3	11.97	11.97	11.97	12.86		3	22.08	22.08	22.08	22.56
4	12.11	12.11	12.11	12.90		4	22.91	22.91	22.91	23.39
5	11.82	11.82	11.82	12.54		5	22.81	22.81	22.81	23.11
(c)					(d)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	30.57	30.57	30.57	30.67		0	41.81	41.81	41.81	43.63
1	33.40	33.40	33.40	33.33		1	42.65	42.65	42.65	43.48
$^{2}$	32.45	32.45	32.45	32.59		2	41.53	41.53	41.53	42.46
3	32.58	32.58	32.58	32.74		3	41.52	41.52	41.52	42.36
4	33.15	33.15	33.15	33.62		4	42.42	42.42	42.42	43.30
5	33.03	33.03	33.03	33.35		5	42.57	42.57	42.57	43.16
(e)					(f)					
Window Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG
0	51.87	51.87	51.87	52.48		0	59.57	59.57	59.57	59.61
1	52.45	52.45	52.45	52.58		1	62.18	62.18	62.18	61.82
2	51.05	51.05	51.05	51.60		2	60.56	60.56	60.56	60.74
3	51.67	51.67	51.67	52.42		3	60.76	60.76	60.76	61.18
4	52.44	52.44	52.44	53.15		4	61.66	61.66	61.66	61.88
5	52.62	52.62	52.62	53.20		5	62.00	62.00	62.00	61.98
		$(\mathbf{g})$								
		Window	v Length	GMP-G	GMP-NG	GAP-G	GAP-NG	- +		
			0	71.01	71.01	71.01	71.27	-		
			1	73.18	73.18	73.18	73.26			
			2	71.27	71.27	71.27	71.90			
			3	70.98	70.98	70.98	71.65			
			4	71.55	71.55	71.55	72.14			
			5	71.79	71.79	71.79	72.14			

B.3.3.2 PSSM Motifs

<b>Table B.1</b> significance Threshold	$\geq 2$ : $\geq \mathrm{th}$	PSS resh ; d)	M M M olds, PSSI	[otifs win M T}	dow bresh	' <i>Grad</i> len ıold	$\frac{-RAA}{\text{gths}}$	4 Fe ant ; e) ]	atur 1 PS 2SSN	e Re SM A TJ	leval Thre resh	nce ( eshol uold	Equal $E_{du}$ $\geq 9;$	atior a) I f) P	D B.E	() foi A Th	r the aresh resho	Dav lold bld ≥	$\sim 10.$	l sc-]; b)	PDB PSS	iM 7	rs ac l'hree	ross shold	$\dim_{1} \leq 1$	srent 6; c)	feat ) PS	ure SM
(a)																												
				GMD	P-G						GMP.	-NG						GAP-	ų					5	AP-NO	75		
	I												Featur	e Rele	vance 7	Thresho	pld											
	1	10	20 3	0 4	0 5	0	30 70	1	0 2(	0 3	0 4(	3 50	09 (	0.4	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	$^{20}$	30	40	50	60	20
	0 11 0	L.82 2: 2.17 2:	2.55 32.	.06 44. 24 43.	39 56 10 53	.21 66 92 63	5.53 75. 1.69 73.	.35 11. 30 12.	82 22. 17 22.	55 32. 52 32.	06 44. 24 43	39 56.2 10 53.9	21 66.5 02 63.6	33 75.3 39 73.3	5 11.8 0 12.1	2 22.55	5 32.06 32.24	44.35	56.21	66.53 63.69	75.35 73.30	12.10 12.47	22.36 23.09	32.50 33.03	44.71 43.65	56.82 54.61	66.85 64.44	76.34 74.04
Window Length	3 I I I	2 2 1	1.94 32		02 53. 49 51	70 61 61	3.53 74. 75 72	47 10	69 21. 98 21.	94 32. 13 31	05 43.0 40 41 4	02 53.t 19 51 7	50 63.5 70 61.7	33 74.0 55 79.4	8 11.6 710.9	9 21.92	4 32.05 3 31.40	43.02	53.50	63.53 61 75	74.08	11.96	22.47	32.48 31 72	43.11	54.22 52.34	63.83 62.20	72.61
	5 4 5 10 10	20.20	).10 30. (10 30.	.30 39. .19 39.	95 50 84 50.5	.13 55	0.84 70. 0.66 70.	.17 10 03 10.	20 20.	33 30. 10 30.	30 39.1 19 39.2	95 50.1 84 50.0	13 59.6 11 59.6	54 70.1 56 70.0	7 10.5 3 10.2	20.3 20.3 20.1	30.30	39.95	50.15	59.66	70.03	10.40 10.16	20.87 20.64 20.64	30.52 30.35	39.99 39.92	50.28 50.28	60.05 60.05	70.20 70.03
(q)																												
				GMD	P-G						GMP.	DN-						GAP-	ų					5	AP-NC	75		
	I												Featur	e Rele	vance 7	Thresho	plo											
	1	10	20 3	10 41	0	0	30 7	0 1	0	0	0 4(	3 50	09 0	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70
Window Length	0 15 1 15 2 15 3 12	2.38 2. 3.94 2. 3.33 2. 3.33 2. 2.59 2.	3.65 31 4.21 32 3.13 31. 1.98 31.	.90 44. .83 43. .16 41. .02 41.	.60 56 .18 54 .38 52 .11 51.	51 68 20 64 19 65 19 65	3.57 78 1.62 73. 1.49 74. 1.92 73.	.73 12 .31 13. .46 13. .80 12.	.38 23. 94 24. 33 23. 59 21.	65 31. 21 32. 13 31. 98 31.	90 44. 83 43. 16 41. 02 41.1	60 56.( 18 54.5 38 52.1 11 51.8	51 68.5 20 64.6 19 63.4 36 62.9	57 78.7 32 73.3 19 74.4 92 73.8	<ol> <li>12.3</li> <li>12.3</li> <li>13.9</li> <li>13.9</li> <li>13.3</li> <li>13.3</li> <li>13.5</li> <li>12.5</li> </ol>	8 23.67 4 24.21 3 23.15 9 21.98	5 31.90 1 32.83 3 31.16 8 31.02	44.60 43.18 41.38 41.11	56.51 54.20 52.19 52.19	68.57 64.62 63.49 62.92	78.73 73.31 74.46 73.80	$\begin{array}{c} 12.52 \\ 14.46 \\ 13.93 \\ 13.06 \\ 13.06 \end{array}$	22.98 24.04 23.41 22.33	32.08 33.15 31.79 31.60	44.25 43.53 42.02 41.44	57.80 54.87 53.76 52.84	69.30 65.10 63.87 63.15	79.25 73.80 73.93 73.08
	4 15 5 12	2.66 2:	2.55 31 2.19 31.	.46 41. .12 41.	.11 51 25 51	.66 62 .52 61	2.25 73 82 72.	.00 12.	.66 22. 10 22.	55 31. 19 31.	46 41. 12 41.	11 51.( 25 51.f	36 62.5 52 61.8	25 73.0 32 72.1	0 12.6 2 12.1	6 22.58 0 22.19	5 31.46 9 31.12	41.11	51.66	62.25 61.82	73.00 72.12	12.88 12.30	22.78 22.52	31.92 31.50	41.32 41.19	52.39 52.13	62.37 61.75	72.44 71.56
(c)																												
				GM	P-G						GMP	-NG						GAP-	ų					5	AP-NC	75		
													Featu	e Rele	vance 7	Thresho	plo											
	`]	10	20 3	14	0	0	30 70		0	0 3	0 4(	2(	90	10	10	20	30	40	50	60	20	10	20	30	40	50	60	20
	0 14 14	1.23 L	4.95 23 5.19 34.	.68 36. .57 45.	.76 48 19 56	.29 64 .54 68 74 68	1.49 76. 3.52 77.	.01 6. .04 14.	23 14. 20 25.	95 23. 19 34.	68 36. 57 45. 88 16.	76 48.5 19 56.5 17 75 7	29 64.4 54 68.5	19 76.0	и 6.23 и 14.2	14.90 0 25.19	5 23.68 9 34.57 87.57	36.76	56.54 1 56.54	64.49 68.52	76.01 77.04	8.16 15.18	14.29 25.52	24.49 35.21	38.10 46.47	49.66 57.33 57.33	65.65 69.11	78.91 78.14 70.13
Window Length	<b>2 16 1</b> 16 16	5.44 2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2	5.46 35. 7.20 36	.22 40. .50 46. 11 46.	.40 07 .36 57. 17 57	34 - 67 34 - 67 34 - 68	5.00 / 6. 7.78 77. 1.03 78	08 I. .67 I.6. 41 I.6	- 58 - 44 - 26 - 27 - 27	01 46 35. 36.	22 40.50 46.511 46.5111 46.5111 46.51111 46.5111111111111111111111111111111111111	40 07.3 36 57.3 17 57.5	08.0 16 67.7 14 68.0	0.07 0.0 8 77.6 8 78.4	0 15.3 7 16.4 11 16.3	20.0 20.0 20.4 0 20.4 0	6 35.50 36.11 36.11	40.40 46.36 46.17	57.32	67.78 68.03	70.00 77.67 78.41	16.70 16.70 16.33	26.60 26.60 27 29	30.95 36.05 36.63	46.73 46.73 46.70	57.73 58.00	09.31 68.28 68.34	77.48 77.48 78.19
	5 15	5.58 20	5.33 34.	.89 45.	56 56	69 65	7.07 77.	.13 15.	58 26.	33 34.	89 45.1	56 56.6	39 67.0	1.77 70.1	3 15.5	8 26.30	3 34.85	45.56	56.65	67.07	77.13	15.66	26.60	35.36	45.60	57.24	67.28	76.78

Chapter B. Appendix Explainable Deep Drug–Target Representations

(f)	Window Leng			(e)	Window Leng			(d)	Window Leng			
	т т оние 4 го				4 0				н адаариано			
	12.50 16.94 9.96 12.38 12.56	10			10.53 12.12 10.33 11.22 14.15 13.93	10			5.97 11.45 11.17 12.80 13.19	10		
	37.50 41.13 24.55 26.35 28.46	20			31.58 27.27 20.67 20.70 25.00 26.23	20			19.40 23.57 24.97 25.61 25.00	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 43.75\\50.00\\32.27\\33.33\\35.13\end{array}$	30			36.84 35.35 27.96 27.93 31.98 32.79	30			26.87 33.04 34.13 35.50 34.57	30		
	$56.25 \\ 58.87 \\ 43.64 \\ 40.64 \\ 45.08 \\ 47.18$	40	GMP-C		52.6345.9640.1238.1542.8343.93	40		GMP-C	38.06 42.73 43.77 45.68 46.70 46.22	40		GMP-0
	$\begin{array}{c} 60.42 \\ 65.32 \\ 54.55 \\ 52.59 \\ 55.87 \\ 57.18 \end{array}$	50	42		$\begin{array}{c} 61.40\\ 55.05\\ 51.06\\ 48.88\\ 53.68\\ 53.93\end{array}$	50		4.2	51.49 52.86 54.81 55.78 57.55 56.48	50		197
	$\begin{array}{c} 66.67\\ 76.61\\ 65.00\\ 62.15\\ 65.08\\ 64.87\end{array}$	60			$\begin{array}{c} 66.67\\ 66.16\\ 61.40\\ 58.35\\ 63.18\\ 62.30\end{array}$	60			66.42 67.40 67.92 67.95 68.92 67.05	60		
	$\begin{array}{c} 70.83\\ 79.84\\ 75.45\\ 72.51\\ 76.19\\ 76.41 \end{array}$	70			$71.93 \\71.72 \\71.43 \\70.07 \\74.61 \\73.93$	70			73.88 74.23 76.90 78.30 76.31	70		
	12.50 16.94 10.00 9.96 12.38 12.56	10			$\begin{array}{c} 10.53 \\ 12.12 \\ 10.33 \\ 11.22 \\ 14.15 \\ 13.93 \end{array}$	10			5.97 11.45 11.17 12.80 13.63 13.19	10		
	$\begin{array}{c} 37.50\\ 41.13\\ 24.55\\ 23.11\\ 26.35\\ 28.46\end{array}$	20			31.58 27.27 20.67 25.00 25.00 26.23	20			19.40 23.57 24.97 25.61 25.00	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 43.75 \\ 50.00 \\ 32.27 \\ 33.33 \\ 35.13 \end{array}$	30	G		36.84 35.35 27.96 27.93 31.98 32.79	30		ถ	26.87 33.04 32.21 34.13 35.50 34.57	30		G
	$56.25 \\ 58.87 \\ 43.64 \\ 40.64 \\ 45.08 \\ 47.18$	40	MP-N		52.63 45.96 40.12 38.15 42.83 43.93	40		MP-N	38.06 42.73 43.77 45.68 46.70 46.22	40		MP-N0
	$\begin{array}{c} 60.42 \\ 65.32 \\ 54.55 \\ 52.59 \\ 55.87 \\ 57.18 \end{array}$	50	장		$\begin{array}{c} 61.40\\ 55.05\\ 51.06\\ 48.88\\ 53.68\\ 53.93\end{array}$	50	Fe	• 2	51.49 52.86 54.81 55.78 57.55 56.48	50	Fe	G2
	$\begin{array}{c} 66.67 \\ 76.61 \\ 65.00 \\ 62.15 \\ 65.08 \\ 64.87 \end{array}$	60	ature		66.67 66.16 61.40 58.35 63.18 62.30	00	ature ]		66.42 67.40 67.92 67.95 67.95 67.05	60	ature ]	
	70.83 79.84 75.45 72.51 76.19 76.41	70	Releva		71.93 71.72 71.43 70.07 74.61 73.93	70	Relevai		73.88 74.23 76.90 78.30 76.31	70	Relevai	
	12.50 16.94 10.00 9.96 12.38 12.56	10	Th		10.53 12.12 10.33 11.22 14.15 13.93	10	ıce Th		5.97 111.45 111.17 12.80 13.63 13.19	10	ice Th	
	37.50 41.13 24.55 23.11 26.35 28.46	20	reshold		31.58 27.27 20.67 20.70 25.00 26.23	20	reshold		19.40 23.57 23.51 24.97 25.61 25.00	20	reshold	
	43.75 50.00 32.27 30.68 33.33 35.13	30	0		36.84 35.35 27.96 27.93 31.98 32.79	30			26.87 33.04 32.21 34.13 35.50 34.57	30		0
	56.25 58.87 43.64 40.64 45.08 47.18	40	AP-G		52.63 45.96 40.12 38.15 42.83 43.93	40		AP-G	38.06 42.73 43.77 45.68 46.70 46.22	40		AP-G
	60.42 65.32 54.55 52.59 55.87 57.18	50			61.40 55.05 51.06 48.88 53.68 53.93	50			51.49 52.86 54.81 55.78 57.55 56.48	50		
	66.67 76.61 65.00 62.15 65.08 64.87	60			66.67 66.16 61.40 58.35 63.18 62.30	60			66.42 67.40 67.92 67.95 68.92 67.05	60		
	70.83 79.84 75.45 75.51 76.19 76.41	70			71.93 71.72 71.43 70.07 74.61 73.93	70			73.88 74.23 76.90 78.30 76.31	70		
	17.65 21.30 12.50 12.22 12.22 14.18 14.18 13.20	10			14.29 14.61 11.99 11.99 12.78 12.78 15.50 14.56	10			7.14 12.65 11.50 13.01 13.46 13.24	10		
	47.06 46.30 27.08 224.89 224.89 228.37 30.34	20			38.10 229.78 222.26 221.67 221.67 225.69 227.00	20			20.54 24.36 23.28 23.28 24.69 24.69 225.35 225.35 225.35	20		
	58.82 55.56 35.94 33.03 33.03 35.82 35.82	30	GA		47.62 37.64 30.48 30.48 29.44 33.76 33.76 33.76	30		G A	31.25 33.49 32.26 34.15 35.67 35.67 34.48	30		GA
	67.65 62.04 46.35 42.53 46.45 46.45 48.60	40	P-NG		59.52 46.07 48.33 43.31 44.58 44.58	40		P-NG	42.86 44.03 45.49 45.67 45.67	40		P-NG
	73.53 70.37 56.56 59.22 59.55	50			73.81 57.87 55.14 55.84 55.84 55.77	50			54.46 53.40 56.24 56.17 57.97 56.78	50		
	82.35 82.41 69.79 66.06 67.73 67.13	60			83.33 69.66 64.73 60.83 64.76 63.59	60			70.54 68.38 69.14 68.52 69.31 67.32	60		
	91.18 87.96 83.33 79.64 82.62 81.46	70			90.48 76.97 76.37 73.33 77.71 76.55	70			81.25 76.58 78.12 78.42 79.45 77.21	70		

| 10.  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   |   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  |  |  |  |   |  
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|--|--|--|--|---|---|---
--
--|--
--
--
--
---
--
---	--
--	--
--	---
--	---
---	---
   |  |  
   |   
   |   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  | GMP-(  | 5   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   | 1-4ME   
   | ŊĠ  
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  | GAP-   | U  |  |   |  
   |   |  | GAP-N   | G  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   | Ε.  
   | eature  
  | Relev  
  | ance T   | hresh   
  | bld  |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
| 10   | 20   | 30   | 40   | 50  | 60  | 70  | 10   
   | 20   | 30   
   | 40  
   | 50  
   | 60  
  | 70   
  | 10   | 20  
  | 30   | 40   | 50   | 60   | 70  | 10   
   | 20  | 30   | 40  | 50   
  | 60  | 20  |  |  |  |  |   |
| 9.97<br>8.32   | 19.13<br>18.10   | 28.14<br>28.30   | 39.89<br>39.20   | $51.78 \\ 49.69$  | 62.57<br>60.87  | 71.31<br>70.86  | 9.97<br>8.32   
   | $19.13 \\ 18.10$   | 28.14<br>28.30   
   | 39.89<br>39.20  
   | 51.78<br>49.69  
   | 62.57<br>60.87  
  | 71.31<br>70.86   
  | 9.97<br>8.32   | $19.13 \\ 18.10$  
  | 28.14<br>28.30   | 39.89<br>39.20   | 51.78<br>49.69   | 62.57<br>60.87   | 71.31   | 1 9.85<br>3 8.36   
   | 18.51<br>18.39  | 28.51<br>28.79   | 39.85<br>39.34  | 52.39<br>50.57   
  | 62.99<br>61.42  | 72.39<br>71.51  |  |  |  |  |   |
| 8.64<br>8.40   | 18.45<br>18.13<br>17.53  | 28.79<br>28.31<br>27.44                                | 40.07<br>38.72<br>27.26                                | 50.37<br>48.61  | 61.35<br>59.55<br>57.63   | 72.33<br>70.77<br>68 20                                 | 8.64<br>8.40<br>° 15   
   | 18.45<br>18.13<br>1752   | 28.79<br>28.31<br>27.44  
   | 40.07<br>38.72<br>27.26   
   | 50.37<br>48.61  
   | 61.35<br>59.55<br>57.63   
  | 72.33<br>70.77<br>68 20  
  | 8.64<br>8.40<br>9.15   | 18.45<br>18.13<br>17.53   
  | 28.79<br>28.31<br>27.44  | 40.07<br>38.72<br>27.26  | 50.37<br>48.61<br>47.91  | 61.35<br>59.55<br>57.63  | 72.35<br>70.77<br>68.20   | 3 8.74<br>7 8.43<br>7 5.00   
   | 18.68<br>18.50  | 29.03<br>28.40   | 39.54<br>38.34<br>26 e0   | 51.04<br>49.27<br>47.47  
  | 61.55<br>60.03<br>57.78   | 72.22<br>70.87<br>68 91   |  |  |  |  |   |
| 7.93   | 17.48  | 27.60  | 37.48  | 47.33   | 57.75   | 00.30<br>68.37  | 7.93 CT-0  
   | 17.48  | 27.60  
   | 37.48   
   | 47.33   
   | 57.75   
  | 00.30<br>68.37   
  | 7.93   | 17.48   
  | 27.60  | 37.48  | 47.33  | 57.75  | 68.37   | 7 7.70   
   | 17.84   | 27.43  | 37.10   | 47.60  
  | 57.96   | 00.21<br>68.17  |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   |   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  | GMP-6  | 78  |   |   |  
   |  |  
   | -dMF  
   | ß   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  | GAP-   | IJ   |  |   |  
   |   |  | GAP-N   | IJ   
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   | F   
   | eature  
  | Releva   
  | ance T   | hresho.   
  | ld   |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
| 10   | 20   | 30   | 40   | 50  | 60  | 70  | 10   
   | 20   | 30   
   | 40  
   | 50  
   | 60  
  | 20   
  | 10   | 20  
  | 30   | 40   | 50   | 60   | 20  | 10   
   | 20  | 30   | 40  | 50   
  | 60  | 70  |  |  |  |  |   |
| 10.8(<br>8.95<br>9.27<br>8.74<br>9.47<br>9.12            | ) 19.25<br>18.67<br>18.31<br>18.31<br>17.25<br>18.84<br>18.84<br>18.87 | 25.35<br>27.29<br>26.01<br>25.81<br>27.48<br>27.68     | 37.32<br>37.57<br>36.40<br>36.27<br>37.42<br>38.11     | 50.00<br>48.29<br>47.09<br>46.96<br>47.62<br>48.05                                  | $\begin{array}{c} 63.15\\ 60.99\\ 60.09\\ 59.48\\ 59.42\\ 59.53\end{array}$ | 74.88<br>70.50<br>72.42<br>71.35<br>70.60<br>70.10      | 10.80<br>8.95<br>9.27<br>8.74<br>9.47<br>9.12  
   | 19.25<br>18.67<br>18.31<br>18.31<br>17.25<br>18.84<br>18.84<br>18.87   | 25.35<br>27.29<br>26.01<br>25.81<br>27.48<br>27.68   
   | 37.32<br>37.57<br>36.40<br>36.40<br>36.27<br>37.42<br>37.42<br>38.11  
   | $50.00 \\ 48.29 \\ 47.09 \\ 46.96 \\ 47.62 \\ 48.05 \\ 48.05 \\ 100 \\ 10$  
   | 63.15<br>60.09<br>59.48<br>59.42<br>59.53   
  | 74.88<br>70.50<br>72.42<br>71.35<br>70.60<br>70.10   
  | 10.80<br>8.95<br>9.27<br>8.74<br>9.47<br>9.12  | ) 19.25<br>18.67<br>18.31<br>17.25<br>18.84<br>18.84<br>18.87   
  | 25.35<br>27.29<br>26.01<br>25.81<br>25.81<br>27.48<br>27.68  | <ol> <li>37.35</li> <li>37.57</li> <li>37.57</li> <li>37.57</li> <li>36.40</li> <li>36.27</li> <li>36.27</li> <li>37.42</li> <li>38.11</li> </ol>  | 50.00<br>48.25<br>46.96<br>47.62<br>48.05  | 63.15<br>60.99<br>60.09<br>59.48<br>59.42<br>59.53   | 74.85<br>70.50<br>72.42<br>71.35<br>70.60   | 8 10.2;<br>9 9.07<br>9 9.62<br>9 8.92<br>9 9.38<br>9 9.38<br>9 9.13  
   | 17.35<br>17.75<br>18.05<br>17.27<br>18.85<br>19.05    | 25.06<br>26.97<br>26.28<br>26.12<br>26.12<br>26.12<br>27.65<br>27.73   | 35.55<br>36.98<br>36.06<br>35.93<br>37.09<br>37.58  | 51.41<br>49.35<br>48.80<br>48.01<br>48.45<br>48.79<br>48.79  
  | 63.68<br>61.01<br>60.18<br>59.52<br>59.33<br>59.33  | 74.68<br>70.67<br>71.39<br>70.27<br>69.70<br>69.18  |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   |   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  | GMP-C  | 7.5   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   | N-MF  
   | ų   
   |   
  |  
  |  |   
  |  | GAP-   | 5  |  |   |  
   |   |  | GAP-N   | IJ   
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
|  |  |  |  |   |   |   |  
   |  |  
   |   
   | щ   
   | eature  
  | Relev  
  | ance T   | hresho  
  | pl   |  |  |  |   | | |
   |   |  |   |  
  |   |   |  |  |  |  |   |
| 10   | 20   | 30   | 40   | 50  | 60  | 70  | 10   
   | 20   | 30   
   | 40  
   | 50  
   | 60  
  | 20   
  | 10   | 20  
  | 30   | 40   | 50   | 60   | 20  | 10   
   | 20  | 30   | 40  | 50   
  | 60  | 70  |  |  |  |  |   |
| 3.74<br>8.65<br>8.65<br>10.71<br>11.51<br>11.55<br>11.59 | 8.41<br>18.61<br>18.61<br>120.54<br>120.56<br>523.09<br>523.09         | 15.89<br>28.01<br>29.02<br>28.91<br>31.61<br>30.40     | 27.57<br>37.22<br>39.62<br>39.98<br>41.75<br>41.41     | $\begin{array}{c} 41.12\\ 49.06\\ 50.22\\ 50.53\\ 52.63\\ 52.47\\ 52.47\end{array}$ | 59.35<br>64.10<br>63.28<br>63.01<br>65.06<br>64.39                          | 74.30<br>74.62<br>76.00<br>74.96<br>76.54<br>75.07      | 3.74<br>8.65<br>8.65<br>10.71<br>11.51<br>11.51<br>12.36<br>11.59  
   | 8.41<br>18.61<br>20.54<br>20.56<br>23.09<br>22.20  | 15.89<br>28.01<br>29.02<br>28.91<br>31.61<br>30.40   
   | 27.57<br>37.22<br>39.62<br>39.98<br>41.75<br>41.41  
   | $\begin{array}{c} 41.12\\ 49.06\\ 50.22\\ 50.53\\ 52.63\\ 52.47\end{array}$   
   | 59.35<br>64.10<br>63.01<br>63.01<br>65.06<br>64.39  
  | 74.30<br>74.62<br>76.00<br>74.96<br>76.54<br>75.07   
  | 3.74<br>8.65<br>10.71<br>11.51<br>12.36<br>12.36<br>11.59  | 8.41<br>18.61<br>20.54<br>20.56<br>23.09<br>23.09<br>22.20  
  | 15.85<br>28.01<br>28.01<br>28.91<br>28.91<br>31.61<br>30.40  | 27.57           37.22           39.62           39.98           41.75           41.41  | 41.15<br>49.06<br>50.25<br>52.63<br>52.63<br>52.63   | 59.35<br>64.10<br>63.28<br>63.01<br>63.01<br>64.39   | 74.3(<br>74.65<br>76.0(<br>74.96<br>76.54<br>76.54  | <ul> <li>4.12</li> <li>9.24</li> <li>11.04</li> <li>11.66</li> <li>11.66</li> <li>11.66</li> <li>11.46</li> </ul>  
   | 6.70<br>18.47<br>20.05<br>20.35<br>22.35              | 16.49<br>29.29<br>29.29<br>31.86<br>30.57  | 26.80<br>37.95<br>39.74<br>39.66<br>39.66<br>41.80<br>41.80   | 42.27<br>50.40<br>51.86<br>51.36<br>53.71<br>53.35   
  | 60.31<br>64.86<br>64.23<br>63.80<br>65.46<br>64.60  | 77.32<br>75.90<br>76.71<br>74.93<br>76.42<br>76.42  |  |  |  |  |   |
|  | $\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$                 | $\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | $\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | $\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$                              | $\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$                    | $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | GMP-G           GMP-G           10         20         30         40         50         60         70           8.32         18.10         28.33         39.20         490         50         608         70.83           8.32         18.10         28.33         39.20         49.05         60.87         70.86           8.32         18.13         28.14         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.33           8.40         18.13         28.73         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.33           8.15         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37           8.15         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.23         57.75         68.37           9.12         18.87         27.60         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.37           9.27         18.31         28.31         48.05         59.43         70.50           9.27         19.25         37.32         50.00         60         70           9.27         18.31         28.41         47.00         600         70           9.27         18.31 </td <td>GMP-G           ID         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           9.97         19.13         28.14         39.89         51.78         62.57         71.31         997           8.84         18.45         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         72.33         864           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.48         27.60         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.37         793           8.95         18.67         27.29         37.44         47.29         60.90         70         10           9.27         18.87         27.68         37.44         47.09         60.09         70         10           9.10         19.25         55.33         74.20</td> <td>GMP-G           GMP-G           ID         20         30         40         50         70         10         20           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20           8.840         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         59.55         77.38         68.33         18.13           8.840         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         59.55         77.78         8.40         18.13           8.841         17.48         27.60         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48           17.35         27.44         37.36         47.33         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.31         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.31         7.48           <th colsp<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         TO         10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           8.64         18.45         28.71         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         19.97         19.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60         27.60           10.8<!--</td--><td>GMP-G         GMP-1           ID         CMP-6         F           ID         20         30         40         50.57         71.31         9.9           9.97         10.12         28.30         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.44         33.2         31.32         50.37         41.01         20         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.44         33.2         44.01         33.2         32.44         43.01         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.33         37.44           8.44         47.33         57.33         8.33         37.44           8.41         17.33         37.44         4.00           8.41         17.33         6.41         37.44           17.53         <th colspa<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         50        
5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td></th></td></td></th></td> | GMP-G           ID         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           9.97         19.13         28.14         39.89         51.78         62.57         71.31         997           8.84         18.45         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         72.33         864           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.53         27.44         37.36         47.21         57.75         68.37         793           8.84         17.48         27.60         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.37         793           8.95         18.67         27.29         37.44         47.29         60.90         70         10           9.27         18.87         27.68         37.44         47.09         60.09         70         10           9.10         19.25         55.33         74.20 | GMP-G           GMP-G           ID         20         30         40         50         70         10         20           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20           8.840         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         59.55         77.38         68.33         18.13           8.840         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         59.55         77.78         8.40         18.13           8.841         17.48         27.60         37.48         47.33         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48           17.35         27.44         37.36         47.33         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.37         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.31         7.93         17.48           GMP-G         50.37         61.31         7.48 <th colsp<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         TO         10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           8.64         18.45         28.71         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         19.97         19.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60         27.60           10.8<!--</td--><td>GMP-G         GMP-1           ID         CMP-6         F           ID         20         30         40         50.57         71.31         9.9           9.97         10.12         28.30         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.44         33.2         31.32         50.37         41.01         20         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.44         33.2         44.01         33.2         32.44         43.01         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.33         37.44           8.44         47.33         57.33         8.33         37.44           8.41         17.33         37.44         4.00           8.41         17.33         6.41         37.44           17.53         <th colspa<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td></th></td></td></th> | <td>GMP-G         TO         10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           8.64         18.45         28.71         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         19.97         19.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60           1         2.733        
57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60         27.60           10.8<!--</td--><td>GMP-G         GMP-1           ID         CMP-6         F           ID         20         30         40         50.57         71.31         9.9           9.97         10.12         28.30         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.44         33.2         31.32         50.37         41.01         20         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.44         33.2         44.01         33.2         32.44         43.01         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.33         37.44           8.44         47.33         57.33         8.33         37.44           8.41         17.33         37.44         4.00           8.41         17.33         6.41         37.44           17.53         <th colspa<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td></th></td></td> | GMP-G         TO         10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10         20         30           8.64         18.45         28.71         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         19.97         19.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         61.35         77.38         8.64         18.13         28.31           8.64         18.13         28.31         38.72         48.61         50.37         70.31         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60           1         2.733         57.74         4.733         57.75         68.37         7.93         17.48         27.60         27.60           10.8 </td <td>GMP-G         GMP-1           ID         CMP-6         F           ID         20         30         40         50.57         71.31         9.9           9.97         10.12         28.30         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.44         33.2         31.32         50.37         41.01         20         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.44         33.2         44.01         33.2         32.44         43.01         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.33         37.44           8.44         47.33         57.33         8.33         37.44           8.41         17.33         37.44         4.00           8.41         17.33         6.41         37.44           17.53         <th colspa<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63        
63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td></th></td> | GMP-G         GMP-1           ID         CMP-6         F           ID         20         30         40         50.57         71.31         9.9           9.97         10.12         28.30         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.44         33.2         31.32         50.37         41.01         20         30.20         49.06         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.44         33.2         44.01         33.2         32.44         43.01         60.87         7.33         8.33         8.33         37.44           8.44         47.33         57.33         8.33         37.44           8.41         17.33         37.44         4.00           8.41         17.33         6.41         37.44           17.53 <th colspa<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td></th> | <td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74</td> <td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55         <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature
Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th>         832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63           <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th></td> | GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         COMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           ID         20         GMP-NG           S32         S1.78         GS.77         CI.31         997         10.10         50.77         G8.30         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.73         S4.01         S3.21         S1.74         30.20         400         50.77           S3.21         S1.74         S3.21         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.74           S1.74         S1.74         S1.74         S1.75           S1.74 | GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature           10         20         30         40         50         60.87           997         10         20         30         40         50         60.87         71.31         997         13.3         8.32         8.13         5.57         60.87         7.03         61.84         5.57         60.87         7.33         8.32         8.14         30         60.87           8.44         13.57.56         6.837         7.33         8.14         8.15         6.837           8.44         7.33         8.14         7.35         8.13         7.35           6.837         7.33         8.14         7.35         7.35         8.14         7.35         8.14         8.15         8.14         13.55 <th colspa="&lt;/td"><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td><td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td></th> 832         132         33         63         703         60         70         10           832         832         132         33         63 <th c<="" td=""><td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td><td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td></th> | <td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG</td> <td>GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832&lt;</td> | GMP-G         GMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           PS32         S155         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           S32         S15         COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         Feature Relevence           COLP-NG         COLP-NG | GMP-NG         Feature Relevance           A         Four A           Feature Relevance           10         20         30         40         50         60         70         10           832< | <td>GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign</td> <td>GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30           <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG        
CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<></td> | GMP-G         GMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Feature Relevance Thresh           ID         20         SMP-NG           ID         CMP-NG           Feature Relevance Thresh           Sample Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign Sign | GMP-G         FIRE-NIC           S30         S00         FIRE-NIC           S30         S30 <th< td=""><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td><td>AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td><td>CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13           <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th></td></th<> | $ \begin{array}{                                    $ | AP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G         CMP-G           CMP-G         Function         CAP-G           Function         CMP-G         CMP-G           Sale 300 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 | CMP-G         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP-G         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           I         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CAP-C           TOP 30         CMP-NG         Feature Relevance Threshold           10         20         30         40         50         CMP-NG           S13         S13 <th <="" colspa="6" td=""><td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td><td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td><td></td><td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td><td></td><td></td><td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td></th> | <td>CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5</td> <td>CMP-C         CMP-C         CMP-C</td> <td></td> <td>CMP-G         CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single Single</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td><math display="block"> \begin{array}{                                    </math></td> | CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG         CMP-NG           ID         20         30         40         50         ND         30         CMP-C           10         20         30         40         5 | CMP-C         CMP-C |  | CMP-G         Feature Relevance Threshold         CMP-G         Single |  |  | $ \begin{array}{                                    $ |

251

(f)	Window Lengt			(e)	Window Lengt			(d)	Window Lengt			
	ч 0 – 1 2 2 4 7				ч 0 – 1 2 2 4 7				н 0 - 1 2 2 4 72			
	$\begin{array}{c} 7.14 \\ 17.24 \\ 9.87 \\ 9.55 \\ 9.72 \\ 8.36 \end{array}$	10			$5.71 \\ 12.41 \\ 10.97 \\ 12.12 \\ 14.06 \\ 12.47 \\ 12.47 \\ \end{array}$	10			$\begin{array}{c} 4.88\\ 8.58\\ 9.01\\ 9.40\\ 10.35\\ 9.26\end{array}$	10		
	14.29 39.08 23.68 21.91 24.07 24.36	20			$11.43 \\ 25.52 \\ 20.68 \\ 20.88 \\ 25.00 \\ 24.73 \\ 24.73 \\$	20			12.20 21.60 22.18 21.23 21.23 22.74 20.95	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 17.86 \\ 47.13 \\ 29.61 \\ 28.09 \\ 30.56 \\ 30.55 \end{array}$	30			$\begin{array}{c} 14.29\\ 33.79\\ 27.43\\ 27.61\\ 32.03\\ 31.29\end{array}$	30			19.51 31.95 31.37 30.77 32.73 30.74	30		
	32.14 56.32 38.16 35.39 40.74 42.18	40	3MP-0		$\begin{array}{c} 31.43\\ 45.52\\ 38.40\\ 36.36\\ 41.93\\ 42.23\end{array}$	40	3MP-0		28.05 41.72 42.46 42.45 44.40 43.26	40		3MP-0
	$\begin{array}{c} 39.29\\ 64.37\\ 46.05\\ 44.38\\ 48.61\\ 49.82 \end{array}$	50	11		$\begin{array}{r} 45.71\\57.24\\47.68\\45.12\\51.30\\50.98\end{array}$	50	1		$\begin{array}{r} 41.46\\ 52.37\\ 52.86\\ 51.99\\ 54.75\\ 53.05\end{array}$	50		-
	$\begin{array}{c} 50.00\\ 73.56\\ 56.58\\ 53.93\\ 58.33\\ 57.82\end{array}$	60			$54.29 \\ 66.90 \\ 57.38 \\ 53.54 \\ 60.42 \\ 58.86 \\$	60			$58.54 \\ 68.34 \\ 66.72 \\ 65.38 \\ 67.63 \\ 64.95$	60		
	$53.57 \\ 75.86 \\ 69.08 \\ 66.29 \\ 69.91 \\ 70.55 \\$	70			60.00 72.41 69.20 67.68 72.40 71.33	70			68.29 74.85 75.91 75.36 77.38 74.63	70		
	$\begin{array}{c} 7.14\\ 17.24\\ 9.87\\ 9.55\\ 9.72\\ 8.36\end{array}$	10			$5.71 \\ 12.41 \\ 10.97 \\ 12.12 \\ 14.06 \\ 12.47 \\ 12.47 \\$	10			$\begin{array}{c} 4.88\\ 8.58\\ 9.01\\ 9.40\\ 10.35\\ 9.26\end{array}$	10		
	14.29 39.08 23.68 21.91 24.07 24.36	20			$\begin{array}{c} 11.43\\ 25.52\\ 20.68\\ 20.88\\ 25.00\\ 24.73\end{array}$	20			$\begin{array}{c} 12.20\\ 21.60\\ 22.18\\ 21.23\\ 22.74\\ 20.95 \end{array}$	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 17.86\\ 47.13\\ 29.61\\ 28.09\\ 30.56\\ 30.55\end{array}$	30	0		14.29 33.79 27.43 27.61 32.03 31.29	30			$\begin{array}{c} 19.51\\ 31.95\\ 31.37\\ 30.77\\ 32.73\\ 30.74 \end{array}$	30		0
	$\begin{array}{c} 32.14\\ 56.32\\ 38.16\\ 35.39\\ 40.74\\ 42.18\end{array}$	40	MP-N		31.43 45.52 38.40 36.36 41.93 42.23	40	MP-N		$\begin{array}{c} 28.05\\ 41.72\\ 42.46\\ 42.45\\ 44.40\\ 43.26\end{array}$	40		MP-N
	$\begin{array}{c} 39.29\\ 64.37\\ 46.05\\ 44.38\\ 48.61\\ 49.82 \end{array}$	50	Ω با		$\begin{array}{r} 45.71 \\ 57.24 \\ 47.68 \\ 45.12 \\ 51.30 \\ 50.98 \end{array}$	50	С F		$\begin{array}{r} 41.46\\ 52.37\\ 52.86\\ 51.99\\ 54.75\\ 53.05\end{array}$	50	F	Ģ
	50.00 73.56 56.58 58.33 57.82	90			54.29 66.90 57.38 53.54 60.42 58.86	60	eature		58.54 66.72 65.38 67.63 64.95	60	eature	
	53.57 75.86 69.08 66.29 69.91 70.55	100 T	Dolour		60.00 72.41 69.20 67.68 72.40 71.33	70	Releva		68.29 74.85 75.91 75.36 77.38 74.63	70	Releva	
	$\begin{array}{c} 7.14\\ 17.24\\ 9.87\\ 9.55\\ 9.72\\ 8.36\end{array}$	10	T		5.71 12.41 10.97 12.12 14.06 14.47	10	unce TI		$\begin{array}{c} 4.88\\ 8.58\\ 9.01\\ 9.40\\ 10.35\\ 9.26\end{array}$	10	unce TI	
	14.29 39.08 23.68 21.91 24.07 24.36	20	mochol		11.43 25.52 20.68 20.88 25.00 24.73	20	ıreshol		12.20 21.60 22.18 21.23 22.74 20.95	20	nreshol	
	$\begin{array}{c} 17.86\\ 47.13\\ 29.61\\ 28.09\\ 30.56\\ 30.55\end{array}$	30	2		$\begin{array}{c} 14.29\\ 33.79\\ 27.43\\ 27.61\\ 32.03\\ 31.29 \end{array}$	30	d .		$19.51 \\ 31.95 \\ 31.37 \\ 30.77 \\ 32.73 \\ 30.74$	30	d	-
	$\begin{array}{r} 32.14\\ 56.32\\ 38.16\\ 35.39\\ 40.74\\ 42.18\end{array}$	40	GAP-G		$\begin{array}{c} 31.43\\ 45.52\\ 38.40\\ 36.36\\ 41.93\\ 42.23\end{array}$	40	GAP-G		$\begin{array}{c} 28.05\\ 41.72\\ 42.46\\ 42.45\\ 44.40\\ 43.26\end{array}$	40		GAP-G
	$\begin{array}{r} 39.29\\64.37\\46.05\\44.38\\48.61\\49.82\end{array}$	50	-		$\begin{array}{r} 45.71 \\ 57.24 \\ 47.68 \\ 45.12 \\ 51.30 \\ 50.98 \end{array}$	50			$\begin{array}{r} 41.46\\ 52.37\\ 52.86\\ 54.75\\ 53.05\end{array}$	50		
	50.00 73.56 56.58 58.33 57.82	60			54.29 66.90 57.38 53.54 60.42 58.86	60			$\begin{array}{c} 58.54\\ 68.34\\ 65.38\\ 67.63\\ 64.95 \end{array}$	60		
	$\begin{array}{c} 53.57\\75.86\\69.08\\69.91\\70.55\end{array}$	70			60.00 72.41 69.20 67.68 72.40 71.33	70			68.29 74.85 75.91 77.38 74.63	70		
	13.33 23.29 13.28 12.50 12.17 10.12	10			$\begin{array}{c} 9.52\\ 15.63\\ 13.59\\ 14.50\\ 16.09\\ 14.08 \end{array}$	10			$\begin{array}{c} 6.25\\ 9.75\\ 9.61\\ 9.83\\ 10.55\\ 9.63\end{array}$	10		
	$\begin{array}{c} 13.33\\ 45.21\\ 26.56\\ 23.68\\ 25.93\\ 25.91\end{array}$	20			$\begin{array}{c} 9.52\\ 28.13\\ 22.33\\ 22.14\\ 25.57\\ 25.30\end{array}$	20			12.50 22.01 21.07 20.27 21.86 21.86 20.38	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 26.67\\ 54.79\\ 34.38\\ 30.92\\ 33.33\\ 32.39 \end{array}$	30	ភូ		19.05 36.72 30.58 29.39 33.91 32.70	30	Ģ	1	23.44 32.08 31.05 30.26 32.40 32.40	30		Ģ
	$\begin{array}{c} 40.00\\ 61.64\\ 42.19\\ 38.16\\ 43.39\\ 44.53\end{array}$	40	AP-NC		38.10 46.88 39.81 37.02 43.10 43.44	40	AP-NC		29.69 42.14 41.77 41.15 43.58 41.97	40		AP-NG
	$\begin{array}{c} 46.67\\71.23\\52.34\\48.68\\52.38\\52.23\end{array}$	50			57.14 60.94 51.94 47.71 53.45 52.74	50			$\begin{array}{r} 43.75\\ 52.83\\ 53.97\\ 54.89\\ 53.16\end{array}$	50		
	66.67 82.19 62.50 58.55 61.90 60.73	60			$76.19 \\72.66 \\62.14 \\56.87 \\62.64 \\60.86$	60			62.50 69.81 68.39 66.26 68.23 65.45	60		
	86.67 87.67 79.69 75.66 78.31 76.92	70			90.48 80.47 76.21 72.14 76.44 74.70	70			76.56 77.36 78.00 77.00 78.91 75.86	70		

<b>Table B.1</b> , thresholds, PSSM Thre	4: F win sho	SSN dow ld ≥	I Mot lengt 8; e)	tifs - hs, <sup>a</sup> PSS	$L_{Gr}$ nud ]	<sup>ad–R</sup> PSSI [hre	$^{AM}_{M}$ F M T P Shold	resh $l \ge 0$	rre R olds ); f)	eleva . a) ] PSS]	nnce PSSN M T	(Equ M Th hresh	latic latic	n B. nold ≥ 1(	$\begin{array}{c} 5 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array}$	r the b) I	e sc-J	PDB 1 Th	pair resh	s aci old	$\ge 6;$	diffe c) P	rent SSM	featu Thr	tre s eshc	ignif ≥ bld	icano 7; c	J) Ge
(a)																												
				GMP.	ų					9	MP-N	IJ					0	AP-G						GAP	-NG			
												Fe	ature ]	Releva	nce Thr	reshold												
	Ē	0 24	) 30	40	50	60	70	10	$^{20}$	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30 4	0	20	0 7	0
Window Length	0 1 2 8 4 8	72 21. 76 20. 34 20. 37 20.	02 31.0 98 31.2 30.4 30.4 30.3 20.3 80.3 20.3 80.3 20.3 80.3 20.3 20.3 20.3 20.3 20.3 20.3 20.3 2	2 40.75 3 40.91 7 40.17 3 40.18 3 40.18 3 39.95 8 30.70	50.13 50.73 50.03 50.10 70.00 70.00	59.62 59.82 59.82 59.83 70.75	8 69.61 2 70.22 4 69.555 8 69.66 8 69.66 8 69.66	10.72 10.76 10.34 10.13 9.97 9.87	21.02 20.98 20.40 20.30 20.30 20.12	31.02 31.23 30.47 30.33 30.33 30.10	$\begin{array}{c} 40.75\\ 40.91\\ 40.17\\ 40.18\\ 39.92\\ 30.70\\ \end{array}$	50.19 50.78 50.08 50.30 50.11	59.68 60.52 59.84 60.01 59.88	69.61 70.22 69.55 69.78 69.66	10.72 10.76 10.34 10.13 9.97 9.87	21.02 20.98 20.40 20.30 20.12	31.02 31.23 30.47 30.33 30.33 30.10	40.75 40.91 40.17 40.18 39.92 30.70	50.19 5 50.78 6 50.08 5 50.30 6 50.11 5 50.11 5	9.68 9.52 9.84 9.88 9.88 9.88 6.01 6 9.88 6 77 6 6 77 6	9.61 1 9.55 1 9.78 1 9.66 9	0.76 2 0.79 2 0.37 2 0.18 2 9.98 2	0.98 30 1.08 31 0.44 30 0.33 30 0.12 30 0.12 30	.92 40 28 41 57 40 39 40 12 39	73 50 73 50 73 50 73 50 73 50 73 50 73 50 73 50 74 50 75 50 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 750 7	1.36 59 1.36 59 1.27 59 1.43 60 1.15 59 0.15 59	.41 69. .66 70. .95 69. .07 69. .89 69. 81 69.	
(q)	5	3							22	2				0.00		1	2		1			+	2	2	2			2
				GMP.	ų					0	MP-N	5					0	AP-G						GAP	-NG			1
												Fe	ature ]	Releva	nce Th	eshold												
	<del>-</del>	0	30 30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	80	0	20	0	0
Window Length	0 10. 2 11. 3 10. 5 10.	46         20.           56         22.           08         21.           73         21.           26         20.           73         21.           26         20.	96 30.7 01 32.2 40 31.5 16 31.1 79 30.8 61 30.68	7 40.63 2 41.77 2 41.77 4 40.77 8 40.38 8 40.30	5 50.5 5 51.7 5 50.6 5 50.6 0 50.2 0 50.2 0 50.2	7 60.08 8 61.38 1 60.85 1 60.49 1 60.10 1 60.10	8 69.98 8 70.85 2 70.35 9 70.24 9 69.81 9 69.89	$\begin{array}{c} 10.46\\ 11.56\\ 11.08\\ 11.08\\ 10.73\\ 10.47\\ 10.26\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 20.96\\ 22.01\\ 21.40\\ 21.16\\ 20.79\\ 20.61\\ \end{array}$	30.77 32.24 31.52 31.14 30.80 30.68	$\begin{array}{c} 40.63\\ 41.75\\ 41.08\\ 41.08\\ 40.75\\ 40.38\\ 40.30\end{array}$	50.57 51.78 50.91 50.64 50.31 50.24	$\begin{array}{c} 60.08\\ 61.38\\ 60.82\\ 60.49\\ 60.10\\ 60.09 \end{array}$	69.98 70.35 70.24 69.81 69.89	$\begin{array}{c} 10.46\\ 11.56\\ 11.08\\ 10.73\\ 10.47\\ 10.26\end{array}$	20.96 22.01 21.40 21.16 20.79 20.61	30.77 32.24 31.52 31.14 30.80 30.68	40.63 41.75 41.08 40.75 40.38 40.30	50.57 6 51.78 6 50.91 6 50.64 6 50.31 6 50.31 6 50.24 6	0.08 6 1.38 7 0.82 7 0.49 7 0.10 6 0.00 6	9.98 1 9.98 1 0.85 1 0.35 1 0.24 1 9.81 1 9.89 1	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.98 30 2.13 32 1.60 31 1.28 31 0.93 30 0.67 30	<ol> <li>.75 40</li> <li>.74 41</li> <li>.74 41</li> <li>.74 40</li> <li>.17 40</li> <li>.17 40</li> <li>.180 40</li> <li>.164 40</li> <li>.164 40</li> </ol>	.97 51 .96 52 .21 51 .21 51 .23 50 .30 50 .30 50 .18 50	00 60 2.19 61 22 60 0.70 60 0.33 60 0.33 60 0.24 60	.11 69. .53 71. .96 70. .49 70. .06 69.	
(c)																												
				GMP.	ų					6	MP-N	ۍ					0	AP-G						GAP	DN-			
												Fe	ature ]	Releva	nce Th	reshold												
	- -	0	0 30	40	50	99	20	10	50	30	40	20	60	20	10	50	30	40	20	60	20	10	20	20	9	00	0	0
Window Length	0 10 2 1 12 3 3 11. 5 10.	.95 20. .06 22. .74 22. .78 22. .78 21. .78 21.	53         29.5           15         31.6           47         32.4           17         32.4           17         32.0           62         31.5           20         31.15	2 40.84 9 41.70 2 40.84 1 41.37 2 40.96 2 40.58	7 49.3 1 50.6 1 50.6 1 51.4 5 51.1 5 51.1 5 51.0 8 50.7 8 50.7	59.41 560.85 60.86 61.45 560.96 60.96 560.96	5 69.97 9 70.67 2 71.16 3 70.90 5 70.76 4 70.49	10.95 12.06 11.74 11.58 11.06 11.06 10.78	20.53 22.15 22.47 22.17 22.17 21.62 21.62 21.20	29.56 31.62 32.49 32.01 31.53 31.12	39.07 40.84 41.70 41.37 40.96 40.58	$\begin{array}{c} 49.33\\ 50.65\\ 51.48\\ 51.18\\ 51.05\\ 50.73\end{array}$	59.45 60.89 61.42 61.13 60.96 60.74	69.97 70.67 71.16 70.90 70.76 70.49	$\begin{array}{c} 10.95\\ 12.06\\ 11.74\\ 11.58\\ 11.06\\ 10.78\end{array}$	20.53 22.15 22.47 22.17 21.62 21.20	29.56 31.62 32.49 32.01 31.53 31.12	39.07 40.84 41.70 41.37 40.96 40.58	1000         1000 <td< td=""><td>9.45 6 0.89 7 1.42 7 1.13 7 0.96 7 0.74 7</td><td>9.97 1 0.67 1 1.16 1 1.16 1 1.16 1 0.90 1 0.76 1 0.49 1 0.49 1</td><td><math display="block">\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc</math></td><td>0.65 30 2.17 31 2.53 32 2.53 32 2.31 32 1.85 31 1.33 31</td><td>108 39 </td><td></td><td>2.82 59 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.81 60 1.81 60 1.81 60</td><td></td><td>.60 .64 .17 .75 .67 .45</td></td<>	9.45 6 0.89 7 1.42 7 1.13 7 0.96 7 0.74 7	9.97 1 0.67 1 1.16 1 1.16 1 1.16 1 0.90 1 0.76 1 0.49 1 0.49 1	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.65 30 2.17 31 2.53 32 2.53 32 2.31 32 1.85 31 1.33 31	108 39 		2.82 59 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.75 60 1.81 60 1.81 60 1.81 60		.60 .64 .17 .75 .67 .45

Chapter B. Appendix Explainable Deep Drug–Target Representations

(f)	Window Lengt			(e)	Window Lengt			(d)	Window Lengt			
	ч о н с с 2 4 70				н 543210				н 0 - 1 2 2 4 7			
	17.14 14.10 13.97 13.13 13.13	10			15.36 13.41 13.18 12.64 12.11 11.86	10			13.30 13.06 12.31 11.83 11.34 11.16	10		
	31.05 26.05 24.35 24.95 24.29 24.90	20			26.82 23.23 23.14 23.00 22.98	20			25.05 24.16 23.07 22.51 22.16 21.85	20		
	$\begin{array}{r} 42.34\\ 35.95\\ 34.38\\ 34.75\\ 34.75\\ 35.19\end{array}$	30			38.41 33.96 33.85 33.51 33.45	30			36.60 34.40 32.65 32.32 31.97	30		
	52.62 45.28 43.87 45.48 43.97 44.78	40	GIVIP-C		48.46 43.75 43.21 43.05 43.05 43.25	40	GMP-C		$\begin{array}{r} 45.67\\ 43.43\\ 42.27\\ 41.88\\ 41.67\\ 41.36\end{array}$	40		GMP-0
	$\begin{array}{c} 62.10\\ 54.81\\ 53.54\\ 54.91\\ 53.78\\ 54.34\end{array}$	50	4	2	57.40 53.54 52.99 52.68 52.68 52.79	50			$\begin{array}{c} 55.07\\ 53.62\\ 51.58\\ 51.54\\ 51.28\end{array}$	50		ч <i>г</i>
	69.56 64.33 63.68 64.44 63.27 64.23	60			65.50 63.21 62.51 62.25 62.89	60			$\begin{array}{c} 64.27\\ 63.50\\ 62.20\\ 61.44\\ 61.33\\ 61.46\end{array}$	60		
	77.42 74.04 73.82 74.09 73.22 74.17	70			75.14 73.80 73.52 72.41 72.06 72.74	70			73.94 73.17 72.30 71.47 71.28 71.28	70		
	$\begin{array}{c} 17.14\\ 14.10\\ 13.97\\ 13.89\\ 13.13\\ 13.27\end{array}$	10			15.36 13.41 13.18 12.64 12.11 11.86	10			13.30 13.06 12.31 11.83 11.34 11.16	10		
	31.05 26.05 24.35 24.29 24.29 24.90	20			26.82 23.88 23.23 23.14 23.00 22.98	20			25.05 24.16 23.07 22.51 22.16 21.85	20		
	$\begin{array}{r} 42.34\\ 35.95\\ 34.38\\ 34.75\\ 34.75\\ 35.19\end{array}$	30	G	2	38.41 33.96 33.85 33.51 33.45	30	G		36.60 34.40 33.18 32.65 32.32 31.97	30		ନ ଜ
	52.62 45.28 43.87 45.48 43.97 44.78	40	IATE-14		48.46 43.75 43.51 43.05 43.05	40	MP-N		$\begin{array}{r} 45.67\\ 43.43\\ 42.27\\ 41.88\\ 41.67\\ 41.36\end{array}$	40		MP-N
	$\begin{array}{c} 62.10\\ 54.81\\ 53.54\\ 54.91\\ 53.78\\ 54.34\end{array}$	50	م ج	2	57.40 53.54 52.99 52.68 52.79	50	G Fe		$\begin{array}{c} 55.07\\ 53.62\\ 51.58\\ 51.54\\ 51.28\end{array}$	50	Fe	م 
	69.56 64.33 63.68 64.44 63.27 64.23	60	ature		65.50 63.21 62.51 62.25 62.89	60	ature		$\begin{array}{c} 64.27\\ 63.50\\ 62.20\\ 61.44\\ 61.33\\ 61.46\end{array}$	60	ature	
	77.42 74.04 73.82 74.09 73.22 74.17	70	Releva		75.14 73.80 73.52 72.41 72.06 72.74	70	Releva		73.94 73.17 72.30 71.47 71.28 71.28	70	Releva	
	17.14 14.10 13.97 13.89 13.13 13.27	10	nce Th		15.36 13.41 13.18 12.64 12.11 11.86	10	nce Th		$\begin{array}{c} 13.30\\ 13.06\\ 12.31\\ 11.83\\ 11.34\\ 11.16\end{array}$	10	nce Th	
	31.05 26.05 24.35 24.95 24.29 24.29	20	reshold		26.82 23.88 23.23 23.14 23.00 22.98	20	reshold		25.05 24.16 23.07 22.51 22.16 21.85	20	reshole	
	$\begin{array}{r} 42.34\\ 35.95\\ 34.38\\ 36.00\\ 34.75\\ 35.19\end{array}$	30			38.41 33.96 33.38 33.85 33.51 33.45	30			36.60 34.40 33.18 32.65 32.32 31.97	30	H	
	52.62 45.28 43.87 45.48 43.97 44.78	40	JAF-G		48.46 43.75 43.21 43.51 43.05 43.25	40	3AP-G		45.67 43.43 42.27 41.88 41.67 41.36	40		AP-G
	$\begin{array}{c} 62.10\\ 54.81\\ 53.54\\ 54.91\\ 53.78\\ 54.34\end{array}$	50			57.40 53.54 52.99 52.68 52.79	50			$55.07 \\ 53.62 \\ 51.58 \\ 51.54 \\ 51.28 $	50		
	69.56 64.33 63.68 64.44 63.27 64.23	60			65.50 63.21 62.51 62.25 62.25	60			64.27 63.50 62.20 61.44 61.33 61.46	60		
	77.42 74.04 73.82 74.09 73.22 74.17	70			75.14 73.80 73.52 72.41 72.06 72.74	70			73.94 73.17 72.30 71.47 71.28 71.42	70		
	17.57 13.98 13.59 13.59 13.41 13.41	10			15.84 13.08 12.95 12.61 12.31 11.90	10			13.49 12.95 12.17 11.74 11.44 11.29	10		
	33.11 26.40 24.72 25.74 25.11 25.34	20			28.42 23.97 23.57 23.55 23.55 23.29	20			25.13 23.97 22.99 22.56 22.31 21.96	20		
	44.59 36.34 34.63 35.21 35.21	30	9	2	40.53 34.18 33.67 33.83 33.70 33.70	30	G,		37.29 34.19 33.04 32.41 32.17 31.87	30		ନ୍
	$55.18 \\ 46.27 \\ 45.18 \\ 46.59 \\ 45.05 \\ 45.52$	40	AF-ING		50.31 43.61 43.89 43.51 43.53	40	AP-NG		46.63 43.39 42.39 41.70 41.71 41.30	40		AP-NG
	$\begin{array}{c} 63.06\\ 54.45\\ 53.40\\ 54.80\\ 53.85\\ 54.35\end{array}$	50			58.23 52.49 52.81 52.81 52.81	50			$55.00 \\ 53.10 \\ 51.95 \\ 51.50 \\ 51.45 \\ 51.22 $	50		
	$\begin{array}{c} 69.82 \\ 64.08 \\ 63.43 \\ 64.65 \\ 63.72 \\ 64.40 \end{array}$	60			65.84 62.52 62.69 62.70 62.53 62.81	60			$\begin{array}{c} 64.20\\ 62.76\\ 61.76\\ 61.26\\ 61.12\\ 61.20 \end{array}$	60		
	$77.70 \\ 72.77 \\ 72.43 \\ 72.52 \\ 73.29 \\ 73.29$	70			74.84 72.04 72.22 71.67 71.63 72.13	70			73.09 72.28 71.59 70.87 70.89 70.98	70		

<b>Table B.15:</b> PSSM Motifs - $L_{Grad-RAM}$ Feature Relevance (Equation B.5) for the sc-PDB pairs with the motifs inside the entire binding region filtered out across different feature significance thresholds, window lengths, and PSSM Thresholds. a) PSSM Threshold
$\geq 5$ ; b) PSSM Threshold $\geq 6$ ; c) PSSM Threshold $\geq 7$ ; d) PSSM Threshold $\geq 8$ ; e) PSSM Threshold $\geq 9$ ; f) PSSM Threshold $\geq 10$ .

(a)																												
				GMP.	ų						GMP-N	Ŋ						GAP-G						GA	P-NG			
												Ę	eature	Releva	nce Tł	nreshol	р											
	Ē	0 2	) 30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70
Window Length	0 8. 2 9. 5 8. 5 8.8	43     18       37     18.       06     18.       02     18.       93     18.       32     18.	00 28.4 93 29.3( 60 28.7 74 28.7 58 28.6 52 28.6	5 38.16 5 39.14 5 38.61 5 38.75 5 38.75 3 38.75 9 38.75 9 38.30	3     47.83       1     49.35       1     48.74       5     49.07       6     49.00       1     48.74	58.0           59.3           59.3           59.0           59.0           59.0           59.0           58.0	8 68.41 4 69.40 3 68.85 2 69.17 1 69.10 3 69.08	8.43 9.37 9.06 9.02 8.83	$\begin{array}{c} 18.00\\ 18.93\\ 18.60\\ 18.74\\ 18.68\\ 18.68\\ 18.52\end{array}$	28.45 29.36 28.75 28.75 28.63 28.63 28.63	38.16 39.14 38.61 38.75 38.75 38.75 38.75 38.30	$\begin{array}{c} 47.81\\ 49.35\\ 48.74\\ 49.07\\ 49.00\\ 48.74\end{array}$	58.08 59.34 58.73 59.02 59.01 58.86	68.41 69.40 68.85 69.17 69.10 69.08	8.43 9.37 9.06 8.93 8.82	18.00 18.93 18.60 18.74 18.68 18.68 18.52	28.45 29.36 28.75 28.75 28.63 28.63 28.39	38.16 39.14 38.61 38.75 38.75 38.75 38.30	47.81 49.35 48.74 49.07 49.00 48.74	58.08 59.34 58.73 59.02 59.01 58.86	68.41 69.40 68.85 69.17 69.10 69.08	8.27 1 9.21 1 8.94 1 8.96 1 8.84 1 8.72 1	7.97 2 8.86 2 8.52 2 8.67 2 8.63 2 8.63 2 8.53 2 8.53 2	8.11 3 9.14 3 8.75 3 8.73 3 8.57 3 8.57 3 8.34 3	88.02 4 88.92 4 88.40 4 88.51 4 88.28 4 88.11 4	8.02 8.75 8.75 8.89 8.85 8.83 5.83 5.83 5.83 5.83 5.83 5.83	7.81 6 9.14 6 8.65 6 8.90 6 8.87 6 8.74 6	7.95 9.22 8.77 9.05 8.96 8.98
(q)																												
				GMP.	ų						GMP-N	4G						GAP-G						GA	P-NG			
	I											Ē	eature	Releva	nce Th	neshol	р											
	Ē	0 2	) 30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	70	10	20	30	40	50	60	20
Window Length	0 8. 1 9. 3 9. 5 9. 1 9.	35         17.           35         17.           95         19.           63         19.           31         19.           12         19.	93         27.9           65         29.9           38         29.4           46         29.3           21         29.3           21         29.3           39         29.4	8 37.52 3 39.47 8 39.20 9 39.06 1 38.94 1 38.94	2 47.75 7 50.00 1 49.31 1 49.10 1 49.10	) 58.0( ) 59.9; 1 59.5; 5 59.4( ) 59.2( 59.15	0 68.37 3 69.77 7 69.47 0 69.55 0 69.17 5 69.22	8.35 9.95 9.63 9.50 9.31 9.12	$\begin{array}{c} 17.93\\ 19.65\\ 19.38\\ 19.38\\ 19.46\\ 19.21\\ 19.21\\ 19.09\end{array}$	27.98 29.93 29.48 29.48 29.21 29.21 29.13	$\begin{array}{c} 37.52\\ 39.47\\ 39.20\\ 39.06\\ 38.94\\ 38.88\end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 47.79\\ 50.00\\ 49.31\\ 49.23\\ 49.10\\ 49.02\end{array}$	58.00 59.93 59.57 59.40 59.20 59.15	68.37 69.77 69.47 69.55 69.17 69.17	8.35 9.95 9.63 9.50 9.31 9.12	17.93 19.65 19.38 19.46 19.21 19.21	27.98 29.93 29.48 29.30 29.21 29.13	37.52 39.47 39.20 39.06 38.94 38.88	47.79 50.00 49.31 49.23 49.10 49.02	58.00 59.93 59.57 59.40 59.20 59.15	68.37 69.47 69.47 69.55 69.17 69.17	8.29 1 9.71 1 9.47 1 9.37 1 9.21 1 9.06 1	8.05 2 9.66 2 9.46 2 9.42 2 9.21 2 9.06 2	7.89 3 9.89 3 9.68 3 9.22 3 9.08 3 8.94 3	37.79 4 39.35 1 39.07 4 38.82 4 38.59 4 38.46 4	8.32 5 0.22 5 0.50 5 8.87 5 8.75 5	8.29 6 9.95 6 9.58 6 9.24 6 8.94 6 8.81 6	7.98 9.69 9.33 8.96 8.93
(c)																												1
				GMP-	ų						N-MP-N	g						GAP-G						GA	P-NG			
												н	eature	Releva.	nce Th	reshold	_											
	-	0	0 30	40	20	60	20	10	20	30	40	20	60	20	10	20	30	40	20	60	20	10	20	30	40	50	09	20
Window Length	0 1 2 8 4 7 0 1 0 10 8 0 10 10 10 8 0 10 10 10 8 0 10 10 10 10 8 0 10 10 10 10 10 0 10 10	91 17 38 19 .18 20 .18 20 50 19 52 19 56 18 26 18	71 26.2 89 29.3 38 30.4 97 29.5 91 28.7 91 28.7	9 34.85 1 37.88 4 39.38 4 38.87 0 38.83 3 38.05 3 38.05	2 45.68 8 48.15 8 49.55 7 49.15 8 49.35 1 48.53	56.35 58.74 59.87 59.55 59.65	8 67.63 4 69.06 7 70.16 3 69.93 9 69.92 7 69.26	8.91 10.38 10.18 10.02 9.62 9.26	17.71 19.89 20.38 19.97 19.57 18.91	26.29 29.31 30.44 29.64 29.64 29.50 28.73	34.82 37.88 39.38 38.87 38.83 38.83 38.83 38.05	45.68 48.15 49.52 49.13 49.35 48.53	56.38 58.74 59.87 59.53 59.69 59.07	67.63 69.06 70.16 69.93 69.92 69.26	8.91 10.38 10.18 10.02 9.62 9.26	$\begin{array}{c} 17.71\\ 19.89\\ 20.38\\ 19.97\\ 19.57\\ 18.91\end{array}$	26.29 29.31 30.44 29.64 29.50 28.73	34.82 37.88 39.38 38.87 38.83 38.83 38.05	45.68 48.15 49.52 49.13 49.35 48.53	56.38 58.74 59.87 59.53 59.69 59.07	67.63 69.06 70.16 69.93 69.26 69.26	8.95 10.04 9.50 9.19	18.09 19.89 20.45 19.73 19.02	26.62 29.16 30.48 29.55 29.34 28.52	35.51 37.65 39.33 38.70 37.82 37.82	16.22 5 17.98 5 19.48 5 19.05 5 19.09 5 18.33 5	6.68 8.30 9.64 9.30 9.30 9.29 6.72 8.72	7.21 8.68 9.99 9.54 9.55 8.90

(f)	Window Length			(e)	Window Lengtl				(d)	Window Lengtl			
	0 - 1 0 2 4 7				543210					0 1 2 2 4 <del>0</del>			
	13.82 12.36 12.52 12.52 12.25 11.41 11.41 11.15	10			$\begin{array}{c} 12.42 \\ 11.95 \\ 12.66 \\ 11.39 \\ 10.62 \\ 10.20 \end{array}$	10				11.61 12.08 11.04 11.75 10.75 9.78	10		
	27.06 22.33 21.49 22.08 21.44 21.44 21.68	20			23.55 21.72 22.53 21.27 21.27 21.17 21.17	20				22.69 22.42 21.34 20.51 19.92	$^{20}$		
	$\begin{array}{c} 38.24\\ 32.02\\ 31.13\\ 32.74\\ 31.47\\ 31.47\end{array}$	30			34.48 31.48 31.93 31.28 31.28 30.88	30				33.37 32.32 31.16 30.58 30.55 29.87	30		
	$\begin{array}{r} 47.94\\ 40.03\\ 39.85\\ 41.74\\ 40.23\\ 40.59\end{array}$	40	GMP-C		$\begin{array}{c} 43.90\\ 40.07\\ 40.86\\ 40.46\\ 40.41\\ 40.22\end{array}$	40		GMP-C		$\begin{array}{c} 41.14\\ 40.24\\ 39.65\\ 39.38\\ 39.55\\ 39.06\end{array}$	40		GMP-0
	$59.12 \\ 49.72 \\ 49.75 \\ 51.75 \\ 50.46 \\ 50.64$	50	42		$53.96 \\ 50.25 \\ 50.68 \\ 50.64 \\ 50.64 \\ 50.31 \\$	50		27		$51.09 \\ 50.86 \\ 49.94 \\ 49.64 \\ 49.96 \\ 49.57 \\$	50		142
	$\begin{array}{c} 65.59\\ 59.69\\ 60.74\\ 62.03\\ 60.70\\ 61.17\end{array}$	60			61.88 60.27 61.50 61.04 61.04 61.21	60				$\begin{array}{c} 61.04\\ 61.44\\ 60.68\\ 60.27\\ 60.38\\ 60.40 \end{array}$	60		
	74.41 70.22 71.74 72.81 71.60 71.79	70			72.59 71.72 72.58 71.64 71.45 71.56	70				$71.61 \\71.81 \\71.35 \\70.84 \\70.76 \\70.75$	70		
	13.82 12.36 12.52 12.25 11.41 11.41	10			$12.42 \\ 11.95 \\ 12.66 \\ 11.39 \\ 10.62 \\ 10.20 \\ 10.20 \\ 10.21 \\ 10.20 \\ 10.2$	10				$11.61 \\ 12.08 \\ 11.04 \\ 10.75 \\ 10.07 \\ 9.78$	10		
	27.06 22.33 21.49 22.08 21.44 21.44 21.68	20			23.55 21.72 22.53 21.27 21.27 21.17 21.17	20				22.69 22.42 21.34 20.51 19.92	20		
	38.24 32.02 31.13 32.74 31.47 31.47	30	0		34.48 31.48 31.93 31.28 31.28 30.88	30		C		33.37 32.32 31.16 30.58 30.55 29.87	30		6
	$\begin{array}{r} 47.94\\ 40.03\\ 39.85\\ 41.74\\ 40.23\\ 40.59\end{array}$	40	MP-N		$\begin{array}{c} 43.90\\ 40.07\\ 40.86\\ 40.46\\ 40.41\\ 40.22 \end{array}$	40		MP-N		$\begin{array}{c} 41.14\\ 40.24\\ 39.65\\ 39.38\\ 39.55\\ 39.06\end{array}$	40		MP-N
	$59.12 \\ 49.72 \\ 49.75 \\ 51.75 \\ 50.46 \\ 50.64$	50	Ģ		53.96 50.25 50.68 50.41 50.64 50.64	50	F	IG		51.09 50.86 49.94 49.64 49.96 49.96 49.57	50	5	Ģ
	$\begin{array}{c} 65.59\\ 59.69\\ 60.74\\ 62.03\\ 60.70\\ 61.17\end{array}$	60			61.88 60.27 61.50 60.90 61.04 61.21	60	eature			$\begin{array}{c} 61.04\\ 61.44\\ 60.68\\ 60.27\\ 60.38\\ 60.40 \end{array}$	60	eature	
	74.41 70.22 71.74 72.81 71.60 71.79	Keleva 70			72.59 71.72 72.58 71.64 71.45 71.56	70	Releva			$71.61 \\ 71.81 \\ 71.35 \\ 70.84 \\ 70.76 \\ 70.75 \\ \end{array}$	70	Releva	
	13.82 12.36 12.52 12.25 11.41 11.41	10	1		$12.42 \\ 11.95 \\ 12.66 \\ 11.39 \\ 10.62 \\ 10.20 \\ 10.2$	10	unce T			$11.61 \\ 12.08 \\ 11.04 \\ 10.75 \\ 10.07 \\ 9.78$	10	unce T	
	27.06 22.33 21.49 22.08 21.44 21.44 21.68	20			23.55 21.72 22.53 21.27 21.27 21.17 21.17	20	nreshol			22.69 22.42 21.34 20.51 19.92	20	nreshol	
	$\begin{array}{c} 38.24\\ 32.02\\ 31.13\\ 32.74\\ 31.47\\ 31.47\end{array}$	d 30			34.48 31.48 31.93 31.30 31.28 30.88	30	d			33.37 32.32 31.16 30.58 30.55 29.87	30	d	
	$\begin{array}{r} 47.94\\ 40.03\\ 39.85\\ 41.74\\ 40.23\\ 40.59\end{array}$	40	GAP-C		$\begin{array}{c} 43.90\\ 40.07\\ 40.86\\ 40.46\\ 40.41\\ 40.22\end{array}$	40		GAP-(		$\begin{array}{c} 41.14\\ 40.24\\ 39.65\\ 39.55\\ 39.06\end{array}$	40		GAP-0
	59.1249.7251.7550.4650.64	50	47		53.96 50.25 50.68 50.41 50.64 50.31	50		27		$51.09 \\ 50.86 \\ 49.94 \\ 49.64 \\ 49.96 \\ 49.57 \\$	50		142
	$\begin{array}{c} 65.59\\ 59.69\\ 60.74\\ 62.03\\ 60.70\\ 61.17\end{array}$	60			61.88 60.27 61.50 61.04 61.04 61.21	60				$\begin{array}{c} 61.04\\ 61.44\\ 60.68\\ 60.27\\ 60.38\\ 60.40 \end{array}$	60		
	74.41 70.22 71.74 72.81 71.60 71.79	70			72.59 71.72 72.58 71.64 71.45 71.56	70				$71.61 \\ 71.81 \\ 70.84 \\ 70.76 \\ 70.75 \\$	70		
	14.19 12.93 12.26 12.46 11.72 11.31	10			12.65 12.00 12.57 11.58 10.97 10.41	10				$\begin{array}{c} 11.57\\ 11.80\\ 10.66\\ 10.53\\ 10.02\\ 9.81 \end{array}$	10		
	29.39 24.13 22.56 23.30 22.48 22.33	20			$\begin{array}{c} 25.55\\ 22.77\\ 23.41\\ 22.20\\ 22.07\\ 21.51\end{array}$	20				23.25 22.43 21.33 20.75 20.75	20		
	$\begin{array}{c} 40.88\\ 33.44\\ 31.94\\ 33.10\\ 31.89\\ 31.57\end{array}$	30	G		36.74 32.15 32.45 31.45 31.54 31.04	30		G		34.00 32.04 30.89 30.20 29.54	30		G
	51.0142.1141.3243.1141.4241.39	40	AP-NO		45.99 40.58 41.37 41.08 41.09 40.64	40		AP-NO		42.29 40.09 39.44 39.17 39.37 38.77	40		AP-NO
	$\begin{array}{c} 60.47\\ 50.00\\ 49.30\\ 51.29\\ 50.17\\ 50.29\end{array}$	50	62		55.23 49.30 50.06 50.66 50.28	50		ς,		51.05 50.06 49.20 49.20 49.52 49.23	50		142
	$\begin{array}{c} 67.23 \\ 60.41 \\ 60.54 \\ 62.14 \\ 60.87 \\ 61.02 \end{array}$	60			$\begin{array}{c} 63.50\\ 59.79\\ 61.01\\ 60.83\\ 61.07\\ 60.93\end{array}$	60				61.57 60.57 59.75 59.89 59.87	60		
	$74.32 \\ 68.93 \\ 70.10 \\ 71.87 \\ 70.63 \\ 70.60$	70			72.51 69.82 71.21 70.87 70.97 70.97	70				70.79 70.69 70.43 69.92 70.14 70.11	70		

# Chapter C

Appendix Intrinsic Explainability and Drug–Target Multi-Domain Inter-Dependency

# C.1 Supplementary Materials





**Figure C.1:** Davis kinase binding affinity dataset distributions. a) Protein sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding; SMILES string length distribution based on the FCS/BPE Encoding.

# C.2 Supplementary Methods

### C.2.1 Sinusoidal Positional Encoding

The position of each token in the input sequence is determinant for the context and meaning, in which a single modification of the order can result in a different interpretation. On that account, DL models must have information about the relative or absolute position of each element of the input when dealing with raw sequential data.

Contrarily to RNN architectures, Transformer-based architectures do not contain hidden states that keep information about the relative or absolute position of each token in the input sequence, hence, it is necessary to include this information. The sinusoidal positional encoding proposed by Vaswani et al. [172] is based on sine and cosine functions of different frequencies, resulting in a unique encoding for each position of the sequence. The positional encoding for the kth token of the sequence and ith position of the embedding vector can be given by:

$$PE(k,2i) = sin(\frac{k}{n^{\frac{2i}{d_{model}}}})$$

$$PE(k,2i+1) = cos(\frac{k}{n^{\frac{2i}{d_{model}}}})$$
(C.1)

, where k is the position of the token in the sequence, i is the position in the embedding vector,  $d_{model}$  is the embedding dimension, n is a user-defined scalar usually fixed at 10 000, and  $PE \in \mathbb{R}^{N \times d_{model}}$  (N is the number of tokens in the input sequence).

Moreover, this encoding approach is not influenced by the input sequence length and it is based on the relative positions of the tokens.

# C.3 Supplementary Experimental Setup

The hyperparameters for the DTITR architecture were determined by the chemogenomic K-fold cross-validation method (Section 7.2.4). The protein sequences similarity matrix was obtained using the Smith-Waterman local alignment algorithm, which was implemented using the Biostrings R Package [362]. The substitution matrix selected was the BLOSUM62, and the gap penalty for opening and extension was fixed at 10 and 0.5, respectively. The final alignment scores were normalized to a [0,1] range [216]. On the other hand, the SMILES similarity matrix was obtained by computing the Tanimoto Coefficient, where the SMILES strings were initially converted to the Morgan circular fingerprints with a radius of 3 using the RDKit Python package [344].

The dataset was split into six different folds, where one of the folds was selected to evaluate the generalization capacity of the model (independent test set) and the remaining folds to determine the hyperparameters of the architecture. Several parameters were hyperoptimized: number of protein Transformer-encoders, number of SMILES Transformer-encoders, number of cross-attention Transformer-encoder blocks, number of heads for the self-attention and cross-attention layers, embedding dimension for the protein sequences and the SMILES strings, PWFFN hidden neurons, FCNN number of layers, FCNN hidden neurons, dropout rate, optimizer learning rate, and optimizer weight decay. A wide range of values was initially considered for each hyperparameter and then the search range was narrowed around the best-performing parameter values.

The Gaussian Error Linear Unit (GELU) [371] was selected as the activation function for every layer, with the exception of the final output dense layer which uses a linear activation. The GELU function weighs its input by its value rather than gating the input depending upon its sign, thus, it can be seen as a smoother ReLU. Moreover, this activation function avoids the *dead neurons* problem and is able to more easily approximate complicated functions due to the increased curvature and non-monotonicity.

$$GELU(x) = xP(X \le x) = x\Phi(x)$$
  

$$\approx 0.5x(1 + tanh[\sqrt{2/\pi}(x + 0.044715x^3)])$$
(C.2)

, where  $\Phi(x)$  is the cumulative distribution function for the standard normal distribution (Gaussian) and  $P(X) \sim N(0,1)$ .

Considering that the context of the problem focuses on a regression task, the loss function selected was the MSE, which measures the average squared difference between the predicted values and the real values.

Regarding the optimizer function, Rectified Adaptive Moment Estimation (RAdam) [372] was used to update the network weights in each iteration of the training process. This function is an improved version of the Adam optimizer and it dynamically adjusts the adaptive learning rate based on the underlying divergence of the variance. Thus, it avoids the need to use a warmup heuristic, which is usually required for adaptive learning rate optimizers due to the excessive variance of the initial training steps.

In order to avoid potential overfitting, two callbacks were considered during the training process, specifically early stopping with a patience of 30 and model check-point. The hyperparameter combination that provided the best average MSE score over the validation sets was selected to establish the optimized model and evaluate

the generalization capacity on the independent test set. Table C.1 summarizes the parameter settings for the DTITR architecture.

Parameter	Value
Protein Transformer-Encoders	3
SMILES Transformer-Encoders	3
Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoders	1
Protein Self-Attention Heads	4
SMILES Self-Attention Heads	4
Cross-Attention Heads	4
Protein Embedding Dim	128
SMILES Embedding Dim	128
Protein PWFNN Hidden Neurons	512
SMILES PWFNN Hidden Neurons	512
Activation Function	GELU
Activation Function (Output)	Linear
Dropout Rate	0.1
FCNN Dense Layers	3
FCNN Hidden Neurons	[512, 512, 512]
Loss Function	Mean Squared Error
Optimizer Function	RAdam
Optimizer Learning Rate	1e-04
Optimizer Beta 1	0.9
Optimizer Beta 2	0.999
Optimizer Epsilon	1e-08
Optimizer Weight Decay	1e-05
Batch Size	32
Epochs*	500

Table C.1: DTITR architecture parameter settings.

\*Initial number of epochs to allow convergence of the model, where early stopping and model checkpoint were applied to avoid overfitting.

In order to validate and assess the prediction efficiency of the proposed DTITR architecture, the performance was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art binding affinity regression baselines: KronRLS [265], SimBoost [267], Sim-CNN-DTA [273], DeepDTA [268], DeepCDA [272], and all the different formulations of the GraphDTA [271]. The same folds obtained from the chemogenomic K-fold cross-validation methodology were considered to train these models and the testing fold to evaluate their performance. Additionally, the same encoding approach was applied to the protein sequences (Section 7.2.2) in the research works where the proteins are represented by their 1D amino acid sequence in order to ensure fairness in the comparisons.

Apart from evaluating the prediction efficiency of the proposed architecture, different

alternatives for the DTITR model were also explored and evaluated, specifically the efficacy of the Cross-Attention Transformer-Encoder block (Section 7.2.3.3) by applying and training the model with and without this module, the differences in the prediction efficiency of the architecture by employing the FCS and BPE encoding approach (Section 7.2.2) to the SMILES strings instead of the character-dictionary integer-based method, and the increasing learning capacity of the model due to the FCNN block (Section 7.2.3.4) by applying and training the model with and without this module.

The model was developed using Python 3.9.6 and Tensorflow 2.6.0, and the experiments were run on AMD Ryzen 9 3900X and GeForce RTX 3070 8GB.

# Chapter D Binding-Region-Guided Strategy to Predict Drug-Target Affinity

D.1 Supplementary Materials



### D.1.1 Binding Pocket Datasets Distributions

**Figure D.1:** Binding pocket datasets distributions. a) scPDB  $\cup$  PDBBind  $\cup$  BioLiP protein sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding; scPDB  $\cup$  PDBBind  $\cup$  BioLiP SMILES strings length distribution. c) scPDB  $\cup$  PDBBind  $\cup$  BioLiP binding residues distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding and neighborhood. d) COACH protein sequences length distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding. e) COACH SMILES strings length distribution. f) COACH binding residues distribution based on the FCS/BPE encoding.

# D.2 Supplementary Experimental Setup

### D.2.1 SMILES Pre-Train MLM Optimization

The hyperparameters for the SMILES pre-train MLM architecture were determined using the 10 % hold-out validation approach, in which the SMILES ChEMBL dataset was randomly split into a 90/10 & training/validation ratio. Several parameters were hyperoptimized, including the embedding dimension of the SMILES strings, the number of SMILES Transformer-Encoder layers, the number of attention heads, the PWFFN expansion ratio, the dropout rate, the optimizer learning rate, the optimizer weight drop, the optimizer warm-up ratio, and the batch size. A considerable range of possible values was assigned for each hyperparameter and the search was narrowed down to the best parameter values.

The GELU [371] was selected as the activation function for every layer, except for the final output dense layer which uses a softmax activation. The GELU function is a smoother version of the ReLU activation and weighs its input by its value rather than gating the input depending upon its sign. The optimizer function considered to update the network weights in each iteration of the training process was the RAdam [372]. This algorithm is an enhanced version of the traditional Adam optimizer and it dynamically adjusts the adaptive learning rate based on the underlying divergence of the variance using a variance rectification term. Even though this method usually avoids the need to use a warm-up heuristic, a warm-up learning rate scheduler was used to promote the training process.

Considering that the SMILES pre-train MLM focuses on the prediction of masked input tokens, the loss function chosen was the categorical cross-entropy (CCE), which measures the divergence between probability distributions for multi-class classification problems. Additionally, all non-masked input chemical tokens were excluded from the calculation of the loss value.

$$CCE = -\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{m} y_{ij} log(p_{ij})$$
(D.1)

, where n is the number of samples, m is the number of classes, y is the true label, and p(y) is the predicted probability.

Moreover, to avoid potential overfitting of the model, two callbacks were considered during the training process, specifically early stopping with a patience of 30 and model checkpoint. The hyperparameter combination that provided the best accuracy of correctly predicting the masked input tokens over the validation set was selected to establish the optimized model. The parameters of the SMILES token embedding layer, SMILES positional embedding layer, and SMILES Transformer-Encoder of the resulting model were used to initialize the parameters of the corresponding blocks in the TAG-DTA framework. Table D.1 summarizes the parameter settings for the SMILES pre-train MLM architecture.

Parameter	Value
SMILES Strings Length $(N_S)$	101
SMILES Transformer-Encoders	3
SMILES Self-Attention Heads	8
SMILES Embedding Dim	512
SMILES PWFFN Hidden Neurons	2048
Activation Function	GELU
Activation Function (Output)	Softmax
Dropout Rate	0.1
Loss Function	CCE
Optimizer Function	RAdam
Optimizer Learning Rate	1e-03
Optimizer Minimum Learning Rate	1e-05
Optimizer Beta 1	0.9
Optimizer Beta 2	0.999
Optimizer Epsilon	1e-08
Optimizer Weight Decay	1e-04
Optimizer Warm Up Proportion	0.01
Optimizer Total steps	512500
Batch Size	232
Epochs*	500

 Table D.1: SMILES Pre-Train MLM parameter settings.

\*Initial number of epochs to allow convergence of the model, where early stopping and model checkpoint were applied to avoid overfitting.

## D.2.2 TAG-DTA Optimization

The hyperoptimization approach applied to the TAG-DTA architecture is based on 10 % hold-out validation and chemogenomic representative k-fold cross-validation [341], where the former is applied to the binding sites dataset and the latter to the binding affinity dataset. These two methods were combined with grid-search, where early stopping and model checkpoint were considered over the training cycles

in order to avoid overfitting. Several parameters were hyperoptimized: embedding dimension of the protein sequences, number of protein Transformer-Encoder layers, number of protein Transformer-Encoder attention heads, protein Transformer-Encoder PWFFN expansion ratio, number of binding-pocket Transformer-Encoder layers, number of binding-pocket Transformer-Encoder attention heads, bindingpocket Transformer-Encoder PWFFN expansion ratio, PWMLP number of layers, PWMLP hidden neurons, number of binding region-guided Transformer-Encoder layers, number of binding region-guided Transformer-Encoder attention heads, binding region-guided Transformer-Encoder PWFFN expansion ratio, FCNN number of layers, FCNN hidden neurons, 1D binding pocket optimizer learning rate, 1D binding pocket optimizer weight decay, binding affinity optimizer learning rate, binding Affinity optimizer weight decay, SMILES Transformer-Encoder optimizer learning rate, SMILES Transformer-Encoder optimizer weight decay, dropout rate, number of epochs for the pre-training of the binding sites classifier, number of epochs for the training of the binding affinity regressor, and number of epochs for the training of the binding sites classifier. A wide range of values was initially considered for each hyperparameter and then the search range was narrowed around the best parameter values.

The GELU [371] activation function was selected for every layer, except for the final output dense layer of the 1D binding pocket classifier and binding affinity regressor, which uses a sigmoid function and a linear activation, respectively. The optimizer selected to update the weights of the pre-trained layers, 1D binding pocket classifier, and binding affinity regressor was the RAdam [372]. Additionally, a step decay learning rate scheduler was applied in the case of the optimizers used in the 1D binding pocket and binding affinity training modes. The step decay scheduler drops the learning rate by a factor of 0.5 every 25 training cycles.

$$Step_Decay(TC) = LR_{init} * factor^{floor(TC/TC_{drop})}$$
 (D.2)

, where  $LR_{init}$  is the initial learning rate, *factor* is the learning rate dropping factor, TC is the current training cycle, and  $TC_{drop}$  is the number of training cycles that the learning rate keeps constant.

Considering that the context of the problem focuses on a classification and a regression task, the loss function selected for the prediction of the 1D binding pocket and the binding affinity of DTIs was the binary cross-entropy (BCE) and the MSE, respectively. BCE measures the divergence between two probability distributions and is a special case of the CCE. Additionally, considering the imbalanced nature of the distribution of binding and non-binding positions, different class weights were introduced.

$$BCE = -\frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ y_i \log(p_i) + (1 - y_i) \log(1 - p_i) \right]$$
(D.3)

, where n is the number of samples, y is the true label, and  $p_i(y)$  is the predicted probability. On the other hand, MSE measures the average squared difference between the predicted values and the real values.

The hyperparameter combination that provided the best average MSE score over the validation sets in the case of binding affinity and the best MCC in the case of the 1D binding pocket was selected to establish the optimized model. Table D.2 summarizes the parameter settings for the TAG-DTA framework.

To validate and assess the prediction efficiency of binding affinity of the proposed TAG-DTA architecture, the performance was evaluated and compared with different state-of-the-art binding affinity regression and binary DTI classification baselines: KronRLS [265], SimBoost [267], Sim-CNN-DTA [273], DeepDTA [268], DeepCDA [272], TransformerCPI [243], HyperAttentionDTI [245], DTITR [350], and all the different formulations of the GraphDTA [271]. In the case of the binary DTI classification baselines, such as TransformerCPI [243] and HyperAttentionDTI [245], they were transformed into regression models by modifying their final layers, i.e., the output of the last layer was replaced with a single neuron dense layer, and by altering their loss function to MSE. Furthermore, the FCS/BPE encoding approach was applied to the protein sequences in the research works where the proteins are represented by their 1D amino acid sequence in order to ensure fairness in the comparisons. To further validate the binding affinity performance of the proposed framework and increase the fairness in the comparisons with the state-of-the-art baselines, the results were evaluated and compared using the standard experimental settings of these baselines, i.e., the same split method of the Davis binding affinity dataset.

Considering the existing unexplored space in the drug discovery domain and the importance of the models to generalize toward unknown subsets of the proteomics and/or chemical representation spaces, the performance of the proposed TAG-DTA framework was evaluated and compared in three different experimental settings, specifically novel target proteins, novel compounds, and novel compound-target pairs. On that account, the Davis binding affinity dataset was randomly split into three groups of five folds each based on these three different restrictions, i.e., proteins, compounds, and DTIs absent from the corresponding training set, respectively.

Parameter	Value
SMILES Strings Length $(N_S)$	101
SMILES Transformer-Encoders	3
SMILES Self-Attention Heads	8
SMILES Embedding Dim	512
SMILES PWFFN Hidden Neurons	2048
Protein Sequences Length $(N_P)$	576
Protein Transformer-Encoders	3
Protein Self-Attention Heads	4
Protein Embedding Dim	256
Protein PWFFN Hidden Neurons	1024
Binding Pocket Transformer-Encoders	1
Binding Pocket Self-Attention Heads	4
Binding Pocket PWFFN Hidden Neurons	1024
PWMLP Dense Layers	3
PWMLP Hidden Neurons	[128, 64, 32]
Binding Region-Guided Transformer-Encoders	1
Binding Region-Guided Self-Attention Heads	4
Binding Region-Guided PWFFN Hidden Neurons	1024
FCNN Dense Layers	3
FCNN Hidden Neurons	[1536, 1536, 1536]
Activation Function	GELU
Activation Function (1D Binding Pocket Output)	Sigmoid
Activation Function (Binding Affinity Output)	Linear
Dropout Rate	0.1
1D Binding Pocket Loss Function	BCE
1D Binding Pocket Loss Class Weights	0: 0.4, 1: 0.6
Binding Affinity Loss Function	MSE
	RAdam, LR:1e-05, Beta 1: 0.9,
SMILES Pre-Trained Layers Optimizer	Beta 2: 0.999, Epsilon: 1e-08,
	Weight Decay: 1e-05
	RAdam, LR:1e-04, Beta 1: 0.9,
1D Binding Pocket Classifier Optimizer	Beta 2: 0.999, Epsilon: 1e-08,
	Weight Decay: 1e-05
	RAdam, LR:1e-04, Beta 1: 0.9,
Binding Affinity Regressor Optimizer	Beta 2: 0.999, Epsilon: 1e-08,
	Weight Decay: 1e-05
Batch Size	32
1D Binding Pocket Pre-Train Epochs	20
Binding Affinity Train Epochs	3
1D Binding Pocket Train Epochs	1
Epochs*	500

 Table D.2:
 TAG-DTA parameter settings.

 $* {\rm Initial}$  number of epochs to allow convergence of the model, where early stopping and model checkpoint were applied to avoid overfitting.

Apart from evaluating the performance and the generalization capacity of the proposed TAG-DTA framework in the prediction of the binding affinity of DTI pairs, it is critical to explore the efficacy and contribution of certain blocks in the learning capacity of the TAG-DTA architecture, especially considering the duality nature of the prediction process associated with this model. On that account, different alternatives of the TAG-DTA model were explored, specifically the contribution to the learning capacity of the architecture by pre-training the SMILES Transformer-Encoder blocks using the MLM approach, the performance of the TAG-DTA architecture to exclusively predict the 1D binding pocket, and the contribution of the prediction of the 1D binding pocket for the prediction of binding affinity, i.e., the performance of the TAG-DTA architecture to exclusively predict binding affinity without limiting the attention mechanism of the Transformer-Encoder associated with the binding affinity regression block.

All models were developed using Python 3.9.6 and Tensorflow 2.8.0, and the experiments were run on AMD Ryzen 9 3900X and GeForce RTX 3080 10 GB.

# D.3 Supplementary Results

## D.3.1 SMILES Pre-Train MLM

Table D.3: SMILES Pre-Train MLM: masked token prediction results over a randomly chosen 10% hold-out validation set.

	(Sparse) CCE	Masked Token Accuracy (%)
Training	0.0669	97.55
Validation	0.1056	96.80